TUM School of Management



# How Visions Motivate Behavior: Exploring Processes, Boundary Conditions, and Interactions with Artificial Intelligence

### Falk Julian Voigt

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Management der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung eines

Doktors der Philosophie (Dr. phil.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz: Prof. Jutta Roosen, Ph.D.

Prüfende der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Hugo M. Kehr
- 2. Prof. Dr. Nicola Breugst

Die Dissertation wurde am 25.06.2024 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Management am 15.10.2024 angenommen.

#### Acknowledgments

First and foremost, thank you, Hugo, for your wonderful guidance and supervision over the past few years; I am very grateful for your constant availability for feedback and for your input that continues to shape my thinking and mindset. I would especially like to thank you for giving me the opportunity to work with you and Maika on our joint project early on in my dissertation, which allowed me to develop my passion for the topic of visions. Finally, I would like to thank you for giving me the freedom to pursue my own research ideas.

I would also like to thank Prof. Nicola Breugst and Prof. Jutta Roosen for serving on my dissertation committee. I am very grateful for your interest in my research and for the time that you have spent on the committee.

I would also like to thank Prof. Karoline Strauss and Prof. Kennon M. Sheldon for being my co-authors on the research projects embedded in this dissertation. Ken, I am so grateful to have worked with you, especially since your theory is at the core of my dissertation. Thank you for your inspiring perspectives, for sharing your knowledge, and for always taking the time to get back to me almost immediately with your feedback. Karoline, thank you so much. I can't tell you how much I appreciate having you as a mentor and now as a friend. Your incredibly kind, caring and generous feedback kept me going when I hit a wall. Thank you for always listening to me, believing in my ideas, and bringing them to life. You were the wind beneath my wings.

Of course, I would also like to thank the TUM School of Management as well as the TUM Graduate School for their support during the dissertation process and for their financial support. I would also like to thank the ESSEC Business School and Prof. Karoline Strauss as well as the New York University and Prof. Yaacov Trope for allowing me to conduct research at their universities. To you, Yaacov, thank you for the inspiring discussions with you and the members of your lab, and for allowing me to present my research at your university. I couldn't have wished for a more crowning conclusion to my dissertation.

I would also like to thank my colleagues Claudia, Ernesto, Marius, Cafer, Tatjana and Simon. Claudia, thank you for always being there to listen, for your kindness and sincerity. Ernesto, thank you for always helping me with my exams and teaching me how to play table football properly. Tatjana and Simon, thank you for the many shared laughs and your support during the final stages of this dissertation. Marius, thank you for giving me direction when I needed it, for your attention to detail, and for all the great times we spent together. Cafer, thank you for always being there when I stumbled through your office door, for challenging my ideas, for helping me to be more pragmatic, and for all your countless emotional support.

I would like to thank my closest friends and my family. To my dear friends, Max and Yannis, thank you for listening and being there when I needed you the most, even from afar. To my sister Ines, thank you for bringing us closer together over the years and for being a constant source of support and encouragement. Mom and Dad, thank you for allowing me to do what I wanted to do, for always believing in me, and for supporting me no matter what. I would not be where I am today without you. Dad, I can't tell you how much it hurts my heart that you're not here anymore and that I don't have you by my side in the final stages of my dissertation. Your encouragement has meant the world to me. Not a day goes by that I don't miss you.

Most of all, I want to thank you, Clara. Thank you for your unwavering support, for your patience and your love, which gave me the courage to carry on through all these years of hard work. Without you, this dissertation would not have been possible. I could not be more grateful to have you by my side.

#### **Table of Contents**

| Li | st of | Tables   | VIII |
|----|-------|--|------|
| Li | st of | Figures  | IX   |
| Li | st of | Abbreviations  | X    |
| Li | st of | Manuscripts and Conference Proceedings   | XI   |
| A  | ostra | ct   | XIII |
| 1  | Gen   | neral Introduction   |      |
|    | 1.1   | Theoretical Background and Development of Research Questions                   |      |
|    |       | 1.1.1 Visions and related constructs   |      |
|    |       | 1.1.2 Visions motivating effects   | 7    |
|    |       | 1.1.3 The boundary conditions of visions motivating effects                    | 9    |
|    |       | 1.1.4 Visions shape the effects of interacting with AI                         |      |
|    | 1.2   | Data and Methods Used in this Dissertation                                     |      |
|    | 1.3   | Dissertation Structure and Key Contributions                                   |      |
|    | 1.4   | References   |      |
| 2  | An I  | mage of What I Want to Achieve: How Visions Motivate Goal Pursuit              |      |
|    | 2.1   | Introduction   |      |
|    | 2.2   | The motivational effect of visions: Mental imagery and positive affect         |      |
|    | 2.3   | Visions affectively charge vision-derived goals                                |      |
|    | 2.4   | Vision-induced positive anticipatory affect increases goal commitment and goal | 1    |
|    |       | progress   |      |
|    | 2.5   | Present research   |      |
|    | 2.6   | Study 1  | 50   |
|    |       | 2.6.1 Method   | 50   |
|    |       | 2.6.1.1 Participants   | 50   |
|    |       | 2.6.1.2 Procedure  | 50   |
|    |       | 2.6.1.3 Measures   |      |
|    |       | 2.6.2 Results  |      |
|    |       | 2.6.2.1 Manipulation check   |      |
|    |       | 2.6.2.1 Hypotheses tests   |      |
|    |       | 2.6.3 Discussion   |      |
|    | 2.7   | Study 2  |      |
|    |       | 2.7.1 Method   |      |
|    |       | 2.7.1.1 Participants   |      |

|   |   | 2.7.1.2 Procedure  |  |  |
|---|---|--|--|--|
|   |   | 2.7.1.3 Measures   |  |  |
|   |   | 2.7.1.4 Analyses   |  |  |
|   |   | 2.7.2 Results  |  |  |
|   |   | 2.7.2.1 Measurement model  |  |  |
|   |   | 2.7.2.2 Structural model testing   |  |  |
|   |   | 2.7.2.3 Manipulation check   | 55   |  |
|   |   | 2.7.2.4 Hypotheses tests   | 55   |  |
|   | 2.8   | Discussion   | 55   |  |
|   |   | 2.8.1 General discussion   | 55   |  |
|   |   | 2.8.2 Theoretical implications   | 56   |  |
|   |   | 2.8.3 Practical implications   | 57   |  |
|   |   | 2.8.4 Limitations and future directions  | 57   |  |
|   | 2.9   | Conclusion   | 58   |  |
|   | 3.0   | Declarations   | 58   |  |
|   | 3.1   | References   | 58   |  |
| 3 | Whe   | en Visions Truly Inspire: The Moderating Role of Self-Concordance in   |  |  |
|   |   |  |  |  |
|   | Boos  | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress  | 61   |  |
|   | <b>Boos</b> 3.1                                       | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress  | 61<br>62   |  |
|   | <b>Boos</b><br>3.1<br>3.2                             | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress<br>Introduction<br>Visions and related constructs  | 61<br>62<br>62   |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3                             | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress<br>Introduction<br>Visions and related constructs<br>The motivational power of visions   | <b> 61</b><br>62<br>62<br>63   |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4                      | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress<br>Introduction<br>Visions and related constructs<br>The motivational power of visions<br>Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect   | <b>61</b><br>62<br>62<br>63<br>63  |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5               | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress<br>Introduction<br>Visions and related constructs<br>The motivational power of visions<br>Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect<br>The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress   | <b>61</b><br>62<br>63<br>63<br>63<br>64  |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6        | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress       Study 1  | <b>61</b><br>62<br>63<br>63<br>63<br>64<br>64  |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6        | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction.       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress.       Study 1       3.6.1 Method.  | <b>61</b><br>62<br>63<br>63<br>63<br>64<br>64<br>64<br>64  |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6        | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction.       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress.       Study 1       3.6.1       Method.       3.6.1.1  | <b>61</b><br>62<br>63<br>63<br>63<br>64<br>64<br>64<br>64<br>64  |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6        | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress       Study 1       3.6.1       Method       3.6.1.2       Measures  | 61       62       62       63       63       64       64       64       64       64       64       64       64       65  |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6        | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress       Study 1       3.6.1       Method       3.6.1.2       Measures       3.6.2       Results  | 61       62       62       63       63       64       64       64       64       65  |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6        | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction.       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress.       Study 1       3.6.1       Method       3.6.1.2       Measures       3.6.2.1       Manipulation check.  | 61       62       62       63       63       64       64       64       64       64       65       65  |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6        | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress       Study 1  | 61       62       62       63       63       63       64       64       64       64       65       65       65   |  |
|   | Boos<br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6        | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress.       Study 1       3.6.1 Method.       3.6.1.2 Measures       3.6.2 Results       3.6.2.1 Manipulation check.       3.6.3 Discussion.  | 61       62       62       63       63       63       64       64       64       64       65 |  |
|   | <b>Boos</b><br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6 | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress       Study 1       3.6.1 Method       3.6.1.1 Participants and procedure       3.6.2 Results       3.6.2.1 Manipulation check       3.6.2 Hypotheses tests       3.6.3 Discussion       Study 2 | 61       62       62       63       63       64       64       64       64       65       67   |  |
|   | <b>Boos</b><br>3.1<br>3.2<br>3.3<br>3.4<br>3.5<br>3.6 | sting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress       Introduction       Visions and related constructs       The motivational power of visions       Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect       The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress       Study 1       3.6.1 Method       3.6.1.1 Participants and procedure       3.6.2.2 Measures       3.6.2.1 Manipulation check       3.6.2 Discussion       Study 2       3.7.1 Method        | 61       62       62       63       63       64       64       64       64       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       65       67       67       67  |  |

|   |      | 3.7.1.2 Measures  | . 67 |
|---|------|---|------|
|   |      | 3.7.2 Results   | . 67 |
|   |      | 3.7.2.1 Manipulation check  | . 67 |
|   |      | 3.7.2.2 Hypotheses tests  | . 67 |
|   |      | 3.7.3 Discussion  | . 68 |
|   | 3.8  | Study 3   | . 68 |
|   |      | 3.8.1 Method  | . 68 |
|   |      | 3.8.1.1 Participants and procedure                                      | . 69 |
|   |      | 3.8.1.2 Measures  | . 69 |
|   |      | 3.8.2 Results   | . 69 |
|   |      | 3.8.2.1 Manipulation check  | . 69 |
|   |      | 3.8.2.2 Hypotheses tests  | . 70 |
|   | 3.9  | General discussion  | . 70 |
|   |      | 3.9.1 Theoretical implications  | . 70 |
|   |      | 3.9.2 Limitations and future research                                   | . 71 |
|   |      | 3.9.3 Practical implications  | . 72 |
|   | 3.10 | ) Conclusion  | . 72 |
|   | 3.11 | l Funding   | . 72 |
|   | 3.12 | 2 Availability of data  | . 72 |
|   | 3.13 | 3 Code availability   | . 73 |
|   | 3.14 | Ethics declarations   | . 73 |
|   | 3.15 | 5 Authors' contributions  | . 73 |
|   | 3.16 | 6 CRediT authorship contribution statement                              | . 73 |
|   | 3.17 | 7 Declaration of competing interest                                     | . 73 |
|   | 3.18 | 8 Data availability   | . 73 |
|   | 3.19 | 9 Appendix A. Supplementary material                                    | . 73 |
|   | 3.20 | ) References  | . 73 |
| 4 | How  | <b>Future Work Self Salience Shapes the Effects of Interacting with</b> |      |
|   | Arti | ficial Intelligence   | . 76 |
|   | 4.1  | Introduction  | . 78 |
|   |      | 4.1.1 Literature Review and Hypotheses                                  | . 81 |
|   |      | 4.1.1.1 AI and individuals' careers                                     | . 81 |
|   |      | 4.1.1.2 Future work selves as a lens for understanding reactions to AI  | . 83 |
|   |      | 4.1.1.3 The moderating effect of future work self salience              | . 84 |

|   |      | 4.1.1.4 Effects on proactive career behavior     | 86  |
|---|------|--|-----|
|   | 4.2  | Overview of studies                              | 87  |
|   | 4.3  | Study 1  | 88  |
|   |      | 4.3.1 Method                                     | 88  |
|   |      | 4.3.1.1 Sample and procedure                     | 88  |
|   |      | 4.3.1.2 Measures                                 | 91  |
|   |      | 4.3.2 Results                                    | 93  |
|   |      | 4.3.3 Discussion                                 | 94  |
|   | 4.4  | Study 2  | 95  |
|   |      | 4.4.1 Method                                     | 95  |
|   |      | 4.4.1.1 Sample and procedure                     | 95  |
|   |      | 4.4.1.2 Measures                                 | 96  |
|   |      | 4.4.2 Results                                    | 96  |
|   |      | 4.4.3 Discussion                                 | 97  |
|   | 4.5  | Study 3  | 98  |
|   |      | 4.5.1 Method                                     | 98  |
|   |      | 4.5.1.1 Sample and procedure                     | 98  |
|   |      | 4.5.1.2 Measures                                 | 99  |
|   |      | 4.5.2 Results                                    | 99  |
|   | 4.6  | General Discussion 1                             | 01  |
|   | 4.7  | Theoretical Implications 1                       | 01  |
|   | 4.8  | Limitations and Future Research 1                | 04  |
|   | 4.9  | Practical Implications 1                         | .08 |
|   | 4.10 | Conclusion 1                                     | .09 |
|   | 4.11 | References1                                      | 10  |
| 5 | Gene | eral Discussion 1                                | 36  |
|   | 5.1  | Summary of Findings 1                            | 36  |
|   | 5.2  | Theoretical Implications 1                       | 38  |
|   | 5.3  | Practical Implications 1                         | 44  |
|   | 5.4  | Limitations and Directions for Future Research 1 | 45  |
|   | 5.5  | Conclusion 1                                     | 47  |
|   | 5.6  | References 1                                     | 48  |
| 6 | App  | endix 1  | 157 |
|   | 6.1  | Appendix A (Chapter 3) 1                         | 57  |

|     | 6.1.1 Supplemental Online Materials | 157 |
|-----|-------------------------------------|-----|
|     | 6.1.2 References                    | 157 |
| 6.2 | Appendix B (Chapter 4)              | 165 |
|     | 6.2.1 Supplemental Online Materials | 165 |
|     | 6.2.2 References                    | 181 |

## **List of Tables**

| Table 1  | Overview of the papers included in the dissertation                          | 23  |
|----------|--|-----|
| Table 2  | Chapter 1— Means and standard deviations of the two conditions for the       |     |
|          | Variables  | 52  |
| Table 3  | Chapter 1—Zero-order correlations of the variables                           | 52  |
| Table 4  | Chapter 1—Measurement Model Comparisons (Study 2)                            | 54  |
| Table 5  | Chapter 2—Means, Standard Deviations, and Independent Samples                |     |
|          | t-Tests of the two Conditions for Study 1, 2, and 3 Variables                | 65  |
| Table 6  | Chapter 2—Correlations Between Study Variables (Studies 1, 2, and 3)         | 66  |
| Table 7  | Chapter 2—Moderated Mediation Analyses Testing Hypothesis 4a (Study 2)       | 68  |
| Table 8  | Chapter 2—Moderated Mediation Analyses Testing Hypothesis 4b (Study 3)       | 70  |
| Table 9  | Chapter 3—Descriptive Statistics and Correlations Between Study Variables    |     |
|          | (Study 1)1   | 32  |
| Table 10 | Chapter 3—Descriptive Statistics and Correlations Between Study Variables    |     |
|          | (Study 2)1   | 33  |
| Table 11 | Chapter 3—Descriptive Statistics and Correlations Between Study Variables    |     |
|          | (Study 3)1   | 34  |
| Table 12 | Chapter 3—Regression Results With Interaction Terms (Studies 1, 2, and 3)1   | 35  |
| Table 13 | Appendix A (Chapter 3)—Moderated Mediation Analyses Testing                  |     |
|          | Hypothesis 4a (Study 2)1   | 62  |
| Table 14 | Appendix A (Chapter 3)—Moderated Mediation Analyses Testing                  |     |
|          | Hypothesis 4b (Study 3)1   | 63  |
| Table 15 | Appendix B (Chapter 4)—Convergent Validity (Validation Study)1               | 76  |
| Table 16 | Appendix B (Chapter 4)—Intercorrelations and Heterotrait-Monotrait           |     |
|          | Ratios of Constructs (Validation Study)1                                     | .77 |
| Table 17 | Appendix B (Chapter 4)—Factor Correlations Between Control                   |     |
|          | Over the Future Work Self and Orbiting Constructs and the Respective         |     |
|          | Confidence Interval  | 78  |
| Table 18 | Appendix B (Chapter 4)—Alternative Structural Models (Pilot Study) 1         | .79 |
| Table 19 | Appendix B (Chapter 4)—Regression Results With Interaction Terms (Studies 1, |     |
|          | 2, and 3) 1  | 80  |

# **List of Figures**

| Figure 1<br>Figure 2 | Chapter 1—Hypothesized theoretical model<br>Chapter 1—Mediation model depicting the relation between group (vision vs.<br>superordinate goal) and positive anticipatory affect as mediated by positive | 48 |
|----------------------|--|----|
| Figure 3             | affect<br>Chapter 1—Parameter estimates for the proposed model. The first value represents   | 53 |
|                      | the standardized path estimate; the second value (within parentheses)  |    |
|                      | represents the standard error  | 55 |
| Figure 4             | Chapter 2—Theoretical Model  | 63 |
| Figure 5             | Chapter 2—Study 1: Moderating effect of self-concordance on the relationship   |    |
|                      | between group and positive affect  | 66 |
| Figure 6             | Chapter 2—Study 2: Moderating effect of self-concordance on the relationship   |    |
| 0                    | between group and positive affect  | 69 |
| Figure 7             | Chapter 2—Study 3: Moderating effect of self-concordance on the relationship   |    |
| 8                    | between group and positive affect  | 71 |
| Figure 8             | Chapter 3—Theoretical Model  | 27 |
| Figure 9             | Chapter 3—Schema of the study designs  | 28 |
| Figure 10            | Chapter 3—Study 1: Moderating effect of FWSS on the relationship between   |    |
|                      | experimental condition and perceived control over the FWS T1   | 29 |
| Figure 11            | Chapter 3—Study 2: Moderating effect of FWSS on the relationship between   |    |
| i igui e i i         | experimental condition and perceived control over the FWS T2   | 30 |
| Figuro 12            | Chapter 3 Study 3: Moderating effect of FWSS on the relationship between   | 50 |
| rigure 12            | experimental condition and perceived control over the EWS T1   | 21 |
|                      | experimental condition and perceived control over the F w S 11   | 31 |

## List of Abbreviations

| AIC    | = | Akaike's Information Criteria               |
|--------|---|---|
| AVE    | = | Average Explained Variance                  |
| BIC    | = | Bayesian Information Criteria               |
| CI     | = | Confidence interval                         |
| Cf.    | = | Confer (compare)                            |
| CFI    | = | Comparative Fit Index                       |
| CFA    | = | Confirmatory Factor Analysis                |
| CR     | = | Composite Reliability                       |
| e.g.   | = | Exempli gratia (for example)                |
| et al. | = | Et alii (and others)                        |
| etc.   | = | Et cetera (and so forth)                    |
| FWS    | = | Future Work Self                            |
| FWSC   | = | Perceived Control over the Future Work Self |
| FWSS   | = | Future Work Self Salience                   |
| HTMT   | = | heterotrait-monotrait                       |
| i.e.   | = | Id est (that is)                            |
| OSF    | = | Open Science Framework                      |
| р      | = | p-value                                     |
| Prof.  | = | Professor                                   |
| RMSEA  | = | Root Mean Square Error of Approximation     |
| SRMR   | = | Standardized Root Mean Square Residual      |
| SD     | = | Standard deviation                          |
| SDT    | = | Self-determination theory                   |
| SE     | = | Standard error                              |
| SEM    | = | Structural equation modeling                |
| vs.    | = | Versus                                      |

## List of Manuscripts and Conference Proceedings

Partial results of this dissertation have been published in the form of the following articles and presented at the following conferences with the permission of the TUM School of Management, represented by this dissertation's mentor:

#### **Publications**

- I. Voigt, J., Jais, M., & Kehr, H. M. (2024). An Image of What I Want to Achieve: How Visions Motivate Goal Pursuit. *Current Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-024-05943-4
- II. Voigt, J., Kehr, H. M., & Sheldon, K. M. (2024). When Visions Truly Inspire: The Moderating Role of Self-Concordance in Boosting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 109, 104471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2024.104471
- III. Voigt, J. & Strauss, K. (R&R). How Future Work Self Salience Shapes the Effects of Interacting with Artificial Intelligence. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*.

#### **Conference Proceedings**

 I. Voigt, J. & Strauss, K. (2024, April 18-19). Artificial Intelligence: Friend or Foe?
 How Future Work Self Salience Shapes the Effects of Interacting with Artificial Intelligence. Academy of Management Careers Conference (CarCon) 2024, Amsterdam, Netherlands. II. Voigt, J., Jais, M., & Kehr, H. M. (2022, August 05-09). How Personal Visions Motivate Goal Pursuit. 82nd Annual Meeting of the Academy of Management, Seattle, Washington, USA.

#### **Co-authored Journal Publications**

(Note. These journal papers were not part of the present dissertation)

- I. Kehr, H. M., Voigt, J., & Rawolle, M. (2021). Follower Implicit Motives as the Missing Link Between Leader Vision, Follower Motivation, and Vision Pursuit. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 12(2), 1–27. doi.org/10.1177/20413866211061364
- II. Talluri, S., Strauss, K., Newman, A., & Voigt, J. (under review). Future Work Self Salience: A Systematic Review and Future Research Agenda. *Journal of Business Research*.

## Abstract

How do people set the course for both their personal and professional lives? Visions—vivid, picture-like mental representations of a desirable, long-term future state—can be a central tool in this process. Indeed, a growing body of organizational research shows that visions of the future can increase motivation and performance. Surprisingly, however, despite the evidence for the benefits of visions, little is known about how and when they motivate behavior. In addition, most research on visions has focused primarily on their main effects on motivation. Thus, this dissertation aims to investigate the processes and boundary conditions of the effectiveness of visions, as well as how a clear vision itself may serve as a moderator.

In the first article of this dissertation, I examined positive affective responses as an important mediator of the effectiveness of visions. In an initial online experiment (N = 128), I demonstrated that both visions and vision-derived goals elicited more positive affect than a control condition (simply stating a "superordinate goal"). In a second online experiment (N = 323), I replicated and extended these findings by demonstrating that visions are positively related to goal progress through positive affect, positive anticipatory affect related to a vision-derived goal, and goal commitment. These results support the idea that visions exert their motivational effects by emotionally charging the activities associated with them.

In the second article of this dissertation, I sought to extend the findings of the first article by examining whether vision self-concordance (i.e., the degree to which an individual's stated vision aligns with his or her implicit motives) shapes the extent to which visions elicit positive affect and foster vision-related goal pursuit. To this end, I tested a first-stage moderated mediation model in which vision self-concordance moderates the effect of visions on goal commitment and goal progress via positive affect. In an initial cross-sectional experiment (N= 358), I observed that an elicited vision (vs. simply stating a "superordinate goal") evoked greater positive affect, particularly when self-concordance was high compared to low. In a second experiment with a onemonth time lag (N=288), I showed that when self-concordance was high compared to low, visions were associated with heightened positive affect and commitment to the goals derived from the visions. In a third time-lagged online experiment (N = 254), these results were replicated and shown to extend to goal progress. By demonstrating that the congruence between implicit motives and visions results in greater positive affect, goal commitment, and goal progress, these findings highlight the important role of self-concordance in moderating the effectiveness of visions.

The third article in this dissertation examined visions in a pervasive context, the emergence of generative artificial intelligence (AI). Specifically, I examined whether the salience of one's vision of one's future career (i.e., the vividness and ease with which these future visions are imagined) moderates the effect of interacting with an AI on perceived control over one's vision of one's future career and proactive career behavior. In an initial time-lagged online experiment with 174 full-time employees based in the United Kingdom, participants who interacted with an AI on an in-tray task (as opposed to a control group) reported having greater control over their future career visions when their career visions were highly salient, as opposed to when they were less salient. In a second time-lagged online experiment, I replicated these results with a sample of German business students (N = 208). A third time-lagged study with full-time employees in Germany (N = 155) expanded the model and found evidence for a moderated mediation: for individuals whose career vision was highly salient, interaction with AI boosted perceived control over the future career vision and thereby fostered proactive career behavior. In contrast, for individuals whose career vision was less salient, it decreased perceived control over the future career vision and proactive career behavior.

In sum, this dissertation contributes to research and practice by demonstrating that: (1) a potential process by which visions motivate behavior is by affectively charging vision-related goals; (2) perceived vision self-concordance is an important individual-level moderator that affects the extent to which visions elicit positive affective responses and vision-related goal striving; (3) a clear vision of one's future career might enable individuals to imagine the possibilities of AI for their future careers, make them feel more in control of their envisioned future, and thus promote proactive career behavior. I discuss the theoretical and practical implications of the studies included in this dissertation and suggest directions for future research.

### **1** General Introduction

Imagination is the beginning of creation.

You imagine what you desire, you will what you imagine and at last you create what you will. - George Bernard Shaw

In September 1962, President John F. Kennedy captured the imagination of millions of Americans. In what is now considered one of the boldest calls to action of the twentieth century, Kennedy declared America's ambition to land a man on the moon before the end of the decade: "We choose to go to the moon. We choose to go to the moon in this decade and do the other things not because they are easy, but because they are hard [...]" (JFK Library, 2024). This clear vision was more than just words; it was a living beacon that galvanized a nation's efforts in science and technology, fostering a spirit of innovation that would eventually lead to the Apollo 11 astronauts walking on the lunar surface in 1969.

Drawing on such examples, management practitioners consistently emphasize the need for organizations and their leaders to cultivate clear visions of their future to ensure organizational success (Ashkenas & Moore, 2022; Collins & Porras, 1996). Similarly, organizational scholars have proposed that articulating a clear vision of the future plays a central role in motivating collective efforts to accomplish monumental tasks (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Stam et al., 2010b) and is a critical determinant of organizational success (Stam et al., 2010b, 2010a, 2014; van Knippenberg & Sitkin, 2013). Indeed, theorists have suggested (e.g., Berson et al., 2015; Stam et al., 2014) and empirical studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of visions in various settings on various positive outcomes, such as improved performance (Kearney et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2023), increased follower motivation (Conger et al., 2000; Stam et al., 2010b), reduced turnover intentions (Buss & Kearney, 2024; Kipfelsberger et al., 2022), increased creativity (Cai et al.,

2023; Fan et al., 2022), and greater support for organizational change (Carton et al., 2023; Venus, Stam, et al., 2019).

Although a large number of studies have documented the benefits of visions in motivating behavior, little is known about how and when visions motivate behavior (Buss & Kearney, 2024; Kohles et al., 2012; Stam et al., 2010b; Venus, Johnson, et al., 2019). For example, Venus, Stam, et al. (2019) emphasize in this regard that the mechanisms by which visions drive behavior are "ill-understood" (p. 681), especially when visions are simplified to simply communicating an image of the future (Kearney et al., 2019). Echoing this sentiment, Fan et al. (2022, p. 552) noted that "there is still a lot to learn about the mediators and moderators" that influence the effects of visions. Moreover, although some studies have begun to examine visions as a boundary condition, the majority of studies to date have focused on the main effects of visions in motivating behavior. These observations have led numerous scholars to call for a deeper investigation of the processes underlying the effectiveness of visions (Beyer, 1999; Paine et al., 2023; Stam et al., 2010b), a call that has largely gone unanswered. This is a significant omission, as furthering our understanding of how, why, and when visions motivate behavior, particularly how they relate to follower psychological states, is critical as it could provide practitioners with deeper insights into creating visions that translate effectively into concrete follower actions (Kehr et al., 2021), and identify situations in which having a clear vision may be particularly important.

Recently, scholars have suggested that this lack of detailed understanding may be due to the tendency of previous research to conflate visions and visionary leadership with broader leadership concepts such as transformational leadership (Buss & Kearney, 2024; Carton, 2022). Consequently, to truly understand how and when visions motivate behavior, and also to explore how visions may act as moderators, it is essential to study visions from an individual-level perspective (Preller et al., 2020) that allows these elements to be studied independently (Buss & Kearney, 2024). Accordingly, in this dissertation, I examine the effects of visions at the individual behavioral level to explain three aspects: (1) the processes and (2) the boundary conditions of the motivational effects of visions, and (3) the situations in which visions shape behavior (Kehr et al., 2021; Stam et al., 2014).

First, I consider positive affect to be an important mediator of the effects of visions. Although scholars have argued that the vivid mental imagery elicited by visions is a central feature of their motivational effects (Carton et al., 2014, 2023; Carton & Lucas, 2018; Kehr et al., 2021), speculating that mental imagery is "emotionally engaging" (Carton & Lucas, 2018, p. 2108), and positive affect is generally considered to be a crucial factor in motivation (e.g., Aarts et al., 2008), whether vision-induced positive affect actually increases motivation for vision-related behaviors has yet to be empirically tested (Paine et al., 2023). Therefore, I draw on *goal systems theory* (Kruglanski et al., 2002, 2018) to examine whether vision-induced positive affect is transferred to vision-derived goals (Stam et al., 2014), thereby promoting goal commitment and consequently, goal progress (Aarts et al., 2008; Custers & Aarts, 2005).

Second, I examine the congruence between an individual's core self and their vision as a boundary condition of the effects of visions. Although it has been proposed that the effects of visions vary significantly depending on how closely they align with the core self of an individual (Shamir et al., 1993; Stam et al., 2014), this question has not been empirically examined. Drawing on the *self-concordance model* (Sheldon, 2014; Sheldon & Elliot, 1999), I examine whether the congruence of an individual's vision with his or her implicit motives and intrinsic values can shape the extent to which visions evoke positive affect and promote vision-related goal pursuit. I examine whether the congruence between an individual's vision and their implicit motives and intrinsic

values can shape the extent to which visions elicit positive affect and foster vision-related goal pursuit.

Third, I examine the situations in which visions shape behavior, focusing in particular on how the clarity of a person's personal vision acts as a boundary condition in a contemporary context: interactions with powerful generative AI. Given that AI is assumed to significantly impact careers (Parker & Grote, 2022), I examine whether the salience of an individual's future work self<sup>1</sup> might shape how interactions with AI influence individuals' career-related cognitions and behaviors. Drawing on the *proactive motivation model* (Parker et al., 2010) and research on *future work selves* (Strauss et al., 2012), this study examines how the salience of future work selves—the vividness and ease with which these futures are imagined—impacts individuals' perceived control over their future work self and their proactive career behaviors.

Thus, in summary, with this dissertation, I seek to explore in three papers: (1) the processes by which visions motivate behavior, (2) the boundary conditions that determine their effectiveness, and (3) whether a clear vision of the future is important when interacting with AI (see Table 1 for an overview of the three papers).

Before outlining the main parts of the research in Chapters 2 through 4, the remainder of the introductory Chapter 1 proceeds as follows. Section 1.1 provides an overview of the relevant literature on visions and related constructs and develops the research questions of this dissertation. Next, Section 1.2 provides a brief overview of the data collection procedures, sample characteristics, and analytical techniques employed in each paper. Section 1.3 then presents the key contributions and provides a brief overview of the remaining structure of the dissertation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this dissertation, I conceptualize future work selves as a specific type of visions, specifically an individual's personal vision of their future career. This conceptualization follows previous work that has described future work selves as a "personal vision" (Strauss et al., 2012, p. 593) of one's future career (see also Strauss & Parker, 2018). In the following discussion of visions and related constructs, I will return to the relationship between visions and future work selves in more detail.

### **1.1 Theoretical Background and Development of Research** Questions

#### **1.1.1** Visions and related constructs

Throughout the organizational literature, visions have been defined and conceptualized in a variety of different ways, with each definition emphasizing different aspects of what constitutes a vision. For example, visions have been defined as goals or future states that align with and motivate organizational members (Berlew, 1974; House, 1977), as future-oriented idealizations of shared organizational goals shaped by leaders (Conger, 1999), as an idealized image of the future that inspires members (Rafferty & Griffin, 2004), and as images of a collective future that unify and mobilize groups (Stam et al., 2014). While attempts have been made to integrate these different conceptualizations and definitions (Berson et al., 2016), a universally accepted definition of visions remains elusive.

Nonetheless, many recent papers have emphasized the defining role of imagery in visions, describing them as "images of the future" (Carton et al., 2023; Carton & Lucas, 2018; Gochmann et al., 2022; Lewis & Clark, 2020; Stam et al., 2014). Following these recent conceptualizations, I define visions as vivid, pictorial mental representations of a desirable, long-term future state (Kehr et al., 2021; Rawolle et al., 2017). In this way, visions overlap conceptually with superordinate goals (i.e., abstract goals that are high-level, long-term, and more abstract, Eberly et al., 2013)— in the sense that both are high-level, long-term goals (Conger, 1999; Eberly et al., 2013; Latham et al., 1988). However, visions transcend the abstract features of superordinate goals by providing a mental stimulation of a possible future (Carton et al., 2014, 2023). Although superordinate goals can also evoke mental images, they do so with less intensity and detail. As such, visions transcend an abstract wish or hope and instead encapsulate a state of being in the future in which one's long-

held desires have been realized (Carton & Lucas, 2018). Although visions may be shared aspirations in an organizational setting, they function mainly as cognitions at the individual level (Stam et al., 2014), representing the uniqueness of each person's perspective and desires. Thus, as the name implies, visions are characterized by their visual component (Kouzes & Posner, 2017; Rawolle et al., 2017). This feature transforms an imagination into a mental image that provides a picture-like, "quasi-perceptual simulation of a future reality" (Rawolle et al., 2017, p. 769), offering a "sneak peek" at the incentives that are related to the imagined state (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Masuda et al., 2010; Rawolle et al., 2017).

At the individual level, a key concept in the study of visions are future work selves (Strauss et al., 2012). Future work selves are possible selves (i.e., representations of "individuals' ideas about what they might become, what they would like to become, and what they are afraid of becoming", Markus & Nurius, 1986, p. 954) that reflect one's work hopes and ambitions for future work (Strauss et al., 2012). Future work selves are future-focused, positive, and work-related (Strauss et al., 2012; Strauss & Kelly, 2016). While visions are an umbrella term encompassing both collective and individual ambitions (Stam et al., 2014) in diverse settings such as sustainability (McMichael et al., 2003), entrepreneurship (Preller et al., 2020), or organizations (Collins & Porras, 2008), future work selves represent an individual's clear vision and passion for ideal career goals (Han & Hwang, 2022; Oyserman et al., 2006; Oyserman & James, 2009) and can thus be described as a "personal vision" (Strauss et al., 2012, p. 593) of one's future career (see also Strauss & Parker, 2018).

Similar to the literature on visions, much research has demonstrated the motivational benefits of future work selves (W. Lin et al., 2016; Strauss et al., 2012; Taber & Blankemeyer, 2015). In particular, one important aspect of a future work self that has been intensively studied

and that shapes the effect of a future work self on motivational outcomes is its salience (i.e., the extent to which one's future work self is "clear and easy to imagine" [Strauss et al., 2012, p. 581]). Research has shown that employees with salient future work selves are motivated to pursue broad needs and shape their desired careers (Fang & Saks, 2022; Guo et al., 2022; Strauss & Kelly, 2016). In summary, both research on visions (Berson et al., 2001; Carton & Lucas, 2018; Paine et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2021) and research on future work selves (W. Lin et al., 2016; Strauss et al., 2012; Strauss & Parker, 2018) point to the important role of having a clear and accessible mental image in eliciting organizational and individual responses and in motivating behavior.

#### **1.1.2** Visions motivating effects

Mental imagery, the defining feature of visions, refers to "representations and the accompanying experience of sensory information without a direct external stimulus" (Pearson et al., 2015, p. 590). Mental imagery enables individuals to experience sensory information, such as "seeing a visual scene in the 'mind's eye'" (Carton & Lucas, 2018, p. 2115) by either reliving the past or imagining the future without direct exposure to external stimuli (Kosslyn et al., 1995; Pearson et al., 2015). Extensive clinical psychology research has found a positive effect of mental imagery on positive affect (Holmes et al., 2006, 2008, 2016), and in particular, vividly imagining personal future events has been suggested to enhance positive affect (Morton & MacLeod, 2023; Schubert et al., 2020)

In addition to research in clinical psychology, evidence for the idea that mental imagery elicits positive affect can be found in the heuristics literature, specifically in research on Schwarz's *feelings-as-information theory* (1990, 2012), which shows that verbal descriptions of pictures evoke stronger emotions than abstract concepts by providing vivid and concrete information that allows individuals to use their emotional responses as heuristic cues for judgment.

In addition, organizational scholars have shown that presidential speeches with more imagery evoke stronger emotional responses (Emrich et al., 2001). Similarly, Naidoo and Lord's (2008) empirical research on vision communication found that subjects exposed to a speech rich in imagery showed more emotional responses compared to a control condition. Finally, a recent experiment by Fiset and Boies (2019) demonstrated a positive effect of a leader's vision on followers' emotional outcomes. Specifically, the authors found that teachers' perceptions of positive affect at work increased when school principals communicated a vividly imagined vision. Given this evidence, I expect that visions, with their capacity to evoke mental imagery, will elicit positive affective responses.

Motivational psychologists agree that positive affect is critical to motivation, acting as an "implicit motivator" (Custers & Aarts, 2005, p. 129; see also Aarts et al., 2008) for goal achievement. Previous studies have demonstrated that positive affect increases goal commitment (e.g., Fishbach & Labroo, 2007), goal pursuit (e.g., Ilies & Judge, 2005), and subsequently, goal progress (e.g., Fritz et al., 2021). Although the link between mental imagery and strong emotional responses is well established (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Emrich et al., 2001; Rawolle et al., 2017), and many studies have demonstrated the significance of positive affect for motivation (Aarts et al., 2008; Fishbach & Labroo, 2007; Orehek et al., 2011), the literature has yet to examine whether these positive affective responses mediate the link between visions and vision-related goal pursuit (Paine et al., 2023). One might speculate that visions evoke strong, positive emotions (Ernst et al., 2018; Rawolle et al., 2017) that motivate individuals to devote energy and resources to "goals that are hierarchically related to the vision" (Stam et al., 2014, p. 1174) in an attempt to achieve positive expectations (Carver & Scheier, 1982, 1998, 2000). This idea is consistent with the research of Fishbach et al. (2004), who showed that experiencing positive affect can be implicitly linked to a

goal being pursued, increasing the perceived value of the goal and promoting motivation to approach it (see also Fishbach & Finkelstein, 2011). Thus, the first goal of this dissertation is to empirically investigate the mediating role of positive affective reactions in the relationship between visions and vision-related goal pursuit. To address this, the dissertation proposes the following research question:

Research Question 1: Does positive affect mediate the relationship between visions and vision-derived goal pursuit?

#### **1.1.3** The boundary conditions of visions motivating effects

Further, building on the proposed role of positive affect as a mediator, it is important to consider individual differences in responding to visions, which have been largely neglected in the literature (Fan et al., 2022; van Knippenberg & Sitkin, 2013). Some scholars (e.g., Fan et al., 2022; Kehr et al., 2021; Shamir et al., 1993) have speculated that one potential boundary condition of visions effects is the degree to which a vision is in alignment with the core self (i.e., "who people believe they are deep down," Bailey & Iyengar, 2023, p. 1360; see also Baumeister, 2019). In this vein, researchers have suggested that the degree of alignment between a vision and an individual's core self affects the extent to which a vision will resonate with them, which in turn influences the positive affect and motivational power it evokes (Berson et al., 2015; Shamir et al., 1993; Stam et al., 2014), as visions are more powerful when they mirror an individual's personal values and identity (e.g., Fiset & Boies, 2019). In line with this, Lewis and Clark (2020) recently suggested the centrality of aligning visions with employees' core selves and personal values. Researchers propose that this individualization, combined with facilitating a feeling "of ownership of the vision" (Kearney et al., 2019, p. 5; see also Stam et al., 2014), helps to foster identified and internalized motivation by enhancing employees' personal connection to the vision (Carton, 2022;

Kearney et al., 2019). Recent support for this idea comes from an experimental study by Fan et al. (2022), who confirmed that the effectiveness of visions depends on their fit with followers' value orientations. Extending this idea, Kehr et al. (2021) proposed that alignment between visions and the deeper aspects of an individual's personality, such as implicit motives (i.e., stable, unconscious motivational dispositions for specific incentive classes, McClelland, 1985; McClelland et al., 1989), may promote the achievement of vision-derived goals. Therefore, according to this view, one might suggest that a vision that aligns with a person's deeper self, implicit motives, and intrinsic values may elicit stronger positive affective responses, and thus increase motivation (Kehr et al., 2021; Ryan & Deci, 2000).

The self-concordance model (Sheldon, 2014; Sheldon & Elliot, 1999) offers a theoretical lens that is directly related to this idea. Rooted in *self-determination theory* (SDT, Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000), the model posits that goals stated by individuals are explicit (McClelland, 1985; McClelland et al., 1989), or "system 2" manifestations that may be more or less consistent with the individual's implicit or "system 1" self (Kahneman, 2011; Kahneman & Frederick, 2002). Thus, self-concordance can be thought of as a form of fit between a goal and a person that involves the alignment of an individual's inner self with his or her intentionally set goals (Sheldon, 2014; Sheldon & Goffredi, 2023) and has been associated with a number of positive outcomes (see Sezer et al., 2023). Researchers suggest that pursuing self-concordant goals is associated with well-being and satisfaction (Kelly et al., 2015; Sheldon & Schüler, 2011). Consistent with this, a large body of research has demonstrated that individuals who pursue self-concordant goals have greater levels of a variety of well-being indicators, such as subjective well-

being (Hope et al., 2019), positive affect (Gillet et al., 2014) or life satisfaction (Judge et al., 2005), than those who pursue less self-concordant goals.

Drawing on the self-concordance model (Sheldon & Elliot, 1999) and integrating it with findings from the organizational literature (Fan et al., 2022; Kehr et al., 2021; Shamir et al., 1993), I propose that perceived self-concordance plays a key moderating role in the relation between visions and positive affective reactions. Specifically, I suggest that this arises from the fit between a vision and a person, which I conceive as the congruence between a person's vision and his or her deeper self, personal values, and implicit motives (Kehr et al., 2021; Sheldon, 2014; Sheldon & Goffredi, 2023). Visions that are perceived to be more self-concordant, i.e., have a greater level of vision-person fit, may resonate more deeply with an individual's implicit motives and deeper values (Kehr et al., 2021). As a result, the three basic psychological needs may be better satisfied through the pursuit (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Sheldon & Elliot, 1999), which in turn may elicit greater positive affective reactions (Gillet et al., 2014; Levine et al., 2021; Sheldon et al., 2004). In contrast, when visions are perceived as less self-concordant, that is, they have a lower visionperson fit, this discrepancy may lead to lower basic psychological need satisfaction (Ryan & Deci, 2000) and personal ownership (Kearney et al., 2019), which in turn may reduce positive affective responses (Sheldon & Elliot, 1999; Stam et al., 2014). Although these less self-concordant visions might still contain imagery that elicits certain positive affective responses, the lack of alignment with an individual's deep self may result in a less powerful affective response.

In summary, the second goal of this dissertation is to examine whether visions that are perceived as self-concordant, i.e., have a higher congruence between the vision and a person's deeper self and personal values (higher vision-person fit), may resonate more strongly with an individual's implicit self and deeper values (Kehr et al., 2021) and elicit stronger positive affective responses. Furthermore, given that previous research has shown that pursuing self-concordant goals promotes goal progress (Gaudreau, 2012; Koestner et al., 2008; Smyth et al., 2020) by facilitating commitment (Koestner et al., 2002), greater effort (Koestner et al., 2008; Sheldon & Elliot, 1999; Sheldon & Kasser, 1995), and perceived ease (Dominick & Cole, 2020; Werner et al., 2016), it could be argued that when individuals' visions are experienced as self-concordant, they are more apt to experience greater positive affect, which in turn enhances goal commitment and goal progress. Therefore, the second goal of this dissertation is to empirically examine the role of rated self-concordance of visions as a moderator of the indirect relationship between visions and vision-related goal pursuit via positive affect. To address this, the dissertation suggests the following research question:

Research Question 2: Does perceived self-concordance of visions moderate the indirect relationship between visions and vision-derived goal pursuit via positive affect?

#### **1.1.4** Visions shape the effects of interacting with AI

Building on the earlier discussion of how and when visions motivate behavior, this section explores the role of a clear vision of the future as a moderator. As noted above, most research has focused primarily on the direct effects of visions on motivation. However, recent studies have begun to broaden this perspective by examining how a clear vision can shape behavior, particularly for individuals facing challenging or uncertain situations. For example, having a clear vision of the future has been shown to be beneficial when people encounter abusive supervision (Yu et al., 2016) or during periods of reduced employability (H. Lin et al., 2024). In this regard, one could speculate that the rise of generative AI, such as *ChatGPT* (OpenAI, 2024), may evoke feelings of insecurity and uncertainty (Cave & Dihal, 2019) in some individuals, especially in the work domain. As such, I suggest that a clear vision of one's professional future may shape one's reactions when interacting with AI. To examine this issue, I draw on the proactive motivation model (Parker et al., 2010) and research on future work selves (Strauss et al., 2012). Applying the proactive motivation model, which posits that "reason to" and "can do" factors jointly shape proactive motivation, I propose that interactions with AI and its observed capabilities influence individuals' control over their future work selves (a "can do" factor) depending on the salience (i.e., clarity) of their future work selves (a "reason to" factor).

The term AI broadly refers to "intelligent entities—machines that can compute how to act effectively and safely in a wide variety of novel situations" (Russell & Norvig, 2021, p. 1). As such, AI is an umbrella term that includes a number of different technologies and tools (e.g., natural language processing, knowledge representation, automated reasoning, machine learning; Russell & Norvig, 2021) that can automate tasks and emulate human decision-making (von Krogh, 2018). Initial studies have shown that AI has the potential to significantly increase productivity (Dell'Acqua et al., 2023; Noy & Zhang, 2023), creativity (Girotra et al., 2023), and thus improve overall performance (Brynjolfsson et al., 2023). As a result, it is proposed that the integration of AI into the workplace will have a profound impact on the careers of individuals (Donald et al., 2024; Parker & Grote, 2022).

However, the relationship between AI and individuals' perceptions of its impact on their careers is multifaceted. Previous studies have proposed that reactions to AI vary significantly across individuals (Cave & Dihal, 2019), particularly with respect to its integration into the workplace (Bankins et al., 2023). These differences are not only due to the "type of technology" but are also influenced by "the user of the AI system" (Maragno et al., 2023, p. 10) and their individual differences (Bankins et al., 2023). While some research has begun to examine how individual-level factors shape responses to AI, research has mainly focused on how personality

affects attitudes about AI (Kaya et al., 2024; Stein et al., 2024) and how people perceive their current jobs to be influenced by AI (Bhargava et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2024). However, the way individuals react to interactions with AI is strongly influenced by their perceptions of what these experiences might imply for their future (Gioia et al., 1994; Gioia & Thomas, 1996). Yet, how individuals' more future-oriented career-related cognitions affect their interactions with AI, and thus their career-related behaviors, remains poorly understood.

Building on the literature on prospective sensemaking (Gioia et al., 1994; Gioia & Thomas, 1996), I suggest that a promising lens for addressing this issue may be through the lens of future work selves (Strauss et al., 2012). As noted before, the future work self is an individual's vision or representation of who they wish to be in the future, reflecting their hopes and ambitions with regard to work (Strauss et al., 2012) and can be described as a "personal vision" (Strauss et al., 2012, p. 593) of one's future career (see also Strauss & Parker, 2018).

In this regard, it is plausible to assume that interacting with AI will affect the degree of control individuals believe they have over the realization of their future work selves, i.e., the extent to which the realization of their future work selves is seen as under their own control (Norman & Aron, 2003). Previous research has shown that future work self control (FWSC) is important in determining how much effort individuals put into achieving their respective possible selves (Norman & Aron, 2003). Thus, FWSC represents individuals' control appraisals of their future work selves, i.e., their perceived control over their future with respect to work, given their existing resources (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

Another key characteristic of the motivational power of a future work self is how salient it is, i.e., how much a future work self can be "clearly and easily imagined" (Strauss et al., 2012, p. 581). In this regard, Strauss et al. (2012) propose that the mental stimulation of the future explains the motivational force of a salient future work self (e.g., Bulley et al., 2016; Suddendorf & Moore, 2011). In line with the idea that envisioning future states can help to optimize goal-oriented cognition and behavior (Seligman et al., 2013), this mental simulation of possible future scenarios allows people to structure their present actions in preparation for future events by helping them identify possible inconsistencies between their present abilities and future needs (Strauss et al., 2012), thereby motivating them to take action to address these inconsistencies (Schultz & Hernes, 2013). In this regard, Taylor et al. (1998) showed that mentally simulating possible future events aids planning and problem solving (for a recent meta-analysis, see Cole et al., 2021). Moreover, research has shown that simulating stressful events improves the tendency to engage in problem-solving behaviors (Jing et al., 2016; Rivkin & Taylor, 1999). Emphasizing the stabilizing effects of a clearly defined future work self during times of uncertainty, people with a salient and hopeful possible self experience better psychological adjustment and exhibit lower levels of both anxiety and depression (Sweeny & Dunlop, 2020).

Given this evidence, one might assume that individuals with a salient future work self can mentally travel into the future and imagine possible uses of AI in their future work lives. Drawing on Parker et al.'s (2010) proactive motivation model and research on future work selves, I propose that interacting with AI and experiencing its capabilities will influence individuals' perceptions of control over their future work selves (a "can do" factor of motivation, i.e., the individuals' expectancy perceptions), depending on the initial salience of their future work selves (a "reason to" factor of motivation, i.e., the value and desirability of the goal). Rather than viewing AI as a threatening force to their future work selves, a salient future work self allows them to visualize its potential benefits as well as how to avoid its potential negative effects, thereby increasing their sense of control over their future work selves. In comparison, when the salience of their future work selves is low, individuals tend to have more difficulty imagining their future work selves (Strauss et al., 2012). As a result, they are limited in their ability to imagine the potential benefits of AI for their future work selves. Rather, AI may lead to a lack of perceived control over the future self, as AI may be perceived as limiting their future opportunities.

The future work self has significant self-regulatory capacities in the career domain (Fang & Saks, 2022) and drives individuals' efforts to achieve their desired future with respect to work by engaging in proactive career behaviors (Han & Hwang, 2022; Strauss et al., 2012; Taber & Blankemeyer, 2015). As suggested by Parker et al. (2010), a salient future work self can serve as a "reason to" motivator for proactive career behaviors. The term proactive career behavior describes self-initiated behaviors that individuals engage in to manage their future careers, such as "setting goals, exploring options, and formulating plans" (Claes & Ruiz-Quintanilla, 1998, pp. 358-360).

Previous research investigating the future work self and proactive career behaviors has focused on the salience of the future work self (Strauss et al., 2012), and thus has primarily focused on the "reason to" aspect of the future work self (Parker et al., 2010). Yet, little attention is focused on the "can-do" motivation of the individual regarding their future work self. However, in the possible self literature, Norman and Aron (2003) have demonstrated that the degree to which the achievement of a possible self is seen as "under one's perceived control" (p. 505) is positively related to motivation to achieve it (see also Oyserman & James, 2009). This could be explained by the finding that control beliefs or expectancy beliefs, i.e., individuals' beliefs that their actions can bring about the desired outcome, drive their decisions and behavior (Bandura, 1997). In fact, a recent study revealed a negative association between employees' control perceptions at work and their proactive career behaviors in a sample of employees in insecure jobs (Koen & Parker, 2020).

Thus, there is support for the notion that perceived control over the future work self, in combination with future work self salience, is likely to foster individuals' efforts to manage their careers, and that the interplay of future work self control and future work self salience determines the effect of interacting with AI on proactive career behavior. Therefore, the third goal of this dissertation is to empirically explore the moderating role of a clear vision of the future (salient future work self) on the indirect relationship between interacting with AI and proactive career behavior via perceived control over achieving one's vision. To address this, the dissertation suggests the following research question:

Research question 3: Does the salience of a future work self moderate the indirect relationship between interacting with artificial intelligence and proactive career behavior via perceived control over one's future work self?

#### **1.2 Data and Methods Used in this Dissertation**

I empirically investigate the research questions in this dissertation through a series of online experiments spread across three papers (Chapters 2-4). All studies used experimental designs in which participants were randomly assigned to a condition, as experiments are regarded as the gold standard of scientific research (Podsakoff & Podsakoff, 2019) and allow to establish causality between the focal variables (Antonakis et al., 2010). Furthermore, each paper includes multiple studies using different quantitative methods to explore the proposed hypotheses (Shrout & Rodgers, 2018). The following sections briefly describe the data collection procedures, sample characteristics, and analytical techniques employed in each paper.

In Chapter 2, I conducted two online experiments using the platform Sosci Survey (Leiner, 2024). Study 1 used a cross-sectional experimental design and included 128 participants consisting of consultants from two mid-sized consulting firms and students. Study 2 included 323 students

and used a time-lagged experimental design with a two-week interval. I used two main analytical approaches. In Study 1, I used the PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2022) in SPSS version 26.0 (IBM Corp., 2019) to evaluate the mediation model, whereas in Study 2, I used R (R Development Core Team, 2013) to first conduct a confirmatory factor analysis to test the measurement model and second conduct structural equation modeling to measure the path coefficients (Anderson & Gerbing, 1988; Kline, 2016).

In Chapter 3, I conducted three online experiments, again using the platform Sosci Survey (Leiner, 2024). Study 1 had a sample size of 358 students and used a cross-sectional design. Studies 2 and 3 had 288 and 254 participants, respectively, with Study 2 including only students and Study 3 including both students and full-time employees. Studies 2 and 3 used time-lagged designs with one-month intervals. In this chapter, I used the PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2022) to conduct a moderation analysis (Study 1, PROCESS Model 1) and a moderated mediation analysis (Studies 2 and 3, PROCESS Model 7).

In Chapter 4, I conducted three time-lagged online experiments in which participants interacted with the generative AI ChatGPT (OpenAI, 2024), a validation study, and a manipulation check, all using the Qualtrics platform (Qualtrics, 2024). Although many AI technologies have already been incorporated into jobs (von Krogh, 2018), recent attention has shifted to generative AI systems—that is, systems that employ "computational techniques that are capable of generating seemingly new, meaningful content such as text, images, or audio from training data" (Feuerriegel et al., 2024, p. 111). Given the ability of generative AI to impact a wide range of jobs that have traditionally been considered relatively unlikely to be affected by automation (Brown et al., 2024; Dwivedi et al., 2023), these systems provide an ideal context for examining the impact of AI on individuals' work-related cognition and behavior. In Study 1, I recruited a sample of 174 working

professionals located in the United Kingdom who indicated that they had never interacted with ChatGPT, recruited through the Prolific Academic platform (Palan & Schitter, 2018). In the second Study, I employed the same online experiment with a sample of 208 business students in Germany. In Study 3, I applied the same experimental design to test the full model of first-stage moderated mediation in a sample of 155 full-time employees in Germany. I also carried out a validation study with 257 full-time employees from the United Kingdom via Prolific to support the construct validity of the adapted measure of future work self-control (Norman & Aron, 2003). Finally, I conducted a manipulation study with 119 full-time employees located in the UK via Prolific to test the effectiveness of the experimental manipulations (Lonati et al., 2018). I used three main analytical approaches. In the main papers, I used the PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2022) to conduct a moderation analysis (Studies 1 and 2, PROCESS Model 1) and a moderated mediation analysis (Study 3, PROCESS Model 7). In the validation study, all of the analyses were carried out in R (R Development Core Team, 2013). For the confirmatory factor analyses (CFA), I used the package lavaan (Rosseel, 2012). Furthermore, I used the package semTools (Jorgensen et al., 2022) to evaluate the heterotrait-monotrait (HTMT) ratio of the correlations with the function 'HTMT'. I implemented the CI<sub>CFA</sub> (sys) methodology of Rönkkö and Cho (2022) with the function 'discriminantValidity'. In the manipulation study, I examined group differences by means of an independent samples t-test. Each of the three corresponding chapters provides detailed information

#### **1.3 Dissertation Structure and Key Contributions**

on data collection procedures, sample characteristics, and analysis techniques.

In order to answer the three research questions developed in Section 1.1, this dissertation consists of three separate papers, which are presented in Chapters 2 through 4. Chapter 2 seeks to advance our knowledge of the mediators of visions effectiveness. Based on this foundation,

Chapter 3 examines the potential boundary conditions of visions effects. Chapter 4 explores the role of a clear vision of the future as a moderator of behavior, particularly in the context of interactions with AI.

Chapter 2 responds to Research Question 1 and aims to provide a detailed understanding of the relationship between visions and vision-related goal pursuit. The main findings of Chapter 2 show that positive affective reactions mediate the positive effect of visions on vision-related goal pursuit. As such, the findings provide the first empirical support for the notion that visions are motivating because they elicit positive affective responses that increase motivation for visionrelated behaviors. By doing so, these findings contribute to existing research in a number of ways. First, I show that visions elicit positive affect that spills over to vision-derived goals, which in turn motivates goal pursuit, suggesting a mechanism of action for visions. Second, I extend research on visions by examining how visions relate to hierarchically related goals, as research has often called for a synthesis of research on visions and goals (Berson et al., 2015; Southwick et al., 2019). Third, I examine the effects of visions at the individual behavioral level, whereas current research on visions has primarily focused on the group level (Kipfelsberger et al., 2022).

Building on the previous chapter, Chapter 3 examines the individual-level boundary conditions of vision effectiveness. Drawing on self-determination theory, the main findings of this chapter illustrate that perceived self-concordance of visions moderates the positive effect of visions on positive affective reactions and subsequent goal pursuit. Thus, my research makes several distinct contributions to the literature. First, it adds to the organizational literature on visions (Lewis & Clark, 2020) by highlighting the critical but previously understudied role of individual-level differences in vision effectiveness (Fan et al., 2022). Second, I extend the self-concordance literature (Levine et al., 2021; Sheldon et al., 2004) by demonstrating that the positive
effects of self-concordance typically studied with personal goals can be similarly elicited by visions. Third, my findings contribute to the goal-setting literature by investigating the dual role of positive affect in goal pursuit (Aarts et al., 2008; Louro et al., 2007). Specifically, I find that vision-evoked positive affect, when aligned with personally meaningful goals, not only motivates initial effort but also sustains energy through the early stages of goal pursuit (cf. Orehek et al., 2011).

Finally, Chapter 4 examines the moderating role of a more or less salient vision of one's future work self on individuals' proactive behavior in reaction to interacting with generative AI. Drawing on research on future work selves (Strauss et al., 2012) as well as the proactive motivation model (Parker et al., 2010), I show that for individuals who have a salient future work self, AI interaction increases perceived control over the future work self, thereby promoting proactive career behavior. The empirical findings of my research contribute to the literature in several ways. First, by establishing the salience of the future work self as an important individual-level difference and showing that individuals interpret AI in terms of how these interactions align with and inform their future careers, I extend previous research that has primarily used a "present" perspective when examining responses to AI (e.g., Kong et al., 2023; Langer et al., 2023). Second, because research on future work selves has focused primarily on their salience (Strauss et al., 2012), I expand this research by presenting perceived control over the future work self as an important and previously overlooked feature of career-related future cognition. Third, I advance research on FWSS by examining it as a boundary condition, while previous studies have mainly focused on the main effects of FWSS on career-related outcomes.

In sum, Chapters 2 to 4 of this dissertation address the three research questions outlined in Section 1.1 by using eight experimental studies. The remainder of my dissertation is organized as follows. In Chapter 2, I discuss how positive affective reactions mediate the effect of visions on vision-derived goal pursuit. This chapter is based on a research paper by Voigt et al. (2024) published in *Current Psychology*. In Chapter 3, I examine how the rated self-concordance of a vision moderates the effect of visions on vision-derived goal pursuit. This chapter is based on research by Voigt et al. (2024) published in the *Journal of Research in Personality*. In Chapter 4, I examine how the salience of a career vision moderates the effect of interacting with a generative AI on career-related cognitions and behaviors. This chapter is based on a research paper by Voigt and Strauss (2024) that is currently under review in the *Journal of Vocational Behavior*. In Chapter 5, I conclude the dissertation with a brief summary of findings, a discussion of my dissertation's theoretical and practical contributions, as well as a discussion of this dissertation's limitations and outlook for future research.

In Table 1, I summarize the following three chapters of my dissertation, including information about the research questions, theoretical framework, methods, sample, and key findings. I use the pronoun "we" rather than "I" in these chapters because the research underlying each of these chapters was developed and conducted by me in collaboration with a number of co-authors.

## GENERAL INTRODUCTION

|                             | Chapter 2   | Chapter 3  | Chapter 4  |
|-----------------------------|---|--|--|
| Title                       | An Image of What I Want to<br>Achieve: How Visions Motivate Goal<br>Pursuit   | When Visions Truly Inspire: The<br>Moderating Role of Self-<br>Concordance in Boosting Positive<br>Affect, Goal Commitment, and<br>Goal Progress               | How Future W<br>Shapes the Eff<br>with Artificial  |
| Research<br>Question        | Does positive affect mediate the<br>relationship between visions<br>and vision-derived goal pursuit?  | Does perceived self-concordance of<br>visions moderate the indirect<br>relationship between visions and<br>vision-derived goal pursuit via<br>positive affect? | Does the salier<br>self moderate to<br>relationship be<br>with artificial is<br>proactive carea<br>perceived conto<br>work self?                             |
| Thereotical<br>Framework(s) | Goal System Theory (Kruglanski et al., 2002)  | Self Determination Theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000)  | Future Work S<br>2012); Model<br>Motivation (Pa  |
| Method                      | Online experiments  | Online experiments   | Online experir   |
| Samples                     | Study 1: $N = 128$ (full-time<br>employees and students);<br>Study 2: $N = 323$ (students)  | Study 1: $N = 358$ (students);<br>Study 2: $N = 288$ (students);<br>Study 3: $N = 254$ (full-time<br>employees and students)                                   | Study 1: $N = 1$<br>employees);<br>Study 2: $N = 2$<br>Study 3: $N = 1$<br>employees);<br>Validation Stu<br>time employee<br>Manipulation 0<br>time employee |
| Key Findings                | Visions foster goal progress through<br>vision-evoked positive affect,<br>positive anticipatory affect associated<br>with vision-derived goal attainment,<br>and goal commitment. | Self-concordance moderates the<br>effect of visions on goal<br>commitment and goal progress via<br>positive affect.  | Future work set<br>the effect of A<br>proactive carea<br>perceived cont<br>work self.  |

Table 1. Overview of the papers included in the dissertation.

# **1.4 References**

- Aarts, H., Custers, R., & Marien, H. (2008). Preparing and motivating behavior outside of awareness. *Science*, 319(5870), 16–39. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150432
- Anderson, J. C., & Gerbing, D. W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103(3), 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411
- Antonakis, J., Bendahan, S., Jacquart, P., & Lalive, R. (2010). On making causal claims: A review and recommendations. *Leadership Quarterly*, 21(6), 1086–1120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.10.010
- Ashkenas, R., & Moore, P. D. (2022, April 8). Keeping Sight of Your Company's Long-Term Vision. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2022/04/keeping-sight-of-your-companyslong-term-vision
- Bailey, E. R., & Iyengar, S. S. (2023). Positive-More than unbiased-Self-perceptions increase subjective authenticity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 125(6), 1351–1372. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspa0000359
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control.* W H Freeman/Times Books/ Henry Holt & Co.

Bankins, S., Ocampo, A. C., Marrone, M., Restubog, S. L. D., & Woo, S. E. (2023). A multilevel review of artificial intelligence in organizations: Implications for organizational behavior research and practice. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2735

- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). Improving organizational effectiveness through transformational leadership. In B. M. Bass & B. J. Avolio (Eds.), *Improving organizational effectiveness through transformational leadership*. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Baumeister, R. F. (2019). Stalking the True Self Through the Jungles of Authenticity: Problems, Contradictions, Inconsistencies, Disturbing Findings—and a Possible Way Forward. *Review* of General Psychology, 23(1), 143–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/1089268019829472
- Berlew, D. E. (1974). Leadership and organizational excitement. In D. A. Kolb, I. M. Rubin, & J. M. McIntyre (Eds.), *Organizational psychology: A book of readings* (2nd ed.). (pp. 265–278). Prentice-Hall. https://doi.org/10.2307/41164557
- Berson, Y., Halevy, N., Shamir, B., & Erez, M. (2015). Leading from different psychological distances: A construal-level perspective on vision communication, goal setting, and follower motivation. *Leadership Quarterly*, 26(2), 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.07.011
- Berson, Y., Shamir, B., Avolio, B. J., & Popper, M. (2001). The relationship between vision strength, leadership style, and context. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *12*(1), 53–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(01)00064-9
- Berson, Y., Waldman, D. A., & Pearce, C. L. (2016). Enhancing our understanding of vision in organizations: Toward an integration of leader and follower processes. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 6(2), 171–191. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386615583736
- Beyer, J. M. (1999). Taming and promoting charisma to change organizations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *10*(2), 307–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00019-3

- Brown, O., Davison, R. M., Decker, S., Ellis, D. A., Faulconbridge, J., Gore, J., Greenwood, M., Islam, G., Lubinski, C., MacKenzie, N. G., Meyer, R., Muzio, D., Quattrone, P., Ravishankar, M. N., Zilber, T., Ren, S., Sarala, R. M., & Hibbert, P. (2024). Theory-Driven Perspectives on Generative Artificial Intelligence in Business and Management. *British Journal of Management*, 35(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12788
- Brynjolfsson, E., Li, D., & Raymond, L. (2023). Generative Ai at Work. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4426942
- Bulley, A., Henry, J., & Suddendorf, T. (2016). Prospection and the present moment: The role of episodic foresight in intertemporal choices between immediate and delayed rewards. *Review* of General Psychology, 20(1), 29–47. https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000061
- Buss, M., & Kearney, E. (2024). Navigating the unknown: Uncertainty moderates the link between visionary leadership, perceived meaningfulness, and turnover intentions. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 2, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12500
- Cai, W., Fan, X., & Wang, Q. (2023). Linking visionary leadership to creativity at multiple levels: The role of goal-related processes. *Journal of Business Research*, 167(12), Article 114182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2023.114182
- Carton, A. M. (2022). The Science of Leadership: A Theoretical Model and Research Agenda. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 9(1), 61–93. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012420-091227
- Carton, A. M., Knowlton, K., Coutifaris, C., Kundro, T. G., & Boysen, A. P. (2023). Painting a Clear Picture while Seeing the Big Picture: When and Why Leaders Overcome the Tradeoff Between Concreteness and Scale. *Academy of Management Journal*, 66(1), 43–66. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.1019

- Carton, A. M., & Lucas, B. J. (2018). How can leaders overcome the blurry vision bias?
  Identifying an antidote to the paradox of vision communication. *Academy of Management Journal*, *61*(6), 2106–2129. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.0375
- Carton, A. M., Murphy, C., & Clark, J. R. (2014). A (blurry) vision of the future: How leader rhetoric about ultimate goals influences performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(6), 1544–1570. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2012.0101
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1982). Control theory: A useful conceptual framework for personality–social, clinical, and health psychology. *Psychological Bulletin*, 92(1), 111–135. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.92.1.111
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1998). *On the self-regulation of behavior*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139174794
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2000). On the structure of behavioral self-regulation. In M.
  Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation*. (pp. 41–84).
  Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012109890-2/50032-9
- Cave, S., & Dihal, K. (2019). Hopes and fears for intelligent machines in fiction and reality. *Nature Machine Intelligence*, *1*(2), 74–78. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42256-019-0020-9
- Claes, R., & Ruiz-Quintanilla, S. A. (1998). Influences of Early Career Experiences,
   Occupational Group, and National Culture on Proactive Career Behavior. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 52(3), 357–378. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1997.1626
- Cole, S. N., Smith, D. M., Ragan, K., Suurmond, R., & Armitage, C. J. (2021). Synthesizing the effects of mental simulation on behavior change: Systematic review and multilevel metaanalysis. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 28(5), 1514–1537. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-021-01880-6

- Collins, J. C., & Porras, J. I. (1996). Building Your Company's Vision. *Harvard Business Review*, 74, 65–78.
- Collins, J. C., & Porras, J. I. (2008). CMR classics: organizational vision and visionary organizations. *California Management Review*, 50(2), 117–137.
- Conger, J. A. (1999). Charismatic and transformational leadership in organizations: An insider's perspective on these developing streams of research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 10(2), 145–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00012-0
- Conger, J. A., Kanungo, R. N., & Menon, S. T. (2000). Charismatic leadership and follower effects. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21(7), 747–767. https://doi.org/10.1002/1099-1379(200011)21:7<747::AID-JOB46>3.0.CO;2-J
- Custers, R., & Aarts, H. (2005). Positive affect as implicit motivator: On the nonconscious operation of behavioral goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(2), 129– 142. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.2.129
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior. Plenum Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2271-7
- Dell'Acqua, F., McFowland, E., Mollick, E. R., Lifshitz-Assaf, H., Kellogg, K., Rajendran, S., Krayer, L., Candelon, F., & Lakhani, K. R. (2023). Navigating the Jagged Technological Frontier: Field Experimental Evidence of the Effects of AI on Knowledge Worker
  Productivity and Quality. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4573321
- Dominick, J. K., & Cole, S. (2020). Goals as identities: Boosting perceptions of healthy-eater identity for easier goal pursuit. *Motivation and Emotion*, 44(3), 410–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-020-09824-8

Donald, W. E., Van der Heijden, B. I. J. M., & Baruch, Y. (2024). Introducing a sustainable career ecosystem: Theoretical perspectives, conceptualization, and future research agenda. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 151, Article 103989.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2024.103989

- Dwivedi, Y. K., Kshetri, N., Hughes, L., Slade, E. L., Jeyaraj, A., Kar, A. K., Baabdullah, A. M., Koohang, A., Raghavan, V., Ahuja, M., Albanna, H., Albashrawi, M. A., Al-Busaidi, A. S., Balakrishnan, J., Barlette, Y., Basu, S., Bose, I., Brooks, L., Buhalis, D., ... Wright, R. (2023). Opinion Paper: "So what if ChatGPT wrote it?" Multidisciplinary perspectives on opportunities, challenges and implications of generative conversational AI for research, practice and policy. *International Journal of Information Management*, *71*, Article 102642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2023.102642
- Eberly, M. B., Liu, D., Mitchell, T. R., & Lee, T. W. (2013). Attributions and emotions as mediators and/or moderators in the goal-striving process. In E. A. Locke & G. P. Latham (Eds.), *New developments in goal setting and task performance*. (pp. 35–50).
  Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Emrich, C. G., Brower, H. H., Feldman, J. M., & Garland, H. (2001). Images in words: Presidential rhetoric, charisma, and greatness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 46(3), 527–557. https://doi.org/10.2307/3094874
- Ernst, A., Philippe, F. L., & D'Argembeau, A. (2018). Wanting or having to: The role of goal self-concordance in episodic future thinking. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 66, 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2018.10.004

- Fan, X.-L., van Knippenberg, D., & Wang, X.-H. (Frank). (2022). Vision–value match: leader communication of visions, follower values, meaningfulness, and creativity. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *31*(4), 550–566. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2021.2013202
- Fang, R. T., & Saks, A. M. (2022). A self-regulatory model of how future work selves change during job search and the school-to-work transition. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 138, Article 103783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2022.103783
- Feuerriegel, S., Hartmann, J., Janiesch, C., & Zschech, P. (2024). Generative AI. Business and Information Systems Engineering, 66(1), 111–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12599-023-00834-7
- Fiset, J., & Boies, K. (2019). Positively vivid visions: Making followers feel capable and happy. *Human Relations*, 72(10), 1651–1670. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718810105
- Fishbach, A., & Finkelstein, S. R. (2011). How feedback influences persistence, disengagement, and change in goal pursuit. In H. Aarts & A. Elliot (Eds.), *Goal-directed behavior*. (pp. 203–230). Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203869666
- Fishbach, A., & Labroo, A. A. (2007). Be better or be merry: how mood affects self-control. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 93(2), 158–173. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.2.158
- Fishbach, A., Shah, J. Y., & Kruglanski, A. W. (2004). Emotional transfer in goal systems. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 40(6), 723–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2004.04.001

- Fritz, C., Auten, D., & Caughlin, D. (2021). Reattachment to work in the morning and day-level leader outcomes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 129, Article 103617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2021.103617
- Gaudreau, P. (2012). Goal self-concordance moderates the relationship between achievement goals and indicators of academic adjustment. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 22(6), 827–832. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2012.06.006
- Gillet, N., Lafrenière, M.-A. K., Vallerand, R. J., Huart, I., & Fouquereau, E. (2014). The effects of autonomous and controlled regulation of performance-approach goals on well-being: a process model. *The British Journal of Social Psychology*, *53*(1), 154–174. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12018
- Gioia, D. A., & Thomas, J. B. (1996). Institutional identity, image, and issue interpretation:
  Sensemaking during strategic change in academia. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41(3), 370–403. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393936
- Gioia, D. A., Thomas, J. B., Clark, S. M., & Chittipeddi, K. (1994). Symbolism and strategic change in academia: The dynamics of sensemaking and influence. *Organization Science*, 5(3), 363–383. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.5.3.363
- Girotra, K., Meincke, L., Terwiesch, C., & Ulrich, K. T. (2023). Ideas are Dimes a Dozen: Large Language Models for Idea Generation in Innovation. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4526071
- Gochmann, V., Stam, D., & Shemla, M. (2022). The boundaries of vision communication—The effects of vision-task goal-alignment on leaders' effectiveness. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 52(5), 263–276. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12855

- Guo, L., Mao, J.-Y., Huang, Q., & Zhang, G. (2022). Polishing followers' future work selves!
  The critical roles of leader future orientation and vision communication. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *137*, Article 103746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2022.103746
- Han, M.-C., & Hwang, P.-C. (2022). Does Future Work Self Benefit Everyone Equally? The Moderating Role of Organizational Support for Development. *Journal of Career Development*, 50(3), 503–518. https://doi.org/10.1177/08948453221113810
- Hayes, A. F. (2022). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Holmes, E. A., Blackwell, S. E., Burnett Heyes, S., Renner, F., & Raes, F. (2016). Mental Imagery in Depression: Phenomenology, Potential Mechanisms, and Treatment Implications. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *12*(1), 249–280. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-092925
- Holmes, E. A., Coughtrey, A. E., & Connor, A. (2008). Looking at or Through Rose-Tinted Glasses? Imagery Perspective and Positive Mood. *Emotion*, 8(6), 875–879. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013617
- Holmes, E. A., Mathews, A., Dalgleish, T., & Mackintosh, B. (2006). Positive Interpretation
   Training: Effects of Mental Imagery Versus Verbal Training on Positive Mood. *Behavior Therapy*, 37(3), 237–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2006.02.002
- Hope, N. H., Holding, A. C., Verner-Filion, J., Sheldon, K. M., & Koestner, R. (2019). The path from intrinsic aspirations to subjective well-being is mediated by changes in basic psychological need satisfaction and autonomous motivation: A large prospective test. *Motivation and Emotion*, 43(2), 232–241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-018-9733-z

House, R. J. (1977). A 1976 theory of charismatic leadership. In J. G. Hunt & L. L. Larson (Eds.), *Leadership: The cutting edge*. (pp. 189–207). Southern Illinois University.

IBM Corp. (2019). IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 26.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.

- Ilies, R., & Judge, T. A. (2005). Goal Regulation Across Time: The Effects of Feedback and Affect. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(3), 453–467. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.3.453
- JFK Library. (2024). Address at Rice University on the Nation's Space Effort. https://www.jfklibrary.org/learn/about-jfk/historic-speeches/address-at-rice-university-on-the-nations-space-effort
- Jing, H. G., Madore, K. P., & Schacter, D. L. (2016). Worrying about the future: An episodic specificity induction impacts problem solving, reappraisal, and well-being. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 145(4), 402–418. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000142
- Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Erez, A., & Locke, E. A. (2005). Core Self-Evaluations and Job and Life Satisfaction: The Role of Self-Concordance and Goal Attainment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90, 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.2.257

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, fast and slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

- Kahneman, D., & Frederick, S. (2002). Representativeness revisited: Attribute substitution in intuitive judgment. In *Heuristics and biases: The psychology of intuitive judgment*. (pp. 49–81). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511808098.004
- Kearney, E., Shemla, M., van Knippenberg, D., & Scholz, F. A. (2019). A paradox perspective on the interactive effects of visionary and empowering leadership. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 155, 20–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.01.001

- Kehr, H. M., Voigt, J., & Rawolle, M. (2021). Implicit motives as the missing link between visionary leadership, approach and avoidance motivation, and vision pursuit. *Organizational Psychology Review*, *12*(2), 1–27.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/20413866211061364
- Kelly, R. E., Mansell, W., & Wood, A. M. (2015). Goal conflict and well-being : A review and hierarchical model of goal conflict, ambivalence, self-discrepancy and self-concordance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 85, 212–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.05.011
- Kim, J., Waldman, D. A., Balthazard, P. A., & Ames, J. B. (2023). Leader self-projection and collective role performance: A consideration of visionary leadership. *Leadership Quarterly*, 34(2), Article 101623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2022.101623
- Kipfelsberger, P., Raes, A., Herhausen, D., Kark, R., & Bruch, H. (2022). Start with why: The transfer of work meaningfulness from leaders to followers and the role of dyadic tenure. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 43(8), 1287–1309. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2649
- Kline, R. B. (2016). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (4th ed.). Guilford Press.
- Koen, J., & Parker, S. K. (2020). In the eye of the beholder: How proactive coping alters perceptions of insecurity. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 25(6), 385–400. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000198
- Koestner, R., Lekes, N., Powers, T. A., & Chicoine, E. (2002). Attaining personal goals: Selfconcordance plus implementation intentions equals success. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83, 231–244. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.1.231

- Koestner, R., Otis, N., Powers, T. A., Pelletier, L., & Gagnon, H. (2008). Autonomous motivation, controlled motivation, and goal progress. *Journal of Personality*, 76(5), 1201– 1230. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2008.00519.x
- Kohles, J. C., Bligh, M. C., & Carsten, M. K. (2012). A follower-centric approach to the vision integration process. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 23(3), 476–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.12.002
- Kong, H., Yin, Z., Baruch, Y., & Yuan, Y. (2023). The impact of trust in AI on career sustainability: The role of employee–AI collaboration and protean career orientation. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *146*(180), Article 103928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2023.103928
- Kosslyn, S. M., Behrmann, M., & Jeannerod, M. (1995). The cognitive neuroscience of mental imagery. *Neuropsychologia*, 33(11), 1335–1344. https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(95)00067-d
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2017). *The Leadership Challenge: How to Make Extraordinary Things Happen in Organizations* (6th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Kruglanski, A. W., Fishbach, A., Woolley, K., Bélanger, J. J., Chernikova, M., Molinario, E., & Pierro, A. (2018). A structural model of intrinsic motivation: On the psychology of meansends fusion. *Psychological Review*, 125(2), 165–182. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000095
- Kruglanski, A. W., Shah, J. Y., Fishbach, A., Friedman, R., Chun, W. Y., & Sleeth-Keppler, D. (2002). A theory of goal systems. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology, Vol. 34*. (pp. 331–378). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(02)80008-9

- Langer, M., König, C. J., Back, C., & Hemsing, V. (2023). Trust in Artificial Intelligence:
  Comparing Trust Processes Between Human and Automated Trustees in Light of Unfair
  Bias. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *38*(3), 493–508. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869022-09829-9
- Latham, G. P., Erez, M., & Locke, E. A. (1988). Resolving scientific disputes by the joint design of crucial experiments by the antagonists: Application to the Erez–Latham dispute regarding participation in goal setting. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 73(4), 753–772. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.73.4.753

Leiner, D. J. (2024). SoSci Survey (Version 3.5.01). https://www.soscisurvey.de

- Levine, S. L., Holding, A. C., Milyavskaya, M., Powers, T. A., & Koestner, R. (2021). Collaborative autonomy: The dynamic relations between personal goal autonomy and perceived autonomy support in emerging adulthood results in positive affect and goal progress. *Motivation Science*, 7, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000209
- Lewis, A., & Clark, J. (2020). Dreams within a dream: Multiple visions and organizational structure. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 41(1), 50–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2419
- Lin, H., Tian, J., & Cheng, B. (2024). Facilitation or hindrance: The contingent effect of organizational artificial intelligence adoption on proactive career behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 152, Article 108092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2023.108092
- Lin, W., Wang, L., Bamberger, P. A., Zhang, Q., Wang, H., Guo, W., Shi, J., & Zhang, T.
  (2016). Leading future orientations for current effectiveness: The role of engagement and supervisor coaching in linking future work self salience to job performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 92, 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2015.12.002

- Lonati, S., Quiroga, B. F., Zehnder, C., & Antonakis, J. (2018). On doing relevant and rigorous experiments: Review and recommendations. *Journal of Operations Management*, 64, 19–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2018.10.003
- Maragno, G., Tangi, L., Gastaldi, L., & Benedetti, M. (2023). Exploring the factors, affordances and constraints outlining the implementation of Artificial Intelligence in public sector organizations. *International Journal of Information Management*, 73, Article 102686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2023.102686
- Markus, H., & Nurius, P. (1986). Possible selves. *American Psychologist*, *41*(9), 954–969. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.41.9.954
- McClelland, D. C. (1985). How motives, skills, and values determine what people do. *American Psychologist*, 40(7), 812–825. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.40.7.812
- McClelland, D. C., Koestner, R., & Weinberger, J. (1989). How Do Self-Attributed and Implicit Motives Differ? *Psychological Review*, 96(4), 690–702. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.96.4.690
- McMichael, A. J., Butler, C. D., & Folke, C. (2003). New Visions for Addressing Sustainability. *Science*, *302*(5652), 1919–1920. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1090001
- Morton, C., & MacLeod, A. K. (2023). Vividness of imagery and affective response to episodic memories and episodic future thoughts: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Memory*, 31(8), 1098–1110. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2023.2224609
- Naidoo, L. J., & Lord, R. G. (2008). Speech imagery and perceptions of charisma: The mediating role of positive affect. *Leadership Quarterly*, 19(3), 283–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.03.010

- Norman, C. C., & Aron, A. (2003). Aspects of possible self that predict motivation to achieve or avoid it. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 39(5), 500–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1031(03)00029-5
- Noy, S., & Zhang, W. (2023). Experimental evidence on the productivity effects of generative artificial intelligence. *Science*, 381(6654), 187–192. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adh2586

OpenAI. (2024). ChatGPT [Large language model]. https://chat.openai.com/chat

- Orehek, E., Bessarabova, E., Chen, X., & Kruglanski, A. W. (2011). Positive affect as informational feedback in goal pursuit. *Motivation and Emotion*, 35(1), 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-010-9197-2
- Oyserman, D., Bybee, D., & Terry, K. (2006). Possible selves and academic outcomes: How and when possible selves impel action. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 91(1), 188–204. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.91.1.188
- Oyserman, D., & James, L. (2009). Possible selves: From content to process. In K. D. Markman,
  W. M. P. Klein, & J. A. Suhr (Eds.). *Handbook of imagination and mental simulation*. (pp. 373–394). Psychology Press.
- Paine, J. W., Byron, K., & Higgins, E. T. (2023). Does the vision fit? How change context construal and followers' regulatory focus influence responses to leader change visions. *Leadership Quarterly*, 35(2), Article 101718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2023.101718

Palan, S., & Schitter, C. (2018). Prolific.ac—A subject pool for online experiments. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, 17, 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbef.2017.12.004

- Parker, S. K., Bindl, U. K., & Strauss, K. (2010). Making things happen: A model of proactive motivation. *Journal of Management*, 36(4), 827–856. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310363732
- Parker, S. K., & Grote, G. (2022). Automation, Algorithms, and Beyond: Why Work Design Matters More Than Ever in a Digital World. *Applied Psychology*, 71(4), 1171–1204. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12241
- Pearson, J., Naselaris, T., Holmes, E. A., & Kosslyn, S. M. (2015). Mental Imagery: Functional Mechanisms and Clinical Applications. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 19(10), 590–602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2015.08.003
- Podsakoff, P. M., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2019). Experimental designs in management and leadership research: Strengths, limitations, and recommendations for improving publishability. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(1), 11–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.11.002
- Preller, R., Patzelt, H., & Breugst, N. (2020). Entrepreneurial visions in founding teams:
   Conceptualization, emergence, and effects on opportunity development. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *35*(2), Article 105914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2018.11.004
- Qualtrics. (2024). *Qualtrics*. https://www.qualtrics.com/
- Rafferty, A. E., & Griffin, M. A. (2004). Dimensions of transformational leadership: Conceptual and empirical extensions. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 15(3), 329–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2004.02.009
- Rawolle, M., Schultheiss, O. C., Strasser, A., & Kehr, H. M. (2017). The Motivating Power of Visionary Images: Effects on Motivation, Affect, and Behavior. *Journal of Personality*, 85(6), 769–781. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12285

- Rivkin, I. D., & Taylor, S. E. (1999). The Effects of Mental Simulation on Coping with
  Controllable Stressful Events. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(12), 1451–1462. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672992510002
- Rosseel, Y. (2012). Lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 48(2). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v048.i02

Russell, S., & Norvig, P. (2021). Artificial Intelligence: A Modern Approach (4th ed.). Pearson.

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *The American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68
- Schubert, T., Eloo, R., Scharfen, J., & Morina, N. (2020). How imagining personal future scenarios influences affect: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 75, Article 101811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101811
- Schultz, M., & Hernes, T. (2013). A Temporal Perspective on Organizational Identity. *Organization Science*, 24(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1110.0731
- Schwarz, N. (1990). Feelings as information: Informational and motivational functions of affective states. In E. T. Higgins & R. M. Sorrentino (Eds.), *Handbook of motivation and cognition: Foundations of social behavior, Vol. 2.* (pp. 527–561). The Guilford Press.
- Schwarz, N. (2012). Feelings-as-information theory. In P. A. M. Van Lange, A. W. Kruglanski,
  & E. T. Higgins (Eds.), *Handbook of theories of social psychology* (pp. 289–308). Sage
  Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446249215.n15
- Seligman, M. E. P., Railton, P., Baumeister, R. F., & Sripada, C. (2013). Navigating Into the Future or Driven by the Past. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(2), 119–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612474317

- Sezer, B., Riddell, H., Gucciardi, F., Sheldon, K., Sedikides, C., Vasconcellos, D., Jackson, B., Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C., & Ntoumanis, N. (2023). Goal Motives, Goal-Regulatory Processes, Psychological Needs, and Well-Being: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. OSF Preprints. https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/v2g8a
- Shamir, B., House, R. J., & Arthur, M. B. (1993). The Motivational Effects of Charismatic Leadership: A Self-Concept Based Theory. *Organization Science*, 4(4), 577–594. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.4.4.577

Sheldon, K. M. (2014). Becoming Oneself: The Central Role of Self-Concordant Goal Selection. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 18(4), 349–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868314538549

- Sheldon, K. M., & Elliot, A. J. (1999). Goal striving, need satisfaction, and longitudinal wellbeing: The self-concordance model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76, 482– 497. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.3.482
- Sheldon, K. M., & Goffredi, R. (2023). Using Free Will Wisely: The Self-Concordance Model. In R. M. Ryan (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Self-Determination Theory*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780197600047.001.0001
- Sheldon, K. M., & Kasser, T. (1995). Coherence and congruence: Two aspects of personality integration. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68(3), 531–543. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.68.3.531
- Sheldon, K. M., Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L., & Kasser, T. (2004). The Independent Effects of Goal Contents and Motives on Well-Being: It's Both What You Pursue and Why You Pursue It. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30(4), 475–486. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167203261883

- Sheldon, K. M., & Schüler, J. (2011). Wanting, having, and needing: integrating motive disposition theory and self-determination theory. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(5), 1106–1123. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024952
- Shrout, P. E., & Rodgers, J. L. (2018). Psychology, Science, and Knowledge Construction: Broadening Perspectives from the Replication Crisis. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 69, 487–510. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122216-011845
- Smyth, A. P. J., Werner, K. M., Milyavskaya, M., Holding, A., & Koestner, R. (2020). Do mindful people set better goals? Investigating the relation between trait mindfulness, selfconcordance, and goal progress. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 88, Article 104015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2020.104015
- Stam, D. A., Lord, R. G., van Knippenberg, D., & Wisse, B. (2014). An image of who we might become: Vision communication, possible selves, and vision pursuit. *Organization Science*, 25(4), 1172–1194. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2013.0891
- Stam, D. A., van Knippenberg, D., & Wisse, B. (2010a). Focusing on followers: The role of regulatory focus and possible selves in visionary leadership. *Leadership Quarterly*, 21(3), 457–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.03.009
- Stam, D. A., van Knippenberg, D., & Wisse, B. (2010b). The role of regulatory fit in visionary leadership. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 31(4), 499–518. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.624
- Strauss, K., Griffin, M. A., & Parker, S. K. (2012). Future work selves: How salient hoped-for identities motivate proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(3), 580– 598. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026423

- Strauss, K., & Kelly, C. M. (2016). An Identity-Based Perspective on Proactivity: Future Work Selves and Beyond. In S. K. Parker & U. K. Bindl (Eds.), *Proactivity at Work: Making Things Happen in Organizations* (pp. 348–372). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315797113
- Strauss, K., & Parker, S. K. (2018). Intervening to Enhance Proactivity in Organizations: Improving the Present or Changing the Future. *Journal of Management*, 44(3), 1250–1278. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315602531
- Suddendorf, T., & Moore, C. (2011). Introduction to the special issue: The development of episodic foresight. *Cognitive Development*, 26(4), 295–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2011.09.001
- Sweeny, K., & Dunlop, W. L. (2020). Salient selves in uncertain futures. *Self and Identity*, *19*(7), 863–885. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2019.1702090
- Taber, B. J., & Blankemeyer, M. (2015). Future work self and career adaptability in the prediction of proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 86, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.10.005
- Taylor, S. E., Pham, L. B., Rivkin, I. D., & Armor, D. A. (1998). Harnessing the imagination: Mental simulation, self-regulation, and coping. *American Psychologist*, 53(4), 429–439. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.53.4.429
- van Knippenberg, D., & Sitkin, S. B. (2013). A critical assessment of charismatic transformational leadership research: Back to the drawing board? *The Academy of Management Annals*, 7(1), 1–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/19416520.2013.759433

- Venus, M., Johnson, R. E., Zhang, S., Wang, X. H. (Frank), & Lanaj, K. (2019). Seeing the Big Picture: A Within-Person Examination of Leader Construal Level and Vision Communication. *Journal of Management*, 45(7), 2666–2684. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206318761576
- Venus, M., Stam, D., & Van Knippenberg, D. (2019). Visions of change as visions of continuity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62(3), 667–690. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.1196
- von Krogh, G. (2018). Artificial Intelligence in Organizations: New Opportunities for Phenomenon-Based Theorizing. Academy of Management Discoveries, 4(4), 404–409. https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2018.0084
- Werner, K. M., Milyavskaya, M., Foxen-Craft, E., & Koestner, R. (2016). Some goals just feel easier: Self-concordance leads to goal progress through subjective ease, not effort. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 96, 237–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.03.002
- Yu, K., Lin, W., Wang, L., Ma, J., Wei, W., Wang, H., Guo, W., & Shi, J. (2016). The role of affective commitment and future work self salience in the abusive supervision–job performance relationship. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 89(1), 28–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12101
- Zhang, M. J., Zhang, Y., & Law, K. S. (2021). Paradoxical Leadership and Innovation in Work Teams: The Multilevel Mediating Role of Ambidexterity and Leader Vision as a Boundary Condition. *Academy of Management Journal*, 65(5), 1652–1679. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2017.1265

# 2 An Image of What I Want to Achieve: How Visions Motivate Goal Pursuit

This chapter is based on the following research paper:

Voigt, J., Jais, M., & Kehr, H. M. (2024). An Image of What I Want to Achieve:

How Visions Motivate Goal Pursuit. Current Psychology.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-024-05943-4

## **Copyright Information**



*Note:* An earlier version of the manuscript presented in this chapter was presented at the Annual Meeting of the Academy of Management 2022 in Seattle.



# An image of what I want to achieve: How visions motivate goal pursuit

Julian Voigt<sup>1</sup> · Marius Jais<sup>1</sup> · Hugo M. Kehr<sup>1</sup>

Accepted: 24 March 2024 © The Author(s) 2024

#### Abstract

In a rapidly changing world, leaders are constantly searching for effective ways to motivate employees and drive change. Management scholars agree that an essential tool for inspiring and motivating employees is to communicate a clear vision of the future. Yet, there remains a significant gap in understanding how and why visions actually move individuals to action. The current study investigated the effects of visions on goal-pursuit in comparison to merely listing a "superordinate goal." We argue that visions, that are high in mental imagery, are motivationally effective because (a) visions evoke positive affect, (b) vision-evoked positive affect spills over to goals derived from the vision, leading to affectively charged goals, (c) affectively charged goals are predictive of increased commitment, and (d) increased commitment contributes to goal progress. In a first experimental study (N=128), the findings suggest that visions and vision-derived goals were both higher in positive affect than our control condition. In a second experimental study (N=323), we replicated our results from Study 1. In addition, we extended these findings and showed that visions predict goal progress via vision-evoked positive affect related to prospective vision-derived goal attainment, and goal commitment. Taken together, our studies contribute to research on visions and goals by showing that visions exert their motivational effects by affectively charging activities related to them. From a practical perspective, our studies highlight the importance of visions as an effective tool in motivating work-related behaviors.

Keywords Visions · Goals · Vision pursuit · Positive affect · Motivation

## Introduction

In April 1976, Steve Jobs and Steve Wozniak founded one of the largest and most successful companies in the world: Apple Inc. When Steve Jobs was asked what inspired him to start the company, he stated that the foundation of all his achievement had been a strong and compelling vision: "To put a computer in the hands of everyday people." Drawing on such successful examples, organizational scholars have promoted the idea that *visions*, vivid future-oriented images of a desirable, future state (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Rawolle et al., 2017), can mobilize and motivate goal-directed behaviors related to achieving this desired future (Kehr et al., 2021; Stam et al., 2014), thereby promoting motivation, performance, and work engagement (e.g., Kearney et al.,

⊠ Julian Voigt julian.voigt@tum.de 2019; Kohles et al., 2012). Altogether, there is substantial evidence that visions guide behavior (Fiset & Boies, 2019; Masuda et al., 2010), in both organizations and individuals.

Despite the practical importance of the relationship between visions and motivational outcomes, surprisingly little effort has been made to identify how and why visions stimulate and drive behavior (Kohles et al., 2012; Paine et al., 2023;). Indeed, scholars have consistently noted that the processes by which visions motivate behavior are still "ill-understood" and have suggested that there is still much to learn about the mediators of vision effectiveness (Fan et al., 2022). Understanding the mediators underlying the relationship between visions and vision-related behaviors, such as follower psychological states, is critical because it may help practitioners better understand how to craft visions that effectively translate into follower actions (Kehr et al., 2021). Thus, in the current paper, we aim to shed light on the processes by which visions lead to increased motivation and successful goal pursuit.

One potential mediator of the relationship between visions and vision-related behaviors is positive affect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> School of Management, Technical University of Munich, Arcisstraße 21, D-80333 Munich, Germany

Several authors have suggested that the vivid mental imagery induced by a vision is a key aspect of its motivating power (e.g. Carton & Lucas, 2018; Kehr et al., 2021; Masuda et al., 2010). Specifically, researchers speculated that the stimulation of future events in one's mind's eye (Masuda et al., 2010) is "emotionally engaging" (Carton & Lucas, 2018, p. 2108). In support of this notion, studies have shown that mental images evoke affective reactions (e.g. Emrich et al., 2001; Rawolle et al., 2017). However, even if positive affect is commonly recognized as a key factor in motivation (e.g., Aarts et al., 2008), research has yet to empirically investigate whether vision induced positive affect does indeed increase the motivation for vision-related behaviors (Paine et al., 2023).

The present study seeks to address this research gap. By integrating findings from research on mental imagery (e.g., Schubert et al., 2020) and organizational research on visions (e.g., Carton & Lucas, 2018), we propose that visions evoke positive affect. Further, we draw on goal systems theory (Fishbach & Woolley, 2022; Kruglanski et al., 2018) specifically, what Fishbach et al. (2004) call "emotional transfer" (see also Woolley & Fishbach, 2023) and propose that vision-evoked positive affect can transfer to vision-derived goals (Stam et al., 2014). In line with research that has demonstrated the importance of positive affect in goal pursuit (e.g., Aarts et al., 2008), we argue that vision-evoked positive affect will foster goal commitment and ultimately goal progress. Goal progress is a key construct for capturing the degree of agency with which individuals pursue their vision-derived goals (e.g., Holtschlag et al., 2020). Figure 1 illustrates our theoretical model.

We test these hypotheses in two experimental studies. In Study 1, using a mixed sample of consultants and business students, we examine whether visions evoke more positive affect than a control group (superordinate goals), and whether vision-evoked positive affect spills over to the goals a person derives from that vision. In Study 2, using a sample of business students we aim to replicate and extend our findings by examining the downstream behavioral consequences of vision-evoked positive affect in a time-lagged design.

The current research makes three important contributions to the literature. First, we show that visions evoke positive affect, which in turn motivates goal pursuit. In doing so, we add to the scarce research on the specific mechanisms by which visions motivate behavior (e.g., Venus et al., 2019) by linking research on mental imagery and its affective consequences (Rawolle et al., 2017) to research proposing the importance of vision-evoked emotion for motivation and performance (Carton & Lucas, 2018). In doing so, we not only add to the understudied field of visions mediators (e.g., Fan et al., 2022), but also respond to a recent call by Paine et al. (2023) to examine the role of emotions as a mediating mechanism in vision effectiveness. As a result, our research provides a more comprehensive view of how visions motivate vision-related behaviors.

Second, we extend research on visions by examining how visions relate to goals that are hierarchically related to them. To date, although scholars have repeatedly called for the integration of research on visions and goals (Berson et al., 2015) and have speculated that goals are complementary to visions (Southwick et al., 2019) such that visions need to be translated into actionable and specific goals (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Stam et al., 2014), to our knowledge, little research has empirically examined visions and goals in synthesis. Drawing on goal system theory, particularly work on emotional transfer in goal systems (Fishbach & Woolley, 2022; Kruglanski et al., 2018), we introduce vision-affect spillover as a potential mechanism by which visions affectively charge lower-level goals derived from them. Thus, our findings illustrate how visions, when they evoke positive emotions, can effectively infuse lower-level goals with these emotions, enhancing the pursuit of these goals and thereby actualizing the pursuit of the vision (Stam et al., 2014).

Third, we examine the effect of visions at the individual behavioral level. Research on visions has primarily focused on the collective level (e.g., Kipfelsberger et al., 2022), even though visions start by operating on the individual level in motivating and affecting a person's behaviors (Kehr et al., 2021). Building on theorists (Fiset & Robinson, 2020) who speculate that individual-level visions may be an important factor in career development, our study provides new insights into how individual visions motivate and shape career trajectories, thereby advancing our understanding of the role of visions in personal and career development contexts.

## The motivational effect of visions: Mental imagery and positive affect

Organizational scholars propose that visions are future-oriented images (Baum et al., 1998; Carton & Lucas, 2018; Stam et al., 2014). Consistently, we define visions as "mental images of a desirable future" (Rawolle et al., 2017, p. 770, see also Carton & Lucas, 2018). This definition highlights a vision's unique characteristic: the fact that it is visual (Kehr et al., 2021; Rawolle et al., 2017). More specifically, visions are individual-level cognitions (Stam et al., 2014) that exist in a picture-like format and are based on imagery (Berson et al., 2015; Emrich et al., 2001). In contrast, goals, commonly defined as objects or aims of an action (Locke & Latham, 1990), are considered to be mainly cognitive representations of a target state (Kruglanski et al., 2002). However, apart from the visual element, visions and goals are conceptually overlapping and share certain characteristics (e.g. both refer to desirable end states, Kirkpatrick & Locke, 1996). According to goal systems theory (Kruglanski et al., 2002) this applies particularly to superordinate goals (i.e., "higherlevel, long-term, and abstract goals"). That is, visions also represent higher level, long-term goals with the important distinction that visions contain mental imagery while superordinate goals are rather abstract (Berson et al., 2015).

Mental imagery, the distinctive characteristic of visions, refers to "an experience like perception in the absence of a percept" (Holmes et al., 2016, p. 2). Thus, mental imagery allows people to relive their past or imagine their future and experience sensory information (e.g., "seeing a visual scene in the 'mind's eye", Carton & Lucas, 2018, p. 2115) without being directly exposed to an external stimulus.

Particularly in clinical psychology, a growing body of research was able to demonstrate the positive relationship between mental imagery and positive affect (for a review see Holmes et al., 2016). Clinical psychologists assume that mental imagery, especially in the form of vividly imagining personal future events, boosts positive affect (for a recent meta-analysis, see Schubert et al., 2020).

Further support for the notion that mental imagery evokes positive affect comes from various lines of research. Work on heuristics (for a review see Schwarz, 2012) for instance, showed that verbal descriptions of images are more likely to elicit emotions compared to abstract concepts. Organizational scholars (e.g. Emrich et al., 2001) demonstrated that using more imagery in presidential speeches elicited stronger emotional reactions. Empirical research on vision communication by Naidoo and Lord (2008) indicated that subjects who listened to a speech high in imagery showed more emotional reactions than a control group. Lastly, a recent study by Fiset and Boies (2019) found a positive relationship between a leader's vision and follower emotional outcomes. Their study used a matched sample of teachers and principals and disclosed that principals who communicated a vividly imaginable vision increased teachers' perceptions of affective tone (i.e., the frequency with which they experienced positive emotions at work). In line with these different streams of research, visions that contain mental imagery (Carton & Lucas, 2018) should evoke positive affect (Rawolle et al., 2017). The same should not apply to the control group (superordinate goals) due to their cognitive nature (Kruglanski et al., 2002) (see Fig. 1; path A). We, therefore, hypothesize the following:

*Hypothesis 1* Visions evoke more positive affect as compared to a control group (superordinate goals).

#### Visions affectively charge vision-derived goals

A substantial amount of research has highlighted the role of positive affect in motivating and influencing behavior (e.g. Aarts et al., 2008; Custers & Aarts, 2005). Likewise, positive affective reactions evoked by visions are speculated to motivate people to action (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Fiset & Boies, 2019; Paine et al., 2023). However, it is difficult to directly measure the influence of positive affect on vision-pursuit since visions are conceptualized as open-ended endeavors (Berson et al., 2015), which are never fully achieved (Kirkpatrick & Locke, 1996). Stam et al. (2014) have therefore suggested that it may be helpful to conceptualize visions "in terms of a goal hierarchy in which the vision is a highlevel goal that is hierarchically related to lower-level goals" (p. 1174). Following this framework, Stam et al. (2014) defined vision pursuit as all "goal-directed actions that are hierarchically related to the vision" (p. 1174). Building on Stam and colleague's (2014) conceptualization, we propose a spillover hypothesis whereby visions affectively charge lower-level goals that are derived from them.

The prediction that positive affect evoked by a vision might transfer to goals derived from the vision is supported by two different lines of research: affect transfer in goal systems and affect in self-regulation. First, research on affect transfer in Goals Systems Theory (Kruglanski et al., 2002) suggested that positive emotions associated with goal attainment can transfer to activities performed to pursue the goal (Fishbach et al., 2004; Kruglanski et al., 2018; Woolley & Fishbach, 2023). For example, Fishbach et al. (2004) conducted five experiments that demonstrated that positive affect associated with goal attainment (e.g., keeping fit) were transferred to means (e.g., running every morning) by pure association (see also Kruglanski et al., 2018).

Second, literature on self-regulation demonstrates that positive affect can serve as a temporary heuristic and/ or an affective cue, that influences subsequent judgments about personal goals and related emotions (for a review see Schwarz, 2012). For example, researchers have demonstrated that imagining *best possible selves*, defined as representations of personal hopes and fears regarding the future, leads to affective responses that can emotionally charge the representation of a goal (for a recent review see Oyserman & Horowitz, 2023).



Fig. 1 Hypothesized theoretical model. Note. Group was coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision

Similar to how imagining best possible selves can emotionally charge goals, we propose that visions-evoked positive affect spills over to vision-derived goals. In particular, this should lead individuals to anticipate how these positive affective reactions relate to the achievement of a derived goal. Thus, we assume that vision-evoked positive affect spills over in the form of *positive anticipatory affect* (i.e., "positive emotions that are currently experienced due to something that could happen in the future," Baumgartner et al., 2008, p. 685). However, for the control group (superordinate goals), which are expected evoke less positive affect, this affect should attenuate (see Fig. 1; paths A and B). Thus, we predict the following:

*Hypothesis 2* The positive effect of visions (compared to a control group) on positive anticipatory affect is mediated by positive affect.

# Vision-induced positive anticipatory affect increases goal commitment and goal progress

As stated before, much research has shown the importance of positive affect as a proxy for motivation (e.g. Aarts et al., 2008; Custers & Aarts, 2005). Researchers suggest that positive affect acts as an "implicit motivator" (Custers & Aarts, 2005, p. 129) in the achievement of goals, stating that striving for goals is an "inherently affective experience." Past research has even demonstrated that positive affect is associated with an increased expectancy to reach one's goals, which in turn fosters more effort to attain a goal (Fishbach et al., 2010).

In addition to affective reactions related to present events, people also experience emotions with the prospect of future events (Bagozzi et al., 1998; Baumgartner et al., 2008), so called anticipatory affect. Much like momentary affective reactions, scholars argue that positive anticipatory affect can guide decision making (for a recent meta-analysis, see Chitraranjan & Botenne, 2023). More specifically, emotional theorists posit that positive anticipatory affect can influence behavior by determining the expectancy and desirability of future events (Bagozzi et al., 1998; Baumgartner et al., 2008). This assumption is supported by the goal setting literature, which argues that the expectancy of goal attainment is one of the most "proximal antecedents of goal commitment" (Klein et al., 2001, p. 885, i.e., people's attachment or determination to reach a pursued goal, Locke & Latham, 1990). Indeed, some empirical research has demonstrated that positive anticipatory affect encourages goal-directed behavior (Bagozzi et al., 1998; Baumgartner et al., 2008). For example, Harvey and Victoravich (2009) found that managers with higher positive anticipatory affect showed increased commitment to an ongoing project as they considered that project achievement is more likely (see also Ding, 2019).

Accordingly, we propose that heightened positive anticipatory affect evoked by a vision-derived goal is related to stronger goal commitment. Specifically, we argue that visions evoke positive affect, which in turn spills over in the form of positive anticipatory affect and ultimately fosters goal commitment (see Fig. 1; paths A, B, and C). As such, we propose the following integrative hypothesis:

*Hypothesis 3* The positive effect of visions (compared to a control group) on goal commitment is sequentially mediated by positive affect and positive anticipatory affect.

Researchers argue that goal commitment is one of the most critical requirements of goal progress (Locke & Latham, 1990; Monzani et al., 2015). Individuals who focus on their commitment to a goal also increase their engagement in pursuing that goal (Fishbach et al., 2010), which ultimately leads to higher performance (Klein et al., 2001). Consistent with these results, Monzani et al. (2015) demonstrated in two studies that individuals who showed higher commitment to their personal goals were subsequently more likely to report higher levels of goal progress (for a similar finding see Rafieian & Sharif, 2022). Consistent with our serial mediation hypothesis, we propose that visions are positively associated with positive affect, positive anticipatory affect, goal commitment, and ultimately goal progress (see Fig. 1; paths A, B, C, and D). Therefore, we hypothesize:

*Hypothesis 4* The positive effect of visions (compared to a control group) on goal progress is mediated by goal commitment.

#### **Present research**

The central aim of this study is to better understand the mechanisms underlying the motivational effects of visions. We argue that visions are by definition rich in mental imagery and are motivationally effective because (a) they evoke positive affect, (b) vision-evoked positive affect is transferred to goals derived from the vision, leading to affectively charged goals, (c) affectively charged goals lead to increased goal commitment, and (d) increased goal commitment facilitates goal progress. We tested our hypotheses in two online experiments. In Study 1, we used a crosssectional experimental design to test our first two hypotheses (see paths A and B; Fig. 1) in a sample of consultants and business students. In Study 2, we used a time-lagged experimental design to test the full model (Hypotheses 1–4,

see paths A, B, C, and D; Fig. 1) in a sample of business students.

## Study 1

As a first step, Study 1 used a cross-sectional design to test our experimental manipulation and examine whether more mental imagery and positive affect were found in visions than in superordinate goals (path A; Fig. 1). In addition, we tested the extent to which the positive affect evoked by visions "spills over" to a goal derived from the vision (paths A and B; Fig. 1).

## Method

#### Participants

For Study 1, we recruited 141 participants, of which 13 had to be excluded due to premature termination of the questionnaire. To increase the external validity of the results, we collected both, 68 undergraduate students of a large German business school (50 women and 18 men;  $M_{age} = 24.1$ years), and 60 full-time employees (11 women and 49 men;  $M_{\text{age}} = 41.6$  years) of two medium-sized management consultancies.<sup>1</sup> Following recent recommendations (Ward & Meade, 2022), we examined nonsense response patterns and outliers in terms of completion time and Mahalanobis Distance. Two participants did not meet these criteria and were excluded from consecutive analyses. In support of the robustness of our results, the results of Study 1 remained the same irrespective of the identified outliers. The final sample consisted of 126 participants (61 women and 65 men;  $M_{age}$ = 32.17). Participation in the study was voluntary, and participants had to give informed consent. Student participants were recruited through advertisements in lectures, whereas the full-time employees were contacted personally. Student participants were eligible to receive course credit for their participation in the study.

## Procedure

Participants were informed that the study's primary purpose was to find out more about their future career aspirations. In the first phase, participants provided informed consent and completed a pre-intervention positive affect measure. Then they were randomly assigned to one of two experimental conditions (vision vs. superordinate goal).

Participants received specific instructions appropriate for their respective experimental conditions in the second phase. In both conditions, participants were first asked to consider how they see their professional future. Respective to the condition they were either accompanied with a definition of the concept vision ("the mental image of a desirable future", see Rawolle et al., 2017) in the experimental condition or superordinate goal ("an objective that is important to us and that we want to achieve in the long term," see Kruglanski et al., 2002). Then, participants were prompted with a free text field and asked to describe either their vision or superordinate goal for their professional future in several sentences.

In a third phase, participants in both conditions received an imagery exercise during which they imagined a lemon using all their senses to familiarize them with mental imagery (Holmes et al., 2016). In a fourth phase, participants in the vision condition performed a guided visualization. Because various studies have shown that the visual component is the key feature of visions (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Kehr et al., 2021; Masuda et al., 2010; Rawolle et al., 2017), we chose guided visualization as a method to administer the vision. During the guided visualization, participants were asked to imagine their vision to evoke mental images in their minds (Rawolle et al., 2017). Concretely, participants were asked to "embark on a journey through time into the future to the moment when [their] vision has come true" and "to vividly imagine [their] described vision, just as if [they] were dreaming it." Concreteness was heightened by questions such as the following: "How can you tell that your vision has come true? What do you see? What surrounds you?" In the superordinate goal condition, participants had to imagine and subsequently write down their typical day (adapted from Sheldon & Lyubomirsky, 2006) which is a frequently used active control group in the context of the studies of mental imagery (for a systematic review and meta-analysis see Schubert et al., 2020). Specifically, participants were provided with a text field and requested to imagine [their] typical day, to "write about [their] typical day, and the kinds of things that happen during it" and to "outline [their] typical day in as much detail as [they] can." (Sheldon & Lyubomirsky, 2006, p. 77). Both conditions were of equal length; the guided visualization and the typical day task lasted 6 minutes.

In a fifth phase, after our experimental manipulation, mental imagery and post-intervention positive affect were assessed. In a sixth phase, participants in both experimental conditions were then asked how they wanted to achieve either their vision or their superordinate goal. For this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These two samples were examined for differences before being merged. Consistent with our goal of diversifying the sample, the second sample contained a significantly higher proportion of men (t(124) = 7.33, p < .001) and older participants t(124) = 11.6, p < .001). Moreover, we tested for similarity of effects across both subgroups (students vs. consultants) and conducted all analyses with subgroup as a covariate. The analyses yielded the same pattern of results, so we combined the samples for additional power and diversification.

phase, participants in both conditions were asked to formulate three goals they might pursue in the upcoming weeks to get closer to their vision or superordinate goal. In addition, all subjects were instructed to formulate their goals as concretely and specifically as possible (Locke & Latham, 1990) and to begin their goals with the words "In the following weeks, I will..." Examples of goals reported by the respondents include: "In the following weeks, I'll be searching online for job ads to finally find and apply for a working student position at a startup." or "In the following weeks, I'll try to finish developing the precursor app system that is central behind the value creation of my startup." Lastly, participants were asked to choose one of their listed goals, which seemed to be the most important for achieving their vision or superordinate goal.

In a seventh and final phase, participants then completed a measure assessing their positive anticipatory affect regarding attaining their previously selected vision- or superordinate goal derived goal.

#### Measures

**Positive affect.** Participants completed the 10-item positive affect scale of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). The scale measures the extent to which participants currently experience ten positive affective states (e.g., to feel excited, proud, inspired; 0=not at all; 5=totally). Participants' positive affect was assessed at baseline and after the experimental manipulation, with the scale indicating sufficient reliability ( $\omega s = 0.85$  and 0.92 for pre and post, respectively).

**Positive anticipatory affect.** Positive anticipatory affect was measured using six items developed by (Bagozzi et al., 1998). The scale measures the extent to which participants anticipate experiencing positive emotions if they succeed in attaining their goal (e.g., excited, delighted, happy; 0= not at all; 6= totally;  $\omega = 0.84$ ).

Mental imagery. Mental imagery was assessed as a manipulation check to test for expected differences in the vision and superordinate goal condition. We used three items developed by Carton and Lucas (2018) (e.g., "Right now there is a visual scene playing in my 'mind's eye'";  $1 = \text{disagree to } 7 = \text{agree}; \omega = 0.80$ ).

**Control variables.** In line with recent recommendations for including control variables (Becker et al., 2016), we considered participants' age and gender as potential controls. Previous research has found that these two sociodemographic variables may influence positive affect (e.g., Fujita et al., 1991; Pinquart, 2001). In addition, to obtain a valid estimate of the intervention effect on positive affect, we followed previous research (e.g., Hülsheger et al., 2013) and considered baseline positive affect as a possible control (van

Breukelen, 2013). All analyses were tested with and without these covariates (Becker et al., 2016). The results remained stable with and without the covariates. Thus, the effects of our control variables on the relationships we examined can be considered negligible (Becker et al., 2016).

## Results

#### **Manipulation check**

First, we tested whether our experimental conditions (visions vs. superordinate goals) were successful by comparing the scores of participants' mental imagery after the completion of each intervention. As expected, results from the manipulation check showed that participants in the vision condition (M=5.39, SD=1.04) had significantly higher mental imagery scores compared to participants in the superordinate goal condition (M=4.72, SD=1.60), t(124)=2.80, p=.006.

#### Hypotheses tests

Means and standard deviations of all variables are shown in Table 1. Table 2 shows their zero-order correlations. To test our hypothesis that visions as compared to superordinate goals evoke more positive affect and that positive affect mediates the effect of visions on positive anticipatory affect, we followed the recommendations of Hayes (2022). The mediation effect analysis was conducted using the Bootstrap method (n=5000) and standardized effects due to different Likert scale points across variables (e.g., 5-point Likert-type scale vs. 6-point Likert-type scale). SPSS version 26.0 (IBM Corp., 2019) and R (R Development Core Team, 2013) were used for the analyses. We entered positive anticipatory affect as the dependent variable, experimental condition (coded as 0 = superordinate goal, 1 = vision) as the independent variable, positive affect as the mediator and pre-intervention positive affect as a covariate.

The mediation analysis, which is illustrated in Fig. 2, revealed that participants in the visions group reported higher positive affect than people in the superordinate goal group (a=0.50, p < .01, 95% CI [0.31, 0.70]), which in turn predicted positive anticipatory affect (b=0.35, p < .01 95% CI [0.14, 0.56]). The biased-corrected bootstrap confidence interval (based on 5.000 samples) for the indirect effect was significant (ab=0.25, 95% CI [0.09, 0.42]). Thus, these results provide support for hypothesis 1 in that visions, compared with superordinate goals, evoke more positive affect. Moreover, these results provide support for hypothesis 2 in that positive affect mediated the relationship between visions and positive anticipatory affect.

#### Table 1 Means and standard deviations of the two conditions for the variables

|                                 | Vision |      | Superordinate Goal |      |  |
|---------------------------------|--------|------|--------------------|------|--|
| Variables                       | М      | SD   | M                  | SD   |  |
| Study 1                         |        |      |                    |      |  |
| 1. Positive Affect (pre)        | 3.25   | 0.70 | 3.35               | 0.55 |  |
| 2. Positive Affect (post)       | 3.77   | 0.74 | 3.34               | 0.73 |  |
| 3. Mental Imagery               | 5.39   | 1.04 | 4.72               | 1.60 |  |
| 4. Positive Anticipatory Affect | 6.10   | 0.83 | 6.20               | 0.89 |  |
| 5. Age                          | 32.9   | 12.8 | 31.3               | 11.2 |  |
| 6. Gender                       | 1.57   | 0.50 | 1.46               | 0.50 |  |
| Study 2                         |        |      |                    |      |  |
| 1. Positive Affect (pre)        | 3.11   | 0.62 | 3.11               | 0.66 |  |
| 2. Positive Affect (post)       | 3.64   | 0.70 | 3.11               | 0.70 |  |
| 3. Mental Imagery               | 5.27   | 1.13 | 4.61               | 1.33 |  |
| 4. Positive Anticipatory Affect | 5.90   | 0.80 | 5.90               | 0.80 |  |
| 5. Goal Commitment              | 4.27   | 0.54 | 4.33               | 0.55 |  |
| 6. Goal Progress                | 2.85   | 0.87 | 2.95               | 0.96 |  |
| 7. Age                          | 21.5   | 2.10 | 21.6               | 2.32 |  |
| 8. Gender                       | 1.62   | 0.49 | 1.57               | 0.49 |  |

*Note.* SD = Standard deviation. Group was coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision.

Gender was coded with 1 = female and 2 = male. Age was measured in years.

| Table 2 | Zero-order | correlations | of the | variables |
|---------|------------|--------------|--------|-----------|
|---------|------------|--------------|--------|-----------|

| Table 2 Zero-order correlations | able 2 Zero-order correlations of the variables |        |        |        |         |        |       |        |   |
|---------------------------------|---|--------|--------|--------|---------|--------|-------|--------|---|
| Variables                       | 1   | 2      | 3      | 4      | 5       | 6      | 7     | 8      | 9 |
| Study 1                         |   |        |        |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 1. Group                        | —   |        |        |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 2. Positive Affect (pre)        | -0.07   | _      |        |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 3. Positive Affect (post)       | 0.28**  | 0.60** | _      |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 4. Mental Imagery               | 0.24**  | 0.24** | 0.43** |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 5. Positive Anticipatory Affect | -0.09   | 0.13   | 0.26** | 0.27** |         |        |       |        |   |
| 6. Age                          | 0.06  | 0.12   | 0.03   | -0.12  | -0.33** | _      |       |        |   |
| 7. Gender                       | 0.10  | -0.05  | -0.10  | -0.16  | -0.43** | 0.39** | _     |        |   |
| Study 2                         |   |        |        |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 1. Group                        | _   |        |        |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 2. Positive Affect (pre)        | 0.00  | _      |        |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 3. Positive Affect (post)       | 0.34**  | 0.60** | —      |        |         |        |       |        |   |
| 4. Mental Imagery               | 0.26**  | 0.21** | 0.37** | _      |         |        |       |        |   |
| 5. Positive Anticipatory Affect | -0.02   | 0.21** | 0.29** | 0.25** |         |        |       |        |   |
| 6. Goal Commitment              | -0.07   | 0.14** | 0.18** | 0.13** | 0.39**  | _      |       |        |   |
| 7. Goal Progress                | -0.06   | 0.12*  | 0.16** | 0.10   | 0.07    | 0.17** | _     |        |   |
| 8. Age                          | -0.03   | -0.01  | -0.02  | 0.00   | -0.00   | 0.00   | -0.03 | _      |   |
| 9. Gender                       | 0.05  | 0.05   | 0.03   | 0.06   | -0.15** | -0.08  | 0.04  | -0.11* |   |

Note. Group was coded as 0=superordinate goal and 1=vision. Gender was coded with 1=female and 2=male. Age was measured in years.

\* *p* < .05, \*\* *p* < .01

## Discussion

The results of Study 1 supported Hypotheses 1 and 2. First, we were able to show that visions evoke more positive affect compared to a control group (superordinate goals). Based on research that has shown that positive affective experiences are promoted by mental imagery, our results may point to a mode of action of visions. Specifically, the results suggest that visions, which by definition are high in mental imagery, may exert their motivational influence on individuals by eliciting positive affect. Second, consistent with our expectations, we showed that the positive influence of visions on positive anticipatory affect is mediated by positive affect. This finding provides a first indication that the motivational properties of a vision can be transferred to a goal derived from it (Fishbach et al., 2004). These results also provide an interesting starting point for exploring the motivational consequences of visions.

Although the results presented are consistent with our predictions, we note several limitations. First, although, as noted above, positive affect is an important proxy for motivation (Custers & Aarts, 2005), it is critical to examine the downstream consequences of vision-evoked positive affect, such as commitment and subsequent progress toward a vision-related goal (see Fig. 1). Second, even though the study used an experimental design, it was a cross-sectional design, which is at risk for common method bias. Therefore, the introduction of a time-lagged examination of downstream effects would be important to mitigate concerns associated with common method biases (Cooper et al., 2020; Podsakoff et al., 2012). To address these issues, we conducted Study 2, assessing both goal commitment and progress, while measuring goal progress two weeks after the initial goal formulation.

## Study 2

In Study 2, we first aimed to replicate the results of Study 1 by again testing the extent to which visions compared with superordinate goals evoke positive affect and the indirect effect of visions on positive anticipatory affect, via positive affect. Secondly, we proposed a serial mediation model to determine whether positive affect and positive anticipatory affect would serially mediate the association between visions and goal commitment. We also sought to investigate if heightened goal commitment leads to higher goal progress. Ultimately, these objectives propose a model in which visions– through positive affect, positive anticipatory affect, and goal commitment– lead to higher goal progress (paths A, B, C, and D; Fig. 2).

## Method

## **Participants**

We conducted a time-lagged study with two measurement waves to test our hypotheses. We recruited 507 participants at a large German business school, of which 58 had to be excluded due to premature termination of the questionnaire and insufficient German language proficiency (CEFR level lower than C1). Following the approach of Study 1, we inspected careless responses and multivariate outliers in terms of completion time and Mahalanobis Distance (Ward & Meade, 2022). 5 participants did not meet the criteria and were excluded from subsequent analyses. To ensure the robustness of our results, we conducted our analyses for Study 2 with and without excluding those 5 participants, but found the same results. The final sample in Study 2 consisted of 444 participants (195 women, 247 men, 2 diverse;  $M_{\rm age} = 23.6$  years). Participants were recruited through online advertisements and lectures and were able to receive course credit for their participation in the study.

## Procedure

The procedure resembled Study 1, except that for the vision- or superordinate goal derived goals, goal commitment and positive anticipatory affect were also assessed. Two weeks later, participants received an invitation to the second part of the study. In the second measurement wave, participants were presented their vision- or superordinate goal derived goal which they had formulated in the first part of the study and were asked to rate the progress they had made towards attaining this goal. In total, 321 participants (71.9%) responded to the second survey (129 women, 192 men;  $M_{\rm age} = 21.6$  years). Participation in both studies was voluntary, and participants had to give informed consent.

**Fig. 2** Mediation model depicting the relation between group (vision vs. superordinate goal) and positive anticipatory affect as mediated by positive affect. *Note.* Group was coded as 0 =superordinate goal and 1 =vision. Regression coefficients are all in standardized form, and standard errors are given in parentheses. Symbol c' represents the direct effect of group on positive anticipatory affect. p < .05, \*\* p < .01



#### Measures

Positive affect, positive anticipatory affect, and mental imagery. Positive affect ( $\omega s = 0.85$  and 0.91 for pre and post, respectively), positive anticipatory affect ( $\omega = 0.84$ ), and mental imagery ( $\omega = 0.77$ ) were assessed with the same scales as in Study 1.

**Goal commitment.** Participants had to rate five items assessing their goal commitment using (Klein et al., 2001) five-item scale (e.g., "I am strongly committed to pursuing this goal.", 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree,  $\omega = 0.53$ ).<sup>2</sup>

**Goal progress.** Goal progress was assessed with four items developed by Greguras and Diefendorff (2010) (e.g., "I have made considerable progress toward attaining this goal";  $\omega = 0.87$ ). Responses were anchored on a 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree).

**Control variables.** As in Study 1, we considered the potential effects of age and gender on positive affect (e.g., Fujita et al., 1991; Pinquart, 2001). Moreover, as in Study 1, we also controlled for baseline positive affect scores (van Breukelen, 2013) to obtain a valid estimate of the intervention effect on positive affect (e.g., Hülsheger et al., 2013). Like in Study 1, we ran all analyses were tested with and without these covariates (Becker et al., 2016). The findings were stable with and without the covariates. Therefore, the effects of our control variables on the relationships we examined can be regarded as negligible (Becker et al., 2016).

## Analyses

The analyses were performed using the same software as in Study 1. Our analytical approach was guided by the two-step strategy to analyze mediation effects proposed by Anderson and Gerbing (1988). Prior to hypothesis testing, we first conducted a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) to verify our measurement model and ensure that each of our latent variables was represented by its indicators. Second, we performed structural equation modeling (SEM) analysis to measure the model fit and path coefficients for our hypothesized structural model. According to the recommendations put forth by Hayes (2022), the mediation effect analysis was conducted using the Bootstrap method (n=5000) and standardized effects. Measurement models and the statistical model were estimated with a robust Maximum-Likelihood (MLM) estimator. Model fit was evaluated using four indexes (Kline, 2016), with the cutoff criteria being: (a) normed chi-square index  $\chi$ 2/df of 3 or less; (b) CFI≥0.90; (c) RMSE ≤0.08, and (d) SRMR ≤0.08 (Kline, 2016).

## Results

#### **Measurement model**

First, we tested the fit of our four-factor measurement model,  $\chi^2/df = 2.1$ , CFI=0.91, RMSEA=0.05, and SRMR=0.05, which confirmed that the measurement model revealed a fairly good fit with the data. We then compared the fit indices to two plausible alternative models (see Table 3). Specifically we compared our model to two three-factor models that combined into one factor (a) the first mediator and the second mediator (positive affect and positive anticipatory affect), and (b) the second mediator and the first outcome variable (positive anticipatory affect and goal commitment). Thereafter, we calculated fit statistics for a model that combined all four variables. The results illustrated that the measurement model fits the data significantly better than all three alternative models (all *p*-values < 0.001), with the best-fitting alternative model being the four-factor model combining positive anticipatory affect and goal commitment ( $\gamma 2/df = 2.2$ , CFI=0.88, RMSEA=0.06, and SRMR=0.05). These fit indices, and the fact that all factor loadings of all indicators on their respective latent variables were significant, indicate adequate discriminant validity of the variables in our model.

 Table 3
 Measurement Model Comparisons (Study 2)

| able 5 Wedstrement Woder Comparisons (Study 2) |        |     |        |      |       |      |  |
|--|--------|-----|--------|------|-------|------|--|
| Model  | χ2     | Df  | Δχ2    | CFI  | RMSEA | SRMR |  |
| 4-Factor Model                                 | 530.5  | 269 |        | 0.91 | 0.05  | 0.05 |  |
| 3-Factor Model A                               | 1075.0 | 272 | 544.5  | 0.70 | 0.10  | 0.11 |  |
| 3-Factor Model B                               | 565.5  | 272 | 35.0   | 0.88 | 0.06  | 0.06 |  |
| 1-Factor Model                                 | 1662.8 | 275 | 1132.3 | 0.48 | 0.12  | 0.14 |  |

*Note.* 3-Factor Model A denotes a model in which positive affect and positive anticipatory affect were combined into one factor. 3-Factor Model B denotes in a model in which positive anticipatory affect and goal commitment were combined into one factor

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The reliability of the goal commitment scale did not improve by removing one or more items. We therefore follow earlier research that found similar low reliability coefficients and retained the measure as it was assessed in previous research (Klein et al., 2001).

#### Structural model testing

We tested the structural equation model depicted in Fig. 3, illustrating the properties of the research hypothesis, including all the standardized path coefficients. The structural-modeling results suggested that the hypothesized had an adequate model fit,  $\chi 2/df = 2.4$ , CFI=0.98, RMSEA=0.07, SRMR=0.03.

#### **Manipulation check**

Consistent with Study 1, results from the manipulation check showed that participants in the vision condition (M=5.27, SD=1.13) had significantly higher mental imagery scores compared to participants in the superordinate goal condition (M=4.61, SD=1.33), t(447)=5.68, p < .001.

## **Hypotheses tests**

Descriptive statistics of all variables are shown in Table 1. Table 2 shows their zero-order correlations. We again found support for hypothesis 1 in that the visions group reported higher positive affect than the superordinate goal group (a=0.50, p < .001, 95% CI [0.40, 0.61]), and in turn predicted positive anticipatory affect (b=0.35, p < .001, 95% CI [0.20, 0.49]) which is in support of hypothesis 2. The biased-corrected bootstrap confidence interval (based on 5000 samples) for the indirect effect was significant (ab=0.18, 95% CI [0.09, 0.27]).

We then examined the significance levels of the indirect effects for the hypothesized model using the bootstrap procedure (Hayes, 2022). Supporting hypothesis 3, there was a significant indirect effect of visions on goal commitment through positive affect and positive anticipatory affect (indirect effect =  $\beta$  = 0.017, SE = 0.009, 95% CI [0.003, 0.039]), operating sequentially. Specifically, visions significantly and positively predicted positive affect, positive affect significantly and positively predicted positive anticipatory affect, and positive anticipatory affect significantly and positively predicted goal commitment (for standardized path coefficients, see Fig. 3). Ultimately, confirming hypothesis 4, the indirect effect of visions on goal progress was significant ( $\beta = 0.005$ , SE = 0.003, 95% CI [0.001, 0.016]). The results showed that visions significantly and positively predicted positive affect, positive affect significantly and positively predicted positive anticipatory affect, positive goal-related affect significantly and positively predicted goal commitment, and goal commitment significantly and positively predicted goal progress (for standardized path coefficients, see Fig. 3).

## Discussion

First, the results of Study 2 replicated Study 1. They provided additional support for the proposition that visions evoke more positive affect than a control group (superordinate goals). We additionally provided supplemental evidence that shows that visions are positively associated with positive anticipatory affect, which is mediated by positive affect. We, therefore, provided further evidence for a central claim of our model, namely, visions are positively associated with positive affective reactions, which can spill over to goals derived from the vision. This finding offers a first important clue that visions ignite their motivational effect by affectively charging goals that work towards the vision. We were able to further strengthen this finding by showing that, in addition to positive anticipatory affect, as an indicator of approach motivation, the latter was associated with goal commitment, which led to increased goal progress. Thus, our results illustrate the first empirical evidence for the notion that visions are motivationally effective because they evoke positive affective reactions which increases the motivation for vision-related behaviors.

#### **General discussion**

Although management scholars agree that visions are an important tool for motivating employees and inspiring change (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Kohles et al., 2012), the processes by which visions motivate behavior remain unclear (Paine et al., 2023; Venus, Stam et al., 2019). The aim of the current study was to better understand the motivational mechanisms by which visions stimulate and drive behavior. In doing so, we respond to recent calls in the literature for a better understanding of the mediating processes of visions effectiveness (Fan et al., 2022), particularly the role of positive affect (Paine et al., 2023). By integrating findings from research on mental imagery (e.g., Schubert et al., 2020) and organizational research on visions (e.g., Carton & Lucas, 2018), we show that visions elicit positive affect. Drawing on goal systems theory (Fishbach & Woolley, 2022; Kruglanski et al., 2018), which suggests that emotional properties of goals can be transferred to one another, we propose



**Fig. 3** Parameter estimates for the proposed model. The first value represents the standardized path estimate; the second value (within parentheses) represents the standard error. *Note.* Group was coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 =vision.\* p < .05, \*\* p < .01

that positive affect evoked by visions spills over to visionderived goals, which in turn facilitates more successful goal pursuit. In doing so, we answer the call for an empirical investigation and integration of visions and goals (Southwick et al., 2019; Berson et al., 2015) by using Stam et al.'s (2014, p. 1174) theoretical framework, which conceptualizes vision pursuit as all "goal-directed actions that are hierarchically related to the vision." Study 1 was designed to test the proposed motivational mechanism by which visions evoke positive affect and its subsequent transfer to related goals using a diverse sample of consultants and business students. Building on these central findings, Study 2 aimed to replicate and extend these results by examining the downstream behavioral consequences of vision-evoked positive affect in a time-lagged design. In Study 1, we found that visions evoked more positive affect compared to superordinate goals, and that vision-evoked positive affect mediated the effect of visions on positive anticipatory affect. In Study 2, we not only replicated, but also extended the findings of Study 1. Specifically, we found that visions were positively related to goal progress two weeks later through positive affect, positive anticipatory affect, and goal commitment.

#### **Theoretical implications**

The above findings contribute to the literature in multiple ways. First, and most importantly, our research provides insight into the process of visions motivational effect. Scholars have noted that "empirical evidence pertaining to the antecedents and consequences of visions remains fragmented and scarce" (Boyatzis et al., 2015, p.1; see also Strauss et al., 2012; Venus, Johnson et al., 2019; and that the processes by which visions motivate behavior are still "ill-understood" (Venus, Stam et al., 2019, p. 681). In this regard, Kearney et al. (2019) argue that when visions are reduced to merely communicating an image of the future "there is surprisingly little empirical research on how it affects outcomes" (p. 3). Our research indicates that visions evoke positive affect, taking together findings from clinical psychology (e.g., Schubert et al., 2020) and organizational scholars (Fiset & Boies, 2019; Naidoo & Lord, 2008). As such, our findings complement the results of previous research that highlighted the role of imagery in visions (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Masuda et al., 2010) by revealing the ability of visions to evoke positive affect, as a possible underlying mechanism of the effectiveness of imagery in visions (see Rawolle et al., 2017). By doing so, we respond to the recent call by Paine et al. (2023), and advance the understanding of positive affect as a key mediating mechanism in how visions influence motivation and behavior. Developing a vision and imagining it in vivid imagery evokes positive emotions associated with the anticipation of realizing that vision. This positive response is transferred to the current emotional state, giving the vision a positive valence. In doing so, our research not only demonstrates the potential motivational impact of a simple "vision intervention," but also builds on research on *future work selves* that has encouraged future researchers to address the effect of future imagery on "affective outcomes" (Strauss et al., 2012, p. 594).

Second, we contribute to research on visions by examining how visions relate to goals that are hierarchically related to them. While scholars have repeatedly called for the integration of research on visions and goals (Berson et al., 2015) and suggested that visions need to be translated into actionable and specific goals (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Stam et al., 2014), to our knowledge, studies have not yet empirically explored this question. Drawing on work on emotional transfer in goal systems theory (Fishbach & Woolley, 2022; Kruglanski et al., 2018); Stam et al., 2014, p. 1174) theoretical framework, which conceptualizes vision pursuit as all "goal-directed actions that are hierarchically related to the vision," we examined (a) whether vision-evoked positive affect spills over to vision-derived goals and (b) whether these affectively charged vision-derived goals benefit from increased commitment and goal progress. We demonstrated that positive affect associated with a vision spills over to a vision-derived goal enhancing the pursuit of these goals and thereby actualizing the pursuit of the vision (Stam et al., 2014). Although the exact mechanism by which visions facilitate this affective spillover requires future research, our studies suggest a potential mechanism by which visions unleash their motivational effects. By further investigating how vision-derived goals are affectively charged, but people also seem to pursue them more vigorously, we offer a novel perspective in vision research. Although some research has found that bringing a positive future to one's mind leads only to moderate goal commitment (for a review see Oettingen, 2012) the present studies have shown that visions and vision-evoked positive affect stimulate goal pursuit. In line with research showing that images of a desired future foster proactivity (e.g. Strauss et al., 2012), we argue that a vision can illustrate an existing discrepancy between the positive future and the status quo.

Third, we contribute to the research by examining the effect of visions at the individual behavioral level. Although scholars have argued that visions are individual-level cognitions (Stam et al., 2014) that begin at the individual level by motivating and influencing a person's behavior (Kehr et al., 2021), most previous research has examined the effects of visions at the collective level (e.g., Kipfelsberger et al., 2022), attempting to explain how a firm's organizational vision motivates followers. Building on theorists (Fiset & Robinson, 2020) who speculate that individual-level visions
may be an important factor in career development, our study provides new insights into how individual visions may be an important tool that can help individuals to pursue careerrelated goals, and thus their own careers. Moreover, a better understanding of such individual-level visions may be particularly important given recent scholarly emphasis on the importance of organizations considering their employees' individual visions (Preller et al., 2020) and increasing employees' personal connection to the vision (Carton, 2022).

## **Practical implications**

Our research has several practical implications. Our results demonstrate the importance of visions as an effective tool in motivating individual behavior. Visions, which are high in mental imagery, evoke positive affect, which affectively charges related goals, ultimately fostering goal pursuit. Even though visions were only examined at the individual level, according to research by Stam and colleagues (2014) we can assume that visions have practically relevant collective effects as well.

On an individual level, personal visions could serve as an integral part of career management practices, for example, career counseling. Importantly, our findings imply that the vision-derived goals are only affectively charged to the extent that the vision itself leads to affective reactions. Based on our research, interventions can help individuals set personal visions that affectively resonate with them and thereby support them in their goal pursuit. For example, companies could integrate interventions in formal career management practices, career development, training opportunities, or coaching and mentoring to help employees foster personal visions that might positively affect their work-related behavior. Leaders might have an especially essential role in helping their employees to develop motivationally compelling personal visions. Research has shown that leaders have a profound impact on the way employees see themselves (Avolio et al., 2004). Therefore, if leaders demonstrate that they have high expectations and confidence in the abilities and potential of their employees, they could potentially inspire and promote personal visions (Avolio et al., 2004).

Secondly, and in addition to the individual level, our research findings also provide clues for the pursuit of corporate visions, that is, for a company's strategic orientation. Visions are often used in everyday corporate life to derive goals, which employees work towards. However, if the corporate vision does not evoke positive affect among employees this could also harm the pursuit of personal work goals. For example, because it is communicated in a rather abstract and less pictorial manner (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Emrich et al., 2001). Leaders could therefore bear a distinctive

responsibility to assist their employees. Therefore, managers should evaluate how the vision triggers positive affective reactions among employees. If the positive affective response in employees are weak, leaders could reframe the vision in more vivid image-based language (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Kehr et al., 2021) to evoke more positive affective reactions in employees.

### Limitations and future directions

Although the cross-lagged design of Study 2 enables us to overcome shortcomings of previous studies examining visions which relied on cross-sectional data (e.g. Carton & Lucas, 2018; Masuda et al., 2010; Naidoo & Lord, 2008) we only used one additional measurement point, two weeks after the initial survey. Taking into account that scholar's postulate that visions ultimately motivate vision-pursuit "over long periods of time" (Stam et al., 2014, p. 1174, see also Kirkpatrick & Locke, 1996), future studies should measure the goal-related variables (positive anticipatory affect, commitment, and goal progress) multiple times at regular intervals over a more extended period. Such designs could be used to examine whether the influence of a vision on the pursuit of goals derived from it remains constant. In addition, individuals in each experimental condition could be reminded of their vision or goal between days of data collection to investigate if this affects their pursuit of the goal.

Second, common-method bias might pose a possible issue as we solely used self-reported measures in these studies. Because both our studies used an experimental design, comparing two different interventions, we controlled for some of the problems of self-reported behaviors (Cooper et al., 2020). Moreover, by using different scale points, we further mitigated the risk of common method bias (Jordan & Troth, 2020). Nevertheless, we advise that future research uses more rigorously designed longitudinal studies to temporally separate the measurement of mediators and dependent variables (Cooper et al., 2020). Future studies could also obtain multi-source data by assessing objective indicators of goal-related behavior (e.g., grades, workload, etc.).

Third, a potential limitation of our research is its focus on individual-level visions, which may differ from organizational visions, which are typically characterized by their imposed nature. Nevertheless, prior research suggests that our findings may be applicable to organizational contexts, as individuals often align with goals that reflect their intrinsic values, even when they are externally imposed (Barrick et al., 2013; Sheldon et al., 2015). However, future research should examine the extent to which our findings are applicable to organizational-level visions. In addition, and relatedly, we did not examine the conditions under which visions elicit mental imagery and evoke positive affect. We recommend further research to examine possible interindividual differences that might moderate the relationship between visions and positive affect. For example, one might expect that the degree to which a vision is perceived as self-concordant (i.e., better representing people's implicit personality preferences and potentials, see Sheldon, 2014) would moderate the relationship between visions and positive affect. One could argue that only self-concordant visions would lead to mental imagery and positive affect, thereby facilitating the choice of more motive-congruent goals (Sheldon, 2014). Specifically, it may be that a vision that successfully elicits mental imagery arouses implicit motives (Kehr et al., 2021). This leads to positive affective responses that can help us make motive-congruent decisions by linking our goals to our implicit preferences (Kehr et al., 2021).

Last, we acknowledge that the student sample of Study 2 may limit the generalizability of our findings. The rationale for using business students was that investigating visions in the context of professional future visions is highly relevant for business students given their stage of career planning (e.g., Taber & Blankemeyer, 2015). Moreover, these limitations do not apply to the first study, which used a mixed sample of business students and full-time employees from two medium-sized consulting firms. Nevertheless, we encourage future researchers to explore these concepts with more diverse populations, including a broader range of professionals from different industries, to further validate and extend our findings. This approach would provide a more comprehensive understanding of the impact of visions in different professional contexts.

## Conclusion

The purpose of our paper was, first, to investigate the relationship between visions and positive affect, second, to examine the extent to which positive affect spills over from the vision to goals derived from it, and third to analyze how this affects the pursuit of these goals. We showed that visions are positively associated with goal progress of a derived goal via positive affect, positive anticipatory affect, and goal commitment. We hope that our integration of research on visions and goals provides new insights and opens new avenues for future research.

Funding Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

**Data availability** The datasets generated during and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

## Declarations

**Ethical approval** The procedures for human participants involved in this study are consistent with the ethical standards of the authors' institution.

Informed consent Informed consent was obtained from all participants included in the study.

**Conflict of interest** The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare that are relevant to the content of this article.

**Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

## References

- Aarts, H., Custers, R., & Marien, H. (2008). Preparing and motivating behavior outside of awareness. *Science*, 319(5870), 16–39. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150432.
- Anderson, J. C., & Gerbing, D. W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103(3), 411–423. https://doi. org/10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411.
- Avolio, B. J., Gardner, W. L., Walumbwa, F. O., Luthans, F., & May, D. R. (2004). Unlocking the mask: A look at the process by which authentic leaders impact follower attitudes and behaviors. *Leadership Quarterly*, 15(6), 801–823. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. leaqua.2004.09.003.
- Bagozzi, R. P., Baumgartner, H., & Pieters, R. (1998). Goal-directed emotions. *Cognition and Emotion*, 12(1), 1–26. https://doi. org/10.1080/026999398379754.
- Barrick, M. R., Mount, M. K., & Li, N. (2013). The theory of Purposeful Work Behavior: The role of personality, higher-order goals, and job characteristics. *Academy of Management Review*, 38(1), 132–153. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2010.0479.
- Baum, J. R., Locke, E. A., & Kirkpatrick, S. A. (1998). A longitudinal study of the relation of vision and vision communication to venture growth in entrepreneurial firms. *Journal of Applied Psychol*ogy, 83(1), 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.83.1.43.
- Baumgartner, H., Pieters, R., & Bagozzi, R. P. (2008). Future-oriented emotions: Conceptualization and behavioral effects. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 38(4), 685–696. https://doi. org/10.1002/ejsp.467.
- Becker, T. E., Atinc, G., Breaugh, J. A., Carlson, K. D., Edwards, J. R., & Spector, P. E. (2016). Statistical control in correlational studies: 10 essential recommendations for organizational researchers. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 37(2), 157–167. https://doi. org/10.1002/job.2053.
- Berson, Y., Halevy, N., Shamir, B., & Erez, M. (2015). Leading from different psychological distances: A construal-level perspective on vision communication, goal setting, and follower motivation.

Leadership Quarterly, 26(2), 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. leaqua.2014.07.011.

- Boyatzis, R. E., Rochford, K., & Taylor, S. N. (2015). The role of the positive emotional attractor in vision and shared vision: Toward effective leadership, relationships, and engagement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6., Article 670. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2015.00670.
- Carton, A. M. (2022). The Science of Leadership: A theoretical model and research agenda. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 9(1), 61–93. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012420-091227.
- Carton, A. M., & Lucas, B. J. (2018). How can leaders overcome the blurry vision bias? Identifying an antidote to the paradox of vision communication. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(6), 2106–2129. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.0375.
- Chitraranjan, C., & Botenne, C. (2023). Association between anticipated affect and behavioral intention: A meta-analysis. *Current Psychology*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-023-04383-w.
- Cooper, B., Eva, N., Fazlelahi, Z., Newman, F., Lee, A., A., & Obschonka, M. (2020). Addressing common method variance and endogeneity in vocational behavior research: A review of the literature and suggestions for future research. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 121, 103472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jvb.2020.103472.
- Custers, R., & Aarts, H. (2005). Positive affect as implicit motivator: On the nonconscious operation of behavioral goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(2), 129–142. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.2.129.
- Ding, Y. (2019). Looking forward: The role of hope in information system continuance. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 91, 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.09.002.
- Emrich, C. G., Brower, H. H., Feldman, J. M., & Garland, H. (2001). Images in words: Presidential rhetoric, charisma, and greatness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 46(3), 527–557. https://doi. org/10.2307/3094874.
- Fan, X. L., van Knippenberg, D., & Wang, X. H. (2022). (Frank). Vision–value match: leader communication of visions, follower values, meaningfulness, and creativity. *European Journal of Work* and Organizational Psychology, 31(4), 550–566. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/1359432X.2021.2013202.
- Fiset, J., & Boies, K. (2019). Positively vivid visions: Making followers feel capable and happy. *Human Relations*, 72(10), 1651–1670. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718810105.
- Fiset, J., & Robinson, M. A. (2020). Developing foresight through the evaluation and construction of vision statements: An experiential exercise. *Organization Management Journal*, 17(2), 99–115. https://doi.org/10.1108/OMJ-03-2019-0822.
- Fishbach, A., & Woolley, K. (2022). The structure of intrinsic motivation. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 9, 339–363. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-orgpsych-012420-091122.
- Fishbach, A., Shah, J. Y., & Kruglanski, A. W. (2004). Emotional transfer in goal systems. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychol*ogy, 40(6), 723–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2004.04.001.
- Fishbach, A., Eyal, T., & Finkelstein, S. R. (2010). How positive and negative feedback motivate goal pursuit. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 4(8), 517–530. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2010.00285.x.
- Fujita, F., Diener, E., & Sandvik, E. (1991). Gender differences in negative affect and well-being: The case for emotional intensity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61(3), 427–434. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.61.3.427.
- Greguras, G. J., & Diefendorff, J. M. (2010). Why does proactive personality predict employee life satisfaction and work behaviors? A field investigation of the mediating role of the self-concordance

model. *Personnel Psychology*, 63(3), 539–560. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2010.01180.x.

- Harvey, P., & Victoravich, L. M. (2009). The influence of forwardlooking antecedents, uncertainty, and anticipatory emotions on project escalation. *Decision Sciences*, 40(4), 759–782. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1540-5915.2009.00250.x.
- Hayes, A. F. (2022). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and conditional process analysis (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Holmes, E. A., Blackwell, S. E., Burnett Heyes, S., Renner, F., & Raes, F. (2016). Mental Imagery in Depression: Phenomenology, potential mechanisms, and treatment implications. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 12(1), 249–280. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-clinpsy-021815-092925.
- Holtschlag, C., Masuda, A. D., Reiche, B. S., & Morales, C. (2020). Why do millennials stay in their jobs? The roles of protean career orientation, goal progress and organizational career management. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *118*, 103366. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.103366.
- Hülsheger, U. R., Alberts, H. J. E. M., Feinholdt, A., & Lang, J. W. B. (2013). Benefits of mindfulness at work: The role of mindfulness in emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98(2), 310–325. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0031313.
- IBM Corp. (2019). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows (Version 26.0) [Computer software]. IBM Corp.
- Jordan, P. J., & Troth, A. C. (2020). Common method bias in applied settings: The dilemma of researching in organizations. *Australian Journal of Management*, 45(1), 3–14. https://doi. org/10.1177/0312896219871976.
- Kearney, E., Shemla, M., van Knippenberg, D., & Scholz, F. A. (2019). A paradox perspective on the interactive effects of visionary and empowering leadership. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 155, 20–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. obhdp.2019.01.001.
- Kehr, H. M., Voigt, J., & Rawolle, M. (2021). Implicit motives as the missing link between visionary leadership, approach and avoidance motivation, and vision pursuit. Organizational Psychology Review, 12(2), 1–27. https://doi. org/10.1177/20413866211061364.
- Kipfelsberger, P., Raes, A., Herhausen, D., Kark, R., & Bruch, H. (2022). Start with why: The transfer of work meaningfulness from leaders to followers and the role of dyadic tenure. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 43(8), 1287–1309. https://doi. org/10.1002/job.2649.
- Kirkpatrick, S. A., & Locke, E. A. (1996). Direct and indirect effects of three core charismatic leadership components on performance and attitudes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(1), 36–51. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.81.1.36.
- Klein, H. J., Wesson, M. J., Hollenbeck, J. R., Wright, P. M., & DeShon, R. P. (2001). The assessment of goal commitment: A measurement model meta-analysis. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 85(1), 32–55. https://doi. org/10.1006/obhd.2000.2931.
- Kline, R. B. (2016). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (4th ed.). Guilford Press.
- Kohles, J. C., Bligh, M. C., & Carsten, M. K. (2012). A followercentric approach to the vision integration process. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 23(3), 476–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. leaqua.2011.12.002.
- Kruglanski, A. W., Shah, J. Y., Fishbach, A., Friedman, R., Chun, W. Y., & Sleeth-Keppler, D. (2002). A theory of goal systems. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology*, *Vol. 34* (pp. 331–378). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0065-2601(02)80008-9.
- Kruglanski, A. W., Fishbach, A., Woolley, K., Bélanger, J. J., Chernikova, M., Molinario, E., & Pierro, A. (2018). A structural

model of intrinsic motivation: On the psychology of means-ends fusion. *Psychological Review*, *125*(2), 165–182. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000095.

- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (1990). A theory of goal setting & task performance. Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Masuda, A. D., Kane, T. D., Shoptaugh, C. F., & Minor, K. A. (2010). The role of a vivid and challenging personal vision in goal hierarchies. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, 144(3), 221–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980903472235.
- Monzani, D., Steca, P., Greco, A., D'Addario, M., Pancani, L., & Cappelletti, E. (2015). Effective pursuit of personal goals: The fostering effect of dispositional optimism on goal commitment and goal progress. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 82, 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.03.019.
- Naidoo, L. J., & Lord, R. G. (2008). Speech imagery and perceptions of charisma: The mediating role of positive affect. *Leadership Quarterly*, 19(3), 283–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. leaqua.2008.03.010.
- Oettingen, G. (2012). Future thought and behaviour change. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 23(1), 1–63. https://doi.org/10.108 0/10463283.2011.643698.
- Oyserman, D., & Horowitz, E. (2023). From possible selves and future selves to current action: An integrated review and identity-based motivation synthesis. In A. J. Elliot (Ed.), *Advances in Motivation Science* (Vol. 10, pp. 73–147). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/ bs.adms.2022.11.003.
- Paine, J. W., Byron, K., & Higgins, E. T. (2023). Does the vision fit? How change context construal and followers' regulatory focus influence responses to leader change visions. *Leadership Quarterly*, 6, 101718. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2023.101718.
- Pinquart, M. (2001). Age differences in perceived positive affect, negative affect, and affect balance in middle and old age. *Jour*nal of Happiness Studies, 2, 375–405. https://doi.org/10.102 3/A:1013938001116.
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63, 539–569. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100452.
- Preller, R., Patzelt, H., & Breugst, N. (2020). Entrepreneurial visions in founding teams: Conceptualization, emergence, and effects on opportunity development. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 35(2), 105914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2018.11.004.
- R Development Core Team. (2013). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rafieian, H., & Sharif, M. A. (2022). It's the effort that counts: The effect of self-control on goal progress perceptions. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 60(3), 527–542. https://doi. org/10.1177/00222437221123969.
- Rawolle, M., Schultheiss, O. C., Strasser, A., & Kehr, H. M. (2017). The Motivating Power of Visionary images: Effects on Motivation, affect, and Behavior. *Journal of Personality*, 85(6), 769– 781. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12285.
- Schubert, T., Eloo, R., Scharfen, J., & Morina, N. (2020). How imagining personal future scenarios influences affect: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 75., Article 101811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101811.
- Schwarz, N. (2012). Feelings-as-information theory. In Van P. A. M. Lange, A. W. Kruglanski, & E. T. Higgins (Eds.), *Handbook of*

*theories of social psychology* (pp. 289–308). Sage Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446249215.n15.

- Sheldon, K. M. (2014). Becoming oneself: The central role of self-concordant goal selection. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 18(4), 349–365. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868314538549.
- Sheldon, K. M., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2006). How to increase and sustain positive emotion: The effects of expressing gratitude and visualizing best possible selves. *The Journal of Positive Psychol*ogy, 1(2), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760500510676.
- Sheldon, K. M., Prentice, M., Halusic, M., & Schüler, J. (2015). Matches between assigned goal-types and both implicit and explicit motive dispositions predict goal self-concordance. *Moti*vation and Emotion, 39(3), 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11031-014-9468-4.
- Southwick, D. A., Tsay, C. J., & Duckworth, A. L. (2019). Grit at work. Research in Organizational Behavior, 39, 100126. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.riob.2020.100126.
- Stam, D. A., Lord, R. G., van Knippenberg, D., & Wisse, B. (2014). An image of who we might become: Vision communication, possible selves, and vision pursuit. *Organization Science*, 25(4), 1172–1194. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2013.0891.
- Strauss, K., Griffin, M. A., & Parker, S. K. (2012). Future work selves: How salient hoped-for identities motivate proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(3), 580–598. https://doi. org/10.1037/a0026423.
- Taber, B. J., & Blankemeyer, M. (2015). Future work self and career adaptability in the prediction of proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 86, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jvb.2014.10.005.
- van Breukelen, G. J. P. (2013). ANCOVA versus CHANGE from baseline in Nonrandomized studies: The difference. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 48(6), 895–922. https://doi.org/10.1080/00 273171.2013.831743.
- Venus, M., Stam, D., & Van Knippenberg, D. (2019). Visions of change as visions of continuity. Academy of Management Journal, 62(3), 667–690. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.1196.
- Venus, M., Johnson, R. E., Zhang, S., Wang, X. H., Frank, & Lanaj, K. (2019). Seeing the big picture: A within-person examination of Leader Construal Level and Vision Communication. *Journal of Management*, 45(7), 2666–2684. https://doi. org/10.1177/0149206318761576.
- Ward, M. K., & Meade, A. W. (2022). Dealing with Careless responding in Survey Data: Prevention, Identification, and recommended best practices. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 74(1), 577–596. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-040422-045007.
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(6), 1063–1070. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.54.6.1063.
- Woolley, K., & Fishbach, A. (2023). The means-ends Fusion Model of intrinsic motivation. In A. W. Kruglanski, A. Fishbach, & C. Kopetz (Eds.), *Goal systems Theory: Psychological processes* and applications (1st ed., pp. 55–76). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780197687468.001.0001.

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

# 3 When Visions Truly Inspire: The Moderating Role of Self-Concordance in Boosting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress

This chapter is based on the following research paper:

Voigt, J., Kehr, H. M., & Sheldon, K. M. (2024). When Visions Truly Inspire: The Moderating Role of Self-Concordance in Boosting Positive Affect, Goal Commitment, and Goal Progress. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 109, 104471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2024.104471</u>

## **Copyright Information**

| CCC R                                   | ghtsLink  | (?) | R |
|---|---|-----|---|
| RUBNIC OF<br>RESEARCH IN<br>PERSONALITY | When visions truly inspire: The moderating role of self-concordance in boosting positive affect, goal commitment, and goal progress<br>Author: Julian Voigt Kennon M. Sheldon,Hugo M. Kehr<br>Publication: Journal of Research in Personality<br>Publisher: Elsevier<br>Date: April 2024<br>© 2024 The Author(s) Published by Elsevier Inc. |     |   |
| Creative Com                            | ions  |     |   |
| This is an open a                       | cess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons CC-BY license, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.   |     |   |
| You are not requ                        | ed to obtain permission to reuse this article   |     |   |
| To request permi                        | sion for a type of use not listed, please contact Elsevier Global Rights Department.  |     |   |
|   |   |     |   |



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Journal of Research in Personality



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jrp

## When visions truly inspire: The moderating role of self-concordance in boosting positive affect, goal commitment, and goal progress



Julian Voigt<sup>a,\*</sup>, Kennon M. Sheldon<sup>b,c</sup>, Hugo M. Kehr<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

<sup>b</sup> University of Missouri, Columbia, MO, USA

<sup>c</sup> National Research University Higher School of Economics, Moscow, Russia

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Visions Self-concordance Goal pursuit Positive affect Motivation

#### ABSTRACT

Research demonstrates that visions elicit positive affective reactions, which can mobilize and motivate behavior. However, the factors that determine their effectiveness remain largely unknown. We examine the role of self-concordance in shaping the extent to which visions elicit positive affect and promote vision-related goal pursuit. We develop and test a moderated mediation model, where self-concordance moderates the path from visions through positive affect to both goal commitment and goal progress. In a first cross-sectional experiment (N = 358), we found that an evoked vision (compared to merely listing a "superordinate goal") produced more positive affect, especially when self-concordance was high (vs. low). A second time-lagged experiment with a one-month interval (N = 288) revealed that with high (vs. low) self-concordance, visions led to increased positive affect and commitment to vision-derived goals. A third time-lagged experiment (N = 254) confirmed the pattern with a more diverse sample, showing that it extends to goal progress as well. We discuss theoretical and practical implications and suggest directions for future research.

#### 1. Introduction

How do individuals chart the long-term course for their personal and professional lives? A crucial concept in this process might be a vision- a vivid, picture-like mental representation of a desirable, long-term future state (Rawolle et al., 2017). In recent times, visions have garnered increased interest, particularly within the organizational field, where they have been shown to foster enhanced motivation, performance, and readiness for change (e.g., Baum et al., 1998; Stam et al., 2010; Venus et al., 2019). Despite the documented benefits of visions, there is an acknowledged gap in understanding the individual-level factors that determine a vision's effectiveness (Fan et al., 2022; Stam et al., 2014; van Knippenberg & Sitkin, 2013). The current research, therefore, seeks to explore the boundary conditions underpinning the effectiveness of visions. Drawing on insights from self-determination theory, we posit that self-concordance- the alignment between an individual's stated goals and their implicit motives, intrinsic values, and inherent potentials (Sheldon, 2014)-might play a pivotal role. Accordingly, this study intends to explore the moderating role of self-concordance in shaping the degree to which visions evoke positive affect and promote vision-related goal pursuit.

#### 1.1. Visions and related constructs

Again, visions are vivid, picture-like mental representations of a desirable, long-term future state (Rawolle et al., 2017). As such, they intersect conceptually with *superordinate goals*—defined as "higher-level, long-term, and abstract goals" (Eberly et al., 2013, p. 45)—in that both represent higher-level, long-term goals (Conger, 1999; Latham et al., 1988). However, a vision, going beyond the abstract character-istics of superordinate goals, offers a compelling mental stimulation of a future reality (Carton et al., 2014; Carton & Lucas, 2018),

whereas superordinate goals, while also capable of evoking mental images, typically do so with less intensity and detail. A vision fleshes out an abstract goal via imaginal elaboration of a future state where one's long-term aspirations have come true (Carton et al., 2014). Importantly, while visions can be collective aspirations within an organizational context, they primarily operate as individual-level cognitions (Stam et al., 2014), reflecting the unique nature of each individual's perspective and aspirations. The defining characteristic of a vision, as its name suggests, is its visual element (Kehr et al., 2021; Rawolle et al., 2017). This aspect turns an idea into a pictorial mental representation, offering a quasi-perceptual simulation of a prospective reality, offering a

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2024.104471

Received 16 June 2023; Received in revised form 7 February 2024; Accepted 7 February 2024 Available online 13 February 2024 0092-6566/© 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: TUM School of Management, Technical University of Munich, Arcisstraße 21, D-80333 Munich, Germany. *E-mail address:* julian.voigt@tum.de (J. Voigt).

'glimpse' and a 'taste' of the incentives tied to the envisioned state (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Masuda et al., 2010). The vision concept differs from other goal constructs like personal strivings (Emmons, 1986), personal projects (Little, 1983), life tasks (Cantor et al., 1987), future wishes or fantasies (Oettingen, 1996), and aspirations (Kasser & Ryan, 1993) in the way that it is elicited, via highly elaborated visual imagery.

#### 1.2. The motivational power of visions

A significant body of research has demonstrated the motivational power of visions in influencing behavior (e.g., Baum et al., 1998; Stam et al., 2010; Venus et al., 2019). These studies propose that visions enhance motivation and vision-related goal pursuit primarily through their emotional impact (Berson et al., 2015; Carton & Lucas, 2018; Shamir et al., 1993). The emotional impact of visions is attributed to their ability to generate mental imagery in individuals (Berson et al., 2015; Conger, 1999; Stam et al., 2014), enabling them to visualize what success might look like (Carton & Lucas, 2018) and thereby making the envisioned future appear more realistic (Masuda et al., 2010). Mental imagery also allows individuals to vividly envision the positive outcomes associated with achieving the vision, thereby likely creating positive expectancies (Jennings et al., 2022), making them emotionally engaging (Carton et al., 2014; Carton & Lucas, 2018; Guadagno et al., 2011). Supporting this notion, several studies have found that visions high in imagery evoke positive affective reactions (Fiset & Boies, 2019; Griffith et al., 2015; Rawolle et al., 2017). We expected to replicate such effects as a first preliminary hypothesis within our three studies.

#### 1.3. Moderating role of self-concordance to positive affect

While the extant literature validates the positive impact of visions on affective reactions, it also points to the potential for these effects to vary across individuals due to unique personal differences (Berson et al., 2016; Fan et al., 2022; Kehr et al., 2021). The main proposal of our research, as elaborated below, is that the extent to which a vision aligns with an individual's core self influences the degree to which a vision resonates with them, ultimately influencing the strength of the positive affect and motivation evoked (Berson et al., 2015; Stam et al., 2014). In this vein, researchers have proposed that when individuals anchor visions to valued aspects of their self-concept, this congruence enhances motivation, as visions become more meaningful when they reflect an individual's values and identity (Fiset & Boies, 2019; Shamir et al., 1993).

Grounded in these insights, recent organizational research underscores the importance of tailoring visions to employees' core self and their personal values (Lewis & Clark, 2020). Scholars argue that this personalization, coupled with fostering a sense of personal ownership of the vision (Kearney et al., 2019), serves to nurture identified and internalized motivation by enhancing employees' personal connection to the vision (Carton, 2022). Recent evidence for this notion comes from Fan et al. (2022), who, in a two-part experimental study, affirmed that the efficacy of visions is contingent on their alignment with followers' value orientations. Expanding on this idea, Kehr et al. (2021) theorized that congruence between visions and the deeper, implicit aspects of an individual's personality, such as fundamental psychological needs and intrinsic values, may foster the pursuit of vision-derived goals. Hence, following this perspective, one could speculate that a vision that resonates with a person's deeper self and intrinsic values may evoke more potent positive affective responses, thereby enhancing motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

The self-concordance model (Sheldon & Elliot, 1999) provides a theoretical framework that is directly relevant to this suggestion. The model, rooted in self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000), postulates that stated goals are explicit (McClelland et al., 1989) or "system 2" phenomena (Kahneman, 2011), which can be more or less aligned with an individual's implicit or "system 1" self. Self-concordance can

thus be conceived as a type of goal-person fit, which encompasses the convergence between the individual's deeper self and their consciously stated goals (Sheldon & Goffredi, 2023). Goal self-concordance has been linked to numerous positive outcomes (Sezer et al., 2023, for a recent meta-analysis). Scholars argue that pursuing self-concordant goals leads to greater psychological need satisfaction (i.e., the three basic needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness; Ryan & Deci, 2000), which in turn promotes well-being (Kelly et al., 2015; Sheldon & Schüler, 2011). In line with this, numerous studies have shown that individuals who progress towards more self-concordant goals report higher well-being indices, such as life satisfaction (Judge et al., 2005), subjective well-being (Hope et al., 2019), and positive affect (Gillet et al., 2014; Levine et al., 2021; Sheldon et al., 2004) compared to those that progress towards less self-concordant goals.

Drawing from the self-concordance model (Sheldon & Elliot, 1999) and consolidating it with insights from organizational literature (Fan et al., 2022; Kehr et al., 2021; Shamir et al., 1993), we contend that selfconcordance serves a critical moderating role in the relationship between visions and positive affective responses. This moderation is thought to stem from the vision/person fit, which we conceptualize as the alignment between a person's vision and their deeper self and values (Sheldon & Goffredi, 2023). When visions are felt to be more selfconcordant, i.e., exhibiting a higher degree of vision/person fit, they may echo more strongly with an individual's implicit self and deeper values (Kehr et al., 2021). Consequently, the psychological needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness may be better met by engaging in self-congruent visions (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Sheldon & Elliot, 1999), which in turn may evoke stronger positive affective responses (Gillet et al., 2014; Levine et al., 2021; Sheldon et al., 2004).

Conversely, when visions are perceived as low in self-concordance, i. e., they exhibit a weaker vision/person fit, this misalignment may result in a diminished satisfaction of basic psychological needs (Ryan & Deci, 2000) and personal ownership (Kearney et al., 2019), reducing the positive affective reactions (Sheldon & Elliot, 1999; Stam et al., 2014). While these less self-concordant visions may still contain imagery, which allows for some positive affective reactions, the absence of congruence with an individual's deep self and values may lead to less potent affective reactions. These considerations lead to the proposed model shown in Fig. 1. In summary, we propose the following initial hypotheses:

**Hypothesis 1.** Consistent with past research, visions should evoke more positive affect, as compared to a control group.

**Hypothesis 2.** The rated self-concordance of visions will moderate the effects of visions (versus a control group) on positive affect. That is, when participants are prompted to generate visions, the visions will be more emotionally impactful if they are self-concordant ones.

Fig. 1 illustrates these first two hypotheses. As noted earlier, Hypothesis 1 is merely a replication attempt, whereas Hypothesis 2 represents a central proposed contribution of our studies.



Fig. 1. Theoretical Model.

Fig. 1 also illustrates another important assumption of our research, namely, that positive affect has beneficial effects upon later goal outcomes such as commitment and progress. We do not formally test this hypothesis because it has been well supported by past research (e.g., Aarts et al., 2008; Custers & Aarts, 2005), although we will confirm that the relations hold by inspecting the correlational data of the three studies (see Table 2).

## 1.4. The mediating role of positive affect to goal commitment and goal progress

Building upon the association between visions, self-concordance, and positive affect, as outlined in the previous section, we explore their potential role in a mediational process that connects visions to goal commitment and goal progress.

As stated before, scholars argue that positive affect plays a crucial role in the motivational process (Custers & Aarts, 2005; Erez & Isen, 2002), serving as an "implicit motivator" (Custers & Aarts, 2005, p. 129) in goal attainment. Prior research has shown that positive affect bolsters goal commitment (Custers & Aarts, 2005; Fishbach & Labroo, 2007), goal pursuit (Ilies & Judge, 2005; Seo & Ilies, 2009), and consequently, goal progress (Cameron et al., 2018; Fritz et al., 2021). Similarly, the positive affect evoked by visions is proposed to ignite powerful and positive emotions (Ernst et al., 2018), motivating individuals to allocate effort and resources toward "goals that are hierarchically related to the vision" (Stam et al., 2014, p. 1174) in order to fulfill positive expectancies (Carver & Scheier, 1998, 2000). This proposition aligns with findings by Fishbach et al. (2004), who demonstrated that the experience of general positive affect can be implicitly associated with a pursued goal and subsequently increase the goal's perceived value and foster approach motivation (see also Cameron et al., 2018; Fishbach & Finkelstein, 2011). Taking this evidence together, we propose that vision-evoked positive affect energizes the pursuit of vision-related goals, reinforcing commitment and progress. Combining those expectations, we hypothesize:

**Hypothesis 3.** Positive affect mediates the effects of visions (versus a control group) on goal commitment and progress.

# 1.5. Self-concordance as a moderator of the indirect effects of visions on goal outcomes via positive affect

Finally, considering our arguments regarding the moderating role of self-concordance and the mediating role of positive affect, we expect that the indirect relationships between visions and both goal commitment and goal progress via positive affect are contingent upon the degree of self-concordance (i.e., moderated mediation). These contentions align with past works that have established that the pursuit of self-concordant goals contributes to enhanced goal progress (e.g., Smyth et al., 2020) by promoting commitment (Koestner et al., 2002), increased effort (Koestner et al., 2008; Sheldon & Elliot, 1999), and subjective ease (Werner et al., 2016). Hence, we propose that when individuals perceive their visions as self-concordant, they are likely to experience more positive affect, which in turn boosts goal commitment and goal progress.

**Hypothesis 4a.** Self-concordance moderates the indirect effect of visions on goal commitment via positive affect, such that the indirect effect is stronger when self-concordance is high (vs. low). In the control group, self-concordance is not expected to influence the indirect effect.

**Hypothesis 4b.** Self-concordance moderates the indirect effect of visions on goal progress via positive affect, such that the indirect effect is stronger when self-concordance is high (vs. low). In the control group, self-concordance is not expected to influence the indirect effect.

#### 1.6. Overview of studies

Three online experiments tested our hypotheses, all involving students who received course credit for participating (community adults were also included in Study 3). In Study 1, we used a cross-sectional design to test the moderating effect of self-concordance on the relationship between group (vision vs. superordinate goal) and positive affect, the first part of Fig. 1. In Study 2, we used a time-lagged design with two measurement points to investigate a moderated mediation model of the posited effect of group (vision vs. superordinate goal) on goal commitment (see Fig. 1) by testing positive affect as a mediator and self-concordance as a moderator. In Study 3—which used the same timelagged design as Study 2 but had a more diverse sample—goal progress was investigated as another outcome variable of our moderated mediation model (see Fig. 1). None of the studies were pre-registered. Data, hypotheses tests, and output files can be found on our OSF site (htt ps://osf.io/8zxhp/?view\_only=b504c8a7941f4f30bf558c74faa4dfe4).

#### 2. Study 1

#### 2.1. Method

#### 2.1.1. Participants and procedure

The sample consisted of 385 students at a large German business school. After eliminating incomplete surveys, we received 358 usable surveys. Following recent recommendations (Ward & Meade, 2022), we examined for careless response patterns and outliers in terms of completion time (Bowling et al., 2016) and Mahalanobis Distance (Meade & Craig, 2012). However, all participants met the required criteria regarding the two aspects. The final sample consisted of 358 participants, who were, on average, 24 years of age (SD = 3.1); 215 were women, 142 were men, and one was diverse.

Initially, participants were informed that the study's primary purpose was to learn about their future career aspirations. Afterwards, participants gave informed consent and responded to a baseline test of positive affect. They were then randomly assigned to one of two experimental conditions (vision vs. superordinate goal).

In the vision condition, participants were provided a definition of the term vision ("the mental picture of a desirable future," see Rawolle et al., 2017). They were then asked to describe in a free-text field, in several sentences, their vision for their professional future. Afterwards, they rated their vision on self-concordance. Subsequently, to familiarize them with mental imagery, participants underwent an imagination exercise in which they imagined a lemon using all their senses (Meevissen et al., 2011). Following this exercise, participants proceeded to a guided visualization exercise. Due to the prevalent understanding that the visual component is a core feature of visions (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Kehr et al., 2021; Masuda et al., 2010; Rawolle et al., 2017), we selected guided visualization as the method for administering the vision. Throughout the guided visualization, participants were requested to imagine their vision in order to elicit mental images in their minds (Rawolle et al., 2017; Schultheiss & Brunstein, 1999). Specifically, participants were instructed to "time travel into the future to the moment when [their] vision came true" and to "vividly imagine [their] described vision, just as if [they] were dreaming it." Concreteness was increased by including questions like the following: In what ways can you tell that your vision has come true? How do you see it? What is surrounding you?

The superordinate goal condition began similarly, with participants being presented with a definition of a superordinate goal ("a goal that is important to us and that we want to achieve in the long term," see Höchli et al., 2018). Participants were asked to describe in several sentences their superordinate goal for their professional future in a free-text field. Then, they rated their superordinate goal on self-concordance. This was followed by the imagination exercise (Meevissen et al., 2011), mirroring the vision condition. Afterwards, participants were administered a guided relaxation exercise (Rawolle et al., 2017). Relaxation exercises are a widespread active control group in the study of future thinking and mental imagery (e.g., Rawolle et al., 2017; for a review, see Scholten et al., 2019). Specifically, respondents were instructed that "[they] can let everything that is going on around [them] things that have just been occupying [their] thoughts - be completely unimportant for once, remain completely for [themselves] and [their] body - and feel how [they] can relax". To maximize relaxation, participants were asked to concentrate on their body and its reactions: "The next time [they] exhale, [they] feel even the smallest muscles under [their] scalp relax completely. [Their] eyelids are now also quite heavy. [They] now feel [their] face relax completely." (Rawolle et al., 2017). Both experimental conditions were equal in length and lasted 6 min each. The forward progression button on the screen was displayed afterwards.

Following these experimental manipulations, we assessed mental imagery and post-intervention positive affect.

#### 2.1.2. Measures

2.1.2.1. Mental imagery. In accordance with Carton & Lucas (2018), who adapted items from Babin & Burns (1998), we measured mental imagery with three items (e.g., "Right now there is a visual scene playing in my 'mind's eye'"; 1 = disagree to 7 = agree;  $\alpha = 0.84$ ). This variable was used as a manipulation check.

2.1.2.2. Positive affect. Positive affect was assessed with the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). Ten items assessed the extent to which participants currently experience positive affective states (e.g., "Proud", "Inspired") with 5-point Likert-type scaled answers (1 = not at all, 5 = very strongly) with ten items ( $\alpha$ s = 0.88 and 0.92 for pre and post, respectively).

2.1.2.3. Self-concordance. Self-concordance of visions and superordinate goals was measured with four items adapted from Sheldon and Elliot (1998). The items assessed participants' reasons to pursue either their vision or superordinate goal on a 7-point scale (1 = not at all for this*reason;* 7 = completely because of this reason): intrinsic (i.e., "because I aminterested in the experience itself"), identified (i.e., "because I reallybelieve it is an important vision/superordinate goal to have"), introjected (i.e., "because I would feel ashamed, guilty or anxious if I didn't"),and external (i.e., "because somebody else wants me to or the situationsdemands it"). Consistent with previous research, the final score wascomputed by adding up ratings from the identified and intrinsic itemsand subtracting introjected and external ratings (Sheldon, 2014; Sheldon & Elliot, 1998). The internal consistency of the self-concordancescale was 0.83.

2.1.2.4. Control variables. In accordance with recent recommendations for the inclusion of control variables (Becker et al., 2016), we considered participants' age and gender as possible controls. Prior research has found that both these socio-demographic variables can influence positive affect (e.g., Fujita et al., 1991; Pinquart, 2001). However, these demographic variables were not significantly correlated with our core variables in this sample, and they did not impact the statistical significance of the findings (see the online supplementary material for the results of these sensitivity analyses). Thus, we excluded these controls from the analysis (Becker et al., 2016). Moreover, to obtain a valid estimation of the intervention effect on positive affect, we followed previous research (e.g., Hülsheger et al., 2013) and controlled for baseline scores of positive affect (van Breukelen, 2013).

#### 2.2. Results

2.2.1. Manipulation check

First, we examined whether our experimental manipulation (vision

vs. superordinate goal) was successful by comparing the scores of participants' mental imagery after the completion of each intervention. As expected, results from the manipulation check showed that participants in the vision condition (M = 5.39, SD = 1.22) had significantly higher mental imagery scores compared to participants in the superordinate goal condition (M = 4.90, SD = 1.24), t(356) = 3.73, p < .001.

#### 2.2.2. Hypotheses tests

Means and standard deviations of study variables are listed in Table 1. Table 2 shows the intercorrelations among the study variables.<sup>1</sup> To examine our first two hypotheses, we followed recommendations by Preacher et al. (2007) and Hayes (2022) and used the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 1; Hayes, 2022). In order to examine these hypotheses, we predicted positive affect (dependent variable) based on group (independent variable, coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision), self-concordance (moderator), and the interaction term of group and self-concordance. Hypothesis 1 posited that visions, as compared to super-ordinate goals, would evoke more positive affect compared to superordinate goals ( $\beta = 0.46$ , p < .001), supporting Hypothesis 1. Next, we examined

#### Table 1

Means, Standard Deviations, and Independent Samples t-Tests of the two Conditions for Study 1, 2, and 3 Variables.

|                           | Vision |      | Superor |      |               |
|---------------------------|--------|------|---------|------|---------------|
| Variables                 | Μ      | SD   | М       | SD   | t             |
| Study 1                   |        |      |         |      |               |
| 1. Self-Concordance       | 4.41   | 3.70 | 4.47    | 4.05 | 0.14          |
| 2. Positive Affect (pre)  | 3.09   | 0.74 | 3.10    | 0.72 | 0.13          |
| 3. Positive Affect (post) | 3.56   | 0.76 | 3.09    | 0.80 | -5.64***      |
| 4. Gender                 | 1.34   | 0.48 | 1.46    | 0.50 | 2.31*         |
| 5. Age                    | 24.0   | 3.26 | 24.2    | 3.01 | 0.50          |
|                           |        |      |         |      |               |
| Study 2                   |        |      |         |      |               |
| 1. Self-Concordance       | 4.53   | 3.54 | 5.89    | 3.56 | 3.24**        |
| 2. Positive Affect (pre)  | 3.00   | 0.56 | 3.13    | 0.61 | 1.59          |
| 3. Positive Affect (post) | 3.58   | 0.66 | 3.17    | 0.72 | $-5.04^{***}$ |
| 4. Goal Commitment        | 5.23   | 1.04 | 5.38    | 0.95 | 1.22          |
| 5. Gender                 | 1.50   | 0.52 | 1.43    | 0.49 | 0.87          |
| 6. Age                    | 22.5   | 3.25 | 22.8    | 7.20 | 0.25          |
|                           |        |      |         |      |               |
| Study 3                   |        |      |         |      |               |
| 1. Self-Concordance       | 5.80   | 3.05 | 6.27    | 3.58 | 1.12          |
| 2. Positive Affect (pre)  | 3.19   | 0.58 | 3.27    | 0.58 | 1.08          |
| 3. Positive Affect (post) | 3.68   | 0.72 | 3.29    | 0.67 | -4.36***      |
| 4. Goal Progress          | 3.22   | 1.04 | 3.34    | 1.07 | 0.88          |
| 5. Gender                 | 1.35   | 0.49 | 1.32    | 0.46 | -0.56         |
| 6. Age                    | 29.7   | 11.2 | 29.7    | 10.9 | -0.03         |
| 7. Employment Status      | 0.43   | 0.50 | 0.46    | 0.50 | 0.49          |

*Note.* SD = Standard deviation. Group was coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision. Gender was coded with 1 = female and 2 = male. Employment Status was coded with 0 = unemployed and 1 = full-time employed. Age was measured in years.

| * <i>p</i> < .05.             |  |
|-------------------------------|--|
| <sup>**</sup> <i>p</i> < .01. |  |
| ***                           |  |

p < .001.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> We want to note that while in Study 2, small but significant positive correlations between self-concordance and both positive affect and goal commitment were found, these correlations were not observed in Studies 1 and 3. Even though this may be surprising given the broad evidence from the selfconcordance literature (Sezer et al., 2023, for a recent meta-analysis), there have also been a number of studies with similar mixed findings (Bono & Judge, 2003; Koestner et al., 2002, Study 1; van Dierendonck, 2015). We note that the main effects of self-concordance are not included in Fig. 1 and are not relevant to our main theoretical and empirical contribution.

#### Table 2

Correlations Between Study Variables (Studies 1, 2, and 3).

| Variable              | Group        | Self-<br>Concordance | Positive Affect<br>(pre) | Positive Affect<br>(post) | Goal Commit-ment<br>(T2) | Goal Progress<br>(T2) | Gender      | Age    | Employment<br>Status |
|-----------------------|--------------|----------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|-------------|--------|----------------------|
| Study 1               |              |                      | *                        | •                         |                          |                       |             |        |                      |
| Group                 | _            |                      |                          |                           | _                        | _                     |             |        | _                    |
| Self-Concordance      | -0.00        | _                    |                          |                           | _                        | _                     |             |        | _                    |
| Positive Affect (pre) | 0.00         | 0.02                 | _                        |                           | _                        | _                     |             |        | _                    |
| Positive Affect       | 0.29**       | 0.08                 | 0.54                     | _                         | _                        | _                     |             |        | _                    |
| (post)                |              |                      |                          |                           |                          |                       |             |        |                      |
| Gender                | $-0.13^{*}$  | 0.02                 | 0.03                     | -0.03                     | _                        | _                     | _           |        | _                    |
| Age                   | -0.02        | -0.07                | 0.00                     | 0.03                      | _                        | _                     | -0.04       | —      | _                    |
| Study 2               |              |                      |                          |                           |                          |                       |             |        |                      |
| Group                 | _            |                      |                          |                           |                          |                       |             |        | _                    |
| Self-Concordance      | $-0.18^{**}$ | _                    |                          |                           |                          | _                     |             |        | _                    |
| Positive Affect (pre) | -0.09        | 0.19**               | _                        |                           |                          | _                     |             |        | _                    |
| Positive Affect       | 0.29**       | 0.12*                | 0.55**                   | _                         |                          | _                     |             |        | _                    |
| (post)                |              |                      |                          |                           |                          |                       |             |        |                      |
| Goal Commitment       | -0.07        | 0.15*                | 0.12*                    | 0.17**                    | _                        | _                     |             |        | _                    |
| (T2)                  |              |                      |                          |                           |                          |                       |             |        |                      |
| Gender                | -0.03        | -0.08                | -0.02                    | -0.07                     | -0.08                    | _                     | _           |        | _                    |
| Age                   | -0.03        | 0.04                 | -0.02                    | -0.06                     | -0.07                    | _                     | -0.08       | _      | —                    |
| Study 3               |              |                      |                          |                           |                          |                       |             |        |                      |
| Group                 | _            |                      |                          |                           |                          |                       |             |        |                      |
| Self-Concordance      | -0.07        | _                    |                          |                           | _                        |                       |             |        |                      |
| Positive Affect (pre) | -0.06        | 0.06                 | _                        |                           | _                        |                       |             |        |                      |
| Positive Affect       | 0.26         | 0.03                 | 0.52**                   | _                         | _                        |                       |             |        |                      |
| (post)                |              |                      |                          |                           |                          |                       |             |        |                      |
| Goal Progress (T2)    | -0.06        | 0.03                 | 0.13*                    | 0.19**                    | _                        | _                     |             |        |                      |
| Gender                | 0.04         | -0.10                | 0.02                     | -0.07                     | _                        | 0.06                  | _           |        |                      |
| Age                   | 0.01         | -0.05                | 0.18**                   | 0.11                      | _                        | 0.05                  | 0.20**      | _      |                      |
| Employment Status     | -0.02        | -0.03                | 0.05                     | -0.00                     | _                        | 0.00                  | $0.22^{**}$ | 0.53** | _                    |

 $\textit{Note. N}_{Study1} = 358. \textit{N}_{Study2} = 288. \textit{N}_{Study3} = 254. \textit{Gender was coded with 1} = \textit{female and 2} = \textit{male. Employment Status was coded with 0} = \textit{unemployed and 1} = \textit{full-status} = 1000 \textit{M}_{Study1} = 10000 \textit{M}_{Study1} = 10000 \textit{M}_{Study1} = 10000 \textit{M}_{St$ time employed. Age was measured in years.

p < .05.

p < .01.



## **Experimental Condition**

Fig. 2. Study 1: Moderating effect of self-concordance on the relationship between group and positive affect.

Hypothesis 2, which predicted that self-concordance would moderate the relationship between group (coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision) and positive affect, such that this relationship would be stronger when self-concordance is high than when self-concordance is low. As expected, we found a significant interaction effect between group and self-concordance on positive affect,  $\beta = 0.04$ , p = .04, supporting Hypothesis 2. Fig. 2 shows the pattern of the interaction. A simple slope analysis (Aiken & West, 1991) illustrated that for high selfconcordance (1 *SD* above the mean), the relationship between group and positive affect is stronger (simple slope = 0.60, p < .001) than for low self-concordance (1 *SD* below the mean) (simple slope = 0.32, p < .001). Additionally, these slopes differed significantly from one another, z =2.20, p = .02 (Paternoster et al., 1998).

#### 2.3. Discussion

The findings from Study 1 supported Hypotheses 1 and 2. First, consistent with past research, we found that visions evoked more positive affect, as compared to superordinate goals. Second, we obtained evidence that self-concordance moderated the relationship between visions and positive affect. Specifically, when individuals' vision self-concordance was high, participants reported more positive affect compared to when vision self-concordance was low. These results suggest that individuals who perceive their visions as highly self-concordant experience more positive affect.

While the results of Study 1 confirmed our proposed interaction effect, we note several limitations. First, the study employed a crosssectional design, which poses a risk for common method biases to occur (Cooper et al., 2020). Hence, introducing a time-lagged examination of the effects would be important in an effort to mitigate concerns tied to common method biases (Cooper et al., 2020; Podsakoff et al., 2012). Second, while, as noted above, positive affect is an important proxy for motivation (Custers & Aarts, 2005), it is critical to examine the downstream consequences of vision-evoked positive affect, such as commitment to a vision-related goal (see Fig. 1). Therefore, we conducted Study 2 to address these points.

#### 3. Study 2

#### 3.1. Method

#### 3.1.1. Participants and procedure

We conducted two surveys that occurred one month apart. The manipulation check (mental imagery), moderator variable (self-concordance), the mediator (positive affect), and control variables were collected at Time 1 (T1), and the dependent variable, goal commitment, was collected at Time 2 (T2; one month later).

To determine the sample size required to test our mediation model, we conducted an a priori power analysis for mediations using Monte Carlo simulations in R (Schoemann et al., 2017). Using the parameter obtained in Study 1 for the link between group and positive affect, assuming a small to moderate effect size for the link between positive affect and goal commitment (r = 0.20) and setting statistical power at 0.80, a sample size of 221 people was recommended. A total of 353 participants were recruited, of which 294 completed the Time 1 and Time 2 surveys (completion rate of 83 %). Using the same approach as in Study 1, we examined careless response patterns and outliers in terms of completion time and Mahalanobis Distance (Ward & Meade, 2022). Six participants did not meet these two criteria and were dropped from the following analyses. We performed our analyses in Study 2 with and without these exclusions to check the validity of our results. We found the same results. The final sample comprised 288 participants. The mean age of participants was 22.73 years (SD = 5.5); 157 were women, 129 were men, and two were diverse.

The procedures and manipulations were identical to Study 1. However, the study continued after the assessment of mental imagery and post-intervention positive affect. The subjects were asked how they intended to reach either their vision or their superordinate goal. Participants in both conditions were asked to state three goals they could follow in the upcoming weeks to move closer to their vision or superordinate goal. Here, subjects were asked to state these goals as specific and concrete as they could (Locke & Latham, 2002) and preface these with the words "In the next few weeks, I will..." (Brunstein et al., 1996). Examples of goals given by respondents include: "In the next few weeks, I will go to the library twice a week to study" or "In the next few weeks, I will be checking e-commerce course opportunities on a daily basis and apply to interesting ones". Finally, participants were asked to identify one out of the three goals they listed as the most important one to them in achieving their vision or superordinate goal, which they further planned to pursue in the upcoming weeks (for a similar approach, see Pieters et al., 1995).

One month later, participants received an invitation to the second part of the study. At the beginning of the second part, participants were first reminded of the study's content by showing them either their vision or their superordinate goal, which they formulated at Time 1. Next, the participants were prompted with their vision- or superordinate goalderived goal, which they had selected to pursue in the upcoming weeks, and were asked to indicate how committed they were to their vision- or superordinate goal-derived goal (Klein et al., 2014).

#### 3.1.2. Measures

3.1.2.1. Positive affect (Time 1), self-concordance (Time 1), and mental imagery (Time 1). Positive affect ( $\alpha = 0.82$  and 0.90 for pre and post, respectively), self-concordance ( $\alpha = 0.76$ ), and mental imagery ( $\alpha = 0.78$ ) were assessed with the same scales as in Study 1.

3.1.2.2. *Goal commitment (Time 2).* Participants' commitment to their goals was measured with a four-item ( $\alpha = 0.84$ ) scale by (Klein et al., 2014) (i.e., "How committed are you to this goal?"; "To what extent have you chosen to be committed to this goal?", "To what extent do you care about this goal?", "How dedicated are you to this goal?"; 1 = not at all, 7 = completely).

3.1.2.3. Control variables (Time 1). Consistent with Study 1, we considered the potential impact of age and gender on positive affect (e. g., Fujita et al., 1991; Pinquart, 2001). Similar to Study 1, these control variables were not included in the final analyses because they did not have a significant effect on the hypothesized relationships (Becker et al., 2016). However, we report the results of these sensitivity analyses in the online supplementary material. As in Study 1, we controlled for baseline scores of positive affect (van Breukelen, 2013) to receive a valid estimation of the intervention effect on positive affect (e.g., Hülsheger et al., 2013).

#### 3.2. Results

#### 3.2.1. Manipulation check

First, to ensure that our experimental manipulation (vision vs. superordinate goal) was successful, we compared the scores of participants' mental imagery after the completion of each intervention. These results demonstrate the effectiveness and validity of the two manipulations, showing that participants in the vision condition (M = 5.20, SD = 1.27) had significantly higher mental imagery scores compared to participants in the superordinate goal condition (M = 4.86, SD = 1.36), t (286) = 2.12, p < .05.

#### 3.2.2. Hypotheses tests

Means and standard deviations of study variables are listed in Table 1. Table 2 displays the correlations among the study variables. To test our theoretical model (Fig. 1), we applied first-stage moderated

mediation analyses (Preacher et al., 2007) with the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 7; Hayes, 2022). By doing so, we were able to generate the confidence intervals (CI) for the indirect effects in hypotheses 3 and 4a as well as for the index of moderated mediation, which tests the equality of the conditional indirect effects, utilizing bootstrapping with 5,000 resamples (Preacher & Hayes, 2004) and 95 % confidence intervals (Hayes, 2022; Preacher & Hayes, 2004).

Hypothesis 1 posited that visions, as compared to superordinate goals would evoke more positive affect. As expected, we found that visions, compared to superordinate goals, evoke more positive affect ( $\beta =$ 0.50, p < .001). Hypothesis 2 proposed that self-concordance would moderate the relationship between group (coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision) and positive affect. Supporting Hypothesis 2, we found a significant moderation effect of self-concordance on the relationship between group and positive affect ( $\beta = 0.03$ , p = .04) (Model 1, Table 3). Fig. 3 portrays the effect of the interaction on positive affect. Simple slope analyses (Aiken & West, 1991) revealed that the relationship between group and positive affect was positive and significant when self-concordance was high (1 SD above the mean) (estimate = 0.64, p < .001), but less positive when self-concordance was low (1 SD below the mean) (estimate = 0.36, p < .001). Moreover, these slopes differed significantly from one another, z = 2.20, p = .02 (Paternoster et al., 1998).

Hypothesis 3 stated that positive affect mediates the effect of group on goal commitment. The indirect effect was significant at a 95 % confidence level (estimate = 0.14, [0.055; 0.256]), providing support for Hypothesis 3. Next, we examined Hypothesis 4a, which proposed that the indirect effect of group on goal commitment via positive affect would be moderated by self-concordance. To examine this hypothesis, we incorporated the estimates from Model 1 (Table 3) and, moreover, the estimates from a second model where the goal commitment (dependent variable) was posited to be influenced by positive affect (mediator) while considering group (independent variable), selfconcordance (moderator), and the interaction term of group and selfconcordance (Model 2, Table 3). These model estimates may then, in turn, be employed to compute the index of moderated mediation, which, if it differs significantly from zero, supports Hypothesis 4a (Hayes, 2022). The concrete structure of the moderated indirect effect can be determined by estimating indirect effects and their corresponding confidence intervals across different values of self-concordance (Hayes, 2022). Supporting Hypothesis 4a, our results revealed a significant effect of positive affect on goal commitment ( $\beta = 0.29, p = .006$ ) (Model 2,

#### Table 3

Moderated Mediation Analyses Testing Hypothesis 4a (Study 2).

|   | Mediator<br>= Positive Affect<br>Model 1 |        | Dependent Variable<br>= Goal Commitment<br>Model 2 |      |  |  |  |
|---|--|--------|--|------|--|--|--|
| Predictors  | β  | SE     | β  | SE   |  |  |  |
| Group   | 0.50***                                  | 0.06   | -0.26*   | 0.12 |  |  |  |
| Positive Affect   | _  | _      | 0.29**   | 0.10 |  |  |  |
| Self-Concordance  | 0.01                                     | 0.00   | _  | _    |  |  |  |
| Group $\times$ Self-Concordance                             | 0.03*                                    | 0.01   | _  | _    |  |  |  |
| R2  | 0.43                                     |        | 0.04   |      |  |  |  |
| Indirect effects  | Effect                                   | LL     | UL   |      |  |  |  |
| Conditional indirect effect of Group on Goal Commitment at: |  |        |  |      |  |  |  |
| Low Self-Concordance (-1 S                                  | 0.107                                    | [0.034 | 0.210]   |      |  |  |  |
| High Self-Concordance (+1                                   | 0.187                                    | [0.070 | 0.332]   |      |  |  |  |
| Difference  | 0.079                                    | [0.005 | 0.178]   |      |  |  |  |

*Note.* N = 288. The 95 % confidence intervals for the conditional indirect effects and the conditional indirect effect difference were calculated using 5,000 bootstrapping resamples. LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit.

 $\sum_{n=1}^{**} p < .01.$ 

Table 3). We then utilized bootstrapping with 5,000 resamples (Preacher & Hayes, 2004) to estimate the 95 % confidence intervals for both the index of moderated mediation as well as the indirect effects at high (1 SD above the mean) and low (1 SD below the mean) values of self-concordance (Hayes, 2022). The index of moderated mediation was different from zero and therefore significant (index = 0.010, 95 % CI [0.0006; 0.025]), indicating that positive affect served as a mediator in the indirect effect of group on goal commitment, and this mediating effect was found to vary across different values of self-concordance. Concretely, the conditional indirect effect of group on goal commitment via positive affect was more positive when self-concordance was high (1 SD above the mean) (estimate = 0.18, 95 % CI [0.070; 0.332]) compared to when self-concordance was low (1 SD below the mean) (estimate = 0.10, 95 % CI [0.034; 0.210]). This difference was statistically significant (difference = 0.079, 95 % CI [0.004; 0.178]). Hence, Hypothesis 4a was supported.

#### 3.3. Discussion

Study 2 replicated the findings of Study 1 and extended them by examining positive affect as a mechanism driving the commitment to a vision-related goal. Using a time-lagged design, results revealed that visions are positively associated with goal commitment via positive affect and that this relationship is stronger when vision self-concordance is high.

While the results of Study 2 confirmed our proposed hypotheses, we note several shortcomings. First, while we assessed goal commitment using self-reported intentions to act on the goal, it is unclear whether these intentions translate into actual goal progress. Second, the study again used a sample of university students, which may limit the generalizability of our findings. To address these limitations, we conducted Study 3, which aimed to complete the testing of Fig. 1 by assessing goal progress as a direct indicator of how well participants are attaining the vision-related goal, and recruited a mixed sample that included both university students and full-time employees to increase the external validity of our findings.

#### 4. Study 3

#### 4.1. Method

#### 4.1.1. Participants and procedure

In Study 3, we used the same time-lagged design with two measurement points set one month apart as in Study 2. We again assessed the manipulation check (mental imagery), moderator variable (selfconcordance), mediator (positive affect), and control variables at Time 1 (T1), and the dependent variable (goal progress) at Time 2 (T2; one month after Time 1). Using the parameters obtained in Studies 1 and 2 for the link between group and positive affect, assuming a small to moderate effect size for the link between positive affect and goal progress (r = 0.20) and setting statistical power at 0.80, a sample size of 221 people was recommended. A total of 352 participants were recruited, of which 255 completed the Time 1 and Time 2 surveys (completion rate of 72 %). Using the same approach as in Studies 1 and 2, we analyzed for nonsense response patterns and outliers in terms of completion time and Mahalanobis Distance (Ward & Meade, 2022). One participant did not meet these two criteria and was dropped from the following analyses. As a test of the validity of our findings, we performed our analyses for Study 3 with and without this exclusion. We obtained the same results. Our final sample consisted of 254 participants. The average age of participants was 29.92 years (SD = 11.2); 172 were women, 84 were men, and one was diverse.

To enhance the generalizability of our findings, we targeted a broad pool of both students as well as full-time employees. Specifically, we recruited 141 students (107 women, 33 men, one diverse;  $M_{age} = 24.50$  years) and 113 full-time employees (62 women and 51 men;  $M_{age} =$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*\*\*</sup> *p* < .001.



**Experimental Condition** 

Fig. 3. Study 2: Moderating effect of self-concordance on the relationship between group and positive affect.

36.30 years). Students and full-time employees were examined for differences before being merged. In line with the objective of diversifying the sample, the full-time employees were more often men t(252) = 3.40, p < .001, and older t(252) = 9.90, p < .001. Importantly, the results showed that there were no significant differences between full-time employees and students for our main study variables positive affect t (252) = 0.18, *ns.*, self-concordance t(252) = 0.60, *ns.*, and goal progress t (252) = 0.13, *ns.* In addition, we tested for similarity of effects across both groups (students vs. full-time employees) and conducted all analyses with and without employment status as a covariate. The analyses yielded the same pattern of results, so we combined both groups for additional power and diversification.

The procedure was nearly the same as in studies 1 and 2. The only difference was that participants in the superordinate goal condition were required to visualize and then write down their typical day (adapted from Peters et al., 2010, original instructions by Sheldon & Lyubomirsky, 2006), which is a commonly employed active control group in mental imagery studies (for a meta-analysis see Schubert et al., 2020). Concretely, respondents were prompted with a text field and asked to visualize [their] typical day, to "write about [their] typical day, and the kinds of things that happen during it" and to "outline [their] typical day in as much detail as [they] can."(Sheldon & Lyubomirsky, 2006, p. 77). (Rawolle et al., 2017). Both of these conditions were equal in length and lasted 6 min each. The forward progression button on the screen was displayed afterwards.

Additionally, at Time 2, participants were asked to rate the progress they had made towards the vision- or superordinate goal-derived goal they had stated at Time 1 (for a similar procedure, see Hülsheger & Maier, 2010).

#### 4.1.2. Measures

4.1.2.1. Positive affect (Time 1), self-concordance (Time 1), and mental imagery (Time 1). Positive affect ( $\alpha = 0.82$  and 0.91 for pre and post, respectively), self-concordance ( $\alpha = 0.72$ ), and mental imagery ( $\alpha =$ 

0.80) were assessed with the same scales as in Study 1.

4.1.2.2. Goal progress (Time 2). We measured participants' goal progress ( $\alpha = 0.93$ ) with four items by Greguras & Diefendorff (2010) (e.g., "I have made considerable progress toward attaining this goal"; 1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree).

4.1.2.3. Control variables (Time 1). Based on the same rationale provided in Studies 1 and 2, we considered the inclusion of participants' age and gender as control variables. Moreover, we considered employment status (student vs. full-time employee) as a potential control variable because prior research has shown that employment status is associated with positive affect (Griffin et al., 2006,) and both age and gender were highly correlated with employment status (r = 0.53 and r = 0.22, respectively, p < .001). Similar to Studies 1 and 2, these control variables were not included in the final analyses because they did not have a significant effect on the hypothesized relationships (Becker et al., 2016). The results of these sensitivity analyses can be found in the online supplementary material. In addition, as in Study 1 and Study 2, to obtain a valid estimate of the intervention effect on positive affect, we followed previous research (e.g., Hülsheger et al., 2013) and controlled for baseline positive affect (van Breukelen, 2013).

#### 4.2. Results

#### 4.2.1. Manipulation check

First, we examined whether our experimental manipulation (vision vs. superordinate goal) was successful by comparing the scores of participants' mental imagery after the completion of each intervention. As expected, results from the manipulation check showed that participants in the vision condition (M = 5.35, SD = 1.22) had significantly higher mental imagery scores compared to participants in the superordinate goal condition (M = 4.83, SD = 1.36), t(252) = 3.19, p < .001.

#### 4.2.2. Hypotheses tests

Means and standard deviations of study variables are listed in Table 1. Correlations among the study variables are presented in Table 2. To test our hypotheses, we used the same first-stage moderated mediation model (Hayes, 2022) as in Study 2 using the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 7; Hayes, 2022). Hypothesis 1 posited that visions as compared to superordinate goals would evoke more positive affect. As expected, we found that visions, compared to superordinate goals, evoke more positive affect ( $\beta = 0.43$ , p < .001). Hypothesis 2 postulated that self-concordance would moderate the relationship between group (coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision) and positive affect. As anticipated, we found a significant interaction between group and selfconcordance, predicting positive affect ( $\beta = 0.05$ , p = .01) (Model 1, Table 4). Fig. 4 depicts the interaction effect on positive affect. Plotting the simple slopes (Aiken & West, 1991) indicated that the slope of group on positive affect was positive and significant when self-concordance was high (+1 SD) ( $\beta$  = 0.61, p < .001), but less positive when selfconcordance was low (- 1 SD) ( $\beta = 0.26$ , p = .02); moreover both slopes differed significantly from one another, z = 2.74, p = .006(Paternoster et al., 1998). Thus, Hypothesis 2 was supported.

Hypothesis 3 predicted that positive affect mediates the effects of group on goal progress. The indirect effect was significant at a 95 % confidence level (estimate = 0.13, [0.031; 0.253]), thus supporting Hypothesis 3. Hypothesis 4b predicted an indirect effect of group on goal progress through positive affect, with a more positive indirect effect expected under high self-concordance compared to low. Analogous to Study 2, we investigated a mediation effect contingent on a moderator, employing the index of moderated mediation (Hayes, 2022) and calculating the same two models as in Study 2. Model 2 demonstrated a significant effect of positive affect on goal progress ( $\beta = 0.30, p = .007$ ) (Model 2, Table 4), supporting our hypothesis. We then utilized bootstrapping with 5,000 resamples (Preacher & Hayes, 2004) to estimate the 95 % confidence intervals for the index of moderated mediation as well as the indirect effects at high (1 SD above the mean) and low (1 SD below the mean) values of self-concordance (Hayes, 2022). The index of moderated mediation was statistically significant (index = 0.016, 95 % CI [0.0013; 0.036]), indicating that positive affect mediated the effect of group on goal progress as well as that the indirect effect varied across different self-concordance values. Concretely, the conditional indirect effect of group on goal progress via positive affect was more positive when self-concordance was high (1 SD above the mean) (estimate = 0.18, 95 % CI [0.040; 0.352]) than when self-concordance was low (1 SD

#### Table 4

Moderated Mediation Analyses Testing Hypothesis 4b (Study 3).

|   | Mediator<br>= Positive Affect<br>Model 1 |        | Dependent Variable<br>= Goal Progress<br>Model 2 |      |  |  |
|---|--|--------|--|------|--|--|
| Predictors  | β  | SE     | β  | SE   |  |  |
| Group   | 0.43***                                  | 0.07   | -0.23  | 0.14 |  |  |
| Positive Affect   | _  | _      | $0.30^{**}$                                      | 0.11 |  |  |
| Self-Concordance  | 0.00                                     | 0.01   | _  | _    |  |  |
| Group $\times$ Self-Concordance                           | 0.05*                                    | 0.02   | _  | _    |  |  |
| R2  | 0.39                                     |        | 0.05   |      |  |  |
|   |  |        |  |      |  |  |
| Indirect effects  |  | Effect | LL   | UL   |  |  |
| Conditional indirect effect of Group on Goal Progress at: |  |        |  |      |  |  |
| Low Self-Concordance $(-1.5)$                             | 0.079                                    | [0.086 | 0.183]   |      |  |  |
| High Self-Concordance (+1                                 | 0.180                                    | [0.040 | 0.352]   |      |  |  |
| Difference  | 0.107                                    | [0.011 | 0.249]   |      |  |  |

*Note.* N = 254. The 95 % confidence intervals for the conditional indirect effects and the conditional indirect effect difference were calculated using 5,000 bootstrapping resamples. LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit.

 $\sum_{n=1}^{**} p < .01.$ 

below the mean) (estimate = 0.08, 95 % CI [0.086; 0.183]). This difference was statistically significant (difference = 0.10, 95 % CI [0.008; 0.249]). Hence, Hypothesis 4b was supported.

#### 5. General discussion

Across three studies, we found consistent support for our central hypothesis, that self-concordance strengthens the positive influence of visions on positive affect and other positive outcomes. In the first study, we demonstrated that higher vision self-concordance leads to increased positive affect. Furthermore, our second and third studies provided evidence that vision-induced positive affect enhances both goal commitment (Study 2) and goal progress (Study 3), with these effects being more pronounced when vision self-concordance is high.

#### 5.1. Theoretical implications

First and perhaps most importantly, our research contributes to the organizational literature on visions (Berson et al., 2015; Stam et al., 2014) by focusing on the previously underexplored role of individuallevel factors in the effectiveness of visions. While most research has primarily focused on organizational-level factors to elucidate how and when visions impact performance (e.g., Halevy et al., 2011; Vanderstukken et al., 2019), the significance of individual-level factors has been largely overlooked (Berson et al., 2016). This is particularly surprising, given that researchers have long proposed that the alignment between visions and individual values should boost motivation (Shamir et al., 1993), an assumption that has only been recently tested by Fan et al. (2022). Drawing on these insights, our study brings to light the moderating role of vision self-concordance on the effect of visions on goal commitment and goal progress. This finding not only empirically validates the long-held assumption that alignment between visions and individual values is essential for visions' effectiveness (Shamir et al., 1993) but also refines this perspective by showing that the alignment with more implicit aspects of the individual's self, such as fundamental psychological needs and intrinsic values, influences the potency of visions (Kehr et al., 2021). In doing so, our findings complement emerging research that encourages adapting visions to employees' identities (Lewis & Clark, 2020) and promoting personal ownership of visions (Kearney et al., 2019) in order to facilitate internalized and identified motivation. By emphasizing the critical role of self-concordance in the relationship between visions and goal-related behavior, our study extends the literature by considering the individual's role in the success of vision implementation and underlines the importance of understanding the unique characteristics and value orientations of individuals when crafting visions.

Second, our research adds to the self-concordance literature. While existing research has established the connection between selfconcordance and positive affective reactions in the context of personal goals (e.g., Gillet et al., 2014; Levine et al., 2021; Sheldon et al., 2004), these studies have not yet explored the implications of self-concordance in relation to visions. Although some scholars have speculated that similar effects should apply to visions (e.g., Kehr et al., 2021; Rawolle et al., 2017) and have proposed that visions are most effective in evoking positive affect if they are relevant to a person's deeper self and values, empirical evidence for this proposition remains scarce. Our study addresses this gap in the literature by demonstrating, to our knowledge, for the first time, that when visions are more self-concordant, they are more effective in evoking positive affect. Notably, our findings align with recent findings of Ernst et al. (2018), who showed that self-concordant future events have a special phenomenological status, are distinguished by more positive and intense emotions, and are more strongly associated with autobiographical knowledge. This connection between self-concordance and the phenomenological experience of envisioned future events provides a plausible explanation for our findings that selfconcordant visions are more effective in evoking positive affect.



**Experimental Condition** 

Fig. 4. Study 3: Moderating effect of self-concordance on the relationship between group and positive affect.

Related to this, researchers have recently speculated that modulating emotional states related to future mental simulations may have important consequences for pursuing goals (Ernst et al., 2018). Confirming this idea, we found that self-concordant visions of the future not only boost affective reactions but also foster the commitment and progress of vision-derived goals. By showing the link between self-concordance in visions and goal-related outcomes, our study stresses the importance of aligning visions with employees' individual values and deeper self to enhance both affective and motivational aspects of goal pursuit.

Last, our findings are relevant to previous goal research on the effects of positive affect on goal-related outcomes. Whereas we relied on literature showing positive effects (e.g., Aarts et al., 2008; Custers & Aarts, 2005), other studies have found that positive affect might lead to coasting (investing less effort) or shifting to alternative goals (e.g., Louro et al., 2007; Thürmer et al., 2020). We believe that these findings can be reconciled by considering that previous research has shown that positive affect primarily leads to coasting in the presence of competing goals (Fishbach & Dhar, 2005; Orehek et al., 2011; Thürmer et al., 2020) and when goals are near completion (Orehek et al., 2011). Extending these findings, our results suggest that when people pursue a newly stated goal that they have identified as important to achieving their vision, visionevoked positive affect is implicitly associated with this goal (Fishbach et al., 2004; Fishbach & Finkelstein, 2011), and serves as an important resource (Fredrickson, 2004), energizing the pursuit of this newly identified goal and helping to get through the initial stages of goal pursuit (Custers & Aarts, 2005; Fishbach & Labroo, 2007; Orehek et al., 2011). These findings underscore the context-dependent nature of how positive affect influences goal pursuit and highlight the importance of goal structure and stage in determining its motivational consequences.

### 5.2. Limitations and future research

A potential limitation of our research concerns its generalizability to organizational-level visions, which are often assigned or imposed, as opposed to the individual visions pursued by our participants. Despite

this limitation, evidence from personality and organizational scholars indicates that our findings might still apply in such contexts. Prior research in personality (Sheldon et al., 2015, 2019; Sheldon & Schüler, 2011) has demonstrated that individuals can discern self-concordance in imposed goals and, when given a choice among various imposed goals, may select those that are more closely aligned with their intrinsic values. Likewise, organizational scholars (Barrick et al., 2013; Kehr, 2004) have posited that externally imposed goals can become intrinsically motivating when congruent with an individual's self, fostering a sense of meaningfulness. Consequently, future research should initially investigate the extent to which our findings are applicable to organizationallevel visions. Related to this point, recognizing the methodological limitations in our approach to self-concordance, researchers should attempt to experimentally manipulate the self-concordance of visions (cf. Chatzisarantis et al., 2010; Unsworth & Mcneill, 2016). Such a methodological adoption would not only help to establish causality but also allow investigation into practical strategies for enhancing selfconcordance where it is initially low. For example, researchers could explore ways to enhance self-concordance in cases where organizational vision self-concordance is low, such as by aligning organizational visions with personal goals to promote commitment and goal progress (Unsworth & Mcneill, 2016).

Additionally, in our research, we utilized the vision construct from organizational research as our theoretical lens, conceptualizing visions as being positively oriented (Rawolle et al., 2017). However, recent literature has theorized about the potential impact of negative visions on motivation (Kehr et al., 2021). Negative visions, which depict negatively valenced future scenarios, may serve to galvanize employees to enhance their efforts or modify their behaviors to avert undesirable outcomes (Kehr et al., 2021). Although empirical evidence on negative visions is limited, it is conceivable that such visions may trigger negative emotions and avoidance behaviors (Elliot & Sheldon, 1997) as a means to prevent the adverse event. Furthermore, future studies could examine the impact of contrasting a positive vision, central to a person's self, with realistic assessments of potential obstacles (Oettingen et al., 2001). While our

research did not explicitly address this question, it would be interesting to explore whether high vision self-concordance might elicit greater goal commitment and goal progress via feelings of energization as an alternative mechanism when the desired future is juxtaposed with negative reflections on reality impeding this future, compared to situations with low vision self-concordance (Oettingen et al., 2009).

Moreover, potential limitations in our research may arise from common method bias due to the exclusive use of self-reported measures. However, we argue that common method variance (CMV) is less likely to influence our findings based on three key factors. First, our experimental design featured two experimental conditions, therefore addressing some common issues associated with self-reported behaviors by providing distinct contexts for participants' responses, thereby enhancing the validity of our findings (Cooper et al., 2020). Second, we collected data on outcome variables more than one month after assessing the independent variable, mediator, and moderator. This time separation helps mitigate priming, consistency, and other factors contributing to CMV (Johnson et al., 2012). Third, the observed indirect relationships were contingent upon moderator variables, with interactions occurring at both levels of the mediation model. Research has shown that CMV cannot account for the effects of interactions (Siemsen et al., 2009). Because of these considerations, we recommend that future research employ more rigorous longitudinal study designs such as a diary or experience-sampling methodologies, providing multiple time points for data collection (see Cooper et al., 2020 for a recent review). Additionally, incorporating multi-source data by evaluating objective indicators of goal-related behavior (e.g., grades, workload) could further strengthen the validity of future findings.

Another important consideration is that while the moderation effects we found are consistent across the three studies, the effect sizes are arguably quite small. However, we believe that these interaction effects are still important to consider. While small effect sizes are not only very common in personality psychology (Funder & Ozer, 2019) but particularly in moderation analyses (Aguinis et al., 2005), researchers have frequently argued that small but consistent effects can be critical for the advancement of theory and practice (Prentice & Miller, 1992) and have been shown to have substantial consequences for downstream outcomes (Yeager et al., 2018). In line with this, recent discourse in psychological research has encouraged that effect sizes that appear small may be of practical importance, especially when considered over time (Funder & Ozer, 2019; Götz et al., 2022). According to Funder and Ozer (2019), this is particularly important in experimental research, where small effects may indicate small effects for single events (i.e., our experimental manipulation), but these may be consequential in the long run. Applying this to our study, the results indicate that small but significant effects of self-concordance on the relationship between our experimental manipulation and positive affect may lead to meaningful differences in goal commitment and progress.

Last, reflecting upon the measurement tools employed in our studies, it is necessary to address the limitations associated with the use of the PANAS to assess positive affect. As highlighted by Sheldon and Lyubomirsky (2006) and consistent with an anonymous reviewer's observations, the PANAS may exhibit a bias towards high-activation positive emotions, such as 'excited', 'strong', and 'inspired'. This raises the possibility that the PANAS might not fully capture the breadth of positive affective states, particularly quieter emotions like 'content', 'satisfied', and 'serene'. While high-intensity positive emotions have been shown to facilitate goal pursuit (e.g., Hart & Gable, 2013), the potential underrepresentation of less intense positive states poses a limitation to our findings. Nonetheless, we chose the PANAS for its validated reliability and its frequent application in studies exploring future imagination and positive affect (for recent meta-analyses see Carrillo et al., 2019; Heekerens & Eid, 2021; Schubert et al., 2020). Moreover, we have made efforts to robustly design our studies, including the assessment of positive affect pre- and post-manipulation and the incorporation of varied control conditions. However, we would advise future research to

include a more diverse array of affect measures to capture a broader emotional spectrum.

#### 5.3. Practical implications

Our research emphasizes the importance of self-concordance in visions for both individuals and organizations. We found that selfconcordant visions are especially associated with positive affect, commitment, and progress toward goals. Building on Sheldon et al. (2019), who proposed that individuals can select more self-concordant goals by tapping into their feelings and underlying motivations, we suggest that individuals can similarly choose more self-concordant visions. As proposed by Sheldon et al. (2019), one way to achieve this is by engaging in reflective exercises, such as mindfulness meditation (Brown & Ryan, 2003), to identify visions that align with personal values and motivations. Additionally, individuals could also utilize goal imagery techniques such as those proposed by Job & Brandstätter (2009) to 'get a taste of' potential visions and enhance their congruence with implicit motives (see also Schultheiss et al., 2011). By doing so, individuals can create visions that resonate deeply, ultimately leading to greater success and fulfillment.

On an organizational level, understanding the role of selfconcordance can help in creating more effective visions that resonate with employees. This understanding should extend to leadership roles, given that empowering and transformational leadership styles - which support employees by providing choices and rationale for decisions, championing workplace values, and addressing affective needs - have been shown to stimulate higher self-concordant goal striving in employees (Bono & Judge, 2003).

Moreover, by involving employees in the vision-crafting process, organizations can ensure that visions are better aligned with the deeper self of their members. For example, organizations could host vision workshops, where employees collaboratively discuss and shape the organization's future aspirations. This participatory approach not only strengthens the alignment between the organizational vision and employees' deeper selves but also enhances their commitment and motivation to pursue vision-derived goals. Additionally, organizations can utilize sub-organizational visions tailored to the specific needs and identities of different units (Carton, 2022). Unit heads could create these sub-visions while maintaining alignment with the organization's broader vision (Lewis & Clark, 2020). This strategy allows employees, especially those in peripheral units, to identify with aspirations that are both personally relevant and connected to the organization's overall direction.

#### 6. Conclusion

Our research highlights the pivotal role of self-concordance in moderating the effectiveness of visions, demonstrating that alignment between individual values and visions leads to increased positive affect, goal commitment, and goal progress. By bridging the gap between the vision and self-concordance literature, we offer a nuanced understanding of the motivational power of personal visions. Our findings pave the way for future research examining the interplay between individual and organizational factors in shaping vision effectiveness and the pursuit of vision-derived goals.

#### Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

#### 8. Availability of data

The datasets analyzed for the current study are available on this link https://osf.io/8zxhp/?view\_only=b504c8a7941f4f30bf558c74faa4

#### dfe4.

#### 9. Code availability

Results of hypotheses tests and data analyses for the current study are available on this https://osf.io/8zxhp/?view\_only=b504c8a7941f4 f30bf558c74faa4dfe4.

#### 10. Ethics declarations

All procedures performed in the two studies including human participants were in accordance with the institutional ethical standards and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments. Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the studies.

#### 11. Authors' contributions

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Material preparation, data collection and analysis were performed by Julian Voigt. The first draft of the manuscript was written by Julian Voigt and Kennon M. Sheldon and Hugo M. Kehr commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### CRediT authorship contribution statement

Julian Voigt: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Validation, Software, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization. Kennon M. Sheldon: Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Conceptualization. Hugo M. Kehr: Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Resources, Project administration.

#### Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary material to this article can be found online at htt ps://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2024.104471.

#### References

- Aarts, H., Custers, R., & Marien, H. (2008). Preparing and motivating behavior outside of awareness. Science, 319(5870), 16–39. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150432
- Aguinis, H., Beaty, J. C., Boik, R. J., & Pierce, C. A. (2005). Effect size and power in assessing moderating effects of categorical variables using multiple regression: a 30year review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(1), 94–107. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 0021-9010.90.1.94
- Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1991). Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions. Sage Publications Inc.
- Babin, L. A., & Burns, A. C. (1998). A modified scale for the measurement of communication-evoked mental imagery. *Psychology & Marketing*, 15(3), 261–278. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6793(199805)15:3<261::AID-MAR4>3.0.CO; 2-8
- Barrick, M. R., Mount, M. K., & Li, N. (2013). The theory of purposeful work behavior: the role of personality, higher-order goals, and job characteristics. Academy of Management Review, 38(1), 132–153. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2010.0479
- Baum, J. R., Locke, E. A., & Kirkpatrick, S. A. (1998). A longitudinal study of the relation of vision and vision communication to venture growth in entrepreneurial firms. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(1), 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.83.1.43
- Becker, T. E., Atinc, G., Breaugh, J. A., Carlson, K. D., Edwards, J. R., & Spector, P. E. (2016). Statistical control in correlational studies: 10 essential recommendations for

organizational researchers. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 37(2), 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2053

- Berson, Y., Halevy, N., Shamir, B., & Erez, M. (2015). Leading from different psychological distances: A construal-level perspective on vision communication, goal setting, and follower motivation. *Leadership Quarterly*, 26(2), 143–155. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.07.011
- Berson, Y., Waldman, D. A., & Pearce, C. L. (2016). Enhancing our understanding of vision in organizations: Toward an integration of leader and follower processes. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 6(2), 171–191. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2041386615583736
- Bono, J. E., & Judge, T. A. (2003). Self-concordance at work: toward understanding the motivational effects of transformational leaders. Academy of Management Journal, 46, 554–571. https://doi.org/10.2307/30040649
- Bowling, N. A., Huang, J. L., Bragg, C. B., Khazon, S., Liu, M., & Blackmore, C. E. (2016). Who cares and who is careless? Insufficient effort responding as a reflection of respondent personality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 111, 218–229. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000085
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84(4), 822–848. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.822
- Brunstein, J. C., Dangelmayer, G., & Schultheiss, O. C. (1996). Personal goals and social support in close relationships: effects on relationship mood and marital satisfaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71, 1006–1019. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-3514.71.5.1006
- Cameron, D. S., Bertenshaw, E. J., & Sheeran, P. (2018). Positive affect and physical activity: testing effects on goal setting, activation, prioritisation, and attainment. *Psychology and Health*, 33(2), 258–274. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 08870446.2017.1314477
- Cantor, N., Norem, J. K., Niedenthal, P. M., Langston, C. A., & Brower, A. M. (1987). Life tasks, self-concept ideals, and cognitive strategies in a life transition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53, 1178–1191. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.53.6.1178
- Carrillo, A., Rubio-Aparicio, M., Molinari, G., Enrique, Á., Sánchez-Meca, J., & Baños, R. M. (2019). Effects of the best possible self intervention: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 14(9), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0222386
- Carton, A. M. (2022). The science of leadership: a theoretical model and research agenda. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 9(1), 61–93. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012420-091227
- Carton, A. M., & Lucas, B. J. (2018). How can leaders overcome the blurry vision bias? Identifying an antidote to the paradox of vision communication. Academy of Management Journal, 61(6), 2106–2129. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.0375
- Carton, A. M., Murphy, C., & Clark, J. R. (2014). A (blurry) vision of the future: How leader rhetoric about ultimate goals influences performance. Academy of Management Journal, 57(6), 1544–1570. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2012.0101
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (1998). On the self-regulation of behavior. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139174794.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2000). On the structure of behavioral self-regulation. In M. Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation* (pp. 41–84). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012109890-2/50032-9.
- Chatzisarantis, N. L. D., Hagger, M. S., & Wang, J. C. K. (2010). Evaluating the effects of implementation intention and self-concordance on behaviour. *British Journal of Psychology*, 101(4), 705–718. https://doi.org/10.1348/000712609X481796
- Conger, J. A. (1999). Charismatic and transformational leadership in organizations: An insider's perspective on these developing streams of research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 10(2), 145–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00012-0
- Cooper, B., Éva, N., Zarea Fazlelahi, F., Newman, A., Lee, A., & Obschonka, M. (2020). Addressing common method variance and endogeneity in vocational behavior research: A review of the literature and suggestions for future research. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 121, Article 103472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ivb.2020.103472
- Custers, R., & Aarts, H. (2005). Positive affect as implicit motivator: On the nonconscious operation of behavioral goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(2), 129–142. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.2.129
- Eberly, M. B., Liu, D., Mitchell, T. R., & Lee, T. W. (2013). Attributions and emotions as mediators and/or moderators in the goal-striving process. In E. A. Locke, & G. P. Latham (Eds.), *New developments in goal setting and task performance* (pp. 35–50). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Elliot, A. J., & Sheldon, K. M. (1997). Avoidance achievement motivation: A personal goals analysis. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 73, 171–185. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-3514.73.1.171
- Emmons, R. A. (1986). Personal strivings: An approach to personality and subjective well-being. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 51, 1058–1068. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.5.1058
- Erez, A., & Isen, A. M. (2002). The influence of positive affect on the components of expectancy motivation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(6), 1055–1067. https://doi. org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.6.1055
- Ernst, A., Philippe, F. L., & D'Argembeau, A. (2018). Wanting or having to: The role of goal self-concordance in episodic future thinking. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 66, 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2018.10.004
- Fan, X.-L., van Knippenberg, D., Wang, X.-H., & (Frank).. (2022). Vision–value match: leader communication of visions, follower values, meaningfulness, and creativity. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 31(4), 550–566. https://doi. org/10.1080/1359432X.2021.2013202

Fiset, J., & Boies, K. (2019). Positively vivid visions: Making followers feel capable and happy. Human Relations, 72(10), 1651-1670. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 26718810105

Fishbach, A., & Dhar, R. (2005). Goals as excuses or guides: The liberating effect of perceived goal progress on choice. Journal of Consumer Research, 32(3), 370-377. https://doi.org/10.1086/497548

- Fishbach, A., & Finkelstein, S. R. (2011). How feedback influences persistence, disengagement, and change in goal pursuit. In H. Aarts, & A. Elliot (Eds.), Goaldirected behavior (pp. 203-230). Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/ 9780203869666.
- Fishbach, A., & Labroo, A. A. (2007). Be better or be merry: how mood affects selfcontrol. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 93(2), 158-173. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-3514.93.2.15
- Fishbach, A., Shah, J. Y., & Kruglanski, A. W. (2004). Emotional transfer in goal systems. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 40(6), 723-738. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jesp.2004.04.001
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2004). The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological Sciences, 359(1449), 1367-1378, https:// /doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2004.151

Fritz, C., Auten, D., & Caughlin, D. (2021). Reattachment to work in the morning and day-level leader outcomes. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 129, Article 103617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2021.103617

- Fujita, F., Diener, E., & Sandvik, E. (1991). Gender differences in negative affect and well-being: the case for emotional intensity. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 61(3), 427-434. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.61.3.427
- Funder, D. C., & Ozer, D. J. (2019). Evaluating effect size in psychological research: sense and nonsense. Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science, 2(2), 156-168. https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245919847202
- Gillet, N., Lafrenière, M.-A.-K., Vallerand, R. J., Huart, I., & Fouquereau, E. (2014). The effects of autonomous and controlled regulation of performance-approach goals on well-being: a process model. The British Journal of Social Psychology, 53(1), 154-174. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12018
- Götz, F. M., Gosling, S. D., & Rentfrow, P. J. (2022). Small effects: the indispensable foundation for a cumulative psychological science. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 17(1), 205-215. https://doi.org/10.1177/174569162098444
- Greguras, G. J., & Diefendorff, J. M. (2010). Why does proactive personality predict employee life satisfaction and work behaviors? A field investigation of the mediating role of the self-concordance model. Personnel Psychology, 63(3), 539-560. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2010.01180.x
- Griffin, P. W., Mroczek, D. K., & Spiro, A. (2006). Variability in affective change among aging men: Longitudinal findings from the VA Normative Aging Study. Journal of Research in Personality, 40(6), 942-965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2005.09.011
- Griffith, J., Connelly, S., Thiel, C., & Johnson, G. (2015). How outstanding leaders lead with affect: An examination of charismatic, ideological, and pragmatic leaders. Leadership Quarterly, 26(4), 502-517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j leagua.2015.03.004
- Guadagno, R. E., Rhoads, K. V. L., & Sagarin, B. J. (2011). Figural vividness and persuasion: Capturing the "elusive" vividness effect. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 37, 626–638, https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167211399585
- Halevy, N., Berson, Y., & Galinsky, A. D. (2011). The mainstream is not electable: When vision triumphs over representativeness in leader emergence and effectiveness. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 37(7), 893-904. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0146167211402836
- Hart, W., & Gable, P. A. (2013). Motivating goal pursuit: The role of affect motivational intensity and activated goals. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 49(5), 922–926. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2013.05.002 Hayes, A. F. (2022). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis
- (3rd ed.), Guilford Press
- Heekerens, J. B., & Eid, M. (2021). Inducing positive affect and positive future expectations using the best-possible-self intervention: A systematic review and metaanalysis. The Journal of Positive Psychology, 16(3), 322-347. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/17439760.2020.1716052
- Höchli, B., Brügger, A., & Messner, C. (2018). How focusing on superordinate goals motivates broad, long-term goal pursuit: A theoretical perspective. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, Article 1879. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01879
- Hope, N. H., Holding, A. C., Verner-Filion, J., Sheldon, K. M., & Koestner, R. (2019). The path from intrinsic aspirations to subjective well-being is mediated by changes in basic psychological need satisfaction and autonomous motivation: A large prospective test. Motivation and Emotion, 43(2), 232-241. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11031-018-9733-
- Hülsheger, U. R., Alberts, H. J. E. M., Feinholdt, A., & Lang, J. W. B. (2013). Benefits of mindfulness at work: the role of mindfulness in emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and job satisfaction. Journal of Applied Psychology, 98(2), 310-325. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031313
- Hülsheger, U. R., & Maier, G. W. (2010). The careless or the conscientious. Who profits most from goal progress? Journal of Vocational Behavior, 77(2), 246-254. https:// org/10.1016/j.jvb.2010.04.001
- Ilies, R., & Judge, T. A. (2005). Goal regulation across time: the effects of feedback and affect. Journal of Applied Psychology, 90(3), 453-467. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.3.453
- Jennings, R. E., Lanaj, K., Koopman, J., & McNamara, G. (2022). Reflecting on one's best possible self as a leader: Implications for professional employees at work. Personnel Psychology, 75(1), 69-90. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12447
- Job, V., & Brandstätter, V. (2009). Get a taste of your goals: Promoting motive-goal congruence through affect-focus goal fantasy. Journal of Personality, 77(5), 1527-1560. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00591.x

- Johnson, R. E., Rosen, C. C., (Daisy) Chang, C.-H., Djurdjevic, E., & Taing, M. U. (2012). Recommendations for improving the construct clarity of higher-order multidimensional constructs. Human Resource Management Review, 22(2), 62-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2011.11.006
- Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Erez, A., & Locke, E. A. (2005). Core self-evaluations and job and life satisfaction: the role of self-concordance and goal attainment. Journal of Applied Psychology, 90, 257-268. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.2.2 Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, fast and slow. Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

Kasser, T., & Ryan, R. M. (1993). A dark side of the American dream: Correlates of financial success as a central life aspiration. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 65, 410-422. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.65

- Kearney, E., Shemla, M., van Knippenberg, D., & Scholz, F. A. (2019). A paradox perspective on the interactive effects of visionary and empowering leadership. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 155, 20-30. https://doi.org/ 0.1016/j.obhdp.2019.01.001
- Kehr, H. M. (2004). Integrating implicit motives, explicit motives, and perceived abilities: the compensatory model of work motivation and volition. The Academy of Management Review, 29(3), 479-499. https://doi.org/10.2307/2015905
- Kehr, H. M., Voigt, J., & Rawolle, M. (2021). Implicit motives as the missing link between visionary leadership, approach and avoidance motivation, and vision pursuit. Organizational Psychology Review, 12(2), 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1177 20413866211061364
- Kelly, R. E., Mansell, W., & Wood, A. M. (2015). Goal conflict and well-being : A review and hierarchical model of goal conflict, ambivalence, self-discrepancy and selfconcordance. Personality and Individual Differences, 85, 212-229. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.paid.2015.05.011
- Klein, H. J., Cooper, J. T., Molloy, J. C., & Swanson, J. A. (2014). The assessment of commitment: Advantages of a unidimensional, target-free approach. Journal of Applied Psychology, 99(2), 222-238. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034751
- Koestner, R., Lekes, N., Powers, T. A., & Chicoine, E. (2002). Attaining personal goals: Self-concordance plus implementation intentions equals success. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 83, 231-244. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.1.231
- Koestner, R., Otis, N., Powers, T. A., Pelletier, L., & Gagnon, H. (2008). Autonomous motivation, controlled motivation, and goal progress. Journal of Personality, 76(5), 1201-1230. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2008.00519.x
- Latham, G. P., Erez, M., & Locke, E. A. (1988). Resolving scientific disputes by the joint design of crucial experiments by the antagonists: Application to the Erez-Latham dispute regarding participation in goal setting. Journal of Applied Psychology, 73(4), 753-772. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.73.4.753
- Levine, S. L., Holding, A. C., Milyavskaya, M., Powers, T. A., & Koestner, R. (2021). Collaborative autonomy: The dynamic relations between personal goal autonomy and perceived autonomy support in emerging adulthood results in positive affect and goal progress. Motivation Science, 7, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000209
- Lewis, A., & Clark, J. (2020). Dreams within a dream: Multiple visions and organizational structure. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 41(1), 50-76. https://doi.org/10.1002/ iob.2419
- Little, B. R. (1983), Personal Projects: A Rationale and Method for Investigation, Environment and Behavior, 15(3), 273-309. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0013916583153002
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation: A 35-year odyssey. American Psychologist, 57(9), 705-717. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.57.9.705
- Louro, M. J., Pieters, R., & Zeelenberg, M. (2007). Dynamics of multiple-goal pursuit. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 93(2), 174-193. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-3514.93.2.174
- Masuda, A. D., Kane, T. D., Shoptaugh, C. F., & Minor, K. A. (2010). The role of a vivid and challenging personal vision in goal hierarchies. Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied, 144(3), 221-242. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 30903
- McClelland, D. C., Koestner, R., & Weinberger, J. (1989). How do self-attributed and implicit motives differ? Psychological Review, 96(4), 690-702. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0033-295X.96.4.690
- Meade, A. W., & Craig, S. B. (2012). Identifying careless responses in survey data.
- Psychological Methods, 17, 437–455. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028085 Meevissen, Y. M. C., Peters, M. L., & Alberts, H. J. E. M. (2011). Become more optimistic by imagining a best possible self: Effects of a two week intervention. Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry, 42(3), 371-378. https://doi.org 10.1016/j.jbtep.2011.02.012
- Oettingen, G. (1996). Positive fantasy and motivation. In The psychology of action: Linking cognition and motivation to behavior (pp. 236-259). The Guilford Pres
- Oettingen, G., Mayer, D., Timur Sevincer, A., Stephens, E. J., Pak, H., & Hagenah, M. (2009). Mental contrasting and goal commitment: the mediating role of energization. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 35(5), 608-622. https://doi. org/10.1177/0146167208330856
- Oettingen, G., Pak, H., & Schnetter, K. (2001). Self-regulation of goal-setting: Turning free fantasies about the future into binding goals. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 80, 736-753. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-35 1 80 5 79
- Orehek, E., Bessarabova, E., Chen, X., & Kruglanski, A. W. (2011). Positive affect as informational feedback in goal pursuit. Motivation and Emotion, 35(1), 44-51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-010-9197-2
- Paternoster, R., Brame, R., Mazerolle, P., & Piquero, A. R. (1998). Using the correct statistical test for the equality of regression coefficients. Criminology, 36(4), 859-866. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-9125.1998.tb01268.:
- Peters, M. L., Flink, I. K., Boersma, K., & Linton, S. J. (2010). Manipulating optimism: Can imagining a best possible self be used to increase positive future expectancies? The

Journal of Positive Psychology, 5(3), 204–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17439761003790963

Pieters, R., Baumgartner, H., & Allen, D. (1995). A means-end chain approach to consumer goal structures. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 12(3), 227–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8116(95)00023-U

- Pinquart, M. (2001). Age differences in perceived positive affect, negative affect, and affect balance in middle and old age. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 2, 375–405. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013938001116
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63, 539–569. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100452
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments & Computers*, 36(4), 717–731. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03206553
- Preacher, K. J., Rucker, D. D., & Hayes, A. F. (2007). Addressing moderated mediation hypotheses: theory, methods, and prescriptions. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 42 (1), 185–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273170701341316
- Prentice, D. A., & Miller, D. T. (1992). When small effects are impressive. *Psychological Bulletin*, 112(1), 160–164. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.160
- Rawolle, M., Schultheiss, O. C., Strasser, A., & Kehr, H. M. (2017). The motivating power of visionary images: effects on motivation, affect, and behavior. *Journal of Personality*, 85(6), 769–781. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12285
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *The American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68
- Schoemann, A. M., Boulton, A. J., & Short, S. D. (2017). Determining power and sample size for simple and complex mediation models. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 8(4), 379–386. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550617715068
- Scholten, H., Scheres, A., de Water, E., Graf, U., Granic, I., & Luijten, M. (2019). Behavioral trainings and manipulations to reduce delay discounting: A systematic review. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 26(6), 1803–1849. https://doi.org/10.3758/ s13423-019-01629-2
- Schubert, T., Eloo, R., Scharfen, J., & Morina, N. (2020). How imagining personal future scenarios influences affect: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 75, Article 101811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101811
- Schultheiss, O. C., & Brunstein, J. C. (1999). Goal imagery: Bridging the gap between implicit motives and explicit goals. *Journal of Personality*, 67(1), 1–38. https://doi. org/10.1111/1467-6494.00046
- Schultheiss, O. C., Patalakh, M., Rawolle, M., Liening, S., & MacInnes, J. J. (2011). Referential competence is associated with motivational congruence. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 45(1), 59–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2010.11.014
- Seo, M.-G., & Ilies, R. (2009). The role of self-efficacy, goal, and affect in dynamic motivational self-regulation. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 109, 120–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2009.03.001
- Sezer, B., Riddell, H., Gucciardi, F., Sheldon, K., Sedikides, C., Vasconcellos, D., Jackson, B., Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C., & Ntoumanis, N. (2023). Goal motives, goal-regulatory processes, psychological needs, and well-being: a systematic review and meta-analysis. OSF Preprints. https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/v2g8a.
- Shamir, B., House, R. J., & Arthur, M. B. (1993). The motivational effects of charismatic leadership: a self-concept based theory. Organization Science, 4(4), 577–594. https:// doi.org/10.1287/orsc.4.4.577
- Sheldon, K. M. (2014). Becoming oneself: the central role of self-concordant goal selection. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 18(4), 349–365. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1088868314538549
- Sheldon, K. M., & Elliot, A. J. (1998). Not all personal goals are personal: Comparing autonomous and controlled reasons for goals as predictors of effort and attainment. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 24(5), 546–557. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0146167298245010
- Sheldon, K. M., & Elliot, A. J. (1999). Goal striving, need satisfaction, and longitudinal well-being: The self-concordance model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76, 482–497. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.3.482
- Sheldon, K. M., & Goffredi, R. (2023). Using free will wisely: the self-concordance model. In R. M. Ryan (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of self-determination theory*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780197600047.001.0001.
- Sheldon, K. M., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2006). How to increase and sustain positive emotion: The effects of expressing gratitude and visualizing best possible selves. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 1(2), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760500510676

- Sheldon, K. M., Prentice, M., Halusic, M., & Schüler, J. (2015). Matches between assigned goal-types and both implicit and explicit motive dispositions predict goal selfconcordance. *Motivation and Emotion*, 39(3), 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11031-014-9468-4
- Sheldon, K. M., Prentice, M., & Osin, E. (2019). Rightly crossing the Rubicon: Evaluating goal self-concordance prior to selection helps people choose more intrinsic goals. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 79, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jrp.2019.03.001
- Sheldon, K. M., Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L., & Kasser, T. (2004). The independent effects of goal contents and motives on well-being: it's both what you pursue and why you pursue it. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30(4), 475–486. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0146167203261883
- Sheldon, K. M., & Schüler, J. (2011). Wanting, having, and needing: integrating motive disposition theory and self-determination theory. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(5), 1106–1123. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024952
- Siemsen, E., Roth, A., & Oliveira, P. (2009). Common method bias in regression models with linear, quadratic, and interaction effects. *Organizational Research Methods*, 13 (3), 456–476. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428109351241
- Smyth, A. P. J., Werner, K. M., Milyavskaya, M., Holding, A., & Koestner, R. (2020). Do mindful people set better goals? Investigating the relation between trait mindfulness, self-concordance, and goal progress. *Journal of Research in Personality, 88*, Article 104015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2020.104015
- Stam, D. A., Lord, R. G., van Knippenberg, D., & Wisse, B. (2014). An image of who we might become: Vision communication, possible selves, and vision pursuit. *Organization Science*, 25(4), 1172–1194. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2013.0891
- Stam, D. A., van Knippenberg, D., & Wisse, B. (2010). Focusing on followers: The role of regulatory focus and possible selves in visionary leadership. *Leadership Quarterly*, 21 (3), 457–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.03.009
- Thürmer, J. L., Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (2020). On the mechanics of goal striving: experimental evidence of coasting and shifting. *Motivation Science*, 6(3), 266–274. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000157
- Unsworth, K. L., & Mcneill, I. M. (2016). Increasing pro-environmental behaviors by increasing self-concordance: testing an intervention. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(1), 88–103. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000155
- van Breukelen, G. J. P. (2013). ANCOVA versus CHANGE from baseline in nonrandomized studies: the difference. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 48(6), 895–922. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273171.2013.831743
- van Dierendonck, D. (2015). The influence of planning, support and self-concordance on goal progress and job satisfaction. *Evidence-Based HRM*, 3(3), 206–221. https://doi. org/10.1108/EBHRM-04-2014-0013
- van Knippenberg, D., & Sitkin, S. B. (2013). A critical assessment of charismatic—transformational leadership research: Back to the drawing board? *The Academy of Management Annals*, 7(1), 1–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19416520.2013.759433
- Vanderstukken, A., Schreurs, B., Germeys, F., Van den Broeck, A., & Proost, K. (2019). Should supervisors communicate goals or visions? The moderating role of subordinates' psychological distance. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 49(11), 671–683. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12626
- Venus, M., Stam, D., & Van Knippenberg, D. (2019). Visions of change as visions of continuity. Academy of Management Journal, 62(3), 667–690. https://doi.org/ 10.5465/amj.2015.1196
- Ward, M. K., & Meade, A. W. (2022). Dealing with careless responding in survey data: prevention, identification, and recommended best practices. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 74(1), 577–596. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-040422-045007
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(6), 1063–1070. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Werner, K. M., Milyavskaya, M., Foxen-Craft, E., & Koestner, R. (2016). Some goals just feel easier: self-concordance leads to goal progress through subjective ease, not effort. Personality and Individual Differences, 96, 237–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. paid.2016.03.002
- Yeager, D. S., Dahl, R. E., & Dweck, C. S. (2018). Why interventions to influence adolescent behavior often fail but could succeed. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 13(1), 101–122. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617722620

# 4 How Future Work Self Salience Shapes the Effects of Interacting with Artificial Intelligence

This chapter is based on the following manuscript, which is currently under review:

Voigt, J. & Strauss, K. (Revise and resubmit). How Future Work Self Salience Shapes the Effects of Interacting with Artificial Intelligence. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*.

*Note:* An earlier version of the manuscript presented in this chapter was presented at the Academy of Management Careers Conference (CarCon) 2024 in Amsterdam.

## Abstract

The rapid rise of artificial intelligence (AI) is transforming the world of work, leaving individuals wondering what AI means for the future of their career. The current research investigates the moderating role of future work self salience (FWSS) on the effect of interacting with AI on perceived control over one's future work self (FWSC) and proactive career behavior. In a first longitudinal experiment with full-time employees in the UK (N = 174), participants interacting with AI to solve a task (compared to a control group) experienced increased perceived control over their future work self when FWSS was high, in contrast to those with low FWSS. We replicated this pattern in a second longitudinal study with German business students (N = 208). Building on these findings, a third longitudinal experiment with German full-time employees (N = 155) extended the model by demonstrating a moderated mediation: for individuals with high FWSS, AI interaction increased perceived control over the future work self and thus promoted proactive career behavior. In contrast, perceived control and proactive career behavior decreased for those with low FWSS. This research demonstrates the potential impact of AI interactions on work-related outcomes, offering critical insights for both theory and practice.

Keywords: Artificial intelligence, future work selves, proactive career behavior

## How Future Work Self Salience Shapes the Effects of Interacting with Artificial Intelligence

## 1. Introduction

Recent years have witnessed remarkable advancements in the realm of artificial intelligence (AI), a technology touted to bear significant and perhaps "jarring effects on work and jobs" (Phan et al., 2017, p. 253). The emergence of conversational AI systems like OpenAI's ChatGPT, Google's Bard, and Microsoft's Bing has made this revolution increasingly noticeable, prompting a complex discourse on the impact of AI on our work life and career (Kessler, 2023). Early reports on how AI will affect the world of work both praise the extraordinary potential of AI to boost the global economy (Chui et al., 2023) while also cautioning that AI could affect an estimated 80% of workers and potentially displace a quarter of the workforce (Eloundou et al., 2023). The impact of AI on individuals' careers is thus likely to be significant (Donald et al., 2024). While AI is likely to create new roles and even new industries, it will also fundamentally change or even replace existing jobs, requiring individuals to develop new skills and making at least some of their extant competencies redundant (Selenko et al., 2022). The resulting ongoing need to continually update skills and knowledge means that individuals' proactive efforts to develop their skills and shape their career is likely to play an increasingly significant role (Hirschi, 2018; Lent et al., 2022).

However, previous research suggests that individual perceptions of AI vary widely (Cave & Dihal, 2019), particularly with regard to its integration into the workplace (Bankins et al., 2023; Selenko et al., 2022). Thus, how individuals react to the impact of AI depends not only on "the type of technology implemented," but also on "individual differences among workers" (Bankins et al., 2023, p. 11). While some initial studies have begun to explore how individual-level factors influence responses to AI, research has primarily focused on how personality influences attitudes towards AI (Kaya et al., 2024; Stein et al., 2024) and on how individuals'

feel their current job or employment prospects are affected by AI (Bhargava et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2024). How individuals respond to interactions with AI is however profoundly affected by their perceptions of what these experiences might mean for their future (Gioia et al., 1994; Gioia & Thomas, 1996). Yet, how individuals' more future-focused career-related cognitions shape interactions with AI and thus their career-related behaviors remains largely unknown.

To address this issue, we draw on the proactive motivation model (S. K. Parker et al., 2010) as well as on research on future work selves, i.e., individuals' cognitive representations of their future in relation to work (Strauss et al., 2012). The proactive motivation model suggests that the interplay between "reason to" as well as "can do" factors shapes individuals' motivation for proactive behavior. Drawing on this overarching theoretical framework, we propose that interacting with artificial intelligence and witnessing its capabilities will affect individuals' sense of control over their future work self (a "can do" factor), depending on the initial salience of their future work self (a "reason to" factor). Future work self salience (FWSS) reflects how "clear and easy to imagine" the future work self is for the individual (Strauss et al., 2012, p. 581). We argue that FWSS will buffer the impact of AI on individuals' sense of control over their future: on the one hand, having a clear image of their future work self will allow individuals to envision the benefits of AI for their future career, leaving them feeling more in control of their desired future and thus promoting their proactive career behavior. On the other hand, those with low levels of FWSS will experience a lack of control over their future when they interact with AI, making it less likely for them to engage in proactive career behavior. Figure 1 shows our theoretical model.

Our study contributes to the literature in the following ways. First, we provide insights into the role of AI for individuals' future-oriented career-related cognition and behavior. Previous studies have predominantly adopted a "present" perspective when investigating employees' views of AI (e.g., Bochniarz et al., 2022; Kong et al., 2023; Langer et al., 2023), for example,

examining their beliefs about the impact of AI on their current employability and job security in their existing job (Bhargava et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2024). However, the notion of prospective sensemaking (Gioia et al., 1994; Gioia & Thomas, 1996) suggests that responses to current experiences, such as AI interactions, are also strongly shaped by individuals' conceptions of what this might mean for them in the future. By emphasizing how future selves act as a "homing beacon," (Ashforth & Schinoff, 2016, p. 115), our study demonstrates that individuals interpret AI interactions not only in terms of immediate challenges and opportunities, but also in terms of how these interactions align with and inform their future career. We thus add a novel perspective to emerging research (Tang et al., 2023) that emphasizes that AI interactions have the potential to lead to both positive and negative outcomes (i.e., while some individuals may feel more control over their future when interacting with an AI, others may experience the opposite). As a result, our research provides a more comprehensive view of how work-related interactions with AI will impact employees.

Second, we expand theory on future work selves by introducing perceived control over the future work self as an important aspect of career-related future-oriented cognition. To date, research on future work selves has predominantly focused on their salience, and numerous studies have shown that FWSS promotes individuals' efforts to proactively shape their careers (Guan et al., 2017; Strauss et al., 2012; Taber & Blankemeyer, 2015). We introduce FWSC, individuals' perceived control over their future work self, as an important yet previously overlooked aspect of future work selves, reflecting "can do" motivation. Future work selves are a specific type of possible self (Strauss et al., 2012), and in the wider literature on possible selves, the amount of control an individual feels they have over their possible self has long been considered an important factor that determines individuals' efforts to bring about this possible self. For example, Oyserman and James (2009) highlight that the perceived controllability of a possible self determines the effort individuals invest in realizing it. Yet, in relation to future work selves, individuals' sense that the attainment of their future work self is in their control has not been considered.

In addition, we extend research on FWSS by investigating it as a boundary condition. Studies to date have predominantly focused on the main effects of FWSS on career-related outcomes. However, some researchers have instead considered how FWSS can shape employees' reactions to their environment. For example, Yu et al. (2016) found that employees high in FWSS reported lower levels of affective commitment when their supervisor was abusive. Xu et al. (2021) found that for healthcare workers high in FWSS, supervisor career support had a less pronounced effect on career commitment. Lin et al. (2024) found that employees high in FWSS reported more proactive career behavior when their self-perceived employability was low. We contribute to this nascent stream of research, which shows that FWSS can shape individuals' reactions to averse (e.g., abusive supervision or reduced employability), positive (e.g., supervisor support), or ambiguous (e.g., AI) contexts in organizations. This is of particular importance as AI systems are increasingly integrated into human workplaces (Duan et al., 2019; Jarrahi, 2018) in what we may think of as a new industrial revolution (Pereira et al., 2023). Thus, our results offer valuable insights for leaders aiming to comprehend the influence of AI integrations on employees' career-related cognitions and behaviors (Budhwar et al., 2023).

## **1.1. Literature Review and Hypotheses**

## 1.1.1. AI and individuals' careers

AI broadly refers to a wide range of computerized systems that "learn from experience, adjust to new inputs, and perform human-like tasks" (Duan et al., 2019, p. 63). As such, AI is an umbrella term that encompasses a range of technologies and tools (e.g., machine learning, deep learning, and natural language processing) enabling task automation, large-scale data analysis, predictive modeling, and the emulation of human decision-making (H. Lu et al., 2018; von Krogh, 2018). Researchers propose that AI has the potential to augment human creativity (Berg et al., 2023; Epstein et al., 2023), boost productivity (Agrawal et al., 2023), and improve overall performance (Brynjolfsson et al., 2023). Consequently, integrating AI into the workplace is poised to profoundly affect the nature and trajectory of individuals' careers (Gati & Kulcsár, 2021; Kong et al., 2023; S. K. Parker & Grote, 2022). As described by Donald et al. (2024, p. 3), AI is a "disruptive force with a high potential to change the shape of the labor market and career ecosystem," posing both a threat and "new opportunities to careers in all industrial sectors".

Yet, the relationship between AI and individuals' perception of its influence on their careers is complex. Importantly, AI systems have the capacity to both automate and augment tasks – the former suggesting machine replacement of human labor, the latter indicating collaborative efforts between humans and machines (Raisch & Krakowski, 2021). While the "type of technology implemented" is likely to influence the automating vs. augmenting effect of the AI on labor, individual reactions to the impact of AI are "multifaceted" and also depend "on individual differences among workers" (Bankins et al., 2023, p. 11; see also Maragno et al., 2023). Thus, individuals differ in how they feel about the rise of AI (Kaya et al., 2024; Stein et al., 2024), and thus how they react to it.

For some individuals, encountering AI's capabilities may be associated with uncertainty about their future career, triggering feelings of a loss of control over their aspired-to future and negatively impacting their efforts to prepare for the future. In contrast, other individuals may interpret the same interaction as increasing their level of control over their professional future, viewing AI as an instrumental tool that empowers them to actively shape their career. By adopting a future-oriented perspective, we extend the current perspectives on individuals' present views toward AI and its impact on careers. Specifically, we examine how individuals' interactions with AI, influenced by their perceptions of what it might mean for them in the future, may alter their sense of control over their future career. Below, we describe how encountering AI and its capabilities will interact with individuals' future work selves, specifically, how future work selves are impacted by AI and how they, in turn, shape individuals' reactions to it.

[Insert Figure 1 about here]

## 1.1.2. Future work selves as a lens for understanding reactions to AI

The rise of AI may affect individuals' career-related cognition and behavior in a multitude of ways; for example, it may trigger concerns about employability (Yam et al., 2022) and uncertainty about the future job market (Frank et al., 2019). We expand current work on individuals' reactions to AI by adopting a future-oriented perspective. In particular, we draw on the literature on prospective sensemaking (Gioia et al., 1994; Gioia & Thomas, 1996), which suggests that reactions to current experiences, such as interactions with AI, are also strongly shaped by individuals' conceptions of what this might mean for them in the future. Building on this framework, we suggest that the impact of AI on future-oriented career-related cognitions and behaviors can be best understood through the lens of future work selves. Future work selves are individuals' representations of who they want to become in the future, reflecting their hopes and aspirations regarding work (Strauss et al., 2012). They are a type of possible self (Markus & Nurius, 1986), reflecting individuals' cognitive manifestation of who they want to become at work. Future work selves are related to other concepts in the career literature such as occupational identity, "the clear perception of occupational interests, abilities, goals, and values" (Hirschi, 2012, p. 480), career aspirations, the desire to advance in one's chosen career field (O'Brien, 1996), or career commitment, "the development of personal goals, the attachment to,

identification with, and involvement in those goals" (Colarelli & Bishop, 1990, p. 159). Yet, future work selves are a distinct concept: they form part of the self-concept and are thus explicitly identity-oriented. As such, they "function as the personalized carriers (representations) of general aspirations, motives, and threats" (Markus & Nurius, 1986, p. 955). A focus on future work selves thus allows us to investigate the impact of AI on career-related threats and aspirations as they are embedded in the self. Future work selves make the future of work "personal" and relevant to individuals' identity, in contrast to more general beliefs such as uncertainty about the future labor market (e.g., "Will my planned occupation [e.g., accountant] disappear due to technological changes?"; (Gati & Kulcsár, 2021, p. 9) or perceived employability (e.g., will I be able to keep my job or get one I want; Rothwell & Arnold, 2007).

We propose that experiencing the powerful capabilities of an AI will affect the amount of control individuals feel they have over the attainment of their future work self. Norman and Aaron (2003) defined perceived control over a possible self as the extent to which its attainment is perceived as under one's control and showed its importance for individuals' efforts to achieve the respective possible self. Future work self control (FWSC) thus reflects individuals' control appraisal in relation to their future self, i.e., their perceived control over their future in relation to work considering their available resources (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984).

## 1.1.3. The moderating effect of future work self salience

A key feature that determines the motivational impact of a future work self is its salience: The degree to which the future work self is "clear and easy to imagine" (Strauss et al., 2012, p. 581). Strauss et al. (2012) suggest that the motivational potency of a salient future work self can be explained through episodic prospection, i.e., the mental simulation of the future (Bulley et al., 2016; Suddendorf & Moore, 2011). This mental simulation of possible future scenarios allows for the organization of current actions in anticipation of future events, consistent with the principle that imagining future states optimizes goal-directed cognition and behavior (Seligman et al., 2013). Thus, by mentally simulating their future work selves, individuals can identify potential discrepancies between their current abilities and future demands (Strauss et al., 2012), which in turn motivates action to bridge these discrepancies (Schultz & Hernes, 2013).

According to Strauss et al. (2012), this mental simulation of the future allows individuals to identify obstacles as well as opportunities in relation to their future self. In support of this, Taylor et al. (1998) demonstrated that mentally simulating possible future events facilitates planning and problem solving (for a recent meta-analysis see Cole et al., 2021). Furthermore, simulating stressful events has been shown to increase the propensity to engage in problemsolving activities (Jing et al., 2016; Rivkin & Taylor, 1999). During periods of uncertainty, individuals with salient hopeful possible selves experience greater psychological adjustment and exhibit lower levels of anxiety and depression (Sweeny & Dunlop, 2020), highlighting the stabilizing effects of a well-defined future work self. Social cognitive theory also posits that mental simulation provides a vicarious experience that increases confidence in achieving desired outcomes (Bandura, 1989). Consequently, we argue that individuals with a salient future work self are able to mentally travel into the future and imagine possible uses of AI in their future working lives. Rather than seeing AI as a threat to their future work self, FWSS allows them to imagine its possible benefits, as well as ways around its potential negative impact, leaving individuals feeling more in control of their future work self. In contrast, when FWSS is low, individuals are likely to struggle to envision their future in relation to work (Strauss et al., 2012), providing them with limited opportunities to imagine possible advantages of AI for their future work. Instead, AI may seem as limiting their future opportunities, resulting in a perceived lack of control over the future self. Thus, we propose:

Hypothesis 1. FWSS moderates the relationship between interaction with an AI (compared to a control group) and FWSC, such that the relationship is positive when individuals' FWSS is high and negative when individuals' FWSS is low.

## 1.1.4. Effects on proactive career behavior

Future work selves have important self-regulatory functions in the context of careers (Fang & Saks, 2022) and motivate individuals' efforts to bring about their desired future in relation to work through proactive career behavior (Han & Hwang, 2022; Strauss et al., 2012; Taber & Blankemeyer, 2015). As S. K. Parker et al. (2010) argued, a salient future work self can provide "reason to" motivation for proactive career behavior. Proactive career behavior is defined as the self-initiated actions individuals undertake to shape their future career, such as setting goals, acquiring skills, and building professional relationships (Claes & Ruiz-Quintanilla, 1998; Strauss et al., 2012). Proactive career behavior has been proposed to comprise four dimensions: career planning, career consultation, skill development, and networking (Claes & Ruiz-Quintanilla, 1998; Strauss et al., 2012). Hence, proactive career behavior is an umbrella term that includes various career-related activities and behaviors, including career self-management, a specific form of proactive career behavior (Hirschi & Koen, 2021).

Prior research that has linked future work selves to proactive career behavior has focused on FWSS, drawing on Strauss et al. (2012), essentially concentrating on the "reason to" motivational aspect of future work selves. However, individuals' "can do" motivation in relation to their future work self, their perceived control, has received little attention. In the wider literature on possible selves, however, Norman and Aaron have shown that "the extent to which the attainment [of a possible self] is perceived as under one's control" (p. 500) predicts individuals' motivation to attain it. In their review of the possible selves literature, Oyserman and James (2009) emphasize that the perceived controllability of a possible self determines the effort individuals invest in bringing it about. This is because control- or expectancy beliefs, individuals' expectations that their efforts can produce the desired outcome, determine their choices and behavior (Bandura, 1997; Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). In further support for this notion, Koen and Parker (2020) found, in a sample of workers in unstable jobs, a negative relationship between workers' perceived control (at work) and their proactive career behaviors. There is thus theoretical and empirical support for the argument that perceived control over the future self, in conjunction with FWSS, is likely to promote individuals' efforts to shape their career and that the interplay between FWSC and FWSS determines the impact of AI on proactive career behavior. In sum, we focus on both can-do and reason-to motivational aspects of future work selves and propose:

Hypothesis 2: Individuals' FWSS moderates the indirect relationship between interaction with an AI (compared to a control group) and proactive career behavior through FWSC, such that the indirect effect is positive when individuals' FWSS is high and negative when individuals' FWSS is low.

## 2. Overview of studies

We tested our hypotheses in three longitudinal online experiments in which participants interacted with the generative AI ChatGPT. While a myriad of AI technologies have already been incorporated into workplaces (von Krogh, 2018), the spotlight has recently shifted to generative AI systems (i.e., AI systems that "leverage deep learning models to generate human-like content (e.g., images, words) in response to complex and varied prompts (e.g., languages, instructions, questions", Lim et al., 2023, p. 2). Because of their potential to impact a wide variety of professions that have traditionally been seen as relatively unaffected by automation (Dwivedi et al., 2023), generative AI systems are a pertinent context for the study of the impact of AI on individuals' career-oriented cognition and behavior. Addressing recent calls to enhance the realism of AI-related studies (Tang et al., 2023), our research involved genuine interactions with ChatGPT rather than merely asking individuals to imagine interacting with an AI. By developing a cooperation task with ChatGPT, we aimed to capture the nuances of real work experiences with AI (Tang et al., 2023). In Study 1, we investigated the moderating effect of FWSS on the relationship between experimental condition (interacting with an AI vs. control group) and FWSC at Time 1 and one week later at Time 2 in a sample of working adults in the UK who reported never having interacted with ChatGPT before. In Study 2, we used the same experimental design in a sample of business students in Germany. In Study 3, we used this experimental design to investigate the full moderated mediation model in a sample of full-time employees in Germany. The data of all studies, analyses code, and study materials are available at the Open Science Framework:

https://osf.io/wpdy5/?view only=316f232b7f4f49ea9e18fae7b58b9bc6.

## 3. Study 1

## 3.1. Method

## 3.1.1. Sample and procedure

The study was approved by the research ethics committee of the second author's institution ("ChatGPT and future work selves," Ref: 2023-05). We recruited full-time employees in the UK via Prolific Academic (Palan & Schitter, 2018). We first invited people to participate in a pre-screening survey using demographic filters that met the following criteria: Individuals who were employed full-time in the UK, fluent in English, and with a minimum of 90% approval rating on the platform. Approximately 1,000 pre-screening surveys were sent out (with a payment of £0.10, US\$0.13). Participants answered the question if they had ever used the chatbot

*ChatGPT*<sup>2</sup>. 402 participants (40%) reported having used ChatGPT, and 608 participants (60%) reported not having used ChatGPT. Of the latter, we randomly selected 226 participants and invited them to participate in the experiment, which consisted of two surveys one week apart. Two hundred nineteen participants completed the Time 1 survey, and 179 completed the Time 2 survey. Participants received financial compensation of £4.75 (US\$6.00) for the Time 1 survey participation and £0.75 (US\$0.95) for the Time 2 survey.

Adhering to state-of-the-art guidelines (Ward & Meade, 2022; Zickar & Keith, 2023), we checked for careless responses using instructed response items (Meade & Craig, 2012) and for multivariate outliers applying Mahalanobis distance (cutoff p-value of 0.001, Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Five participants who failed more than one attention check were excluded, while no exclusions were made based on Mahalanobis distance. Therefore, our final sample consisted of 174 participants (36.8% identified as women, the remaining participants identified as men; age: M = 42.16 years, SD = 9.94).

Utilizing Strauss et al.'s (2012) procedure, participants were directed to mentally project themselves into the future and imagine the future work self they hoped to achieve. Following this, participants rated the salience of their future work self. Then, participants worked on a structured in-tray task (adapted by Chernikova et al., 2016; S. L. Parker et al., 2009, 2013). They were prompted to take on the role of Interim Retail Manager Alex Jennings at a struggling fictional Borough Bank branch, tasked with improving the branch's performance. The structured in-tray task consisted of three stages, each corresponding to a specific document: sales figures, survey results, and a customer complaint letter. For each document, participants were required to (1) draft a list of actions based on their analysis of the document's key issues, (2) assign priority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> We recruited participants who had never used ChatGPT to capture their initial reactions and interactions. This approach provided a unique opportunity to observe unbiased first impressions and the immediate impact of interacting with AI-powered conversational agents.

to these actions, and (3) suggest individuals to execute these actions.

All participants initially worked independently on the first document, the sales figures. Participants wrote their answers to the three tasks in three free-text fields. After submitting their responses to the first document, participants were randomly allocated to one of two conditions.

In the *AI-assisted condition*, participants were informed that an AI, ChatGPT, would support them with their upcoming tasks. Specifically, a separate browser window opened automatically for these participants, leading to the ChatGPT website.

As participants started working on the second document, they were prompted to input preconstructed instructions into ChatGPT, entailing necessary background details about Alex Jennings, his role, and the organizational structure. Subsequently, they entered pre-formulated instructions (prompts)<sup>3</sup> into ChatGPT for each task and recorded ChatGPT's responses to each task in three free-text fields. After submitting their responses, they moved on to the third document. Participants were again reminded that they would maintain their roles as Alex Jennings and were free to continue utilizing ChatGPT. They were provided with sample instructions for this interaction but encouraged to write their own prompts.

In the *control condition*, participants independently completed the same tasks for the second and third documents without interacting with ChatGPT.

Following this experimental manipulation, participants were reminded of their previously imagined future work self and rated how much control they believed to have over attaining this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> We used pre-written prompts for the first task with ChatGPT for two main reasons: First, participants in Study 1 were completely unfamiliar with the technology. Given that inexperienced users often struggle to effectively use large language models due to lack of familiarity and training (Bašić et al., 2023), which typically leads to a trial-and-error process of developing prompts (Zamfirescu-Pereira et al., 2023), this approach was intended to simplify the initial interaction with the AI. Second, this structured process gave us more control over what happened between the participants and the AI, making it more likely that all participants would have a relatively similar experience.

future work self, using the measure by Norman and Aron (2003).

One week later, participants were invited to the second part of the study. Participants again reported their perceived control over their future work self and how much they had used ChatGPT during the past week. Figure 2 shows the study design.

[Insert Figure 2 about here]

## 3.1.2. Measures

**Future Work Self Salience (Pre-test).** Participants' FWSS was assessed prior to the experiment with three items ( $\alpha = .93$ ) by Strauss et al. (2012) (e.g., "I am very clear about who and what I want to become in my future work."; 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly disagree).

Perceived Control over the Future Work Self (Post-test Time 1 and 2). Participants responded to six items ( $\alpha = .88$  and .88 for T1 and T2, respectively) developed by Norman and Aron (2003) to assess their perceived control over their future work self (e.g., "How much control do you believe you have over attaining this particular hoped-for future self?"; 1 = none at all; 7 = a great deal).

Perceived control over the future work self is conceptually distinct, yet related to, concepts such as locus of control (Lefcourt, 1976; Rotter, 1966), career confidence (Hirschi et al., 2017), and career-related self-efficacy (Kossek et al., 1998). In order to establish its divergent and convergent validity in relation to related concepts, we conducted a separate validation study with 257 full-time employees in the UK recruited via Prolific (see Online Supplemental Material for a detailed description of Method and Results). We measured FWSC and FWSS as in Study 1, as well as career self-efficacy (10 items; Kossek et al., 1998), career-related confidence (4 items; Hirschi et al., 2017), job-related control appraisal (4 items; S. K. Parker et al., 2006), participants' perceived control over their life and future (8 items; Infurna et al., 2011), the control dimension of career adaptability (6 items; Savickas & Porfeli, 2012), and internal and external locus of control (4 items; Nießen et al., 2022).

Both the average variance extracted (AVE) and composite reliability (CR) for FWSC surpassed the recommended thresholds of 0.50 (Hair et al., 2017) and 0.70 (Hair et al., 2014), respectively (see Table S1 in the Online Supplemental Material). In order to determine discriminant validity, we considered three metrics. First, the heterotrait-monotrait (HTMT) values were consistent with the conservative 0.85 cutoff proposed by Henseler et al. (2015) (see Table S2 in the Online Supplemental Material). Second, adopting the CI<sub>CFA</sub> (sys) approach suggested by Rönkkö and Cho (2022), we inspected the 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for correlations between the FWSC measure and all related constructs. If either the upper or the lower limit of the CI surpasses 0.90, this is considered to indicate a potential issue in validity. No correlation between FWSC and associated constructs crossed this benchmark. Lastly, a CFA model distinguishing between the 9 different concepts significantly outperformed all alternative models (see Table S3 in the Online Supplemental Material). In conclusion, the results of the validation study provide robust support for both the convergent and discriminant validity of FWSC.

**Control Variables.** We controlled for participants' age, gender, and education, as prior research has shown that these variables are related to an individual's perception of control over future events (Darvill & Johnson, 1991; Elst et al., 2011; Infurna et al., 2016; Specht et al., 2013). Moreover, we considered self-reported knowledge about AI technology as a possible confounding variable, given that participants who are more knowledgeable about AI technology may better understand how to utilize AI in their work and thus perceive a higher degree of control over their future work self (Said et al., 2023). We used an item developed by Gaube et al. (2021)
("How would you consider your general knowledge of artificial intelligence (AI)?"; 1 = I have no knowledge; 2 = Novice: I have heard of AI; 3 = Intermediate: I have read media articles or have listened to news about AI technologies; 4 = Advanced: I have used AI-based tools and have some understanding of how they work; 5 = Expert: For example, I am an academic or industry researcher in AI). Lastly, at T2, we assessed ChatGPT usage in the past week ("Since the last survey, how much time did you spend using ChatGPT?"; 1 = none at all, 5 = a great deal). We assumed that it was possible that participants in the experimental group who interacted with ChatGPT in our study and had not previously used it would continue using it, which could alter their perception of the influence of AI on their work-life (Gansser & Reich, 2021; Kim & Malhotra, 2005; Lu et al., 2019). The results retain the same pattern when these covariates are not included (Bernerth & Aguinis, 2016).

### 3.2. Results

Descriptive statistics and correlations of study variables can be found in Table 1. We followed Preacher et al. (2007) and Hayes's (2022) recommendations to examine our first hypothesis and used the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 1, Hayes, 2022). FWSS was mean-centered before creating its interaction term.

First, we examined Hypothesis 1, which predicted that FWSS would moderate the relationship between the experimental condition (coded as 1 = interacting with an AI, 0 = control group) and FWSC, such that the relationship is positive when individuals' FWSS is high and negative when individuals' FWSS is low. As shown in Table 4 (Study 1), we regressed FWSC at T1 (Model 1) and at T2 (Model 2) on the experimental condition, FWSS, and the interaction term between experimental condition and FWSS.

The main effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self at T1 was not significant ( $\beta = 0.09$ , p = .43; Table 4, Study 1, Model 1). However, we found

a significant interaction effect between the experimental condition and FWSS on perceived control over the future work self at T1 ( $\beta = 0.26$ , p < .05; Table 4, Study 1, Model 1). Figure 3 illustrates the pattern of the interaction. A simple slope analysis (Aiken & West, 1991) revealed a positive and significant effect of experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self for individuals with high FWSS (1 *SD* above the mean; slope = 0.35, p < .05) while the effect was not significant for those with low FWSS (1 *SD* below the mean; slope = -0.16, p =.32). Moreover, these slopes differed significantly from one another, z = 2.25, p < .05(Paternoster et al., 1998).

We performed the same analysis for perceived control over the future work self at T2. Again, the main effect of the experimental condition was not significant ( $\beta = -0.02$ , p = .90; Table 4, Study 1, Model 2). However, as expected, the interaction effect between the experimental condition and FWSS on perceived control over the future work self at T2 was significant ( $\beta = 0.25$ , p < .05; Table 4, Study 1, Model 2). We conducted a simple slope analysis which revealed that both slopes were in the expected direction but not significant (high FWSS: 1 *SD* above the mean, slope = 0.23, p = .16; low FWSS: 1 *SD* below the mean, slope = -0.26, p = .12). The difference between these slopes was significant (z = 2.18, p < .05).

[Insert Figure 3 & Tables 1 & 4 about here]

#### 3.3. Discussion

The findings from Study 1 provided initial support for Hypothesis 1. Specifically, the relationship between interacting with an AI (versus the control condition) and perceived control over the future work self was positive for participants with high FWSS. Individuals with a salient

future work self seemed to have a greater sense of control over their future work self after interacting with ChatGPT for the first time, while those with less salient future work selves do not reap the same benefits.

Even though these findings are encouraging, Study 1 has a number of limitations. First, we specifically pre-screened and selected participants who had not previously used ChatGPT in order to be rule out that varying levels of prior experience with this AI would affect our results. However, the effects of interacting with ChatGPT on FWSC may be different for those who are already familiar with it, raising concerns about the generalizability of our findings to a population that increasingly uses this AI tool (Wojcieszak et al., 2021). In addition, the effects of FWSS may differ for groups in which concerns about their future career are more salient than they likely are for our sample of full-time employees. To address these constraints, we conducted Study 2 with a sample of university students with varying levels of prior ChatGPT use.

# 4. Study 2

### 4.1. Method

## 4.1.1. Sample and procedure

Participants were students at a large German business school. A total of 243 students participated in the first part of the experiment and 231 in the second part. We eliminated five incomplete and duplicate surveys and six participants who could not be matched between the two-time points. Moreover, following the same approach as in Study 1, we followed recent guidelines (Ward & Meade, 2022; Zickar & Keith, 2023) and checked for careless responses using instructed response items (Meade & Craig, 2012), and for multivariate outliers applying Mahalanobis distance (cutoff p-value of 0.001, Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Twelve participants were excluded due to failed attention checks, while no exclusions were made based on

Mahalanobis distance, leaving us with a final sample of 208 participants (44% identified as women, the remaining participants identified as men; age: M = 22.41 years, SD = 3.39)

The procedure for Study 2 mirrored that of Study 1 (see Figure 2), with a technical modification to the AI-assisted condition. In this study, we integrated ChatGPT directly into our experimental interface via an HTML chat window in Qualtrics, eliminating the need for participants to interact with ChatGPT in a separate browser window. This allowed communication between participants and ChatGPT, enabled by an API call through Javascript.

#### 4.1.2. Measures

Future Work Self Salience (Pre-test) and Perceived control over the Future Work Self (Post-test Time 1 and 2). FWSS ( $\alpha = .82$ ) and FWSC ( $\alpha = .80$  and .86 for T1 and T2, respectively) were assessed with the same measures as in Study 1.

**Control Variables.** Consistent with Study 1, we controlled for age, gender, education (i.e., whether students already had a bachelor's degree or only a high school diploma), and self-reported knowledge about AI technology as possible controls at T1, and ChatGPT usage in the past week at Time 2. Additionally, as participants in this study may have already been familiar with ChatGPT, we included overall ChatGPT usage as a potential control variable ("How often do you use ChatGPT?"; 1 = never, 7 = every day) because regular ChatGPT users may be less susceptible to our experimental manipulation. The pattern of results remains the same when these covariates are not included (Bernerth & Aguinis, 2016).

# 4.2. Results

Descriptive statistics and correlations of study variables can be found in Table 2. We again followed Preacher et al. (2007) and Hayes's (2022) recommendations to examine our first hypothesis and employed the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 1, Hayes, 2022). The moderator (FWSS) was mean-centered before its interaction term was created. As seen in Table 4 (Study 2), we conducted a similar analysis to Study 1 using FWSS as the moderator, experimental condition as the predictor, and control over future work self T1 (Model 1) and T2 (Model 2) as the dependent variable.

The main effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self at T1 was not significant ( $\beta = 0.14$ , p = .16; Table 4, Study 2, Model 1). Moreover, the interaction effect between experimental condition and FWSS on perceived control over the future work self at T1 was also not significant ( $\beta = 0.12$ , p = .23; Table 4, Study 2, Model 1).

We conducted the same analysis for control over the future work self at T2. Again, the main effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self at T2 was not significant ( $\beta = 0.14$ , p = .17; Table 4, Study 2, Model). However, as expected, there was a significant interaction between the experimental condition and FWSS on perceived control over the future work self at T2 ( $\beta = 0.26$ , p < .05; Table 4, Study 2, Model 2). A simple slopes analysis revealed that individuals with high FWSS (1 *SD* above the mean) showed a positive and significant effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the FWS (slope = 0.37, p = .01) compared to those with low FWSS (1 *SD* below the mean; slope = -.08, p = .56; see Figure 4). The difference between these slopes was significant (z = 2.27, p < .05).

[Insert Figure 4 & Table 2 about here]

### 4.3. Discussion

The findings of Study 2 largely replicate those of Study 1 and support Hypothesis 1, demonstrating a significant positive relationship between interacting with an AI and perceived control over the FWS at T2 for participants with high FWSS, but not for those with low FWSS. We next investigated the full moderated mediation model, including the effect of FWSC on proactive career behavior. Having established that FWSS moderates the impact of interacting with an AI on FWSC for working adults who had never before used ChatGPT, as well as for students with varying levels of ChatGPT usage, we sought to replicate this finding in full-time employees who have already used ChatGPT. Thus, in Study 3, we collected data from full-time employees in Germany with varying levels of ChatGPT use to test our full model.

## 5. Study 3

#### 5.1. Method

### 5.1.1. Sample and procedure

Participants were full-time employees in Germany, recruited for study participation by students at a large German business school. One hundred eighty-one full-time employees participated in the first part of the experiment and 169 in the second part. We eliminated three participants whose surveys were incomplete and two participants who could not be matched between the two time points. In line with our approach in Studies 1 and 2, following recent guidelines (Ward & Meade, 2022; Zickar & Keith, 2023), we examined for careless responses with instructed response items (Meade & Craig, 2012) and multivariate outliers with Mahalanobis distance (p < .001 at the respective  $\chi 2$  value, Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). This led to the exclusion of eight participants who did not correctly respond to more than one attention check (Meade & Craig, 2012) and one participant who exceeded the threshold for the Mahalanobis distance, leaving a final sample of 155 (44.5% identified as women, the remaining participants identified as men; age: M = 32.18 years, SD = 9.17). When the data were analyzed, including this outlier, the pattern of results remained the same.

The procedure for Study 3 was the same as in Study 2, with the addition of proactive career behavior assessed at T2 (see Figure 2).

# 5.1.2. Measures

Future Work Self Salience (Pre-test) and Perceived control over the Future Work Self (Post-test Time 1). FWSS ( $\alpha = .89$ ) and FWSC ( $\alpha = .88$ ) were assessed with the same measures as in Study 1.

**Proactive Career Behavior (Post-test Time 2).** Proactive career behavior was assessed with a 13-item scale (Cronbach's  $\alpha$  = .92) used in prior research (e.g., Strauss et al., 2012). The scale includes four sub dimensions: career planning, career consultation, skill development, and networking. Examples of items are: "I am planning what I want to do in the next few years of my career." (career planning); "I make my supervisor aware of my work aspirations and goals." (career consultation); "I develop skills which may not be needed so much now but in future positions." (skill development); "I am building a network of colleagues I can call on for support." (networking). All responses were given on a scale ranging from 1 (not at all) to 5 (a great deal).

**Control Variables (Time 1 and 2).** Consistent with Studies 1 and 2, we controlled for age, gender, education, knowledge of AI, and participants' overall ChatGPT usage in all analyses. We found the same pattern of results when these covariates are not included (Bernerth & Aguinis, 2016).

## 5.2. Results

Descriptive statistics and intercorrelations of study variables can be found in Table 3. To examine our complete model (see Figure 1), we employed first-stage moderated mediation analyses (Preacher et al., 2007) using the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 7; Hayes, 2022). Again, the moderator (FWSS) was mean-centered before its interaction term was created.

The main effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self at T1 was not significant ( $\beta$  = -.01, *p* = .94; Table 4, Study 3, Model 1). Supporting Hypothesis 1, the interaction between experimental condition and FWSS on perceived control

over the future work self at T1 was again significant ( $\beta = .44, p < .01$ ; Table 4, Study 3, Model 1). A simple slopes analysis revealed that for individuals with high FWSS (1 *SD* above the mean) there was a positive and significant effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self (slope = .45, p < .05). However, for those with low FWSS there was a negative and significant effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self (1 *SD* below the mean; slope = -.47, p < .05). The difference between these slopes was significant (z = 3.40, p < .01; see Figure 5).

To test Hypothesis 2, we conducted moderated mediation analyses (Preacher et al., 2007) using SPSS version 26.0 (IBM Corp., 2019) and the PROCESS macro (Model 7; Hayes, 2022). We examined our hypotheses using bootstrapping with 5,000 resamples (Preacher & Hayes, 2004) and 95% confidence intervals. In line with our hypothesis, perceived control over the future work self at T1 was positively related to proactive career behavior at T2 ( $\beta$  = .42, *p* < .001; Table 4, Study 3, Model 2), and FWSS moderated the indirect effect between experimental condition and proactive career behavior at T2 through control over future work self at T1 (index of moderated mediation = .20, 95% CI [.07; .34]). Specifically, the conditional indirect effect of experimental condition on proactive career behavior at T2 via control over the future work self at T1 was positive when FWSS was high (1 *SD* above the mean) (indirect effect = .20, 95% CI [.04; .36]), but negative when FWSS was low (1 *SD* below the mean) (estimate = -.23, 95% CI [-.43; - .02]). This difference was statistically significant (contrast = .43, 95% CI [.15; .73). These results fully support Hypothesis 2.

[Insert Figure 5 & Table 3 about here]

## 6. General Discussion

Although rapid advances in AI are poised to transform the world of work and impact individuals' career-related cognition and behavior, the ways in which individual differences shape these responses remain poorly understood. Using the proactive motivation model as our overarching theoretical framework, we developed a model of how future work selves shape individuals' reactions to interacting with a powerful generative AI. Across three studies, we found that FWSS shapes the effect of interacting with an AI on individuals' FWSC. Specifically, the relationship between interacting with an AI (versus the control condition) and FWSC was positive for participants with high FWSS (Studies 1, 2, and 3). Interacting with an AI seemed to boost individuals' sense of control over their future work self (a "can do" motivational factor), but only when they had a clear vision of their future work self (a "reason-to" motivational factor (S. K. Parker et al., 2010)). For participants with low FWSS, the results were somewhat less consistent. Interacting with an AI did not affect their perceived control over their future work self in Studies 1 and 2. However, in Study 3, participants low in FWSS felt less in control of their future work self after interacting with an AI. Study 3 further extended the findings of Studies 1 and 2 by providing evidence for our proposed moderated mediation model. Specifically, the indirect relationship between interacting with an AI and proactive career behavior via FWSC was moderated by FWSS such that the indirect effect was positive when individuals' FWSS was high and negative when individuals' FWSS was low. Participants who interacted with an AI thus reported higher levels of proactive work behavior when their future work self was salient, but lower levels when it was not.

# 7. Theoretical Implications

Our paper highlights future work selves as a useful theoretical lens to explore the impact of AI on individuals' careers. Our results reconcile contradictory findings on individuals' reactions to artificial intelligence. Specifically, we identify FWSS as an important individual difference that determines whether AI is seen as a threat, taking control over their future career away from individuals, or as an opportunity, increasing their sense of control.

We contribute to burgeoning research on the impact of AI on individuals' career-related cognition and behavior by adopting a future-oriented perspective. To date, studies of employees' views of AI have predominantly taken a "present" perspective (e.g., Bochniarz et al., 2022; Kong et al., 2023; Langer et al., 2023), for instance, by investigating their perceptions of the impact of AI on their current employability (Bhargava et al., 2021). Yet the concept of prospective sensemaking (Gioia et al., 1994; Gioia & Thomas, 1996) implies that reactions to current experiences, like AI interactions, are also strongly shaped by individuals' conceptions of what this might mean for them in the future. By highlighting the stabilizing effects of a salient future work self, our research shows that individuals interpret AI interactions not only in terms of immediate challenges and opportunities, but also in terms of how these interactions align with and inform their future careers. We thus add a new perspective to recent findings (Tang et al., 2023) that interactions with AI can yield both positive and negative outcomes. By introducing FWSS as an important individual difference, we illuminate why some individuals perceive AI as an ally in shaping their future, while others view it as a challenge to their career aspirations. A clear and easily accessible image of who they want to become in their future career may allow individuals interacting with an AI to mentally simulate possible future scenarios that enable them to see AI as an opportunity rather than a threat.

Drawing on social psychological research on the broader concept of possible selves (Norman & Aron, 2003; Oyserman & James, 2009), our research extends the literature on future work selves by focusing not only on their salience, the extent to which a future work self is easily accessible and clear (Strauss et al., 2012), but also on the perceived control over the future work self. As suggested by the proactive motivation model (S. K. Parker et al., 2010), salience and perceived control interact in predicting proactive career behavior, reflecting reason-to and can-do factors, respectively.

While our validation study demonstrated that individuals' can-do motivation in relation to their future work self, FWSC, is distinct from other control related concepts in the careers literature, such as career confidence or career-related self-efficacy, our findings contribute to this wider body of research, which highlights the centrality of control beliefs in relation to career management. For example, Kossek et al. (1998) demonstrated that individuals' beliefs about their ability to control career-related outcomes are a key mechanism translating contextual factors into career self-management behavior. Similarly, social cognitive career theory suggests that contextual supports and barriers shape individuals' career-related control beliefs, which in turn determine their career-oriented actions and outcomes (Lent & Brown, 2013). In our theoretical model, AI, which can be seen as both a support or a barrier to individuals' careers, either positively or negatively affects their career-related control beliefs, depending on future work self salience. Future work self salience is thus an individual difference that moderates the influence of context on individuals' control beliefs in relation to their future career. In the face of uncertainty caused by interaction with a powerful AI, a salient future work self seems to act as a personal resource that allows individuals to maintain a sense of control over their desired future career. In addition to providing support for the interaction of can-do and reason-to motivational factors proposed by the proactive motivation model (S. K. Parker et al., 2010), the findings of Study 3 also align with the conceptual framework of whole-life career self-management (Hirschi et al., 2020) which similarly argues that the interplay between the valence of a goal (in our case, a salient vision of a highly valued future work self) and expectancy (in our case, the perceived control over the future work self) shapes individuals' career-related action regulation.

### 8. Limitations and Future Research

While our studies have a number of strengths, they also have limitations. First, even though we find consistent support for the buffering effect of high FWSS, in Studies 1 and 2, participants with *low* FWSS did not perceive less control over their FWS after AI interaction. Yet, in Study 3, participants with low FWSS reported lower FWSC after interacting with the AI, as we had predicted. It may be that the differing characteristics of our three samples account for these differences. For example, the lack of experience with ChatGPT of participants in Study 1 and the limited professional experience of participants in Study 2 may have made it less likely for the absence of a clear vision of their future work self to have a detrimental effect. From a theoretical perspective, this may suggest that experience with AI and with managing one's career may be potential moderators of the relationships we proposed. Missing out on the benefits of mental simulation of the future may be particularly detrimental when participants also have little past experience to draw on. Future research is needed to explore this possibility and replicate our finding regarding the negative impact of low FWSS in other samples.

Likewise, it is plausible that confounding factors such as the field of work may impact both individuals' future work self and the extent to which their job is vulnerable to being replaced by technology (Balsmeier & Woerter, 2019; Michaels et al., 2014). Because participants were randomly allocated to conditions in our experimental design, individual differences are unlikely to account for differences in FWSC and proactive career behavior. Yet, to account for the possibility that the interaction with ChatGPT may have seemed less relevant to some participants' daily work, we included three items adapted from Kelly et al. (2020) to measure the similarity between the experimental task and individuals' daily work as a control variable. The inclusion of this control variable did not change the overall pattern of results across the three studies, reinforcing the robustness of our findings and supporting the argument that our results are not biased by differences in task relevance across job types (see Online Supplemental Material for the results of these post-hoc analyses). In addition, we found no significant correlations between dummy variables representing the five most common industries our participants worked in and our dependent variables in Studies 1-3 (see Tables 1-3). Furthermore, multivariate analyses of variance revealed no significant effects of industry on our dependent variables across the three studies, suggesting that industry does not significantly affect the dependent variables (see Online Supplemental Material for the results of these post-hoc analyses). Nevertheless, future research may explore whether our findings generalize to professional settings that are particularly impacted by the rise of AI.

It is also plausible that interacting with ChatGPT could trigger AI aversion, leading participants to perceive AI as a threat (e.g., Dietvorst et al., 2015). To account for this possibility we measured participants' attitudes towards AI with two items developed by Gaube et al. (2021) in Studies 2 and 3. We found no differences between control and experimental conditions in either study<sup>4</sup>. We also included attitudes toward AI as an additional control variable in our analyses, but did not find that this changed the pattern of results (see Online Supplemental Material for the results of the post-hoc analyses). This finding aligns with recent studies suggesting that aversion may not be a universal response to interactions with generative AI (Böhm et al., 2023; Chu & Liu, 2023), and suggest that it was perceived control over the future work self, rather than a negative attitude towards the AI, that accounted for our results.

Another possible limitation is that we did not include a manipulation check in our studies. While manipulation checks are necessary when experimental manipulations aim to alter participants' affect or psychological states, "researchers should not run manipulation checks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Study 2: Control condition: M = 4.24, SD = 1.28; experimental condition: M = 4.24, SD = 1.28; t(206) = -.02, p = .98. Study 3: Control condition: M = 4.27, SD = 1.17; experimental condition: M = 4.15, SD = 0.98; t(153) = 0.73, p = .46.

when the experimental treatment consists of objective variations of parameters" (Lonati et al., 2018, p. 22). In our case, interaction with an AI as part of the experimental task was a parameter that varied objectively between conditions. Nevertheless, we sought to establish that our experimental manipulation was indeed effective. We conducted an additional study with 119 full-time employees in the United Kingdom, recruited through Prolific, using the same experimental manipulation as in Studies 1-3. The results provided strong support for the effectiveness of our experimental manipulation<sup>5</sup> (see Online Supplemental Material for details).

A further possible limitation may be that participants in the AI condition could have felt less in control because by providing prompts, the experiment limited their autonomy in interacting with the AI and potentially their sense of control over how they would use the AI in their future careers. We provided prompts in the early stages of the experimental task because, particularly in Study 1, we recruited participants who were reportedly using ChatGPT for the first time during our experiment. Because prompting is challenging for novices (Bašić et al., 2023) and often involves a trial-and-error process even for experts (Zamfirescu-Pereira et al., 2023), we first showed them how to use prompts before giving them the opportunity to write their own prompts. However, there were no significant differences in FWSC between the experimental and control conditions in any of the three studies, which speaks against this possibility (see Tables 1-3).

Moreover, the exclusive use of self-report measures may introduce potential limitations to our research due to common method bias (Podsakoff et al., 2003). However, due to three key

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Participants were asked to rate the following two statements adapted from Man Tang et al. (2022) on a 7-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 = "Strongly Disagree" to 7 = "Strongly Agree": "I worked on this in-tray task independently" (reverse coded) and "I worked on this in-tray task with the help of ChatGPT3" ( $\alpha = .80$ ) after the experimental manipulation. Responses to the manipulation check were significantly different between participants in the experimental group (M = 5.00, SD = 1.17) and the control group (M = 1.22, SD = 0.67), t(117) = -21.46, p < .001, d = -3.93, indicating that participants could clearly identify whether or not they had interacted with an AI in completing the task.

factors, common method variance (CMV) is less likely to impact our findings. First, we used an experimental design, where participants were randomly allocated to a condition, which is an effective method of eliminating CMV (Antonakis et al., 2010; for a review, see Cooper et al., 2020). Second, we measured our outcome variable at two time points in Studies 1 and 2 and separated the measurement of our mediator and outcome in Study 3. This reduces the effects of common method variance (CMV) (Johnson et al., 2012). Finally, the relationships in our study are dependent on a moderator. Research by Siemsen et al. (2009) demonstrates that interactive relationships cannot be inflated by CMV. Nevertheless, we encourage future research to employ rigorous longitudinal designs such as experience sampling methodologies (ESM) that allow for multiple data collection points (Cooper et al., 2020), e.g., to shed light on how continuous interaction with AI influences FWSS, FWSC, and proactive career behaviors over time.

Additionally, while we have focused on perceived control over one's future work self in addition to its salience, future research may investigate how the content of future work selves changes in the face of rapidly evolving AI landscapes. Consider a radiologist who invested in years of specialized training with a vivid and salient image of what their future will entail. As AI technologies increasingly assume diagnostic tasks, their clear vision might be at odds with the dynamic realities of the AI-driven job market (Brynjolfsson & Mitchell, 2017). Indeed, while a salient future work self can be a driving force, rigidly clinging to such a future work self could become detrimental. Future research could thus investigate the interplay between the salience of a future work self and its flexibility, offering insights into how individuals can adeptly reconcile their career aspirations with the rapidly evolving work environment, ensuring both career progression and personal well-being.

Last, a possible limitation is that the majority of the employees sampled in Studies 1 and 3 were relatively young. Their future work selves may have been more salient to these

comparatively young samples than they would have been to older workers. While this makes them appropriate samples to explore our research question, future research is needed to examine whether these findings hold true for older employees (e.g., those nearing retirement).

## 9. Practical Implications

Our findings hint at a potentially dangerous downward spiral where those who do not have a clear sense of who they would like to be in their future career are more vulnerable to the detrimental effects of AI on their sense of control in relation to their future career, making it in turn less likely for them to develop skills and networks that would allow them to prepare for an uncertain future. Importantly, our findings also imply that a clear picture of one's future work self allows individuals to envision the benefits of AI for their future work, leaving them feeling more in control and thus promoting their proactive career behavior. Hence, our study equips organizations with insights into why certain employees might struggle with AI integration. Consequently, organizations can take proactive steps by integrating deliberate career development endeavors, such as career counseling or mentoring, to foster employees' future work self salience (Kao et al., 2020; Strauss et al., 2012). For example, organizations could expose employees to focused interventions, like mental imagery exercises (Blouin-Hudon & Pychyl, 2017), that can assist employees in creating vivid representations of their future work selves (Strauss & Parker, 2018). In this context, as the majority of jobs will be impacted by AI in some way, individuals should be encouraged to visualize how AI might present opportunities to advance or explore their own careers (Cai et al., 2015).

Moreover, leaders likely have an essential role in helping their employees to develop a clear picture of their professional future. Leaders, as key influencers of employees' self-concept (Avolio et al., 2004), can promote FWSS through vision communication, which enables employees to imagine themselves in the future (Guo et al., 2022).

Finally, given that the participants in Study 2 were university students, our findings highlight the critical role of higher education in preparing students for the AI-impacted job market (Kshetri, 2024). Like organizations, universities should adapt proactive strategies such as career counseling (van der Horst et al., 2021) and potentially integrate mental imagery exercises (Strauss & Parker, 2018) to enhance students' FWSS. In addition, educators, similar to business leaders, can use their influence to inspire and shape students' visions of their future careers.

# **10.** Conclusion

We are in the midst of an AI revolution that is fundamentally changing the way we work. It is thus critical to understand how individual differences influence people's perceptions of the impact of AI on their future career. Our research highlights the role of FWSS in moderating the impact of AI on individuals' perceptions of control over their professional future. Individuals who interact with AI and have a salient future work self experienced a greater sense of control over their future career, which encourages proactive career behavior. In contrast, individuals with a less salient future work self experienced a decrease in control and exhibit less proactive career behavior, at least in some circumstances. As the integration of AI becomes more widespread, this research provides important insights into the role of AI in shaping the future-oriented careerrelated cognitions and behaviors of individuals.

# 11. References

- Agrawal, A., Gans, J. S., & Goldfarb, A. (2023). Do we want less automation? *Science*, 381(6654), 155–158. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adh9429
- Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1991). *Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions*.Sage Publications, Inc.
- Antonakis, J., Bendahan, S., Jacquart, P., & Lalive, R. (2010). On making causal claims: A review and recommendations. *Leadership Quarterly*, 21(6), 1086–1120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.10.010
- Ashforth, B. E., & Schinoff, B. S. (2016). Identity under construction: How individuals come to define themselves in organizations. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *3*, 111–137. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-041015-062322
- Avolio, B. J., Gardner, W. L., Walumbwa, F. O., Luthans, F., & May, D. R. (2004). Unlocking the mask: A look at the process by which authentic leaders impact follower attitudes and behaviors. *Leadership Quarterly*, 15(6), 801–823. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2004.09.003
- Balsmeier, B., & Woerter, M. (2019). Is this time different? How digitalization influences job creation and destruction. *Research Policy*, 48(8), 103765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.03.010
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. W H Freeman/Times Books/ Henry Holt & Co.
- Bankins, S., Ocampo, A. C., Marrone, M., Restubog, S. L. D., & Woo, S. E. (2023). A multilevel review of artificial intelligence in organizations: Implications for organizational behavior

research and practice. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2735

Bašić, Ž., Banovac, A., Kružić, I., & Jerković, I. (2023). ChatGPT-3.5 as writing assistance in students' essays. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 10(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-023-02269-7

Berg, J. M., Duguid, M. M., Goncalo, J. A., Harrison, S. H., & Miron-Spektor, E. (2023).
Escaping irony: Making research on creativity in organizations more creative.
Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 175, 104235.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2023.104235

- Bernerth, J. B., & Aguinis, H. (2016). A Critical Review and Best-Practice Recommendations for Control Variable Usage. *Personnel Psychology*, 69(1), 229–283. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12103
- Bhargava, A., Bester, M., & Bolton, L. (2021). Employees' Perceptions of the Implementation of Robotics, Artificial Intelligence, and Automation (RAIA) on Job Satisfaction, Job Security, and Employability. *Journal of Technology in Behavioral Science*, 6(1), 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41347-020-00153-8
- Blouin-Hudon, E. M. C., & Pychyl, T. A. (2017). A Mental Imagery Intervention to Increase Future Self-Continuity and Reduce Procrastination. *Applied Psychology*, 66(2), 326–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12088
- Bochniarz, K. T., Czerwiński, S. K., Sawicki, A., & Atroszko, P. A. (2022). Attitudes to AI among high school students: Understanding distrust towards humans will not help us understand distrust towards AI. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 185, 111299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2021.111299

Böhm, R., Jörling, M., Reiter, L., & Fuchs, C. (2023). People devalue generative AI's

competence but not its advice in addressing societal and personal challenges.

*Communications Psychology*, *1*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s44271-023-00032-x

- Brynjolfsson, E., Li, D., & Raymond, L. (2023). Generative Ai at Work. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4426942
- Brynjolfsson, E., & Mitchell, T. (2017). What can machine learning do? Workforce implications. *Science*, *358*(6370), 1530–1534. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap8062
- Budhwar, P., Chowdhury, S., Wood, G., Aguinis, H., Bamber, G. J., Beltran, J. R., Boselie, P.,
  Lee Cooke, F., Decker, S., DeNisi, A., Dey, P. K., Guest, D., Knoblich, A. J., Malik, A.,
  Paauwe, J., Papagiannidis, S., Patel, C., Pereira, V., Ren, S., ... Varma, A. (2023). Human
  resource management in the age of generative artificial intelligence: Perspectives and
  research directions on ChatGPT. *Human Resource Management Journal*, *6*, 606–659.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12524
- Bulley, A., Henry, J., & Suddendorf, T. (2016). Prospection and the present moment: The role of episodic foresight in intertemporal choices between immediate and delayed rewards. *Review* of General Psychology, 20(1), 29–47. https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000061
- Cai, Z., Guan, Y., Li, H., Shi, W., Guo, K., Liu, Y., Li, Q., Han, X., Jiang, P., Fang, Z., & Hua,
  H. (2015). Self-esteem and proactive personality as predictors of future work self and career adaptability: An examination of mediating and moderating processes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 86, 86–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.10.004
- Chernikova, M., Lo Destro, C., Mauro, R., Pierro, A., Kruglanski, A. W., & Tory Higgins, E. (2016). Different strokes for different folks: Effects of regulatory mode complementarity and task complexity on performance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 89, 134–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.10.011

Chu, Y., & Liu, P. (2023). Public aversion against ChatGPT in creative fields? Innovation, 4(4),

100449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xinn.2023.100449

- Chui, M., Hazan, E., Roberts, R., Singla, A., Smaje, K., Sukharevsky, A., Yee, L., & Zemmel, R. (2023, June 16). *The economic potential of generative AI: The next productivity frontier*. https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/mckinsey-digital/our-insights/the-economic-potential-of-generative-AI-the-next-productivity-frontier
- Claes, R., & Ruiz-Quintanilla, S. A. (1998). Influences of Early Career Experiences,
   Occupational Group, and National Culture on Proactive Career Behavior. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *52*(3), 357–378. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1997.1626
- Colarelli, S. M., & Bishop, R. C. (1990). Career Commitment: Functions, Correlates, and Management. *Group & Organization Studies*, 15(2), 158–176. https://doi.org/10.1177/105960119001500203
- Cole, S. N., Smith, D. M., Ragan, K., Suurmond, R., & Armitage, C. J. (2021). Synthesizing the effects of mental simulation on behavior change: Systematic review and multilevel metaanalysis. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 28(5), 1514–1537. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-021-01880-6
- Cooper, B., Eva, N., Zarea Fazlelahi, F., Newman, A., Lee, A., & Obschonka, M. (2020).
  Addressing common method variance and endogeneity in vocational behavior research: A review of the literature and suggestions for future research. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *121*, 103472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103472
- Darvill, T. J., & Johnson, R. C. (1991). Optimism and perceived control of life events as related to personality. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 12(9), 951–954. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(91)90184-D
- Dietvorst, B. J., Simmons, J. P., & Massey, C. (2015). Algorithm aversion: People erroneously avoid algorithms after seeing them err. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*,

144(1), 114–126. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000033

- Donald, W. E., Van der Heijden, B. I. J. M., & Baruch, Y. (2024). Introducing a sustainable career ecosystem: Theoretical perspectives, conceptualization, and future research agenda. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 151, 103989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2024.103989
- Duan, Y., Edwards, J. S., & Dwivedi, Y. K. (2019). Artificial intelligence for decision making in the era of Big Data – evolution, challenges and research agenda. *International Journal of Information Management*, 48, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.01.021
- Dwivedi, Y. K., Kshetri, N., Hughes, L., Slade, E. L., Jeyaraj, A., Kar, A. K., Baabdullah, A. M., Koohang, A., Raghavan, V., Ahuja, M., Albanna, H., Albashrawi, M. A., Al-Busaidi, A. S., Balakrishnan, J., Barlette, Y., Basu, S., Bose, I., Brooks, L., Buhalis, D., ... Wright, R. (2023). Opinion Paper: "So what if ChatGPT wrote it?" Multidisciplinary perspectives on opportunities, challenges and implications of generative conversational AI for research, practice and policy. *International Journal of Information Management*, *71*, 102642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2023.102642
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *53*(1), 109–132. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135153
- Eloundou, T., Manning, S., Mishkin, P., & Rock, D. (2023). GPTs are GPTs: An Early Look at the Labor Market Impact Potential of Large Language Models. http://arxiv.org/abs/2303.10130
- Elst, T. Vander, De Cuyper, N., & De Witte, H. (2011). The role of perceived control in the relationship between job insecurity and psychosocial outcomes: Moderator or mediator? *Stress and Health*, 27(3), 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.1371
- Epstein, Z., Hertzmann, A., Akten, M., Farid, H., Fjeld, J., Frank, M. R., Groh, M., Herman, L., Leach, N., Mahari, R., Pentland, A. "Sandy," Russakovsky, O., Schroeder, H., & Smith, A.

(2023). Art and the science of generative AI. *Science*, *380*(6650), 1110–1111. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adh4451

- Fang, R. T., & Saks, A. M. (2022). A self-regulatory model of how future work selves change during job search and the school-to-work transition. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 138, 103783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2022.103783
- Frank, M. R., Autor, D., Bessen, J. E., Brynjolfsson, E., Cebrian, M., Deming, D. J., Feldman, M., Groh, M., Lobo, J., Moro, E., Wang, D., Youn, H., & Rahwan, I. (2019). Toward understanding the impact of artificial intelligence on labor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(14), 6531–6539. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1900949116
- Gansser, O. A., & Reich, C. S. (2021). A new acceptance model for artificial intelligence with extensions to UTAUT2: An empirical study in three segments of application. *Technology in Society*, *65*, 101535. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101535
- Gati, I., & Kulcsár, V. (2021). Making better career decisions: From challenges to opportunities. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 126, 103545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2021.103545
- Gaube, S., Suresh, H., Raue, M., Merritt, A., Berkowitz, S. J., Lermer, E., Coughlin, J. F., Guttag, J. V., Colak, E., & Ghassemi, M. (2021). Do as AI say: susceptibility in deployment of clinical decision-aids. *Npj Digital Medicine*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-021-00385-9
- Gioia, D. A., & Thomas, J. B. (1996). Institutional identity, image, and issue interpretation:
  Sensemaking during strategic change in academia. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41(3), 370–403. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393936
- Gioia, D. A., Thomas, J. B., Clark, S. M., & Chittipeddi, K. (1994). Symbolism and strategic change in academia: The dynamics of sensemaking and influence. *Organization Science*, 5(3), 363–383. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.5.3.363

- Guan, Y., Zhuang, M., Cai, Z., Ding, Y., Wang, Y., Huang, Z., & Lai, X. (2017). Modeling dynamics in career construction: Reciprocal relationship between future work self and career exploration. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 101, 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.04.003
- Guo, L., Mao, J.-Y., Huang, Q., & Zhang, G. (2022). Polishing followers' future work selves!
  The critical roles of leader future orientation and vision communication. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *137*, 103746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2022.103746
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2014). *Multivariate Data Analysis*.(7th ed.). Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River.
- Hair, J. F., Matthews, L. M., Matthews, R. L., & Sarstedt, M. (2017). PLS-SEM or CB-SEM: updated guidelines on which method to use. *International Journal of Multivariate Data Analysis*, 1(2), 107–123. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMDA.2017.087624
- Han, M.-C., & Hwang, P.-C. (2022). Does Future Work Self Benefit Everyone Equally? The Moderating Role of Organizational Support for Development. *Journal of Career Development*, 50(3), 503–518. https://doi.org/10.1177/08948453221113810
- Hayes, A. F. (2022). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Henseler, J., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2015). A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 43(1), 115–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8
- Hirschi, A. (2012). Callings and work engagement: moderated mediation model of work meaningfulness, occupational identity, and occupational self-efficacy. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 59(3), 479–485. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028949

Hirschi, A. (2018). The Fourth Industrial Revolution: Issues and Implications for Career

Research and Practice. *Career Development Quarterly*, 66(3), 192–204. https://doi.org/10.1002/cdq.12142

- Hirschi, A., & Koen, J. (2021). Contemporary career orientations and career self-management: A review and integration. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *126*(1), 103505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103505
- Hirschi, A., Nagy, N., Baumeler, F., Johnston, C. S., & Spurk, D. (2017). Assessing Key Predictors of Career Success: Development and Validation of the Career Resources Questionnaire. *Journal of Career Assessment*, *26*(2), 338–358. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072717695584
- Hirschi, A., Zacher, H., & Shockley, K. M. (2020). Whole-Life Career Self-Management: A Conceptual Framework. *Journal of Career Development*, 49(2), 344–362. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845320957729
- Infurna, F. J., Gerstorf, D., Ram, N., Schupp, J., & Wagner, G. G. (2011). Long-term antecedents and outcomes of perceived control. *Psychology and Aging*, 26(3), 559–575. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022890
- Infurna, F. J., Gerstorf, D., Ram, N., Schupp, J., Wagner, G. G., & Heckhausen, J. (2016).
   Maintaining perceived control with unemployment facilitates future adjustment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 93, 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2016.01.006
- Jarrahi, M. H. (2018). Artificial intelligence and the future of work: Human-AI symbiosis in organizational decision making. *Business Horizons*, 61(4), 577–586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2018.03.007
- Jing, H. G., Madore, K. P., & Schacter, D. L. (2016). Worrying about the future: An episodic specificity induction impacts problem solving, reappraisal, and well-being. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 145(4), 402–418. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000142

Johnson, R. E., Rosen, C. C., Chang, C.-H. (Daisy), Djurdjevic, E., & Taing, M. U. (2012). Recommendations for improving the construct clarity of higher-order multidimensional constructs. *Human Resource Management Review*, 22(2), 62–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2011.11.006

Kao, K.-Y., Hsu, H.-H., Rogers, A., Lin, M.-T., Lee, H.-T., & Lian, R. (2020). I See My Future!: Linking Mentoring, Future Work Selves, Achievement Orientation to Job Search Behaviors. *Journal of Career Development*, 49(1), 232–245. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845320926571

- Kaya, F., Aydin, F., Schepman, A., Rodway, P., Yetişensoy, O., & Demir Kaya, M. (2024). The Roles of Personality Traits, AI Anxiety, and Demographic Factors in Attitudes toward Artificial Intelligence. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 40(2), 497–514. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2022.2151730
- Kelly, C. M., Strauss, K., Arnold, J., & Stride, C. (2020). The relationship between leisure activities and psychological resources that support a sustainable career: The role of leisure seriousness and work-leisure similarity. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *117*, 103340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.103340
- Kessler, S. (2023, June 10). The A.I. Revolution Will Change Work. Nobody Agrees How. *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2023/06/10/business/ai-jobs-work.html
- Kim, S. S., & Malhotra, N. K. (2005). A Longitudinal Model of Continued IS Use: An Integrative View of Four Mechanisms Underlying Postadoption Phenomena. *Management Science*, 51(5), 741–755. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1040.0326
- Koen, J., & Parker, S. K. (2020). In the eye of the beholder: How proactive coping alters perceptions of insecurity. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 25(6), 385–400. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000198

- Kong, H., Yin, Z., Baruch, Y., & Yuan, Y. (2023). The impact of trust in AI on career sustainability: The role of employee–AI collaboration and protean career orientation. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *146*(180), 103928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2023.103928
- Kossek, E. E., Roberts, K., Fisher, S., & DeMarr, B. (1998). Career self-management: A quasiexperimental assessment of the effects of a training intervention. *Personnel Psychology*, 51(4), 935–962. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1998.tb00746.x
- Kshetri, N. (2024). The academic industry's response to generative artificial intelligence: An institutional analysis of large language models. *Telecommunications Policy*, 48(5), 102760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2024.102760
- Langer, M., König, C. J., Back, C., & Hemsing, V. (2023). Trust in Artificial Intelligence:
  Comparing Trust Processes Between Human and Automated Trustees in Light of Unfair
  Bias. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *38*(3), 493–508. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869022-09829-9
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. T. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Lefcourt, H. M. (1976). Locus of control: Current trends in theory and research. In *Locus of control: Current trends in theory and research*. Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Lent, R. W., & Brown, S. D. (2013). Social cognitive model of career self-management: toward a unifying view of adaptive career behavior across the life span. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60(4), 557–568. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033446
- Lent, R. W., Morris, T. R., Wang, R. J., Moturu, B. P., Cygrymus, E. R., & Yeung, J. G. (2022). Test of a Social Cognitive Model of Proactive Career Behavior. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 30(4), 756–775. https://doi.org/10.1177/10690727221080948

Lim, W. M., Gunasekara, A., Pallant, J. L., Pallant, J. I., & Pechenkina, E. (2023). Generative AI

and the future of education: Ragnarök or reformation? A paradoxical perspective from management educators. *The International Journal of Management Education*, *21*(2), 100790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijme.2023.100790

- Lin, H., Tian, J., & Cheng, B. (2024). Facilitation or hindrance: The contingent effect of organizational artificial intelligence adoption on proactive career behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 152, 108092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2023.108092
- Lonati, S., Quiroga, B. F., Zehnder, C., & Antonakis, J. (2018). On doing relevant and rigorous experiments: Review and recommendations. *Journal of Operations Management*, 64, 19–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2018.10.003
- Lu, H., Li, Y., Chen, M., Kim, H., & Serikawa, S. (2018). Brain Intelligence: Go beyond Artificial Intelligence. *Mobile Networks and Applications*, 23(2), 368–375. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11036-017-0932-8
- Lu, L., Cai, R., & Gursoy, D. (2019). Developing and validating a service robot integration willingness scale. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 80, 36–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2019.01.005
- Man Tang, P., Koopman, J., McClean, S. T., Zhang, J. H., Hon Li, C., de Cremer, D., Lu, Y., & Stewart Ng, C. T. (2022). When Conscientious Employees Meet Intelligent Machines: an Integrative Approach Inspired By Complementarity Theory and Role Theory. *Academy of Management Journal*, 65(3), 1019–1054. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMJ.2020.1516
- Maragno, G., Tangi, L., Gastaldi, L., & Benedetti, M. (2023). Exploring the factors, affordances and constraints outlining the implementation of Artificial Intelligence in public sector organizations. *International Journal of Information Management*, 73, 102686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2023.102686

Markus, H., & Nurius, P. (1986). Possible selves. American Psychologist, 41(9), 954–969.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.41.9.954

Meade, A. W., & Craig, S. B. (2012). Identifying careless responses in survey data. *Psychological Methods*, 17, 437–455. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028085

- Michaels, G., Natraj, A., & Van Reenen, J. (2014). HAS ICT POLARIZED SKILL DEMAND? EVIDENCE FROM ELEVEN COUNTRIES OVER TWENTY-FIVE YEARS. *The Review* of Economics and Statistics, 96(1), 60–77. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43554913
- Nießen, D., Schmidt, I., Groskurth, K., Rammstedt, B., & Lechner, C. M. (2022). The Internal– External Locus of Control Short Scale–4 (IE-4): A comprehensive validation of the Englishlanguage adaptation. *PLoS ONE*, *17*(7), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0271289
- Norman, C. C., & Aron, A. (2003). Aspects of possible self that predict motivation to achieve or avoid it. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 39(5), 500–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1031(03)00029-5
- O'Brien, K. M. (1996). The influence of psychological separation and parental attachment on the career development of adolescent women. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *48*(3), 257–274. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1996.0024
- Oyserman, D., & James, L. (2009). Possible selves: From content to process. In K. D. Markman,
  W. M. P. Klein, & J. A. Suhr (Eds.). *Handbook of imagination and mental simulation*. (pp. 373–394). Psychology Press.
- Palan, S., & Schitter, C. (2018). Prolific.ac—A subject pool for online experiments. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, 17, 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbef.2017.12.004
- Parker, S. K., Bindl, U. K., & Strauss, K. (2010). Making things happen: A model of proactive motivation. *Journal of Management*, 36(4), 827–856. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310363732

Parker, S. K., & Grote, G. (2022). Automation, Algorithms, and Beyond: Why Work Design

Matters More Than Ever in a Digital World. *Applied Psychology*, 71(4), 1171–1204. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12241

- Parker, S. K., Williams, H. M., & Turner, N. (2006). Modeling the antecedents of proactive behavior at work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(3), 636–652. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.3.636
- Parker, S. L., Jimmieson, N. L., & Amiot, C. E. (2009). The stress-buffering effects of control on task satisfaction and perceived goal attainment: An experimental study of the moderating influence of desire for control. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 58, 622–652. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00367.x
- Parker, S. L., Jimmieson, N. L., & Amiot, C. E. (2013). Self-determination, control, and reactions to changes in workload: A work simulation. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *18*, 173–190. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031803
- Paternoster, R., Brame, R., Mazerolle, P., & Piquero, A. R. (1998). Using the Correct Statistical Test for the Equality of Regression Coefficients. *Criminology*, 36(4), 859–866. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-9125.1998.tb01268.x
- Pereira, V., Hadjielias, E., Christofi, M., & Vrontis, D. (2023). A systematic literature review on the impact of artificial intelligence on workplace outcomes: A multi-process perspective. *Human Resource Management Review*, 33(1), 100857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2021.100857
- Phan, P., Wright, M., & Lee, S. H. (2017). Of robots, artificial intelligence, and work. *Academy* of Management Perspectives, 31(4), 253–255. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2017.0199
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J.-Y., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(5), 879–903. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879

- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments & Computers*, 36(4), 717–731. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03206553
- Preacher, K. J., Rucker, D. D., & Hayes, A. F. (2007). Addressing Moderated Mediation Hypotheses: Theory, Methods, and Prescriptions. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 42(1), 185–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273170701341316
- Raisch, S., & Krakowski, S. (2021). Artificial Intelligence and Management: The Automation– Augmentation Paradox. *Academy of Management Review*, 46(1), 192–210. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2018.0072
- Rivkin, I. D., & Taylor, S. E. (1999). The Effects of Mental Simulation on Coping with Controllable Stressful Events. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(12), 1451– 1462. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672992510002
- Rönkkö, M., & Cho, E. (2022). An Updated Guideline for Assessing Discriminant Validity. Organizational Research Methods, 25(1), 6–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428120968614
- Rothwell, A., & Arnold, J. (2007). Self-perceived employability: development and validation of a scale. *Personnel Review*, *36*(1), 23–41. https://doi.org/10.1108/00483480710716704
- Rotter, J. B. (1966). Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement. *Psychological Monographs: General and Applied*, 80(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0092976
- Said, N., Potinteu, A. E., Brich, I., Buder, J., Schumm, H., & Huff, M. (2023). An artificial intelligence perspective: How knowledge and confidence shape risk and benefit perception. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 6, 107855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2023.107855
- Savickas, M. L., & Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career Adapt-Abilities Scale: Construction, reliability, and measurement equivalence across 13 countries. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 80(3),

661-673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.011

- Selenko, E., Bankins, S., Shoss, M., Warburton, J., & Restubog, S. L. D. (2022). Artificial Intelligence and the Future of Work: A Functional-Identity Perspective. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *31*(3), 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1177/09637214221091823
- Seligman, M. E. P., Railton, P., Baumeister, R. F., & Sripada, C. (2013). Navigating Into the Future or Driven by the Past. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(2), 119–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612474317
- Siemsen, E., Roth, A., & Oliveira, P. (2009). Common Method Bias in Regression Models With Linear, Quadratic, and Interaction Effects. *Organizational Research Methods*, 13(3), 456– 476. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428109351241
- Specht, J., Egloff, B., & Schmukle, S. C. (2013). Everything under control? The effects of age, gender, and education on trajectories of perceived control in a nationally representative German sample. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(2), 353–364. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028243
- Stein, J. P., Messingschlager, T., Gnambs, T., Hutmacher, F., & Appel, M. (2024). Attitudes towards AI: measurement and associations with personality. *Scientific Reports*, 14(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-53335-2
- Strauss, K., Griffin, M. A., & Parker, S. K. (2012). Future work selves: How salient hoped-for identities motivate proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(3), 580– 598. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026423
- Strauss, K., & Parker, S. K. (2018). Intervening to Enhance Proactivity in Organizations: Improving the Present or Changing the Future. *Journal of Management*, 44(3), 1250–1278. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315602531

Suddendorf, T., & Moore, C. (2011). Introduction to the special issue: The development of

episodic foresight. Cognitive Development, 26(4), 295-298.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2011.09.001

- Sweeny, K., & Dunlop, W. L. (2020). Salient selves in uncertain futures. *Self and Identity*, *19*(7), 863–885. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2019.1702090
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). Using multivariate statistics, 5th ed. In Using multivariate statistics, 6th ed. Pearson.
- Taber, B. J., & Blankemeyer, M. (2015). Future work self and career adaptability in the prediction of proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 86, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.10.005
- Tang, P. M., Koopman, J., Mai, K. M., De Cremer, D., Zhang, J. H., Reynders, P., Ng, C. T. S., & Chen, I.-H. (2023). No person is an island: Unpacking the work and after-work consequences of interacting with artificial intelligence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0001103
- van der Horst, A. C., Klehe, U. C., Brenninkmeijer, V., & Coolen, A. C. M. (2021). Facilitating a successful school-to-work transition: Comparing compact career-adaptation interventions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *128*(April 2019), 103581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2021.103581
- von Krogh, G. (2018). Artificial Intelligence in Organizations: New Opportunities for Phenomenon-Based Theorizing. Academy of Management Discoveries, 4(4), 404–409. https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2018.0084
- Ward, M. K., & Meade, A. W. (2022). Dealing with Careless Responding in Survey Data:
  Prevention, Identification, and Recommended Best Practices. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 74(1), 577–596. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-040422-045007

Wojcieszak, M., Thakur, A., Ferreira Gonçalves, J. F., Casas, A., Menchen-Trevino, E., & Boon,

M. (2021). Can AI Enhance People's Support for Online Moderation and Their Openness to Dissimilar Political Views? *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *26*(4), 223– 243. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcmc/zmab006

- Xu, G., Li, Z., & Wang, H. (2021). Supervisory career support and workplace wellbeing in chinese healthcare workers: The mediating role of career commitment and the moderating role of future work self-salience. *Sustainability*, *13*(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13105572
- Yam, K. C., Tang, P. M., Jackson, J. C., Su, R., & Gray, K. (2022). The Rise of Robots Increases Job Insecurity and Maladaptive Workplace Behaviors: Multimethod Evidence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 108(5), 850–870. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0001045
- Yu, K., Lin, W., Wang, L., Ma, J., Wei, W., Wang, H., Guo, W., & Shi, J. (2016). The role of affective commitment and future work self salience in the abusive supervision–job performance relationship. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 89(1), 28–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12101
- Zamfirescu-Pereira, J. D., Wong, R. Y., Hartmann, B., & Yang, Q. (2023). Why Johnny Can't Prompt: How Non-AI Experts Try (and Fail) to Design LLM Prompts. *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*. https://doi.org/10.1145/3544548.3581388
- Zickar, M. J., & Keith, M. G. (2023). Innovations in Sampling: Improving the Appropriateness and Quality of Samples in Organizational Research. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 10, 315–337. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevorgpsych-120920-052946



Figure 1. Theoretical Model.



Figure 2. Schema of the study designs.


*Figure 3.* Study 1: Moderating effect of FWSS on the relationship between experimental condition and perceived control over the FWS T1.



*Figure 4.* Study 2: Moderating effect of FWSS on the relationship between experimental condition and perceived control over the FWS T2.

•



**Experimental Condition** 

*Figure 5.* Study 3: Moderating effect of FWSS on the relationship between experimental condition and perceived control over the FWS T1

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations Between Study Variables (Study 1)

| Variable                             | М    | SD   | 1     | 2          | 3          | 4   | 5     | 6               | 7     | 8         | 9  | 10  | 11 | 12  | 13    | 14 |
|--------------------------------------|------|------|-------|------------|------------|-----|-------|-----------------|-------|-----------|----|-----|----|-----|-------|----|
| 1. Condition                         | 0.49 | 0.50 |       |            |            |     |       |                 |       |           |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 2. FWSS                              | 3.47 | 1.04 | 01    |            |            |     |       |                 |       |           |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 3. Perceived control over the FWS T1 | 5.46 | 0.95 | .03   | .54**      |            |     |       |                 |       |           |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 4. Perceived control over the FWS T2 | 3.35 | 0.79 | 00    | $.54^{**}$ | $.80^{**}$ |     |       |                 |       |           |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 5. Age (years)                       | 32.2 | 9.16 | 14    | .19*       | .06        | .06 |       |                 |       |           |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 6. Gender                            | 0.37 | 0.48 | 13    | 12         | 00         | 00  | 03    |                 |       |           |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 7. Education                         | 5.72 | 0.72 | 05    | 09         | .00        | 01  | 18*   | .07             |       |           |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 8. Industry – Business services      | 0.23 | 0.42 | 08    | 08         | 13         | 14  | 15    | .25**           | .01   |           |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 9. Industry – Management             | 0.04 | 0.21 | 06    | 09         | 05         | 05  | .06   | .00             | .04 - | .12       |    |     |    |     |       |    |
| 10. Industry – IT                    | 0.13 | 0.33 | .14   | 08         | .05        | .04 | .01   | 05              | 06    | 22**      | 08 |     |    |     |       |    |
| 11. Industry – Engineering           | 0.08 | 0.28 | .05   | .14        | .05        | .05 | .26** | 19 <sup>*</sup> | 04 -  | $.17^{*}$ | 06 | 12  |    |     |       |    |
| 12. Industry – Medical               | 0.05 | 0.23 | .04   | $.18^{*}$  | 00         | .04 | 03    | .01             | 01 -  | .14       | 05 | 09  | 07 |     |       |    |
| 13. Knowledge of AI                  | 3.10 | 0.86 | .07   | .14        | .10        | .12 | 04    | 17*             | .03   | .03       | 02 | .12 | 01 | 02  |       |    |
| 14. ChatGPT usage in the past week   | 1.89 | 0.90 | .25** | .03        | .02        | .07 | 13    | 18*             | .04 - | .05       | 04 | .06 | 04 | .12 | .23** |    |

*Note.* N = 174. 1 = AI condition; 0 = control condition. Gender was dummy coded with <math>0 = male and 1 = female. Education was coded with 1 = Left high school without a formal qualification; 2 = Completion of compulsory basic primary or secondary schooling; <math>3 = Completion of GCSEs or equivalent qualifications; 4 = Completion of A-Levels or equivalent qualifications; 5 = Completion of apprenticeship or training; <math>6 = Technical college or university degree/Ph.D./postdoctoral qualification. Industry variables are dummy coded, with "other" as the reference category. Knowledge about AI was coded with 1 = I have no knowledge; 2 = Novice: I have heard of AI; 3 = Intermediate: I have read media articles or have listened to news about AI technologies; 4 = Advanced: I have used AI-based tools and have some understanding of how they work; 5 = Expert: For example, I am an academic or industry researcher in AI.

\* p < .05. \*\* p < .01.

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations Between Study Variables (Study 2)

| Variable                                   | M      | SD   | 1   | 2          | 3     | 4   | 5     | 6     | 7         | 8    | 9    | 10    | 11 | 12  | 13    | 14    | 15 |
|--|--------|------|-----|------------|-------|-----|-------|-------|-----------|------|------|-------|----|-----|-------|-------|----|
| 1. Condition                               | 0.48   | 0.50 |     |            |       |     |       |       |           |      |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 2. FWSS                                    | 3.35   | 0.88 | 07  |            |       |     |       |       |           |      |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 3. Perceived control over the FWS T1       | 5.52   | 0.90 | .03 | .25**      |       |     |       |       |           |      |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 4. Perceived control over the FWS T2       | 5.49   | 0.90 | .04 | $.30^{**}$ | .73** |     |       |       |           |      |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 5. Age (years)                             | 22.4   | 9.94 | .10 | .00        | 23**  | 16* |       |       |           |      |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 6. Gender                                  | 0.44   | 0.49 | 05  | .00        | 05    | 03  | .08   |       |           |      |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 7. Education                               | 4.49   | 1.20 | .12 | 07         | 14*   | 10  | .57** | .11   |           |      |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 8. Aspired-to industry – Business services | s 0.32 | 0.47 | 04  | 05         | .00   | .00 | 15*   | .08   | 10        |      |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 9. Aspired-to industry – Management        | 0.31   | 0.46 | .06 | 01         | .10   | .08 | 05    | 09    | 01        | 48** |      |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 10. Aspired-to industry – IT               | 0.08   | 0.28 | 02  | .03        | 06    | 09  | .09   | .07   | $.15^{*}$ | 22** | 21** |       |    |     |       |       |    |
| 11. Aspired-to industry – Engineering      | 0.05   | 0.23 | .05 | .08        | .02   | .04 | .06   | 09    | 01        | 17*  | 17*  | 07    |    |     |       |       |    |
| 12. Aspired-to industry – Medical          | 0.02   | 0.16 | .06 | .07        | .02   | 03  | .02   | .19** | .02       | 12   | 11   | 05    | 04 |     |       |       |    |
| 13. Knowledge of AI                        | 3.20   | 0.78 | 08  | .04        | .20** | .10 | 04    | 15*   | .07       | 06   | .10  | .12   | 03 | .03 |       |       |    |
| 14. Overall ChatGPT usage                  | 3.73   | 1.98 | 04  | 02         | 02    | 05  | 08    | 23**  | 10        | .04  | .12  | .07   | 07 | 12  | .46** |       |    |
| 15. ChatGPT usage in the past week         | 1.88   | 1.11 | .13 | .06        | .03   | 03  | .01   | 29**  | 08        | .04  | .01  | .20** | 03 | 14* | .39** | .60** |    |

*Note.* N = 208. 1 = AI condition; 0 = control condition. Gender was dummy coded with 0 = male and 1 = female. Education was coded with 1 = Left high school without a formal qualification; 2 = Completion of compulsory basic primary or secondary schooling; 3 = Completion of GCSEs or equivalent qualifications; 4 = Completion of A-Levels or equivalent qualifications; 5 = Completion of apprenticeship or training; 6 = Technical college or university degree/Ph.D./postdoctoral qualification. Industry variables are dummy coded, with "Other" as the reference category. Knowledge about AI was coded with 1 = I have no knowledge; 2 = Novice: I have heard of AI; 3 = Intermediate: I have read media articles or have listened to news about AI technologies; 4 = Advanced: I have used AI-based tools and have some understanding of how they work; 5 = Expert: For example, I am an academic or industry researcher in AI. \* p < .05. \*\* p < .01.

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations Between Study Variables (Study 3)

| Variable                             | M    | SD   | 1         | 2     | 3     | 4   | 5                          | 6    | 7         | 8         | 9                         | 10    | 11        | 12  | 13    | 14    | 15 |
|--------------------------------------|------|------|-----------|-------|-------|-----|----------------------------|------|-----------|-----------|---------------------------|-------|-----------|-----|-------|-------|----|
| 1 Condition                          | 0.49 | 0.50 |           | 2     | 5     | -   | 5                          | 0    | ,         | 0         | ,                         | 10    | 11        | 12  | 15    |       | 15 |
| 2. FWSS                              | 3.47 | 1.04 | 06        |       |       |     |                            |      |           |           |                           |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 3. Perceived control over the FWS T1 | 5.46 | 0.95 | .00       | .39** |       |     |                            |      |           |           |                           |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 4. Proactive Career Behavior T2      | 3.35 | 0.79 | .00       | .37** | .51** |     |                            |      |           |           |                           |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 5. Age (years)                       | 32.2 | 9.16 | 06        | .19*  | 14    | 15  |                            |      |           |           |                           |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 6. Gender                            | 0.45 | 0.49 | 10        | 00    | 11    | .02 | 03                         |      |           |           |                           |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 7. Education                         | 5.72 | 0.72 | .11       | 07    | .03   | .12 | 10                         | 01   |           |           |                           |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 8. Industry – Business services      | 0.23 | 0.42 | 06        | 11    | 11    | 05  | .00                        | .04  | 08        |           |                           |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 9. Industry – Management             | 0.21 | 0.41 | 07        | .05   | .12   | .11 | .01                        | 05   | .02       | 29**      |                           |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 10. Industry – IT                    | 0.08 | 0.27 | $.17^{*}$ | 21**  | 02    | 05  | 02                         | 18*  | .02       | 17*       | 15                        |       |           |     |       |       |    |
| 11. Industry – Engineering           | 0.07 | 0.25 | .08       | 01    | .02   | 05  | 03                         | 04   | .00       | 15        | 14                        | 08    |           |     |       |       |    |
| 12. Industry – Medical               | 0.11 | 0.32 | .05       | .03   | 03    | 04  | 06                         | .16* | .00       | 20*       | <b>-</b> .19 <sup>*</sup> | 11    | 10        |     |       |       |    |
| 13. Knowledge of AI                  | 3.10 | 0.86 | .03       | .04   | .25** | .11 | 20*                        | 16*  | .08       | 11        | .04                       | .24** | $.17^{*}$ | 20* |       |       |    |
| 14. Overall ChatGPT usage            | 3.25 | 1.84 | 00        | .00   | .11   | .12 | <b>-</b> .31 <sup>**</sup> | 22** | $.16^{*}$ | .14       | .04                       | .06   | .13       | 18* | .43** |       |    |
| 15. ChatGPT usage in the past week   | 1.89 | 0.90 | .03       | 02    | .12   | .06 | 26**                       | 27** | .06       | $.20^{*}$ | 04                        | .08   | .14       | 16* | .23** | .66** |    |

*Note.* N = 155. Condition was coded with 1 = AI condition and 0 = control condition. Gender was dummy coded with <math>0 = male and 1 = female. Education was coded with 1 = Left high school without a formal qualification; 2 = Completion of compulsory basic primary or secondary schooling;<math>3 = Completion of GCSEs or equivalent qualifications; 4 = Completion of A-Levels or equivalent qualifications; 5 = Completion of apprenticeshipor training; 6 = Technical college or university degree/Ph.D./postdoctoral qualification. Industry variables are dummy coded, with "Other" as thereference category. Knowledge about AI was coded with <math>1 = I have no knowledge; 2 = Novice: I have heard of AI; 3 = Intermediate: I have read media articles or have listened to news about AI technologies; 4 = Advanced: I have used AI-based tools and have some understanding of how they work; 5 = Expert: For example, I am an academic or industry researcher in AI. \* p < .05. \*\* p < .01.

### Regression Results With Interaction Terms (Studies 1, 2, and 3)

| Dependent variable             |           |      |           | Perc | eived contro | l over the | FWS   |      |            |      | Proactive<br>Beha | e Career<br>vior |
|--------------------------------|-----------|------|-----------|------|--------------|------------|-------|------|------------|------|-------------------|------------------|
|                                |           | Stu  | dy 1      |      |              | Stu        | dy 2  |      |            | Stu  | ıdy 3             |                  |
|                                | Mod       | el 1 | Mod       | el 2 | Mod          | el 1       | Mod   | el 2 | Mod        | el 1 | Mod               | el 2             |
| Predictors                     | β         | SE   | β         | SE   | β            | SE         | β     | SE   | β          | SE   | β                 | SE               |
| Age                            | 00        | .01  | 00        | .01  | 04*          | .02        | 03    | .02  | 02**       | .01  | 01                | .01              |
| Gender                         | .14       | .12  | .14       | .13  | 05           | .10        | 05    | .11  | 20         | .14  | .12               | .12              |
| Education                      | .04       | .05  | .02       | .05  | 03           | .05        | 02    | .05  | .03        | .10  | .10               | .08              |
| Knowledge of AI                | .05       | .08  | .05       | .09  | .25**        | .07        | .16*  | .08  | $.28^{**}$ | .09  | 06                | .07              |
| Overall ChatGPT usage          |           |      |           |      | 06*          | .03        | 05    | .03  | 04         | .04  | .03               | .04              |
| ChatGPT usage in the past week |           |      | .09       | .08  |              |            |       |      |            |      |                   |                  |
| Condition                      | .09       | .12  | 02        | .12  | .14          | .10        | .14   | .11  | 01         | .14  | 00                | .11              |
| Perceived control over the FWS |           |      |           |      |              |            |       |      |            |      | .42**             | .06              |
| FWSS                           | .39**     | .08  | .39**     | .08  | .13          | .08        | .14   | .08  | .14        | .10  |                   |                  |
| Condition x FWSS               | $.26^{*}$ | .12  | .25*      | .12  | .13          | .11        | .26*  | .12  | .44**      | .13  |                   |                  |
| $R^2$                          | .32**     |      | .32**     |      | .18**        |            | .16** |      | .30**      |      | .28**             |                  |
| $\Delta R^2$                   | $.02^{*}$ |      | $.02^{*}$ |      | .01          |            | .02*  |      | $.05^{**}$ |      |                   |                  |

*Note.*  $N_{Study 1} = 174$ .  $N_{Study 2} = 208$ .  $N_{Study 3} = 155$ . Condition was coded with 1 = AI condition and 0 = control condition. Gender was dummy coded with 0 = male and 1 = female. Education was coded with 1 = Left high school without a formal qualification; 2 = Completion of compulsory basic primary or secondary schooling; 3 = Completion of GCSEs or equivalent qualifications; 4 = Completion of A-Levels or equivalent qualifications; 5 = Completion of apprenticeship or training; 6 = Technical college or university degree/Ph.D./postdoctoral qualification. Knowledge about AI was coded with 1 = I have no knowledge; 2 = Novice: I have heard of AI; 3 = Intermediate: I have read media articles or have listened to news about AI technologies; 4 = Advanced: I have used AI-based tools and have some understanding of how they work; 5 = Expert: For example, I am an academic or industry researcher in AI. \* p < .05. \*\* p < .01. \*\*\* p < .001.

# **5** General Discussion

Organizational scholars (Dries et al., 2023; van Knippenberg & Stam, 2014) and practitioners (Ashkenas & Moore, 2022; Collins & Porras, 1996; Johnson & Suskewicz, 2020) agree that one of the most important elements for motivating individual and collective effort is a clear vision of the future. However, academic research on the specific mechanisms and boundary conditions of visions is still in its infancy, and empirical studies remain scarce (Kearney et al., 2019; Venus et al., 2019). Although some studies have begun to examine visions as a boundary condition, the majority of studies so far have investigated the main effects of visions in motivating behavior. An important reason for the limited progress is that previous research has conflated visions and visionary leadership with broader leadership concepts such as transformational leadership (Buss & Kearney, 2024; Carton, 2022). To this end, this dissertation aimed to examine visions at the individual level (Kehr et al., 2021; Stam et al., 2014; Strauss et al., 2012) to better understand the mechanisms, boundary conditions, and the situations in which visions shape behavior. Based on three overarching research questions derived in the introductory Chapter 1.1, the dissertation presents eight studies with 1888 participants in Chapters 2 to 4 that provide answers to the research questions using rigorous experimental designs and different quantitative methods to explore the proposed hypotheses. To conclude this dissertation, Section 5.1 summarizes the main findings of Chapters 2 through 4, Section 5.2 outlines the contributions to the literature, Section 5.3 discusses the practical implications, and Section 5.4 presents limitations and future research directions before concluding in Section 5.5.

# 5.1 Summary of Findings

In Chapter 2, I focused on the potential mediators of the motivational effects of visions. Specifically, I examined the role of positive affective reactions as a mediator between visions and vision-related goal pursuit. The results are consistent with my theorizing. First, I demonstrated that visions evoke more positive affective reactions than simply listing a superordinate goal. Second, I showed that visions, through positive affective reactions, are positively related to the pursuit of vision-derived goals. Thus, these findings provide the first empirical support for the idea that visions motivate by eliciting positive emotional responses that increase motivation for vision-related behavior.

In Chapter 3, building on the results of the previous chapter, I focused on better understanding the unique boundary conditions that shape the effects of visions on vision-related goal pursuit. Specifically, I found that vision self-concordance, i.e., the degree of alignment or congruence between an individual's vision and his or her implicit motives, shapes the extent to which a vision evokes positive affect and subsequent vision-related goal pursuit. Specifically, I found that high self-concordance (as opposed to low self-concordance) resulted in increased positive affect and greater commitment and progress toward a goal derived from the vision. These findings support the idea that the degree to which a vision resonates with a person influences the amount of positive affect and motivation that is elicited.

In Chapter 4, I examined the moderating role of salient future work selves, conceptualized as personal career visions as done by previous research (Strauss et al., 2012; Strauss & Parker, 2018), on the relationship between interacting with an AI and career-related attitudes and behaviors. Specifically, I found that a salient future work self shapes the effects of the relationship between interacting with an AI (versus a control group) on perceived control over one's FWS, such that individuals with a salient FWS experience more perceived control than those with a less salient FWS. Furthermore, I demonstrated that these results extend to proactive career behaviors. Specifically, individuals with a salient FWS who interact with an AI perceive more control over their FWS, which in turn promotes proactive career behaviors, compared to those with a less salient FWS. These results provide support for the notion that

high FWSS buffers the effect of AI interaction on perceived control over the FWS and proactive career behavior.

# 5.2 **Theoretical Implications**

The results of this dissertation make significant contributions to several areas within the literature. I will detail these contributions across five topics: the organizational literature on visions, the goal-setting literature, self-concordance theory, the literature on future work selves, and the literature on interactions with artificial intelligence. This structured approach allows for a comprehensive assessment of the theoretical implications generated across the three chapters included in this dissertation.

The results of Chapters 2 and 3 contribute to the organizational literature on visions. First, both chapters provide insight into the motivational process of visions. Scholars have repeatedly argued that the processes of how visions operate motivationally are not yet well understood (Boyatzis et al., 2015; Kohles et al., 2012; Strauss et al., 2012; Venus et al., 2019), especially when visions are reduced to simply communicating an image of the future (Kearney et al., 2019). Drawing on findings from clinical psychology (e.g., Schubert et al., 2020) and organizational research (Fiset & Boies, 2019; Naidoo & Lord, 2008), the findings in Chapters 2 and 3 indicate that visions evoke positive affect which, in turn, motivates vision-related goal pursuit. By doing so, I complement the findings of earlier research that highlighted the important role of imagery in visions (Carton et al., 2014; Carton & Lucas, 2018; Masuda et al., 2010) by identifying the power of visions to evoke positive affect, as one potential pathway of visions motivational effect (see Rawolle et al., 2017). In doing so, I advance the understanding of positive affect as a key mediating mechanism in how visions influence motivation and behavior, in response to the recent call by Paine et al. (2023). Developing a vision and imagining it vividly evokes positive affective reactions that are associated with the anticipation of the realization of that vision. This positive response is then transferred to one's current

emotional state, thereby giving the vision a positive valence (Fishbach et al., 2004). Thus, beyond demonstrating the potential motivational impact of a simple 'vision intervention,' our research also builds on FWS research, which encourages future researchers to address the effects of future images on emotional states (Strauss et al., 2012).

Second, Chapter 2 adds to the organizational research on visions by examining previously neglected individual-level factors in the effectiveness of visions. The importance of individual-level factors has been largely neglected in the literature (Berson et al., 2016), as most research has mainly focused on organizational-level factors to investigate the ways in which visions affect performance (Halevy et al., 2011; Vanderstukken et al., 2019). This is somewhat surprising considering that researchers have long hypothesized that the congruence between visions and individual values enhances motivation (Lewis & Clark, 2020; Shamir et al., 1993). Only recently, Fan et al. (2022) have tested this hypothesis. Building on these findings, Chapter 2 demonstrates the role of visions self-concordance as a moderator of visions' effects on goal commitment and progress. These findings not only provide empirical support for the longstanding hypothesis that aligning visions with personal values is essential for vision effectiveness (Shamir et al., 1993), but also refine this perspective by demonstrating that aligning with more implicit aspects of the individual self, such as basic psychological needs and intrinsic values, influences the power of visions (Kehr et al., 2021). In this way, my findings add to recent work that encourages aligning visions with employees' identities (Lewis & Clark, 2020) and promoting personal ownership of visions (Kearney et al., 2019) to foster both internalized and identified motivation. By highlighting the crucial importance of selfconcordance in the link between visions and vision-related goal pursuit, our study advances existing research by considering the role of the person in the successful implementation of visions, highlighting the importance of considering individuals' unique characteristics and value orientations when creating visions.

Third, both Chapters 2 and 3 add to the literature on visions by taking an individuallevel perspective on the motivational effects of visions. Although scholars have noted that visions are individual-level cognitions that begin at the individual level by motivating and influencing a person's behavior (Kehr et al., 2021) and have emphasized the importance of taking a personal perspective on visions (Preller et al., 2020), most research has examined visions at the collective level (Kipfelsberger et al., 2022). Our study provides new insights into how individual visions may be an important tool to help individuals pursue career-related goals and, thus, their own careers, building on theorists (Fiset & Robinson, 2020) who speculate that individual-level visions may be an important factor in career development. Moreover, given the recent scholarly emphasis on the importance of organizations taking into account employees' individual visions (Preller et al., 2020) and increasing employees' personal connection to their visions (Carton, 2022), a better understanding of such individual-level visions may be particularly important.

Moreover, the results of Chapters 2 and 3 contribute to the literature on goals. On the one hand, Chapters 2 and 3 investigate in which way visions are related to hierarchically related goals. Although scholars have called for the integration of research on visions and goals (Berson et al., 2015) and suggested that visions should be translated into concrete goals (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Stam et al., 2014), to the best of my knowledge, no studies have empirically examined this question. To this end, Chapters 2 and 3 draw on work on emotion spillover in goal systems theory (e.g., Fishbach et al., 2004) and theoretical propositions by Stam et al. (2014), who define vision pursuit as all "goal-directed actions that are hierarchically related to the vision". Specifically, I add to these works by demonstrating that positive affect evoked by visions spills over to vision-derived goals, which in turn motivates the pursuit of vision-derived goals. Thus, I suggest that these chapters suggest a possible process by which visions exert their motivational impact, even though understanding the precise mechanism by which visions

by examining how vision-derived goals become affectively charged and, in turn, individuals seem to pursue them more intensely. Although some studies (Oettingen, 2012) have shown that images of a positive future lead to only moderate goal commitment, the current studies have demonstrated that visions and vision-evoked positive affect promote goal pursuit. Consistent with research showing that images of a desired future promote proactivity (e.g., Strauss et al., 2012), I suggest that a vision can illuminate an existing gap between the positive future and the status quo.

On the other hand, the findings in Chapters 2 and 3 provide important insights into the ongoing discussion of the effects of positive affect on goal pursuit. In my dissertation, I build my argument around the literature that has shown positive affect to be beneficial for goal pursuit (e.g., Aarts et al., 2008; Custers & Aarts, 2005). However, another body of work has reported that positive affective responses can also lead to coasting (i.e., people invest less effort) or switching to alternative goals (e.g., Louro et al., 2007; Thürmer et al., 2020). In this vein, some have speculated that positive affect may only be detrimental to goal pursuit when goals are nearly completed or when there are conflicting goals (Fishbach & Dhar, 2005; Orehek et al., 2011; Thürmer et al., 2020). I add to these findings by showing that when individuals engage in the pursuit of a novel goal that they deem important for the attainment of their vision, visionevoked positive affect is implicitly linked to that goal (Fishbach et al., 2004; Fishbach & Finkelstein, 2011) and serves as an essential resource (Fredrickson, 2004) that energizes the pursuit of this newly identified goal and helps to sustain the early stages of goal pursuit (Custers & Aarts, 2005; Fishbach & Labroo, 2007; Orehek et al., 2011). Thus, the findings in Chapters 2 and 3 illustrate the important role of goal structure and goal stage in shaping the motivational consequences of positive affect and highlight that the relationship between positive affect and goal pursuit is context-dependent.

Furthermore, Chapter 3 of my dissertation also provides new insights into the literature on self-concordance (Sheldon & Elliot, 1999), which has demonstrated the association between

self-concordance and positive affective responses in personal goal contexts (Gillet et al., 2014; Levine et al., 2021; Sheldon et al., 2004). However, until now, research has not examined the effects of self-concordance in the context of visions. While a number of researchers have suggested that a similar effect should extend to visions (e.g., Kehr et al., 2021; Rawolle et al., 2017), suggesting that visions are best at eliciting positive affect when they are more selfconcordant with the deeper self or values, there is still little empirical evidence to support this proposition. I fill this gap in the literature by showing that visions are more effective at eliciting positive affect when they are more self-concordant. In particular, my findings are consistent with recent findings that demonstrated that self-concordant future events have a distinct phenomenological status, are characterized by more intense and positive emotions, and are more closely associated with autobiographical knowledge (Ernst et al., 2018). This relationship between self-concordance and the experiential nature of imagined future events provides a convincing explanation for my findings that self-concordant visions are more successful at generating positive affect.

In addition, Chapter 4 of my dissertation adds to the literature on FWS. First, studies examining FWS and their salience have largely focused on the main effects. Only a few studies have examined the salience of a FWS as a boundary condition (Xu et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2016). I contribute to this research by demonstrating that the salience of a FWS can shape individuals' responses to interacting with AI. This finding is particularly relevant as the integration of AI systems into human jobs is on the rise (Duan et al., 2019; Jarrahi, 2018), in what can be considered a new technological revolution (Pereira et al., 2023). As such, my findings provide crucial insights for managers seeking to understand the impact of AI integration on employees' work-related cognitions and behaviors (Budhwar et al., 2023).

Second, I extend the FWS literature by incorporating research from social psychology on the broader construct of possible selves (Oyserman & James, 2009) and examining perceived control over the FWS. In particular, I show that, as proposed by the proactive motivation model (Parker et al., 2010), both salience, a "reason-to" factor, and perceived control, a "can-do" factor, jointly predict proactive career behavior. In the validation study, I show that individuals' FWS-control, i.e., their can-do motivation with respect to their future work self, differs from a number of control-related concepts in the career literature, such as the control dimension of career adaptability or job-related control appraisals. Our findings add to this broader line of research that emphasizes the importance of control beliefs in the context of career management (Kossek et al., 1998; Lent & Brown, 2013). In my model, AI, which can be viewed as either supporting or constraining individuals' career trajectories, affects their career-related perceptions of control either positively or negatively, depending on the salience of the FWS. Thus, FWS salience is an individual-level factor that differs across individuals and shapes the effect of context on individuals' future career control beliefs. In light of the uncertainty created by interacting with a sophisticated AI, a clear FWS seems to act as a personal resource that helps individuals maintain a sense of control over their desired future careers.

Finally, Chapter 4 of my dissertation adds to the general literature that examines the impact of interacting with artificial intelligence on career-related attitudes and behaviors by taking a future-oriented perspective. So far, research on employees' views of AI has largely taken a "present" perspective (e.g., Kong et al., 2023), for example, by examining their views of the effects of AI on their present job performance (e.g., Bhargava et al., 2021). Specifically, my research shows that individuals interpret AI interactions not only in terms of their immediate challenges and opportunities, but also in terms of how these interactions might fit into and influence their future careers. I thus add a novel angle to recent insights (Tang et al., 2023) that interactions with AI can have both positive and negative outcomes. By presenting FWSS as a crucial individual difference, I shed light on why some individuals see AI as an asset in helping to shape their future, while others see it as a threat to their career aspirations. Having a clear and easily accessible picture of who they want to be in their future career might allow

individuals interacting with an AI to simulate possible future scenarios in their minds, enabling them to experience AI as an opportunity rather than a threat.

# 5.3 Practical Implications

The findings of my dissertation also offer several valuable practical implications for visions at both the individual and organizational levels. In Chapters 2-4, I demonstrate the importance of visions that affectively resonate, are perceived as self-concordant, and are salient. At the individual level, organizations could seek to integrate interventions into formal career management practices, career development, training opportunities, or coaching and mentoring to help employees develop self-concordant and salient visions. For example, organizations could incorporate reflective exercises such as mindfulness meditation (Brown & Ryan, 2003) or goal imagery techniques (Job & Brandstätter, 2009) to help employees identify visions that align with their personal values and motivations. To increase the clarity of these visions, these interventions should also include mental imagery exercises (Blouin-Hudon & Pychyl, 2017), which can help employees create vivid images of their work in the future (Strauss & Parker, 2018).

In addition, leaders can play an important role in aiding employees to create a clear and vivid picture of their future. Avolio et al. (2004) have shown that leaders have a profound effect on how employees see themselves. For example, when leaders demonstrate that they have high expectations and confidence in their employees' abilities and potential, they can inspire and encourage employees to develop a clear personal vision (Avolio et al., 2004).

At the organizational level, visions are often used in day-to-day corporate life to derive goals that employees work toward. However, if the corporate vision does not evoke positive affect in employees, it can also be counterproductive to the pursuit of personal goals at work. For example, when it is communicated in a rather abstract and less vivid manner (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Naidoo & Lord, 2008). Therefore, leaders should evaluate how the vision can evoke positive affective responses in employees. If positive affective responses in employees are weak, leaders could reframe the vision in more vivid and pictorial language (Carton & Lucas, 2018; Kehr et al., 2021). Similarly, given the role of self-concordance, leaders have an important role to play in helping employees by presenting opportunities and rationales for decisions, championing workplace values, and addressing affective needs (Bono & Judge, 2003).

In addition, organizations should seek to engage employees in the vision-building process, for example, by holding workshops and events in which employees collaboratively explore and design the organization's future aspirations. This collaborative method not only strengthens the alignment between the organization's vision and employees' deeper selves, but also increases their commitment and motivation to pursue the goals derived from such vision (Lewis & Clark, 2020).

# 5.4 Limitations and Directions for Future Research

Although the results of this dissertation advance our understanding of visions, it also has a number of limitations. First, the mediator, moderator, and outcome variables in Chapters 2-4 were assessed using self-report measures only. Thus, future studies should aim to incorporate multiple sources of data by assessing objective indicators of goal-related behaviors (e.g., grades, workload) for Chapters 2 and 3 or actual proactive career behaviors (e.g., reported by subjects' supervisors) for Chapter 4 to strengthen the validity of the findings.

Second, although Chapters 2-4 all use time-lagged designs in one or more of the studies, overcoming the shortcomings of cross-sectional designs, all studies only used one additional measurement point. In order to adequately capture the dynamic processes that are likely to be at play, future studies should measure the goal-related variables (commitment and progress toward goals) and the proactive career behaviors multiple times at regular intervals over a longer period of time (Ployhart & Vandenberg, 2010). For example, future studies could use

experience sampling methods to examine whether the influence of a vision on the pursuit of goals derived from it remains constant (Chapters 2-3), or whether people become more or less proactive over time (Chapter 4). In addition, researchers might examine the extent to which reminding participants of their vision for their future work between the days of data collection might affect their goal pursuit (Chapters 2 and 3) or proactive career behavior (Chapter 4).

Third, in Chapters 2-3, I used the vision construct from organizational research as our theoretical lens, conceptualizing visions as positive (Rawolle et al., 2017). This was also the case in Chapter 4, where I used future work selves, which are similarly defined as positive (Strauss et al., 2012). However, recent literature has theorized about the potential impact of negative visions on motivation (Kehr et al., 2021). Negative visions, which depict negatively valenced future scenarios, may serve to motivate employees to increase their efforts or modify their behaviors to avoid undesirable outcomes (Kehr et al., 2021). Similarly, the FWS literature has speculated that negative FWS, although rare, may be associated with negative visions is scarce, it is conceivable that such visions may elicit negative emotions and, in turn, avoidance behaviors (Elliot & Sheldon, 1997) as a means of preventing the adverse event. Thus, future studies could empirically investigate whether thinking about a negative vision of one's future might also foster goal pursuit (Chapters 2 and 3) or proactive career behavior (Chapter 4).

Finally, in Chapter 4, I observed that participants who interacted with AI and had a clear vision of their professional future felt more in control of their future work. In addition to salience, however, future studies could explore how the nature of future work selves may be changing in light of rapidly advancing AI technologies. Think of a software developer who has spent years investing in professional training with a clear and salient image of what his or her future will entail. As AI technology takes over more and more programming tasks, their clear vision may conflict with the real-world dynamics of an AI-influenced labor market (Brynjolfsson & Mitchell, 2017). In fact, while salient FWS can be motivating, rigid adherence

to such FWS may be harmful. Thus, future studies could examine the interaction between the salience of a FWS and its degree of flexibility, providing new insights into how individuals can skillfully balance their career ambitions with the quickly changing work landscape in order to ensure both career advancement and personal well-being.

# 5.5 Conclusion

Although extensive research has documented the benefits of visions in motivating behavior, the specific mechanisms by which visions exert their influence, the boundary conditions of these effects, and the extent to which visions shape behavior remain poorly understood. In this dissertation, I focused on individual-level visions to shed light on these gaps in research. I found that visions elicit positive affective responses, which in turn promote the pursuit of vision-derived goals. In addition, I found that perceived self-concordance of visions shaped the effect of visions on vision-related goal pursuit, such that when self-concordance was high (vs. low), visions led to increased positive affect and commitment, as well as progress toward vision-derived goals. Finally, I found that the clarity of one's vision of one's FWS moderates the effect of interacting with an AI on perceptions of control over one's future career. Specifically, individuals who interact with an AI and have a salient (vs. less salient) vision of their FWS perceive a greater sense of control over their future career, which promotes proactive career behaviors. As such, I hope that my dissertation has advanced our understanding of individual-level visions, provided actionable insights for organizations seeking to effectively leverage these visions, and encouraged further efforts to investigate how visions can enhance workplace motivation and proactive behaviors.

# 5.6 References

- Aarts, H., Custers, R., & Marien, H. (2008). Preparing and motivating behavior outside of awareness. Science, 319(5870), 16–39. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150432
- Ashkenas, R., & Moore, P. D. (2022, April 8). Keeping Sight of Your Company's Long-Term Vision. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2022/04/keeping-sight-of-yourcompanys-long-term-vision
- Avolio, B. J., Gardner, W. L., Walumbwa, F. O., Luthans, F., & May, D. R. (2004).
  Unlocking the mask: A look at the process by which authentic leaders impact follower attitudes and behaviors. *Leadership Quarterly*, *15*(6), 801–823.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2004.09.003
- Berson, Y., Halevy, N., Shamir, B., & Erez, M. (2015). Leading from different psychological distances: A construal-level perspective on vision communication, goal setting, and follower motivation. *Leadership Quarterly*, 26(2), 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.07.011
- Berson, Y., Waldman, D. A., & Pearce, C. L. (2016). Enhancing our understanding of vision in organizations: Toward an integration of leader and follower processes. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 6(2), 171–191. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386615583736
- Bhargava, A., Bester, M., & Bolton, L. (2021). Employees' Perceptions of the
  Implementation of Robotics, Artificial Intelligence, and Automation (RAIA) on Job
  Satisfaction, Job Security, and Employability. *Journal of Technology in Behavioral Science*, 6(1), 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41347-020-00153-8
- Blouin-Hudon, E. M. C., & Pychyl, T. A. (2017). A Mental Imagery Intervention to Increase Future Self-Continuity and Reduce Procrastination. *Applied Psychology*, 66(2), 326–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12088

- Bono, J. E., & Judge, T. A. (2003). Self-Concordance at Work: Toward Understanding the Motivational Effects of Transformational Leaders. *Academy of Management Journal*, 46, 554–571. https://doi.org/10.2307/30040649
- Boyatzis, R. E., Rochford, K., & Taylor, S. N. (2015). The role of the positive emotional attractor in vision and shared vision: toward effective leadership, relationships, and engagement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *6*, Article 670.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00670

- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The Benefits of Being Present: Mindfulness and Its
  Role in Psychological Well-Being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *84*(4),
  822–848. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.822
- Brynjolfsson, E., & Mitchell, T. (2017). What can machine learning do? Workforce implications. *Science*, *358*(6370), 1530–1534. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap8062
- Budhwar, P., Chowdhury, S., Wood, G., Aguinis, H., Bamber, G. J., Beltran, J. R., Boselie,
  P., Lee Cooke, F., Decker, S., DeNisi, A., Dey, P. K., Guest, D., Knoblich, A. J., Malik,
  A., Paauwe, J., Papagiannidis, S., Patel, C., Pereira, V., Ren, S., ... Varma, A. (2023).
  Human resource management in the age of generative artificial intelligence: Perspectives and research directions on ChatGPT. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 606–659.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12524
- Buss, M., & Kearney, E. (2024). Navigating the unknown: Uncertainty moderates the link between visionary leadership, perceived meaningfulness, and turnover intentions. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 2, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12500
- Carton, A. M. (2022). The Science of Leadership: A Theoretical Model and Research Agenda. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 9(1), 61–93. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012420-091227

- Carton, A. M., & Lucas, B. J. (2018). How can leaders overcome the blurry vision bias?
   Identifying an antidote to the paradox of vision communication. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(6), 2106–2129. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.0375
- Carton, A. M., Murphy, C., & Clark, J. R. (2014). A (blurry) vision of the future: How leader rhetoric about ultimate goals influences performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(6), 1544–1570. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2012.0101
- Collins, J. C., & Porras, J. I. (1996). Building Your Company's Vision. *Harvard Business Review*, 74, 65–78.
- Custers, R., & Aarts, H. (2005). Positive affect as implicit motivator: On the nonconscious operation of behavioral goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(2), 129– 142. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.2.129
- Dries, N., Luyckx, J., & Rogiers, P. (2023). Imagining the (Distant) Future of Work. Academy of Management Discoveries. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2022.0130
- Duan, Y., Edwards, J. S., & Dwivedi, Y. K. (2019). Artificial intelligence for decision making in the era of Big Data – evolution, challenges and research agenda. *International Journal* of Information Management, 48, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.01.021
- Elliot, A. J., & Sheldon, K. M. (1997). Avoidance achievement motivation: A personal goals analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73, 171–185. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.73.1.171
- Ernst, A., Philippe, F. L., & D'Argembeau, A. (2018). Wanting or having to: The role of goal self-concordance in episodic future thinking. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 66, 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2018.10.004
- Fiset, J., & Boies, K. (2019). Positively vivid visions: Making followers feel capable and happy. *Human Relations*, 72(10), 1651–1670. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718810105

- Fiset, J., & Robinson, M. A. (2020). Developing foresight through the evaluation and construction of vision statements: an experiential exercise. *Organization Management Journal*, 17(2), 99–115. https://doi.org/10.1108/OMJ-03-2019-0822
- Fishbach, A., & Dhar, R. (2005). Goals as excuses or guides: The liberating effect of perceived goal progress on choice. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 32(3), 370–377. https://doi.org/10.1086/497548
- Fishbach, A., & Finkelstein, S. R. (2011). How feedback influences persistence,
  disengagement, and change in goal pursuit. In H. Aarts & A. Elliot (Eds.), *Goal-directed behavior*. (pp. 203–230). Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203869666
- Fishbach, A., & Labroo, A. A. (2007). Be better or be merry: how mood affects self-control. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(2), 158–173. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.2.158
- Fishbach, A., Shah, J. Y., & Kruglanski, A. W. (2004). Emotional transfer in goal systems. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 40(6), 723–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2004.04.001
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2004). The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 359(1449), 1367–1378. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2004.1512
- Gillet, N., Lafrenière, M.-A. K., Vallerand, R. J., Huart, I., & Fouquereau, E. (2014). The effects of autonomous and controlled regulation of performance-approach goals on well-being: a process model. *The British Journal of Social Psychology*, *53*(1), 154–174. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12018
- Halevy, N., Berson, Y., & Galinsky, A. D. (2011). The mainstream is not electable: When vision triumphs over representativeness in leader emergence and effectiveness. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 37(7), 893–904.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167211402836

- Jarrahi, M. H. (2018). Artificial intelligence and the future of work: Human-AI symbiosis in organizational decision making. *Business Horizons*, 61(4), 577–586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2018.03.007
- Job, V., & Brandstätter, V. (2009). Get a taste of your goals: Promoting motive-goal congruence through affect-focus goal fantasy. *Journal of Personality*, 77(5), 1527–1560. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00591.x
- Johnson, M. W., & Suskewicz, J. (2020, April 17). Leaders, Do You Have a Clear Vision for the Post-Crisis Future? Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2020/04/leaders-doyou-have-a-clear-vision-for-the-post-crisis-future
- Kearney, E., Shemla, M., van Knippenberg, D., & Scholz, F. A. (2019). A paradox perspective on the interactive effects of visionary and empowering leadership. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 155, 20–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2019.01.001
- Kehr, H. M., Voigt, J., & Rawolle, M. (2021). Implicit motives as the missing link between visionary leadership, approach and avoidance motivation, and vision pursuit. *Organizational Psychology Review*, *12*(2), 1–27.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/20413866211061364
- Kipfelsberger, P., Raes, A., Herhausen, D., Kark, R., & Bruch, H. (2022). Start with why: The transfer of work meaningfulness from leaders to followers and the role of dyadic tenure. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 43(8), 1287–1309. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2649
- Kohles, J. C., Bligh, M. C., & Carsten, M. K. (2012). A follower-centric approach to the vision integration process. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 23(3), 476–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.12.002

- Kong, H., Yin, Z., Baruch, Y., & Yuan, Y. (2023). The impact of trust in AI on career sustainability: The role of employee–AI collaboration and protean career orientation. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *146*(180), Article 103928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2023.103928
- Kossek, E. E., Roberts, K., Fisher, S., & DeMarr, B. (1998). Career self-management: A quasi-experimental assessment of the effects of a training intervention. *Personnel Psychology*, 51(4), 935–962. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1998.tb00746.x
- Lent, R. W., & Brown, S. D. (2013). Social cognitive model of career self-management: toward a unifying view of adaptive career behavior across the life span. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60(4), 557–568. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033446
- Levine, S. L., Holding, A. C., Milyavskaya, M., Powers, T. A., & Koestner, R. (2021). Collaborative autonomy: The dynamic relations between personal goal autonomy and perceived autonomy support in emerging adulthood results in positive affect and goal progress. *Motivation Science*, 7, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000209
- Lewis, A., & Clark, J. (2020). Dreams within a dream: Multiple visions and organizational structure. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 41(1), 50–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2419
- Louro, M. J., Pieters, R., & Zeelenberg, M. (2007). Dynamics of Multiple-Goal Pursuit. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 93(2), 174–193. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.2.174
- Masuda, A. D., Kane, T. D., Shoptaugh, C. F., & Minor, K. A. (2010). The role of a vivid and challenging personal vision in goal hierarchies. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary* and Applied, 144(3), 221–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980903472235
- Naidoo, L. J., & Lord, R. G. (2008). Speech imagery and perceptions of charisma: The mediating role of positive affect. *Leadership Quarterly*, 19(3), 283–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.03.010

- Oettingen, G. (2012). Future thought and behaviour change. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 23(1), 1–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463283.2011.643698
- Orehek, E., Bessarabova, E., Chen, X., & Kruglanski, A. W. (2011). Positive affect as informational feedback in goal pursuit. *Motivation and Emotion*, 35(1), 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-010-9197-2
- Oyserman, D., & James, L. (2009). Possible selves: From content to process. In K. D. Markman, W. M. P. Klein, & J. A. Suhr (Eds.). *Handbook of imagination and mental simulation*. (pp. 373–394). Psychology Press.
- Pereira, V., Hadjielias, E., Christofi, M., & Vrontis, D. (2023). A systematic literature review on the impact of artificial intelligence on workplace outcomes: A multi-process perspective. *Human Resource Management Review*, *33*(1), 100857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2021.100857
- Ployhart, R. E., & Vandenberg, R. J. (2010). Longitudinal research: The theory, design, and analysis of change. *Journal of Management*, 36(1), 94–120. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206309352110
- Preller, R., Patzelt, H., & Breugst, N. (2020). Entrepreneurial visions in founding teams:
  Conceptualization, emergence, and effects on opportunity development. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *35*(2), Article 105914.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2018.11.004
- Rawolle, M., Schultheiss, O. C., Strasser, A., & Kehr, H. M. (2017). The Motivating Power of Visionary Images: Effects on Motivation, Affect, and Behavior. *Journal of Personality*, 85(6), 769–781. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12285
- Schubert, T., Eloo, R., Scharfen, J., & Morina, N. (2020). How imagining personal future scenarios influences affect: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 75, Article 101811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101811

- Shamir, B., House, R. J., & Arthur, M. B. (1993). The Motivational Effects of Charismatic Leadership: A Self-Concept Based Theory. *Organization Science*, 4(4), 577–594. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.4.4.577
- Sheldon, K. M., & Elliot, A. J. (1999). Goal striving, need satisfaction, and longitudinal wellbeing: The self-concordance model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76, 482–497. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.3.482
- Sheldon, K. M., Elliot, A. J., Ryan, R. M., Chirkov, V., Kim, Y., Wu, C., Demir, M., & Sun, Z. (2004). Self-concordance and subjective well-being in four cultures. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 35, 209–223. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022103262245
- Stam, D. A., Lord, R. G., van Knippenberg, D., & Wisse, B. (2014). An image of who we might become: Vision communication, possible selves, and vision pursuit. *Organization Science*, 25(4), 1172–1194. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2013.0891
- Strauss, K., Griffin, M. A., & Parker, S. K. (2012). Future work selves: How salient hoped-for identities motivate proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(3), 580–598. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026423
- Strauss, K., & Parker, S. K. (2018). Intervening to Enhance Proactivity in Organizations: Improving the Present or Changing the Future. *Journal of Management*, 44(3), 1250– 1278. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315602531
- Tang, P. M., Koopman, J., Mai, K. M., De Cremer, D., Zhang, J. H., Reynders, P., Ng, C. T. S., & Chen, I.-H. (2023). No person is an island: Unpacking the work and after-work consequences of interacting with artificial intelligence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0001103
- Thürmer, J. L., Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (2020). On the Mechanics of Goal Striving: Experimental Evidence of Coasting and Shifting. *Motivation Science*, 6(3), 266–274. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000157

- van Knippenberg, D., & Stam, D. (2014). Visionary Leadership. In D. V. Day (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Leadership and Organizations*. (pp. 241–259). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199755615.013.013
- Vanderstukken, A., Schreurs, B., Germeys, F., Van den Broeck, A., & Proost, K. (2019). Should supervisors communicate goals or visions? The moderating role of subordinates' psychological distance. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 49(11), 671–683. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12626
- Venus, M., Stam, D., & Van Knippenberg, D. (2019). Visions of change as visions of continuity. Academy of Management Journal, 62(3), 667–690. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.1196
- Xu, G., Li, Z., & Wang, H. (2021). Supervisory career support and workplace wellbeing in chinese healthcare workers: The mediating role of career commitment and the moderating role of future work self-salience. *Sustainability*, *13*(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13105572
- Yu, K., Lin, W., Wang, L., Ma, J., Wei, W., Wang, H., Guo, W., & Shi, J. (2016). The role of affective commitment and future work self salience in the abusive supervision–job performance relationship. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 89(1), 28–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12101

# **6** Appendix

# 6.1 Appendix A (Chapter 3)

#### **Supplemental Online Materials**

### Sensitivity Analyses

We examined the robustness of our findings by conducting sensitivity analyses, controlling for age and gender (Studies 1–3) as well as employment status (Study 3) in our hypotheses tests.

### Study 1

### Hypotheses Tests

To examine our first two hypotheses we followed recommendations by Preacher et al. (2007) and Hayes (2022) and used the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 1; Hayes, 2022). In order to examine these hypotheses, we predicted positive affect (dependent variable) based on group (independent variable, coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision), self-concordance (moderator), and the interaction term of group and self-concordance. Hypothesis 1 posited that visions as compared to superordinate goals would evoke more positive affect. As expected, we found that visions evoke more positive affect compared to superordinate goals ( $\beta = 0.46$ , p < .001), supporting Hypothesis 1. Next, we examined Hypothesis 2 which predicted that self-concordance would moderate the relationship between group (coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision) and positive affect, such that this relationship would be stronger when self-concordance is high than when self-concordance on positive affect,  $\beta = 0.03$ , p = .04, supporting Hypothesis 2. A simple slope analysis (Aiken & West, 1991) illustrated that for high self-concordance (1 *SD* above the mean), the relationship between

group and positive affect is stronger (simple slope = 0.60, p < .001) than for low selfconcordance (1 *SD* below the mean) (simple slope = 0.32, p < .001). Additionally, these slopes differed significantly from one another, z = 2.20, p = .02 (Paternoster et al., 1998). This further supports Hypothesis 2.

#### Study 2

### Hypotheses Tests

We applied moderated mediation analyses (Preacher et al., 2007) with the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 7; Hayes, 2022) to test our hypotheses. By doing so, we were able to generate the confidence intervals (CI) for the indirect effects in Hypothesis 3 and 4a as well as for the index of moderated mediation, which tests the equality of the conditional indirect effects, through bootstrapping (Hayes, 2022; Preacher & Hayes, 2004). We examined the hypotheses in SPSS version 26.0 (IBM Corp., 2019) with the PROCESS macro (Model 7; Hayes, 2022) utilizing bootstrapping with 5,000 resamples (Preacher & Hayes, 2004) and 95% confidence intervals. Hypothesis 1 posited that visions as compared to superordinate goals would evoke more positive affect. As expected, we found that visions compared to superordinate goals evoke more positive affect ( $\beta = 0.49, p < .001$ ). Hypothesis 2 proposed that self-concordance would moderate the relationship between group (coded as 0 =superordinate goal and 1 = vision) and positive affect. Supporting Hypothesis 2, we found a significant moderation effect of self-concordance on the relationship between group and positive affect ( $\beta = 0.03$ , p = .04) (Model 1, Table S6). Simple slope analyses (Aiken & West, 1991) revealed that the relationship between group and positive affect was positive and significant when self-concordance was high (1 SD above the mean) (estimate = 0.63, p < 0.63.001), but less positive when self-concordance was low (1 SD below the mean) (estimate = 0.36, p < .001). Moreover, these slopes differed significantly from one another, z = 2.12, p =.03 (Paternoster et al., 1998). Thus, Hypothesis 2 was fully supported.

Hypothesis 3 stated that positive affect mediates the effect of group on goal commitment. The indirect effect was significant at a 95 % confidence level (estimate = 0.13, [0.048; 0.240]), providing support for Hypothesis 3. Next, we examined Hypothesis 4a, which proposed the influence of group on goal commitment via positive affect and a moderating effect of self-concordance on this indirect effect. To examine this hypothesis, we incorporated the estimates from Model 1 (Table S6) and, moreover, the estimates from a second model where the goal commitment (dependent variable) was posited to be influenced by positive affect (mediator) while considering group (independent variable), self-concordance (moderator), and the interaction term of group and self-concordance (Model 2, Table S6). These model estimates may then in turn be employed to compute the index of moderated mediation, which, if it differs significantly from zero, supports Hypothesis 4a (Hayes, 2022). The concrete structure of the moderated indirect effect can be determined by estimating indirect effects and their corresponding confidence intervals across different values of selfconcordance (Hayes, 2022). Supporting Hypothesis 4a, our results revealed a significant effect of positive affect on goal commitment ( $\beta = 0.27, p = .01$ ) (Model 2, Table S6). We then utilized bootstrapping with 5,000 resamples (Preacher & Hayes, 2004) to estimate the 95% confidence intervals for both, the index of moderated mediation as well as the indirect effects at high (1 SD above the mean) and low (1 SD below the mean) values of self-concordance (Hayes, 2022). The index of moderated mediation was different from zero and therefore significant (index = 0.010, 95% CI [.0004; 0.025]), indicating that positive affect served as a mediator in the indirect effect of group on goal commitment, and this mediating effect was found to vary across different values of self-concordance. Concretely, the conditional indirect effect of group on goal commitment via positive affect was more positive when selfconcordance was high (1 SD above the mean) (estimate = 0.17, 95% CI [0.058; 0.310]) compared to when self-concordance was low (1 SD below the mean) (estimate = 0.10, 95%

CI [0.028; 0.199]). This difference was statistically significant (difference = .075, 95% CI [0.003; 0.237]). Hence, Hypothesis 4a was supported.

### Study 3

### Hypotheses Tests

To test our hypotheses, we used the same moderated mediation model (Hayes, 2022) as in Study 2 using the SPSS PROCESS macro (Model 7; Hayes, 2022). Hypothesis 1 posited that visions as compared to superordinate goals would evoke more positive affect. As expected, we found that visions compared to superordinate goals evoke more positive affect ( $\beta = 0.43, p < .001$ ). Hypothesis 2 postulated that self-concordance would moderate the relationship between group (coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision) and positive affect. As anticipated we found a significant interaction between group and self-concordance, predicting positive affect ( $\beta = 0.05, p = .01$ ) (Model 1, Table S7). Simple slopes indicated that the slope of group on positive affect was positive and significant when self-concordance was high (+ 1 *SD*) ( $\beta = 0.62, p < .001$ ), but less positive when self-concordance was low (- 1 *SD*) ( $\beta = 0.25, p = .01$ ); moreover both slopes differed significantly (z = 2.90, p = .003) (Paternoster et al., 1998).

Hypothesis 3 predicted that positive affect mediates the effects of group on goal progress. The indirect effect was significant at a 95 % confidence level (estimate = 0.13, [0.034; 0.260]), thus supporting Hypothesis 3. Hypothesis 4b predicted an indirect effect of group on goal progress through positive affect, with a more positive indirect effect expected under high self-concordance compared to low. Analogous to Study 2, we investigated a mediation effect contingent on a moderator, employing the index of moderated mediation (Hayes, 2022) and calculating the same two models as in Study 2. Model 2 demonstrated a significant effect of positive affect on goal progress ( $\beta = 0.32$ , p = .005) (Model 2, Table S7), supporting our hypothesis. We then utilized bootstrapping with 5,000 resamples (Preacher & Hayes, 2004) to estimate the 95% confidence intervals for the index of moderated mediation

as well as the indirect effects at high (1 *SD* above the mean) and low (1 *SD* below the mean) values of self-concordance (Hayes, 2022). The index of moderated mediation was statistically significant (index = 0.017, 95% CI [.0017; 0.039]), indicating that positive affect mediated the effect of group on goal progress as well as that the indirect effect varied across different self-concordance values. Concretely, the conditional indirect effect of group on goal progress via positive affect was more positive when self-concordance was high (1 *SD* above the mean) (estimate = 0.19, 95% CI [0.048; 0.372]) than when self-concordance was low (1 *SD* below the mean) (estimate = .08, 95% CI [0.091; 0.187]). This difference was statistically significant (difference = 0.11, 95% CI [0.011; 0.264]). Hence, Hypothesis 4b was supported.

### Table S6

|   | Med<br>= Positiv | iator<br>ve Affect | Dependent Varia<br>= Goal Commitm |       |  |  |
|---|------------------|--------------------|-----------------------------------|-------|--|--|
|   | Moo              | lel 1              | Мос                               | lel 2 |  |  |
| Predictors  | β                | SE                 | β                                 | SE    |  |  |
| Group   | .49***           | .06                | 26*                               | .12   |  |  |
| Positive Affect   |                  |                    | .27**                             | .10   |  |  |
| Self-Concordance  | .01              | .00                |                                   |       |  |  |
| Group x Self-Concordance                                | .03*             | .01                |                                   |       |  |  |
| Age   | 00               | .00                | 01                                | .01   |  |  |
| Gender  | 06               | .06                | 16                                | .11   |  |  |
| <i>R</i> <sup>2</sup>                                   | .4               | 13                 | .0                                | 5     |  |  |
| Indirect effects  |                  | Effect             | LL                                | UL    |  |  |
| Conditional indirect effect of C<br>Goal Commitment at: | broup on         |                    |                                   |       |  |  |
| Low Self-Concordance (-1 SD)                            |                  | .102               | [.028                             | .199] |  |  |
| High Self-Concordance (+1                               | SD)              | .177               | [.058                             | .310] |  |  |
| Difference  |                  | .075               | [.003                             | .237] |  |  |

Moderated Mediation Analyses Testing Hypothesis 4a (Study 2)

*Note.* N = 286. The 95% confidence intervals for the conditional indirect effects and the conditional indirect effect difference were calculated using 5,000 bootstrapping resamples. LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit. Group was coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision. Gender was coded with 1 = female, 2 = male.

\* p < .05. \*\* p < .01. \*\*\* p < .001.

Table S7

|                                  | Med<br>= Positiv | iator<br>ve Affect | Dependent Variab<br>= Goal Progress |       |  |  |
|----------------------------------|------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------------|-------|--|--|
|                                  | Moo              | del 1              | Мос                                 | del 2 |  |  |
| Predictors                       | β                | SE                 | β                                   | SE    |  |  |
| Group                            | .43***           | .07                | 26                                  | .14   |  |  |
| Positive Affect                  |                  |                    | .32**                               | .11   |  |  |
| Self-Concordance                 | .00              | .01                |                                     |       |  |  |
| Group x Self-Concordance         | .05*             | .02                | _                                   |       |  |  |
| Age                              | .00              | .00                | .00                                 | .00   |  |  |
| Gender                           | 17*              | .08                | .17                                 | .14   |  |  |
| Employment Status                | 01               | .08                | 05                                  | .15   |  |  |
| $R^2$                            | .3               | 39                 | .0                                  | )5    |  |  |
| Indirect effects                 |                  | Effect             | LL                                  | UL    |  |  |
| Conditional indirect effect of C | broup on         |                    |                                     |       |  |  |
| Goal Progress at:                |                  | 0.01               | F 001                               | 1051  |  |  |
| Low Self-Concordance (-1 SD)     |                  | .081               | [.091                               | .187] |  |  |
| High Self-Concordance (+1        | SD)              | .197               | [.048                               | .372] |  |  |
| Difference                       |                  | .116               | [.011                               | .264] |  |  |

Moderated Mediation Analyses Testing Hypothesis 4b (Study 3)

*Note.* N = 253. The 95% confidence intervals for the conditional indirect effects and the conditional indirect effect difference were calculated using 5,000 bootstrapping resamples. LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit. Group was coded as 0 = superordinate goal and 1 = vision. Gender was coded with 1 = female, 2 = male. Employment Status was coded with 0 = unemployed and 1 = full-time employed. Age was measured in years \* p < .05. \*\* p < .01. \*\*\* p < .001

### References

- Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1991). *Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions*. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hayes, A. F. (2022). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Paternoster, R., Brame, R., Mazerolle, P., & Piquero, A. R. (1998). Using the Correct Statistical Test for the Equality of Regression Coefficients. *Criminology*, 36(4), 859–866. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-9125.1998.tb01268.x
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments & Computers*, 36(4), 717– 731. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03206553
- Preacher, K. J., Rucker, D. D., & Hayes, A. F. (2007). Addressing Moderated Mediation Hypotheses: Theory, Methods, and Prescriptions. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 42(1), 185–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273170701341316
# 6.1 Appendix B (Chapter 4)

## **Supplemental Online Materials**

# Validation Study: Discriminant and Convergent Validity of Perceived Control over the Future Work Self

Numerous concepts in the careers literature tap into individuals' sense of control over their career and highlight its importance for career-related behavior and outcomes. For example, career confidence, individuals' belief that they are capable of successfully developing their career, is positively related to salary (Ng & Feldman, 2014), and the control dimension of career adaptability is related to career planning, networking, and skill development (Taber & Blankemeyer, 2015). More general, individuals' sense that they can control what happens in their life has a range of positive outcomes, including better mental and physical health (Infurna & Mayer, 2015) and lower mortality risk (Infurna et al., 2011). In order to establish that perceived control over the future work self is distinct from these related concepts, we conducted a validation study.

### Method

## Sample and Procedure

The validation study received approval from the research ethics committee of the second author's institution (Ref: 2023-29: "Perceived control over the future work self – scale validation"). We recruited 275 full-time UK-based employees with an approval rate of 90% or higher via Prolific Academic. Of these, 18 failed one or more of three attention check items (e.g., "To ensure data quality, please choose 'strongly agree' for this item" (Meade & Craig, 2012, p. 452), leaving a final sample of 257 participants in the final sample (40.1% identified as women, the remaining participants identified as men; age: M = 39.29, SD = 10.46).

## Measures

Unless otherwise indicated, items were rated on a 5-point scale ranging from 1 "strongly disagree" to 5 "strongly agree". Internal reliabilities of all measures are shown in Table S1.

**Future Work Self Salience (FWSS).** Participants' FWSS was assessed with three items ( $\alpha = .93$ ) by Strauss et al. (2012) (e.g., "I am very clear about who and what I want to become in my future work.").

**Perceived Control over the Future Work Self (FWSC).** Participants responded to six items by Norman and Aron (2003) to assess their perceived control over their future work self (e.g., "How much control do you believe you have over attaining this particular hoped-for future self?"; 1 = none at all; 7 = a great deal).

**Career self-efficacy.** Career self-efficacy reflect an individual's belief that they are able to effectively self-manage their career. We administered ten items capturing participants' career self-efficacy by Kossek et al. (1998). A sample item is "When I make plans for my career, I am confident I can make them work."

**Career confidence.** Career confidence was measured with four items developed by Hirschi et al. (2017). to capture this concept (e.g., "I am capable of successfully managing my career"; 1 = not true at all; 5 = completely true). While Kossek et al.'s (1998) measure of career self-efficacy reflects self-reliance in relation to one's career, career confidence taps specifically in individuals' confidence in their ability to manage their career, and prior research found the two measures to be only moderately related (Hirschi et al., 2017).

**Job-related control appraisals.** Control appraisals in relation to individuals' jobs were assessed with the four-item measure by Parker et al. (2006). A sample item is "The same problems keep happening again and again, regardless of what I do." Items are rated on a 5-point scale ranging from 5 "Very True" to 1 "Not true at all."

**Perceived control.** Individuals' perceived control over their life and future, i.e., their belief that what happens in their life is contingent on their own actions and choices, was

measured with eight items by Infurna et al. (2011). A sample item is "I determine what happens to me in life." Items are rated on a 4-point scale ranging from 4 "Applies completely" to 1 "Does not apply".

**Career adaptability – Control.** The control dimension of career adaptability reflects the self-regulatory resources that allow individuals "to become responsible for shaping themselves and their environments to meet what comes next by using self-discipline, effort, and persistence" (Savickas & Porfeli, 2012, p. 663). It was assessed with the widely validated measure by Savickas and Porfeli (2012), which captures individuals' belief that they possess career-related strengths (e.g., "Making decisions by myself"). Items are rated on a 5-point scale ranging from 5 "Strongest" to 1 "Not strong."

Locus of control. Internal locus of control, the general belief that events are contingent on one's actions, and external locus of control, the belief that events are the result of external factors such as luck or fate, were assessed with the validated short measures by Nießen et al. (2022). Sample items are "If I work hard, I will succeed" (internal locus of control) and "Fate often gets in the way of my plans" (external locus of control).

**Methods and Findings.** Analyses were performed in R (R Development Core Team, 2013). We used the package *lavaan* (Rosseel, 2012) to conduct the confirmatory factor analyses (CFA). Further, we utilized the *semTools* package (Jorgensen et al., 2022) to assess the heterotrait-monotrait (HTMT) ratio of correlations using the 'HTMT' function and implemented the CI<sub>CFA</sub> (sys) methodology by Rönkkö & Cho (2022) through the 'discriminantValidity' function. We evaluated a number of indices (see Table S1) to assess the convergent validity of the FWSC measure, i.e., how closely related FWSC scale is to other theoretically linked constructs (i.e., orbiting constructs). First, the FWSC measure demonstrated a high degree of internal consistency ( $\alpha = .90$ ). Moreover, all FWSC items showed significant standardized factor loadings of above 0.60 and, therefore, loaded on the hypothesized factor, indicating item-level convergent validity (Anderson & Gerbing, 1988).

Finally, the measure exceeded the thresholds for composite reliability (CR) at 0.70 (Hair et al., 2017) and average variance extracted (AVE) at 0.50 (Hair et al., 2014), attesting to the factor-level convergent validity of FWSC.

In addition, we used three methods to assess discriminant validity (i.e., if the FWSC scale is empirically different from the scales used to measure the orbiting constructs). First, we considered the HTMT values, whereby all values satisfied the conservative 0.85 cut-off criterion defined by Henseler et al. (2015; see Table S2). Second, we employed the CI<sub>CFA</sub> (sys) approach by Rönkkö & Cho (2022), inspecting the 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for every correlation between the FWSC scale and our orbiting constructs (e.g., FWSC and FWSS). Rönkkö and Cho (2022) propose that if the value of the upper or lower limit CI exceeds 0.90, then there is a "moderate problem." Employing this technique, we found that none of the upper or lower limits of all FWSC-orbiting constructs correlations were less than this cutoff (see Table S3).

Third, we employed a robust maximum likelihood (MLM) estimator (Finney & DiStefano, 2013) to conduct a series of CFA. This was done to evaluate the fit of a nine-factor model distinguishing between FWSC and the eight orbiting concepts and compare it against several alternative models. For model evaluation, we relied on the established indices:  $\chi^2/df \le$  3 (Kline, 2016), CFI  $\ge$  0.90 (Bentler, 1990), RMSEA  $\le$  0.08 (Marsh et al., 2004), and SRMR  $\le$  0.08 (Hu & Bentler, 1999). Our primary nine-factor measurement model yielded largely acceptable fit statistics ( $\chi^2/df = 2.1$ , RMSEA = 0.05, and SRMR = 0.07), although the CFI of 0.87 was somewhat below the cutoff criterion, which may be caused by the high number of items (47) in our model (Kenny & McCoach, 2003). However, this model fit the data significantly better than a series of alternative model, which included a one-factor model in which all of the constructs loaded on a single factor. We also defined eight different eightfactor models, each of which combined a different orbiting construct and FWSC in one factor. The remaining orbiting constructs each loaded on separate factors. Chi-squared tests of

difference revealed that the nine-factor model was a significantly better fit than all of the alternative eight-factor models and the one-factor model (all p values < .001), as shown in Table S4. These results support the discriminant validity of perceived control over the future work self.

#### Additional Study: Effectiveness of the Experimental Manipulation

# Method

#### Sample and Procedure

The study received approval from the research ethics committee of the second author's institution (Ref: 2023-50: "ChatGPT and future work selves - additional variables"). We recruited 123 full-time UK-based employees with an approval rate of 90% or higher via Prolific Academic. Of these, one failed more than one of two attention check items (e.g., "To ensure data quality, please select 'strongly agree' for this item" (Meade & Craig, 2012, p. 452)) and three prematurely terminated the questionnaire, leaving a final sample of 119 participants (37 % identified as female, the remainder identified as male; age: M = 39.21, SD = 10.20).

The procedures and manipulations were identical to Studies 2 and 3 of our main paper, with the addition of a manipulation check at the end of the study.

#### Measures

**Manipulation Check.** For our manipulation check, we adapted two items from Man Tang et al. (2022) to ask participants whether they worked independently or with an AI on their experimental task. The items were "I worked on this in-tray task independently" (reverse coded) and "I worked on this in-tray task with the help of ChatGPT3" (Coefficient alpha = .80). Items were rated on a 7-point Likert scale (1 = "strongly disagree" to 7 = "strongly agree").

## Results

As expected, responses to the manipulation check were significantly different between participants in the experimental group (M = 5.00, SD = 1.17) and the control group (M = 1.22, SD = 0.67), t(117) = -21.46, p < .001, d = -3.93, indicating that participants could clearly identify whether or not they had interacted with an AI in completing the task.

#### Supplementary Post-hoc Analyses of Studies 1, 2, and 3 Data: Robustness Checks

We examined the robustness of our findings by conducting post-hoc analyses in which we additionally controlled for the similarity of the experimental task to the individuals' daily work (Studies 1-3) as well as individuals' general perceptions of AI (Studies 2 and 3) when testing our hypotheses.

## Method

## Measures

**Task similarity.** We included three items (Study 1:  $\alpha = .80$ ; Study 2:  $\alpha = .76$ ; Study 3:  $\alpha = .86$ ) adapted from Kelly et al. (2020) to measure the similarity between the experimental task and individuals' daily (Studies 1 and 3) and future (Study 2) work as a control variable ("My work tasks are similar to this activity"; "I require similar skills and abilities to be successful in my job and to complete this activity"; "The mental demands of this activity are similar to my work role"; 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly disagree). In Study 2, the items were rephrased to assess the similarity of the experimental task to the individuals' future work.

Attitude towards AI. We included two items developed by Gaube et al. (2021) to measure individuals' attitudes towards AI ("AI is dangerous to society"; "AI poses a threat to my career"; 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree).

#### Study 1

#### Results

To test Hypothesis 1, we regressed FWSC on the experimental condition (coded as 1 = interacting with an AI, 0 = control group), FWSS, and the interaction term between experimental condition and FWSS, as well as on the two additional control variables task

similarity and attitude towards AI. The main effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self at T1 was not significant ( $\beta = 0.09, p = .43$ ). However, we found a significant interaction effect between the experimental condition and FWSS on perceived control over the future work self ( $\beta = 0.26, p < .05$ ; Table S5, Study 1, Model 1). Figure 3 illustrates the pattern of the interaction. A simple slope analysis (Aiken & West, 1991) revealed a positive and significant effect of experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self for individuals with high FWSS (1 *SD* above the mean; slope = 0.35, *p* < .05) while the effect was not significant for those with low FWSS (1 *SD* below the mean; slope = -0.16, *p* = .33). Moreover, these slopes differed significantly from one another, *z* = 2.25, *p* < .05 (Paternoster et al., 1998).

We performed the same analysis for perceived control over the future work self at T2. Again, the main effect of the experimental condition was not significant ( $\beta = -0.01$ , p = .89). However, as expected, the interaction effect between the experimental condition and FWSS was significant ( $\beta = 0.25$ , p < .05; Table S5, Study 1, Model 2). We conducted a simple slope analysis which revealed that both slopes were in the expected direction but not significant (high FWSS: 1 *SD* above the mean, slope = 0.23, p = .16; low FWSS: 1 *SD* below the mean, slope = -0.26, p = .12). The difference between these slopes was significant (z = 2.18, p < .05).

#### Study 2

#### Results

We conducted a similar analysis to Study 1 using experimental condition and control variables as predictors, FWSS as the moderator, and control over future work self T1 and T2 as the dependent variable. For control over future work self at T1, the main effect of the experimental condition was not significant ( $\beta = 0.14$ , p = .17; Table S5, Study 2, Model 1).

The interaction effect between experimental condition and FWSS was also not significant ( $\beta = 0.12, p = .22$ ).

We conducted the same analysis or control over the future work self at T2, one week later. Again, the main effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self at T2 was not significant ( $\beta = 0.14$ , p = .17). However, as expected, there was a significant interaction between the experimental condition and FWSS ( $\beta = 0.26$ , p < .05; Table S5, Study 2, Model 2). A simple slopes analysis revealed that individuals with high FWSS (1 *SD* above the mean) showed a positive and significant effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the FWS (slope = 0.39, p < .01) compared to those with low FWSS (1 *SD* below the mean; slope = -.10, p = .48). The difference between these slopes was significant (z = 2.47, p < .05).

#### Study 3

#### Results

For control over future work self at T1, the main effect of the experimental condition was not significant ( $\beta = -.01$ , p = .93; Table S5, Study 2, Model 1). However, supporting Hypothesis 1, the interaction between experimental condition and FWSS was again significant when controlling for the two additional control variables ( $\beta = .44$ , p < .01; Table S5, Study 3, Model 1). A simple slopes analysis revealed that for individuals with high FWSS (1 *SD* above the mean) there was a positive and significant effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self (slope = .42, p < .05). However, for those with low FWSS there was a negative and significant effect of the experimental condition on perceived control over the future work self (1 *SD* below the mean; slope = -.44, p < .05). The difference between these slopes was significant (z = 3.37, p < .01).

To test Hypothesis 2, we conducted moderated mediation analyses (Preacher et al., 2007) using SPSS version 26.0 (IBM Corp., 2019) and the PROCESS macro (Model 7;

Hayes, 2022). We examined our hypotheses using bootstrapping with 5,000 resamples (Preacher & Hayes, 2004) and 95% confidence intervals. In line with our hypothesis, perceived control over the future work self was positively related to proactive career behavior ( $\beta = .44$ , p < .001; Table S5, Study 3, Model 2) when controlling for task similarity and attitude towards AI, and FWSS moderated the indirect effect between experimental condition and proactive career behavior through control over future work self (index of moderated mediation = .18, 95% CI [.06; .32]). Specifically, the conditional indirect effect of experimental condition on proactive career behavior via control over the future work self was positive when FWSS was high (1 SD above the mean) (indirect effect = .18, 95% CI [.03; .36]), but negative when FWSS was low (1 SD below the mean) (estimate = -.20, 95% CI [.40; -.02]). This difference was statistically significant (contrast = .38, 95% CI [.13; .68). These results fully support Hypothesis 2.

In summary, the pattern of findings remains the same when controlling for two important potential confounds: the similarity between the experimental task and individuals' current or anticipated future work tasks, and their attitude towards AI.

# Supplementary Post-hoc Analyses of Studies 1, 2, and 3 Data: Impact of Industries on Dependent Variables

To account for potential differences in our dependent variables across industries, we conducted three separate multivariate analyses of variance (MANOVAs) for each study. Specifically, we examined the effect of industry by including the effect of five dummy coded variables representing the five most common industries and an "other" category on our dependent variables across three studies. For Study 1, in the MANOVA the multivariate main effect of industry on perceived control over the FWS at T1 or T2 was not significant (Wilks'  $\Lambda = .968$ , F(10, 334) = 0.543, p = .859,  $\eta^2 = .032$ ). In addition, the univariate main effects showed no significant differences across industries for perceived control over the FWS at T1  $(F(5, 168) = 0.786, p = .561, \eta^2 = .023, or at T2, F(5, 168) = 0.891, p = .488, \eta^2 = .026)$ . In Study 2, the MANOVA again showed a non-significant multivariate main effect of the industry participants aspired to work in on both dependent variables (Wilks'  $\Lambda = .965$ , F(10, 402 = 0.733, p = .694,  $\eta^2 = .018$ ), with the univariate main effects also showing no significant differences across industries for perceived control over FWS at T1 (F(5, 202) = $0.912, p = .474, \eta^2 = .022, \text{ or at T2}, F(5, 202) = 0.750, p = .587, \eta^2 = .018).$  Finally, for Study 3, the MANOVA showed once again a non-significant multivariate main effect of industry on both dependent variables (Wilks'  $\Lambda = .969$ , F(10, 294) = 0.460, p = .915,  $\eta^2 = .015$ ), with univariate main effects indicating no significant differences across industries for perceived control over FWS at T1 (F(5, 148) = 0.571, p = .722,  $\eta^2 = .019$ ), or for proactive career behaviors at T2 (F(5, 148) = 0.616, p = .687,  $\eta^2 = .020$ ). Taken together, these results suggest that industry does not significantly affect the dependent variables in all three studies.

|                                | Mean | SD   | Cronbach's | AVE  | CR   |
|--------------------------------|------|------|------------|------|------|
| Constructs                     |      |      | alpha      |      |      |
| FWSC                           | 5.32 | 1.01 | 0.90       | 0.61 | 0.89 |
| FWSS                           | 3.40 | 1.02 | 0.92       | 0.79 | 0.92 |
| Career Self-Efficacy           | 3.71 | 0.58 | 0.86       | 0.36 | 0.83 |
| Career Confidence              | 3.67 | 0.90 | 0.94       | 0.82 | 0.95 |
| Job-related control appraisals | 2.89 | 0.88 | 0.83       | 0.56 | 0.83 |
| Perceived Control              | 2.98 | 0.43 | 0.78       | 0.32 | 0.79 |
| Career Adaptability - Control  | 3.47 | 0.67 | 0.79       | 0.38 | 0.79 |
| External Locus of Control      | 2.09 | 0.81 | 0.63       | 0.46 | 0.61 |
| Internal Locus of Control      | 3.07 | 0.98 | 0.57       | 0.54 | 0.68 |

Convergent Validity (Validation Study)

*Note.* FWSC = Perceived Control over the Future Work Self; FWSS = Future Work Self Salience; *SD* = Standard Deviation; AVE = Average Variance Extracted; CR = Composite Reliability.

Intercorrelations and Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratios of Constructs (Validation Study)

|                                | FWSC  | FWSS  | Career Self- | Career     | Control   | Perceived | С    |  |
|--------------------------------|-------|-------|--------------|------------|-----------|-----------|------|--|
| Constructs                     |       |       | Efficacy     | Confidence | Appraisal | Control   | Adaj |  |
| FWSC                           |       | 0.65  | 0.64         | 0.81       | 0.52      | 0.62      | (    |  |
| FWSS                           | 0.68  |       | 0.66         | 0.70       | 0.38      | 0.42      | (    |  |
| Career Self-Efficacy           | 0.74  | 0.69  |              | 0.80       | 0.53      | 0.59      | (    |  |
| Career Confidence              | 0.85  | 0.68  | 0.86         |            | 0.56      | 0.51      | (    |  |
| Job-related control appraisals | 0.56  | 0.43  | 0.65         | 0.59       |           | 0.58      | (    |  |
| Perceived Control              | 0.68  | 0.43  | 0.70         | 0.67       | 0.59      |           | (    |  |
| Career Adaptability - Control  | 0.52  | 0.51  | 0.68         | 0.57       | 0.38      | 0.54      |      |  |
| External Locus of Control      | -0.27 | -0.04 | -0.24        | -0.20      | -0.24     | -0.56     | -    |  |
| Internal Locus of Control      | 0.73  | 0.45  | 0.63         | 0.70       | 0.40      | 0.54      | (    |  |

*Note.* FWSC = Perceived Control over the Future Work Self; FWSS = Future Work Self Salience. Values below the diago constructs. Values above the diagonal are HTMT values.

| Internal Locus of Control |  |  | ntrol |  | 0.728 | [.384, .872 | ]     |  |
|---------------------------|--|--|-------|--|-------|-------------|-------|--|
|                           |  |  |       |  |       |             | <br>- |  |

*Note.* FWSC = Perceived Control over the Future Work Self; FWSS = Future Work Self Salience. Correlations between factors are based on our nine-factor model and are provided outside of brackets. 95% confidence intervals are given next to each estimate in parentheses.

## Alternative Structural Models (Pilot Study)

| Model                |      | • /   | Chi <sup>2</sup> Difference Tests |       |       |         |     |        |       |
|----------------------|------|-------|-----------------------------------|-------|-------|---------|-----|--------|-------|
|                      | CFI  | RMSEA | SRMR                              | AIC   | BIC   | χ2      | df  | Δχ2    | р     |
| Nine-factor model    | 0.87 | 0.05  | 0.07                              | 25797 | 26248 | 2008.72 | 953 |        |       |
| Eight-factor model A | 0.84 | 0.06  | 0.07                              | 25980 | 26404 | 2208.38 | 961 | 684.35 | <.001 |
| Eight-factor model B | 0.81 | 0.06  | 0.07                              | 26119 | 26543 | 2347.08 | 961 | 90.99  | <.001 |
| Eight-factor model C | 0.86 | 0.06  | 0.07                              | 25827 | 26250 | 2054.94 | 961 | 32.21  | <.001 |
| Eight-factor model D | 0.86 | 0.05  | 0.07                              | 25894 | 26317 | 2121.60 | 961 | 48.98  | <.001 |
| Eight-factor model E | 0.84 | 0.06  | 0.07                              | 25997 | 26421 | 2224.62 | 961 | 123.33 | <.001 |
| Eight-factor model F | 0.82 | 0.06  | 0.08                              | 26080 | 26504 | 2307.59 | 961 | 298.9  | <.001 |
| Eight-factor model G | 0.83 | 0.06  | 0.07                              | 25994 | 26418 | 2221.92 | 961 | 80.27  | <.001 |
| Eight-factor model H | 0.84 | 0.06  | 0.07                              | 26021 | 26444 | 2248.44 | 961 | 292.54 | <.001 |
| One-factor model     | 0.64 | 0.08  | 0.08                              | 27084 | 27408 | 3367.66 | 989 | 885.76 | <.001 |

*Note.* CFI = Comparative Fit Index; RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation; SRMR = Standardized Root Mean Square Residual; AIC = Akaike's Information Criteria; BIC = Bayesian Information Criteria. Eight-factor model A model denotes a model in which FWSC and career confidence items load onto one factor. Eight-factor model B denotes a model in which FWSC and FWSS items load onto one factor. Eight-factor model B denotes of control items load onto one factor. Eight-factor model D denotes a model in which FWSC and external locus of control items load onto one factor. Eight-factor model E denotes a model in which FWSC and career self-efficacy items load onto one factor. Eight-factor model F denotes a model in which FWSC and job-related control appraisal items load onto one factor. Eight-factor model G denotes a model in which FWSC and perceived control items load onto one factor. Eight-factor model H denotes a model in which FWSC and career adaptability - control items load onto one factor. The Chi<sup>2</sup> difference tests compare all models with the nine-factor model.

Regression Results With Interaction Terms (Studies 1, 2, and 3)

| Dependent variable             | Perceived control over the FWS |     |            |                 |       |     |           |         |            | Proactive<br>Beha | Proactive Career<br>Behavior |     |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-----|------------|-----------------|-------|-----|-----------|---------|------------|-------------------|------------------------------|-----|
|                                | Study 1 Study 2                |     |            |                 |       |     |           |         | Stu        | Study 3           |                              |     |
|                                | Model 1 Model 2                |     | el 2       | Model 1 Model 2 |       |     | el 2      | Model 1 |            | Mod               | Model 2                      |     |
| Predictors                     | β                              | SE  | β          | SE              | β     | SE  | β         | SE      | β          | SE                | β                            | SE  |
| Age                            | 00                             | .00 | 00         | .01             | 04*   | .02 | 04        | .02     | 01*        | .00               | 00                           | .00 |
| Gender                         | .14                            | .12 | .14        | .13             | 03    | .10 | 04        | .11     | 14         | .13               | .13                          | .11 |
| Education                      | .03                            | .05 | .02        | .08             | 04    | .05 | 02        | .05     | .02        | .09               | .09                          | .08 |
| Knowledge of AI                | .03                            | .08 | .04        | .03             | .25** | .07 | $.16^{*}$ | .08     | $.30^{**}$ | .08               | 06                           | .07 |
| Task Similarity                | .03                            | .03 | .04        | .08             | .04   | .03 | .02       | .03     | 03         | .03               | .05                          | .03 |
| Overall ChatGPT usage          |                                |     |            |                 | 06*   | .03 | 05        | .03     | 01         | .04               | .02                          | .03 |
| ChatGPT usage in the past week |                                |     | .10        | .08             |       |     |           |         |            |                   |                              |     |
| Attitude towards AI            |                                |     |            |                 | .07*  | .03 | .10*      | .04     | .23**      | .06               | 00                           | .05 |
| Condition                      | .08                            | .12 | 02         | .12             | .13   | .10 | .14       | .11     | 01         | .14               | 00                           | .11 |
| Perceived control over the FWS |                                |     |            |                 |       |     |           |         |            |                   | .44**                        | .06 |
| FWSS                           | .38**                          | .08 | $.38^{**}$ | .08             | .12   | .08 | .14       | .08     | .10        | .10               |                              |     |
| Condition x FWSS               | .26*                           | .12 | $.25^{*}$  | .12             | .13   | .11 | .26*      | .12     | .44**      | .13               |                              |     |
| $R^2$                          | .33**                          |     | .33**      |                 | .20** |     | .19**     |         | .38**      |                   | .30**                        |     |
| $\Delta R^2$                   | $.02^{*}$                      |     | $.02^{*}$  |                 | .01   |     | .02*      |         | $.05^{**}$ |                   |                              |     |

*Note.*  $N_{Study 1} = 174$ .  $N_{Study 2} = 208$ .  $N_{Study 3} = 153$ . Condition was coded with 1 = AI condition and 0 = control condition. Gender was dummy coded with 0 = male and 1 = female. Education was coded with 1 = Left high school without a formal qualification; 2 = Completion of compulsory basic primary or secondary schooling; 3 = Completion of GCSEs or equivalent qualifications; 4 = Completion of A-Levels or equivalent qualifications; 5 = Completion of apprenticeship or training; 6 = Technical college or university degree/Ph.D./postdoctoral qualification. Knowledge about AI was coded with 1 = I have no knowledge; 2 = Novice: I have heard of AI; 3 = Intermediate: I have read media articles or have listened to news about AI technologies; 4 = Advanced: I have used AI-based tools and have some understanding of how they work; 5 = Expert: For example, I am an academic or industry researcher in AI.

\* p < .05. \*\* p < .01. \*\*\* p < .001.

#### References

- Anderson, J. C., & Gerbing, D. W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103(3), 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411
- Bentler, P. M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychological Bulletin*, 107(2), 238–246. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238
- Finney, S. J., & DiStefano, C. (2013). Non-normal and categorical data in structural equation modeling.
  In G. R. Hancock & R. O. Mueller (Eds.), *Structural Equation Modeling: A Second Course* (pp. 439–492). Information Age.
- Gaube, S., Suresh, H., Raue, M., Merritt, A., Berkowitz, S. J., Lermer, E., Coughlin, J. F., Guttag, J. V., Colak, E., & Ghassemi, M. (2021). Do as AI say: susceptibility in deployment of clinical decisionaids. *Npj Digital Medicine*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-021-00385-9
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2014). *Multivariate Data Analysis*. (7th ed.).Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River.
- Hair, J. F., Matthews, L. M., Matthews, R. L., & Sarstedt, M. (2017). PLS-SEM or CB-SEM: updated guidelines on which method to use. *International Journal of Multivariate Data Analysis*, 1(2), 107– 123. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMDA.2017.087624
- Henseler, J., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2015). A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 43(1), 115–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8
- Hirschi, A., Nagy, N., Baumeler, F., Johnston, C. S., & Spurk, D. (2017). Assessing Key Predictors of Career Success: Development and Validation of the Career Resources Questionnaire. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 26(2), 338–358. https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072717695584

Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis:

Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling*, *6*(1), 1–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118

- Infurna, F. J., Gerstorf, D., Ram, N., Schupp, J., & Wagner, G. G. (2011). Long-term antecedents and outcomes of perceived control. *Psychology and Aging*, 26(3), 559–575. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022890
- Infurna, F. J., & Mayer, A. (2015). The effects of constraints and mastery on mental and physical health: Conceptual and methodological considerations. *Psychology and Aging*, 30(2), 432–448. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039050
- Jorgensen, T. D., Pornprasertmanit, S., Schoemann, A. M., & Rosseel, Y. (2022). *semTools: Useful tools for structural equation modeling*. https://cran.r-project.org/package=semTools
- Kelly, C. M., Strauss, K., Arnold, J., & Stride, C. (2020). The relationship between leisure activities and psychological resources that support a sustainable career: The role of leisure seriousness and workleisure similarity. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *117*, 103340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.103340
- Kenny, D. A., & McCoach, D. B. (2003). Effect of the Number of Variables on Measures of Fit in Structural Equation Modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 10(3), 333–351. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15328007SEM1003\_1
- Kline, R. B. (2016). Principles and practice of structural equation modeling (4th ed.). Guilford Press.
- Kossek, E. E., Roberts, K., Fisher, S., & DeMarr, B. (1998). Career self-management: A quasiexperimental assessment of the effects of a training intervention. *Personnel Psychology*, 51(4), 935– 962. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1998.tb00746.x
- Man Tang, P., Koopman, J., McClean, S. T., Zhang, J. H., Hon Li, C., de Cremer, D., Lu, Y., & Stewart Ng, C. T. (2022). When Conscientious Employees Meet Intelligent Machines: an Integrative Approach Inspired By Complementarity Theory and Role Theory. *Academy of Management Journal*, 65(3), 1019–1054. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMJ.2020.1516

- Marsh, H. W., Hau, K. T., & Wen, Z. (2004). In search of golden rules: Comment on hypothesis-testing approaches to setting cutoff values for fit indexes and dangers in overgeneralizing Hu and Bentler's (1999) findings. *Structural Equation Modeling*, *11*(3), 320–341.
  https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328007sem1103 2
- Meade, A. W., & Craig, S. B. (2012). Identifying careless responses in survey data. *Psychological Methods*, 17, 437–455. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028085
- Ng, T. W. H., & Feldman, D. C. (2014). Subjective career success: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 85(2), 169–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.06.001
- Nießen, D., Schmidt, I., Groskurth, K., Rammstedt, B., & Lechner, C. M. (2022). The Internal–External Locus of Control Short Scale–4 (IE-4): A comprehensive validation of the English-language adaptation. *PLoS ONE*, 17(7), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0271289
- Norman, C. C., & Aron, A. (2003). Aspects of possible self that predict motivation to achieve or avoid it. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 39(5), 500–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1031(03)00029-5
- Parker, S. K., Williams, H. M., & Turner, N. (2006). Modeling the antecedents of proactive behavior at work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(3), 636–652. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.3.636
- Rönkkö, M., & Cho, E. (2022). An Updated Guideline for Assessing Discriminant Validity. *Organizational Research Methods*, 25(1), 6–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428120968614
- Rosseel, Y. (2012). Lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 48(2). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v048.i02
- Savickas, M. L., & Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career Adapt-Abilities Scale: Construction, reliability, and measurement equivalence across 13 countries. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 80(3), 661–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.011
- Strauss, K., Griffin, M. A., & Parker, S. K. (2012). Future work selves: How salient hoped-for identities motivate proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(3), 580–598.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026423

Taber, B. J., & Blankemeyer, M. (2015). Future work self and career adaptability in the prediction of proactive career behaviors. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 86, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.10.005